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It is my pleasure to present the Annual Report of the National Research 

Foundation for the 2013/14 financial year and to congratulate the 

Executive on achieving the goals set out in the Annual Performance 

Plan for the year and NRF’s Vision 2015 strategic plan. 

High level overview of Strategy and Performance 

We stand at the threshold of a new phase for the NRF as the 

penultimate year of the NRF Vision 2015 strategy ends. Looking 

back over the last six years of performance against the Vision 2015 

targets, the organisation has made a meaningful contribution to 

the National System of Innovation. Vision 2015 Targets exceeded 

are:

 � The number of rated researchers;

 � The output of peer reviewed journal articles from the National 

Research Facilities;

 � The number of doctoral students supported; and

 � The number of PhD’s per million of population per annum – 

achieved in 2012/13.

Strategic Relationships

The relationships with the following key stakeholders were carefully 

fostered:

 � The Ministry of Science and Technology and the officials of the 

Department;

 � The Department of Higher Education and Training;

 � The Higher Education Institutions; and

 � Global Funding Agencies.

Challenges faced by the NRF Board

The year under review has been productive, with its share of 

challenges and successes. The NRF Board has adopted a risk 

based management approach to the prioritisation of interventions in 

order to effectively address organisational challenges. 

Significant Concerns

The most significant concerns that the Board interrogated during 

the year include:

 � Stabilising the baseline funding of the organisation through 

internal reprioritisations;

 � Placing the SKA funding on a sustainable basis; and 

 � Ensuring the implementation of cost containment measures.

The Year Ahead

The year ahead will hold a number of changes:

 � The term of the current Board comes to an end in September 

2014;

 � This financial year 2014/15 represents the final year of the Vision 

2015 Strategy; and

 � The NRF will focus on the crafting of a revised strategy for the 

period 2015 to 2020.

Acknowledgements / Appreciation

I would like to sincerely thank both the previous Minister, The 

Honourable Naledi Pandor, and the current Minister. The Honourable 

Derek Hanekom for their unwavering leadership, support and 

willingness to openly engage with the NRF Board and Executive 

Committee. I would also like to acknowledge the Parliamentary 

Portfolio Committee on Science and Technology for their regular and 

constructive engagements with the NRF. 

The CEO and the Corporate Executive Committee are thanked 

for their outstanding management of the organisation and for their 

meaningful and pro-active engagement with the Board. I would like 

to thank my fellow Board members for their conscientious attention 

to Board matters and for bringing their diverse expertise to bear on 

the challenges confronting the organisation. 

Conclusion

The NRF Board is pleased to report that the NRF has made 

significant progress over the last 5 years including: 

 � Setting in motion steady growth in the grant funding made 

available to the research community;

 � Stabilising the critical infrastructure requirements at National 

Research Facilities and injecting significant strategic infra-

structure upgrades into those environments;

 � Establishing the Astronomy sub-Agency;

 � Managing the construction of KAT7 and the MeerKAT projects; 

and

 � Entrenching good governance as a strategic asset of the NRF. 

Professor RM Crewe 

Chairman: NRF Board 
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Overview

The NRF is proud to present the Annual Report for the 2013/14 

financial year. In this Report, the NRF reviews its performance over 

the past 5 years as it prepares for the final year of its current strategic 

plan, Vision 2015. The organisation welcomes the development of 

a new strategy built on the unique strengths of the NRF and aimed 

at improving our ability to leverage off all available opportunities in 

support of a “…better life for all South Africans.”  This will be delivered 

using a growing knowledge base and research driven solutions.

High Level Financial Review 

The year under review reflects strong growth in research funding 

investment in the National System of Innovation, through the NRF. 

This is emphasised by the significant increase in income of 37% 

from R2 312m in 2012/13 to R3 160m in 2013/14. This increase is 

attributed largely to ringfenced and designated (contract) funding 

into the NRF. The ring-fenced parliamentary grant increase 

constituted R242m for the SKA project as well as R159m for the 

National Equipment Programme, and amount of R53m for the 

Global Change Research Programme and R92m for the National 

Facilities Strategic Infrastructure Programme. Designated income 

increased mainly because of the Research Equipment Programme 

(R81m) and it was encouraging to note that the Human Research 

Development Programme received R231m, with the South African 

Research Chairs Initiative receiving an additional R43m. Through the 

receipt of funding from the Department of Science and Technology 

the NRF has continued to grow its investments in people, knowledge 

generation and research infrastructure across the country. 

Spending Trends 

The NRF has continued to place emphasis on sound financial 

and management principles by improving business processes 

and enhancing the compliance environment. Through the 

implementation of efficiency and cost containment measures, the 

total NRF overheads has remained under the targeted 10% level 

at 9.4%. The 2013/14 financial year was a productive year for the 

organisation with expenditure increasing by 36% compared to the 

prior year, particularly due to the increase in income for the various 

programmes highlighted above. 

The Research and Innovation Support and Advancement division 

expensed R1,9bn over the financial year. A total of R469m was 

invested in next generation researchers. Strategic investments 

including SARChI and the Centres of Excellence amounted to 

R389m. The NRF has awarded 150 Research Chairs to date and 

94% of the Chairs are operational with 73% of the Chairs being 

recruited from local Higher Education Institutions.  The investment 

in the MeerKAT radio array telescope amounted to R529m for the 

year. Remuneration expenditure as a percentage of total expenditure 

decreased from 19,2% (2013) to 15,4 (2014) while the total spending 

in grants increased by 45%. This achievement demonstrates the level 

of efficiency and productivity through scalable systems of operation. 

The NRF’s core baseline funding has been stagnant since 2009 

in real terms. This had led to internal reprioritisation to ensure 

sustainability. While the NRF has managed this from year to year, 

even while receiving below inflationary increases, it cannot be 

sustained going into the future. This approach of marginal baseline 

funding increases, coupled with significant increases in ring-fenced 

and designated funding, should be re-examined. The replacement of 

key highly skilled and specialised positions at the National Research 

Facilities and the demand for technically qualified staff in the SKA SA 

build project is receiving due attention.

Discontinued Activities /  
Activities To Be Discontinued 

The Ministers of Science and Technology and Environmental 

Affairs have approved the investigation into the transfer of the 

National Zoological Gardens from the NRF to SANBI (South African 

National Biodiversity Institute). The NRF has completed the due 

diligence exercise and a transitional plan for the migration has been 

developed. Pending the final ministerial agreement and gazetting, it 

is envisaged that the NZG will be transferred to SANBI with effect 

from 1 April 2015.

iThemba LABS has over the years become a key player in 

supplying both the national and international markets with high 

quality accelerator based radiopharmaceuticals or radionuclides. 

This includes the supply of short-lived radiopharmaceuticals such 

as 123I-related products and 67Ga to over 25 nuclear medicine 

departments in South Africa. The NRF is currently in discussions 

with Nuclear Energy Corporation South Africa (NECSA) regarding 

the possible creation of a focussed business enterprise in the arena.

Challenges 

The slow growth in the core baseline funding and increased costs of 

compliance is an ongoing challenge which is not sustainable without 

focussed efforts. The increasing governance and compliance 

demands continue to precipitate unfunded additional investments in 

human capacity in the organisation. Staff succession planning and 

transformation, particularly at the National Facilities and the SKA, will 

continue to receive special attention. 

Audit Report Matters 

The external audit conducted by the office of the Auditor General 

South Africa (AGSA) resulted in an unqualified audit. The organisation 
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has declared irregular expenditure to the value of R14.07m relating 

to the procurement of goods and services that were not done in 

accordance with legislation or National Treasury Instructions. Albeit 

that the organisation did receive value for money and these expenses 

we not incurred in vain, it is clear that compliance measures need 

to be strengthened. For more details, refer to Note 36 of the Annual 

Financial Statements. 

Outlook / Plans for the future 

The NRF performance against the strategic objectives confirms 

that the organisation has developed some core competencies, has 

allocated resources to meet its mandate, contributed to the National 

System of Innovation and its research agendas.  The immediate plan 

for the organisation is to focus on the achievement of its strategic 

objectives in the final year of the Vision 2015 strategy.  In parallel, 

the organisation is conducting an inclusive strategy development 

process in order to finalise the five year strategy moving forward for 

the period 2015 to 2020.

While the core baseline funding continues to be a challenge, the 

organisation is committed to manage at best within the limited 

resources available. Longer term, and on the advice of the Minister 

of Science and Technology, the NRF will continue to develop a blue-

print for a dynamic suite of National Research Facilities. This will 

include considerations about the natural placement of some existing 

facilities in the system as well as the possibility of establishing new 

National Research Facilities in future. 

Events after the reporting date

The NRF is currently engaging with the dti on the future consolidation 

and integration of the Trade and Human Resources Industry 

Programme (THRIP) back into the dti as instructed by the dti.

Economic Viability

The National Research Foundation is a going concern. As such the 

new APP for the next three years demonstrates a growing entity 

that is economically viable and sufficiently-grounded to deliver on 

its mandate. Key in doing so is the ability to ensure sustainability 

through cost management.
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Conclusion

The organisation has had a productive year, sound financial 

management and strong performance was exhibited in specific 

areas. There is a need to improve the monitoring of performance 

indicators in some areas which will form part of the continuous 

improvement of business processes to support operational 

objectives. The impact of the RISA renewal process and the related 

matrix management structure has been finalised and we look 

forward to seeing the benefits from this exercise in the new year.

Dr AS van Jaarsveld

NRF Chief Executive Officer

31 July 2014
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To the best of my knowledge and belief, I confirm the following:

All information and amounts disclosed in the annual report is consistent with the annual financial statements audited by the Auditor General.

The annual report is complete, accurate and is free from any omissions.

The annual report has been prepared in accordance with the guidelines on the annual report as issued by National Treasury.

The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with the standards applicable to the public entity.

The accounting authority is responsible for the preparation of the annual financial statements and for the judgements made in this information.

The accounting authority is responsible for establishing and implementing a system of internal control that has been designed to provide 

reasonable assurance as to the integrity and reliability of the performance information, the human resources information and the annual 

financial statements.

The external auditors are engaged to express an independent opinion on the annual financial statements.

In our opinion, the annual report fairly reflects the operations, the performance information, the human resources information and the financial 

affairs of the entity for the financial year ended 31 March 2014.

Yours faithfully

Dr AS van Jaarsveld  

Chief Executive Officer

Professor RM Crewe 

Chairperson of the Board

3  Statement of Responsibility
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5  Strategic Overview

The NRF aims to uphold excellence in all its investments, be it in 

knowledge, people or infrastructure. We contribute to improving 

the quality of life of all the people of South Africa by promoting 

research, developing the human capacity pipeline and by 

supporting research infrastructure and research institutions. 

The NRF supports people and projects that search for sustainable 
solutions to the problems facing our transforming society.

5.1 NRF Vision 2015

The NRF Vision 2015, in short, strives to create:

 � World-class research

 � A transformed society

 � A sustainable environment

The Vision 2015 strategy is underpinned by five strategic outcome- 

orientated goals that promote and support knowledge-based and 

research-driven solutions to national challenges.

5.2 NRF Mission Statement

The mission of the NRF is to contribute to the knowledge economy 

in South Africa by attaining at least 1% of global research and 

development (R&D) output by 2015.

5.3 NRF Shared Values

In the context of NRF Vision 2015, the values of the organisation 

support the achievement of the organisation’s strategic objectives 

by defining accepted norms and behaviours based on a system of 

ethics, in order to promote high standards of business practice. The 

NRF is governed by the values set out in Figure 1.

Figure 1: NRF Shared Values

5.4 NRF Core Competencies

The NRF has identified areas in which the organisation performs 

with distinction. Leveraging of these organisational competencies 

results in the NRF being able to provide the service offerings as set 

out in Figure 2, which are greatly beneficial to the National System 

of Innovation (NSI) and support the furthering of the NRF strategic 

goals.

Figure 2: NRF Core Competencies

5.5 NRF Strategic Outcome-Orientated Goals

The NRF strategic goals support the Vision and Mission statements 

of the organisation and are designed to leverage off the core 

competencies of the organisation, combined with the entrenched 

NRF value system.

Figure 3: NRF Strategic Goals
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6.1 NRF Mandate

The NRF receives its overarching mandate from the National 

Research Foundation Act (No. 23 of 1998), which came 

into effect on 1 April 1999 and established the NRF as an 

autonomous statutory body. According to Section 3 of the 

Act, the mandate of the NRF is to “... promote and support 

research through funding, human resource development and 

the provision of the necessary facilities in order to facilitate the 

creation of knowledge, innovation and development in all fields 

of science and technology, including indigenous knowledge, 

and thereby to contribute to the improvement of the quality of 

life of all the people of the Republic.”

6.2 Other Mandates

As an Agency of Government, the NRF executes its mandate in 

the context of national strategy and societal needs, and therefore 

responds to national and departmental level strategic initiatives that 

contextualise the overarching NRF mandate. The NRF considers 

and adopts the following strategies and plans:

6  Legislative and Other Mandates

Figure 4:  Summary of Strategic Initiatives that Impact the NRF Mandate
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7  Situational Analysis

7.1 The Service Delivery Environment

The NRF is mandated to fulfil a dual role within the NSI. Primarily, the 

organisation fulfils an agency role by interpreting and implementing 

national policy, and by supporting and promoting research through 

its grant making and science engagement activities. In addition, the 

NRF provides innovative science platforms through the sustainable 

support of the National Research Facilities. As Research and 

Innovation Performers, the National Research Facilities of the NRF 

contribute to national research priorities, access to large unique 

scientific equipment, scarce skills development, and the creation of 

global partnerships through various projects and collaborations. The 

NRF is a partner of the Foundation (Pty) Ltd. and through the South 

African Astronomical Observatory (SAAO) operates the Southern 

African Large Telescope (SALT). The NRF is also mandated on behalf 

of the Department of Science and Technology (DST) to build the 

MeerKAT as part of Square Kilometre Array South Africa (SKA SA).

Figure 5 provides a holistic view of the system of innovation, and 

positions the key role players within the four interconnected tiers 

of the system. The NRF is clearly positioned in its dual role as an 

Agency and a performer of research and innovation.

7.2 Organisational Environment

7.2.1 Changes to the Organisational Environment

Over the last 5 years, the NRF through the Vision 2015 Strategy, 

embarked on a number of joint initiatives with the DST, in order to 

positively influence the delivery environment of the organisation. 

These initiatives included:

i. The Proposed Recapitalisation Strategy for the National 

Research Facilities, which resulted in the organisation receiving 

an additional R300m over five years to address the acquisition 

and replacement of critical infrastructure. The funding has also 

allowed for certain strategic enhancements.

ii. The Strategic Positioning of the National Research Facilities 

and the development of Science Plans led to the alignment of 

National Facilities to national strategy in order to remain relevant 

to both national and global research trends.

iii. The Scaling Up of the R&D Enterprise Funding Framework is 

aimed at ultimately increasing the number of PhD graduates in 

the system from 1 200 per annum in 2010, to 6 000 by 2020. The 

strategy calls for increased investment in the Centres of Excellence 

(CoEs) and the South African Research Chairs Initiative (SARChI). 

The strategy resulted in the NRF securing additional funding, and 

in the 2013/14 financial year the NRF received:

a. R159m for the National Equipment Programme (NEP) and 

the National Nanotechnology Programme (NNTP); and

b. R91.5m for the National Research Facilities research 

equipment upgrade and replacement.

iv. The NRF awarded 62 Research Chairs of which 54 have 

been filled at an average value of around R2.5m per Chair. The 

remaining eight Research Chairs have been rescinded as the 

universities failed to identify suitable candidates by the cut-off 

Level 1: High-level policy

Government Advisory: CHE, NACI, ASSAF

Level 2: Ministry

DST DHET the dti DoE DMR NDA DoH DAFF DEA National 
Treasury

Other 
Departments

Level 3: Agency

NRF DC SANERI MRC WRC

TIA/BRICS SEDA

Level 4: Research and Innovation Performers

NRF HEIs SABS NECSA Mintek ARC MRC SAWS Business 
Enterprises

HSRC Council for 
Geoscience MCM

CSIR SANBI

AISA

SANSA

(For explanations of acronyms, please refer to the list of acronyms on page 140)

Figure 5: The South African Science Landscape (amended from OECD, 2007)
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date of December 2013. Qualifying universities will be permitted 

to compete for these unfilled Research Chairs.

v. Five new CoE’s were awarded during the year and will be 

funded in the next financial year.

vi. Other considerations over the reporting period were:

a. A review of the National Astrophysics Space Science 

Programme (NASSP) recommended the extension of the 

programme’s activities to the north of the country, and to 

operating NASSP as a fully inter-institutional programme;

b. The process of consolidating some of the DST interventions 

into a single programme that will include the South African 

Nuclear Human Asset and Research Programme  (SANHARP) 

has been concluded. The consolidated programme, called 

the Energy Human Capacity Development and Knowledge 

Generation (EHCD&KG), was approved; and

c. The DST previously provided funding to support human 

capacity development for the renewable energy sector 

through the South African National Energy Research 

Institute (SANERI). In 2011, the DST decided to transfer this 

programme, now called the Renewable and Sustainable 

Energy Scholarships programme (RSES), to the NRF. 

The primary focus is to provide scholarships at master’s 

and PhD levels, with emphasis on research studies that 

will support and facilitate the shift towards a sustainable 

energy sector.

7.2.2 Investment principles

The NRF supports people and projects in search of solutions that 

will fundamentally transform the research community. Within the 

framework of its longer-term strategy, the decisions through which 

the NRF creates and sustains value in the NSI are influenced by 

the requirements of its principles and the needs of the research 

community, with the provision that excellence is non-negotiable. 

Funding decisions are guided by the NRF mandate, and an 

assessment of the external operational environment. Advice from 

the research community is sought though appropriate advisory 

structures and their extensive participation in the peer review of 

research proposals and research products: 

a. The NRF has to find a balance between a strategy-driven and a 

demand-driven investment approach within the boundaries of 

its funding constraints;

b. Applications for the entire range of funding offerings are 

assessed by following a competitive, merit-based approach;

c. Investments always take the transformation imperatives into 

account, including the DST guidelines for improving equity in 

the distribution of bursaries and fellowships; and

d. Fairness, transparency and accountability apply in all investment 

processes.

The organisation is self-reflective, strives for continuous improvement 

and manages its performance through the quarterly reporting 

process and the performance management of its staff.

7.3  Key Policy Developments and  
Legislative Changes

7.3.1 National Development Plan 2030

The National Development Plan (NDP) identifies education, training 

and innovation as central to the development of the South African 

nation. The plan reinforces the paramount importance of a quality 

education and innovation system in the context of empowering 

citizens, and thereby addressing the social challenges of poverty, 

poor health and inequality. A robust system that encourages 

technology shifts and innovation will inevitably solve present day 

challenges and create a sustainable future.

The NDP is not prescriptive with respect to science and technology, 

and outlines certain broad priorities, which align directly to the current 

objectives and focus areas of the NRF and the DST. These areas are:

a. A focus on human capacity development and quality in the NSI;

b. Increasing the qualification levels (to PhD) of staff in the higher 

education sector; and

c. Focus on research in the area of climate change.

7.3.2  The National Research and 
Development Strategy (NRDS)

The NRDS of 2002 emphasised the importance of knowledge areas 

where South Africa has an obvious or potential geographic advantage 

or where South Africa has a clear and established advantage in 

knowledge. The southern tip of the African continent provides South 

Africa with a unique set of geographic and knowledge advantages 

in which the NRF plays a very key role through various developing 

partnerships and supporting projects.

Figure 6: Map of the Karoo

The Milky Way Galaxy is best observed from the Southern 

Hemisphere, and the expansive Upper Karoo in central South Africa 

provides the ideal conditions to support astronomy observation. 

With large areas of this semi-desert region mostly uninhabited, 
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the Karoo, shown in Figure 6, is one of the darkest (lack of light 

pollution) and radio-quiet areas on earth. The low rainfall and water 

vapour content of the troposphere, as well as the tectonically stable 

conditions, makes the Karoo ideal for radio and optical astronomy.

Leveraging off the unique geographic advantages, the South African 

Astronomical Observatory (SAAO) has its optical observing station 

20km outside the town of Sutherland in the Northern Cape. At an 

altitude of 1798m above sea level, the site is host to 13 telescopes. 

The SAAO operates seven telescopes, including the Southern 

African Large Telescope (SALT). The SALT Foundation (Pty) Ltd 

is a consortium of international institutions, of which the NRF is a 

partner. The SALT Foundation was formed to construct and operate 

a 10m class telescope at the Observatory in Sutherland. The site 

plays host to six telescopes for various global institutions.

The unique conditions of the Karoo also support radio astronomy. 

South Africa was successful in its bid to host the Square Kilometre 

Array (SKA) radio telescope array. The SKA will be the largest radio 

telescope array in the world. The core of the SKA telescope will be 

situated in the Karoo, 75km outside the town of Carnarvon, which is 

240km northeast of Sutherland. The MeerKAT array is currently under 

construction and will consist of 64 offset Gregorian radio astronomy 

dishes that will form part of the SKA core. With outer stations expanding 

the base line of SKA north to Namibia, Botswana, Ghana and Kenya 

and east to Madagascar, the 3000km baseline specification will be 

met, making the SKA the most sensitive telescope in the world.

While the SKA is the most prominent radio astronomy endeavour 

of our time, radio astronomy in Southern Africa started in 1961, 

with the construction of Deep Space Station 51. Now known as 

the Hartebeesthoek Radio Astronomy Observatory (HartRAO), the 

facility was initially constructed by NASA to facilitate data capturing 

and transmission of commands to the unmanned US probes sent 

beyond the earth’s orbit. The geographic location of the observatory 

was significant and the observatory supported the Ranger, Surveyor, 

and the Lunar Orbiter spacecraft, which landed on the Moon. The 

observatory also supported the Mariner missions, which explored 

the planets Venus and Mars, and the Pioneers, which measured the 

Sun’s winds. NASA handed the facility to the CSIR in 1975 when it 

was converted to a radio astronomy observatory.

The NRF’s holistic growth strategy for the astronomy sub-agency 

includes the investment in research platforms like SALT; cutting 

edge infrastructure and human capacity development from honours 

level bursaries such as NASSP; and funding of astronomy Research 

Chairs as part of the South African Research Chairs Initiative 

(SARChI), which provide the means to grow local supervisory 

capacity in this niche area. The NRF has invested R445m over the 

past five years, excluding the investment in the SKA SA project. 

Figure 7 below is a summary of the specific programmes in which 

the NRF invests as a critical node in the global astronomy network.

Multi-wavelength astronomy is becoming more prevalent as an 

emerging field in South Africa and benefits from increased access to 

radio, optical astronomy facilities. The SA Astro-informatics Alliance 

(SA3 pronounced, “SA cubed”) was formed in August 2013 to 

ensure that:

a. Data produced by National Research Facilities and SKA SA 

is accessible to the international community (in a manner that 

does not violate any ownership rights);

b. Human capacity is developed through schools and workshops 

that introduce people to data and tools of the virtual observatory; 

and

c. The South African Astronomical Community is supported by 

creating access to multi-wavelength astronomical data, as well 

as the tool for dealing with the data.

The SKA SA project has successfully completed the construction 

and commissioning of the Karoo Array Telescope known as KAT-7. 

The seven-dish precursor to the MeerKAT array radio telescope 

will now serve as a fully-fledged instrument, as well as a test bed 

for MeerKAT software. Over the 2013/14 financial year, the SKA SA 

project delivered on various bulk infrastructure projects in support 

of MeerKAT and SKA. The culmination of a gruelling schedule 

was the delivery of the first MeerKAT Antenna to the site in March 

2014. SKA SA expenditure over the reporting period was a total of 

R1,17bn. Figure 8 demonstrates the dramatic increase in the SKA 

SA investment over the period 2009/10 to 2013/14.

Figure 8:  Geographic Advantage Areas (SKA) – Investment Trends 

2009/10-2013/14
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Figure 7:  Geographic Advantage Areas (Astronomy excluding SKA) 

– Investment Trends 2009/10-2013/14
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Figure 9 is a summary of the investments made in other research fields 

that also draw from the local geographic advantages. These include:

 � Palaeosciences, which were supported through the Palae-

ontological Scientific Trust (PAST) and the African Origins 

Programme (AOP). Over the reporting period, R57,3m was 

invested in this area;

 � Antarctic research was supported through the South African 

National Antarctic Programme (SANAP) where the programme 

received R73,1m between 2009/10 and 2013/14; and

 � Indigenous Knowledge Systems (IKS), where a total of R41,7m 

was invested over the five year reporting period through the DST/

NRF IKS programme. Investment was made specifically in the 

areas of food and health, education and curriculum development.

In the area of biodiversity, the NRF made an investment of R397,2m 

over the five years since April 2009. The NRF established Research 

Chairs through SARChI, and utilised the Centres of Excellence 

(CoEs) programme to establish CoEs in Invasion Biology, Birds as 

Key Indicators of Biodiversity, and the Tree Health Programme. The 

following National Research Facilities also participate in this area:

 � The South African Institute for Aquatic Biodiversity (SAIAB);

 � The South African Environmental Observation Network (SAEON); 

and

 � The National Zoological Gardens (NZG).

 � Figure 10 below shows programmes and collaborations through 

which further contribution was made to the area of biodiversity.

Figure 9:  Geographic Advantage Areas (excluding Astronomy) – 

Investment Trends 2009/10-2013/14
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Systems (IKS)

Biodiversity

2009/10 8.1 16.7 4.6 54.3

2010/11 13.4 18.0 5.4 74.7

2011/12 8.2 12.8 8.9 83.7

2012/13 9.0 15.0 10.8 90.6

2013/14 18.6 10.7 11.9 93.8
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Figure 10: Biodiversity Programmes and Collaborations
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Palaeontology through interpretive art? 
Believe it!

When you hear the names Greg Melvill-Smith and Craig 
Morris, both of whom are renowned South African actors, the 
last association you would expect is with the study of ancient 
life. In fact, you might not expect creativity or art in the serious 
field of palaeontology at all. And yet, this inspired partnership is 
breathing new life into the fascinating story of our heritage. 

South Africa is geographically ideal for the study of origins or 
Palaeosciences. The world-renowned Sterkfontein Caves is 
home to the oldest and most continuous Palaeontological dig in 
the world. Here the famous pre-human skull affectionately known 
as “Mrs Ples”, and an almost complete hominid skeleton called 
“Little Foot”, dated 2.3 and 4.17 million years old respectively,  
were discovered. The oldest known dinosaur eggs were found 
in the Wonderwerke Cave near Kuruman in the Northern Cape. 
Expeditions such as the Rising Star Expedition lead by Professor 
Lee Berger are making ground-breaking discoveries with more 
than 1200 hominid fossils recovered in November 2013 from the 
Rising Star cave site in the Cradle of Humankind World Heritage 
site. These momentous discoveries give South Africa a unique 
advantage in the field, and opportunities for South African 
students are increasing dramatically. 

The Palaeontological Scientific Trust (PAST) is a South African 
registered NGO with section 18a status that uses Africa’s 
unsurpassed fossil heritage to build African dignity and identity, 
promote social cohesion and environmental conservation, 
inspire scientific curiosity among school-going youth, and 
develop African leadership in the Palaeosciences. PAST provides 
competitive grants for postgraduate bursaries, research projects 
and technical capacity-building, but they also promote education 
and public understanding of the Palaeosciences. Over a decade 
ago a public-private partnership was established between the 
NRF and PAST to support a partnership between the corporate, 
governmental and scientific sectors to ensure the continued 
flow of private support to the Palaeosciences, whilst highlighting 
the relevance of Palaeosciences education and research to the 
broader public.

For the past three years though, the NRF and DST have been 
supporting the unexpected: a group of actors. Under the scientific 
direction of PAST’s CEO, Andrea Leenen, and PAST’s Scientific 
and Education Strategist, Professor Robert Blumenschine, 
Melvill-Smith and Morris have scripted and directed a production 
casted with young, vibrant and enthusiastic South African artists 
that is taking the higher education sector by storm. The ‘Walking 
Tall Educational Theatre’ production presents the complexities 
of human origins in an exciting, palatable show full of colour, 
movement, humour and audience participation.

The NRF’s mandate drives the support and developing of 
existing scientists in the National System of Innovation, but if an 
interest in science is not fostered in learners they will not take the 
necessary subjects to be able to embark on a scientific career 
path. Many learners are not adequately exposed to the wide and 
fascinating arena of science and technology, or believe that it is 
out of their reach and therefore don’t consider scientific careers 
as an option for their future. Through initiatives such as these, the 
NRF supports science awareness and promotion in an effort to 
invite more students into the scientific realm. NRF’s support has 
assisted PAST in bringing its education and public understanding 
programmes to over 1 million children, teachers and members of 
the public, opening the door to an often misunderstood discipline. 

This ingenious initiative is testament to the value of unique 
partnerships and projects to instil passion and enthusiasm for 
the field of palaeontology. 
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7.3.3 The Ten-Year Innovation Plan of 2007

The Ten-Year Innovation Plan of the Department of Science and 

Technology identified areas of investment that would enhance 

economic growth and socio-economic development, and move 

South Africa towards the goal of a knowledge economy. South 

Africa’s grand challenges in science and technology have been 

identified as bio-economy, astronomy, energy security, global 

change, and human and social dynamics. Astronomy has been 

addressed as a geographic advantage in the National Research and 

Development Strategy (NRDS) section.

Figure 11 is an indication of the increasing investment in the DST 

grand challenges.

Figure 11:  NRF Support for the DST Grand Challenges – Investment 

Trends 2009/10 – 2013/14

In the 2013/14 financial year, the NRF invested R291,4m in addressing 

the DST grand challenges (excluding astronomy). This represents an 

average growth of 44% year on year since 2009/10.

7.3.4 The Outcomes Approach of Government

In terms of the 12 outcomes of Government, adopted by Cabinet at 

its Lekgotla in January 2010, the NRF is mainly aligned to outcome 

5, which is to foster a skilled and capable workforce to support an 

inclusive growth path. In addition to this primary outcome, the NRF 

indirectly contributes to other government outcomes, as shown in 

Table 1.

The NRF, in terms of its mandate, also contributes to two of the 

major outputs expected from the Department of Science and 

Technology:

 � Promoting, building and supporting the high-level human 

capacity required in research, development and innovation for 

a growing knowledge economy; and

 � Providing support to industry–university partnerships.

Table 1: The 12 Outcomes of Government

The Outcomes of Government DST NRF

1 Improved quality of basic education

2 A long and healthy life for all South Africans

3 All people in South Africa are and feel safe

4 Decent employment through inclusive economic growth 

5 A skilled and capable workforce to support an inclusive growth path

6 An efficient, competitive and responsive economic infrastructure network

7 Vibrant, equitable and sustainable rural communities with food security for 
all

8 Sustainable human settlement and improved quality of household life

9 A responsive, accountable, effective and efficient local government system

10 Environmental assets and natural resources that are well protected and 
continually enhanced

11 Creating a better South Africa and contributing to a better and safer Africa 
and world

12 An efficient, effective and development-orientated public service and an 
empowered, fair and inclusive citizenship

 DST performance areas
 DST and NRF performance areas
 Indirect NRF contribution through funded research

7.4 Strategic Outcomes

The 2013/14 financial year was the penultimate year for the current 

NRF strategy. Vision 2015 articulates that the mission of the NRF is 

to “contribute to the knowledge economy in South Africa to attain at 

least 1% of global R&D output by 2015”. The organisation has built 

on its core competencies and ethics-based value system to grow the 

South African research community by supporting globally competitive 

research and state of the art infrastructure investments. The NRF’s 

performance over the reporting period has been measured against 

the Vision 2015 suite of indicators as set out in Table 2.

The NRF has excelled against its Vision 2015 targets by exceeding 

80% of the annualised targets set for 2013/14. The organisation also 

made further progress on four of the Vision 2015 targets that were 

already achieved in the 2012/13 financial year. Please refer to the 

targets as set out in Figure 12.

Bio-economy Energy Security Global Change Human and social
dynamics

2009/10 27.59 7.18 27.51 6.59

2010/11 38.76 8.32 43.23 19.34

2011/12 41.07 12.13 56.99 36.88

2012/13 40.58 34.98 99.67 60.76

2013/14 41.61 69.67 91.97 88.14
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Figure 12: Vision 2015 Targets Exceeded
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The NRF mission statement, reflected as a Vision 2015 Performance 

Target, requires the system to contribute to 1% of the global R&D 

outputs by 2015. However, the critical factor in achieving the target of 

1% is the level of investment in the national system of innovation, i.e. 

the Gross Domestic Expenditure on R&D (GERD). The R&D survey 

confirmed that GERD for the 2011/12 financial year was 0.76% of 

GDP, which is substantially lower than the world average of 1.77%. 

Despite the public sector investment increasing, the decline in 

investment from the private sector is evident and is largely because 

of the macro economic climate. While the system performance of 

0.61% exceeds the annualised target of 0.59%, the Vision 2015 

target of 1% seems unattainable with only a year to March 2015. 

Despite the impact of declining GERD, by driving the rest of the 

Vision 2015 targets, the organisation has contributed to the creation 

of a globally competitive national system of innovation. Through the 

provision of a world-class rating system, the organisation has rated 

2 959 researchers. The rating of researchers supports the goal of 

promoting internationally com petitive research.

NRF-funded researchers contributed to approximately 44% of the 

total number of ISI publications with South African authors or co- 

authors in 2013. Furthermore, Figure 13 shows a growing trend 

in the average number of publications by NRF-funded researchers 

over the last four years.

What is significant is the fact that rated researchers have consistently 

outperformed unrated researchers over this period. This is a further 

validation of the NRF rating system as driver of research excellence 

across the system.

Figure 13: Growth Rate of Publications

Figure 14 illustrates that NRF A-rated researchers achieve a higher 

average number of publications per capita than researchers of other 

categories. The P-rated researchers achieved the second highest 

average. P-rated researchers are under 35 years of age and are 

considered future leaders in their fields.

Figure 14 : Average Number of Authored / Co-authored ISI 

Publications per NRF-Rated Researcher
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Table 2: Performance towards Vision 2015 Goals

Indicator description Actual 
2008/09

Actual 
2009/10

Actual 
2010/11

Actual 
2011/12

Actual 
2012/13

Actual 
2013/14

Target 
2013/14

Vision  
2015

Promoting internationally competitive research

Proportion of Global R&D outputs 0.48% 0.47% 0.52% 0.57% 0.62% 0.61% 0.59% 1%

Number of NRF rated researchers 1 914 2 142 2 285 2 471 2 638 2 959 2 714 2 500

Growing a representative science and technology workforce in South Africa 

Proportion of NRF rated researchers 
from designated groups to total rated 
researchers

Black
16% 17% 19% 20% 22% 23% 20% 25%

367 433 506 569 668 543

Woman
26% 27% 28% 29% 30% 30% 29% 35%

578 634 717 780 889 787

Operating world-class evaluaton and grant-making systems

Completion rate of applications for NRF rating per annum 95% 99% 99.8% 100% 99.8% 99.8% 95% 95%

Proportion of available grant funding expensed 64% 84% 81% 77% 84% 78% 90% 100%

Providing cutting-edge research, technology and innovatiion platforms

Peer-reviewed journal articles (ISI and other) authored or co-
authored by National Research Facility researchers 180 181 220 233 271 305 240 250

Contributing to a vibrant national inovation system

Doctoral students supported 1 370 1 384 1 937 1 979 2 031 2 265 2 645 2 000

PhD’s per million of the population 26.0 27.9 28.4 31.2 35.9
*Available 

end 2014 32.0 35.0

*KPI dependant on HEMIS data being available



     |  NRF Annual Report 2013/201418

While publications emanating from the National Research Facilities 

have increased dramatically, from 180 in 2009/10 to 305 in 2013/14, 

on a global scale South Africa has also contributed to more than 

1% of the world’s ISI journal articles in certain broad subject areas 

as set out in Figure 15.

Figure 15:  Percentage World Share of ISI Publications in Select 

Science Fields 2009 – 2013

The science fields of immunology, environment/ecology, space 

science, and plant and animal sciences are areas supported 

through the various NRF funding instruments, including the South 

African Research Chairs Initiatives and the Centres of Excellence. 

Specifically, the fields of space science and biodiversity further 

benefited from being identified through the national research and 

development plan as areas of geographic advantage. 

The impact of research outputs are measured by the number of 

citations received per paper. Figure 16 graphically represents the 

relative citation impact for publications in specific fields for the period 

2009 to 2013. South African citations exceeded the global average 

of 1% in the fields of clinical medicine, immunology, microbiology, 

physics, plant & animal science, and space science. The impact of 

citations is an indicator of the relevance of the research output and the 

emphasis placed on the subject matter by the research community. 

The NRF has performed relatively well against the Vision 2015 targets 

to date. However, the bigger picture is the true indicator of success. 

The higher average productivity of rated researchers serves as 

validation that the NRF provides a world-class rating system. The 

overall productivity of the NSI, while significantly lower than the target 

of 1% of global research outputs, has been recognised as globally 

competitive through the increase in the number of ISI publications, 

and the citations attracted in selected fields.

Figure 16:  Relative Citation Impact of ISI Publications in Select 

Science Fields 2009 – 2013
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8  Corporate Governance

8.1 Corporate Governance Overview

The governance structures of the NRF consist of systems and 

processes which abet the NRF to be directed, controlled and held 

accountable. Legislation such as the NRF Act (No. 23 of 1998), 

the Public Finance Management Amendment Act (PFMA) (No. 29 

of 1999) and the South African Companies Act (No. 71 of 2008) 

contribute to the compliance requirements of the entity, as do the 

various national and departmental frameworks, instructions and 

policies. In addition, the NRF also applies leading governance 

practices by adhering to the requirements in the King Report on 

Corporate Governance for South Africa (King III).

8.2 Accountability Structure

Figure 17: NRF Governance Structure

Parliamentary Portfolio Committee on  
Science and Technology

Accounting Officer 
Chief Executive Officer of the NRF

Corporate Executive Committee

Accounting Authority  
Board of the NRF

Executive Authority
Minister of Science and Technology

NRF Management

The NRF is accountable to Parliament through the Parliamentary 

Portfolio Committee (PPC) on Science and Technology. The Minister 

of Science and Technology is the Executive Authority in terms of the 

Public Finance Management Amendment Act (PFMA) (No. 29 of 

1999), and the Accounting Authority is the NRF Board. The Board of 

the NRF delegate the Chief Executive Officer to act as the Accounting 

Authority of the NRF. This structure is represented in Figure 17.

8.3  Parliamentary Portfolio Committee on 
Science and Technology

The Parliamentary Portfolio Committee (PPC) of the National Assembly 

processes legislation and conducts oversight of the work of the NRF.

During the 2013/14 financial year, the CEO and the NRF Corporate 

Executive Committee had one interaction with the PPC on Science 

and Technology, where the PPC exercised oversight of the planning 

and performance of the organisation:

 � 09 October 2013: NRF Annual Report for 2012/13.

While the NRF Annual Performance Plan (APP) for 2014/15 to 

2016/17 is usually presented to the PPC prior to the beginning of 

the new financial year, this presentation was deferred due to the 

National Elections. The APP was, however, presented to the 

Executive Authority in February 2014.

8.4  Minister of Science and Technology as 
Executive Authority

Mr DA Hanekom was the Minister of Science and Technology in 

South Africa during the 2013/14 financial year. Table 3 below lists 

the accountability documents submitted to the Executive Authority 

during the 2013/14 financial year.

Table 3:  Accountability documents submitted to the Minister  and 

of Science and Technology during 2013/14

Accountability Report Date of Submissions

Annual Report 2012/13
Delivery of Documents – 05 August 2013

Presentation to Minister – 29 August 2013

Annual Performance Plan and Shareholder 
Compact 2014/15 to 2016/17

Presentation to Minister – 07 February 
2014

Delivery of Documents – 06 March 2014

First Quaterly Report 2013/14 Delivery of Documents – 19 July 2013

Second Quarterly Report 2013/14 Delivery of Documents – 18 October 2013

Third Quarterly Report 2013/14 Delivery of Documents – 20 January 2014

Fourth Quarterly Report 2013/14 Delivery of Documents – 17 April 2015

8.5 NRF Board as Accounting Authority

The NRF Board is appointed by the Minister of Science and 

Technology, and is empowered through the NRF Act (No. 23 of 1998 

as amended) and the PFMA (No. 29 of 1999 as amended). In terms 

of aforementioned Acts, the NRF Board as the Accounting Authority, 

exercises leadership, enterprise, integrity and good judgement. The 

NRF Board:

 � provides strategic direction;

 � exercises oversight with respect to investment decisions, 

financial and risk management, and organisational reviews;

 � is the custodian and driver of the social and ethics agenda of 

the organisation; and

 � exercises oversight of the compliance environment that impacts 

the organisation, including but not limited to, the King Report on 

Corporate Governance for South Africa (King III).
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8.5.1 NRF Board Charter

The functions of the Board of the Public Entity are outlined in the 

NRF Act, and explicated in the Board Charter. The Board of the NRF 

has compiled a progressive Board Charter that outlines their role, 

responsibility and governance oversight. This document is available 

from the office of the NRF Corporate Secretary.

8.5.2  Shareholder Compact between 
Accounting and Executive Authorities

The Chairman of the Board and the Minister of Science and 

Technology agree annually on a schedule of performance targets 

for the organisation that are set out in the Shareholder Compact 

between the Accounting and Executive Authorities. The Shareholder 

Compact promotes good governance, and is used as a management 

tool for the organisation. This agreement then forms the basis for 

quarterly and annual reporting.

8.5.3 NRF Board Term of Office

The three-year term of office of the NRF Board extends from  

1 October 2011 to 30 September 2014.

8.5.4 Composition of the NRF Board

As at 31 March 2014, the NRF Board was constituted as set out in 

Figure 18.

Figure 18: Board Members for the reporting period

Dr Peter Clayton
Rhodes University

Ms Tryphosa Ramano
Pretoria Portland Cement Company Limited (PPC) 

* Resigned October 2013

Professor Robin Crewe
Chairman

University of Pretoria

Professor Mala Singh
The Open University 

United Kingdom

Professor Ben Cousins
University of the Western Cape 

Professor Errol Tyobeka
Polytechnic of Namibia 

Professor Peliwe Lolwana
University of the Witwatersrand 

Mr André Fourie
SABMiller 

* Resigned September 2013

Professor Sunil Maharaj
University of KwaZulu-Natal 

Dr Namane Magau
Consultant 

Professor Stephanie Burton
University of Pretoria 

* August 2013 – March 2014

Professor Murray Leibbrandt
University of Cape Town
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The following board members resigned during the financial year 

under review:

 � Mr André Fourie – Resigned as at 30 September 2013

 � Ms MMT Ramano – Resigned as at 31 October 2013

The following Board member was appointed during the financial 

year under review:

 � Prof SG Burton – Appointed as at 01 August 2013

8.5.5 NRF Board Members with Board Directorships

Additional directorships held by NRF Board members are as shown 

in Table 4.

Table 4: NRF Board Members with Board Directorships

Professor RM Crewe
(Board Chair)

Insiava
International Congress of Entomology 2008
Sera
Sera Fund Managers
The Gordon Institute of Business Science
Skye Foundation (trustee)

Dr PG Clayton
African Journals Online
GBS Mutual Bank

Mr AJ Fourie  
(Resigned as at  
30 September 2013)

SAB Boucher

South African Suppliers Diversity Council

Professor PP Lolwana

South African Women in Health
MMI Foundation
Portion 8 of Stand 39 Kelvin
Hotazel Manganese Mine Education Trust (Trustee)
University of Fort Hare Council (member) Human Resources 
Development Council SA (member)
Gauteng Advisory Council (member)
Quality Council on Trade and Occupations (Chairman)

Ms MMT Ramano 
(Resigned as at 31 October 
2013)

Pretoria Portland Cement (PPC)
Financial Service Board of SA (Appeal Board)
Landbank
Real Africa Holdings Ltd
Airports Company South Africa (ACSA)

Prof SG Burton Insiava [Pty] Ltd

Dr NT Magau 

Igwija Gaming Gauteng
Tselane Energy
Monara Empowerment Rating
Xhumani Zandla Bafazi Investments
B and D Solutions
Abidas Counting Solutions
African Women's Development Fund – Southern Africa
Agility Global Health Solutions – Africa
AON South Africa
Baithekgi Investments
Boland Basadi Investments
Druid's Luck Trading 15
ILF Communications
Kgalalelo Group
Kidrocare
Medical Distributors
Millennium Africa Foundation
Newshelf 1151 (RF)
NTP Radioisotopes
Precious Prospect Trading 371
Rheinmetall Man Military Vehicles RSA
Seven Seasons
Sizagraph Trading 279
The William Moffett Development
Tselane Basadi Capital
Crowie Holdings

Enza Construction

8.5.6 Competencies of NRF Board Members

The competencies and experience of Board members are 

summarised in Table 5.

Table 5: Highest Qualifications and Areas of Expertise

Board 
member

Highest 
qualification Areas of expertise

Prof RM 
Crewe PhD Biological 

sciences
Academic  

administration

Dr PG 
Clayton PhD Research & 

development

Higher 
education 

management

Prof B 
Cousins DPhil Land reform Rural  

development
Small scale 
agriculture

Mr AJ 
Fourie MA & MBA International 

politics
Political 
science

Corporate 
experience

Prof MV 
Leibbrandt PhD Development 

economics

Poverty,  
inequality 
and labour 
markets

Prof PP 
Lolwana PhD Psychology

Education 
and skills 

development

Teaching 
and research

Government 
knowledge 

management 

Dr NT 
Magau PhD/D.Ed

Prof SD 
Maharaj PhD General 

relativity Cosmology Relativistic 
astrophysics

Ms MMT 
Ramano CA

Prof R 
Singh DPhil

International 
higher  

education 
policy

Comparative 
higher 

education

Quality 
assurance 
in higher 
education

Prof EM 
Tyobeka PhD Biochemistry

8.5.7 NRF Board Committees

The NRF Board appointed three standing Committees to deal with 

relevant issues on a regular basis:

 � Audit and Risk Committee;

 � Remuneration and Human Resources Committee; and

 � Procurement Committee.

8.5.8 Purpose and Composition of the Board Committees

Audit and Risk Committee

The independent Audit Committee ensures that the assurance 

coverage provided between management and the internal and 

external audit functions is optimised, and adequately focuses on 

areas of risk that directly affect the organisation. The Committee 

plays an integral role in the risk management of the organisation 

and oversees the annual internal risk-based audit in terms of the 

King Report on Corporate Governance for South Africa (King III). 

The Committee engages in the external audit initiated by the Auditor 

General in line with the PFMA (No. 1 of 1999 as amended by No. 

29 of 1999). The Committee evaluates the organisation’s integrated 

reporting with specific focus on:

a. Financial reporting;

b. Risk management;
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c. Internal controls;

d. Fraud risk as it relates to financial reporting; and

e. IT governance and related risks.

The Committee has adopted formal terms of reference through the 

Audit and Risk Committee charter in line with the requirements of 

Section 51 (1) (a) of the PFMA (Act No. 1 of 1999 as amended by 

Act No. 29 of 1999) and Treasury Regulations 27.1.7 and 27.1.10. The 

Committee discharged all its responsibilities for the year in line with 

the charter. During 2013/14, the Committee held three (3) meetings. 

For more information on the meetings held by the Audit and Risk 

Committee, refer to Table 7.

Table 7 : Audit and Risk Committee Meetings:  

1 April 2013 to 31 March 2014

Board members 15 July  
2013

16 October 
2013

21 February 
2014

Chairman Mr AJ Fourie*  - -

Dr PG Clayton X   

Prof MV Leibbrandt    

Prof SD Maharaj    

Ms MMT Ramano**  X -

Prof RM Crewe - - -

Ex officio Dr AS Van Jaarsveld    

 In attendance
- Not an attending member
x Absent with apology
* Resigned from NRF Board 30 September 2013
** Resigned from NRF Board 31 October 2013

Remuneration and Human Resources Committee

The committee has adopted formal terms of reference in line with 

the King Report on Corporate Governance (King III). The committee 

monitors the performance of the organisation regarding human 

resources and remuneration. Through the Committee, the Board 

conducts an annual performance assessment of the organisation as 

well as the CEO. The Board’s Remuneration and Human Resources 

Committee considers these results when making recommendations 

to the Board regarding the remuneration levels of the NRF Corporate 

Executive. During the 2013/14 financial year, this Committee held 

three (3) meetings. For more information on the meetings held by the 

Remuneration and Human Resources Committee, refer to Table 8.

Table 8:  Remuneration and Human Resources Committee Meetings: 

1 April 2013 to 31 March 2014

Board members
Meetings

03 July 2013 30 October 2013 17 February 
2014

Chairman

Dr NT Magau

Prof B Cousins X

Prof PP Lolwana X

Prof EM Tyobeka

Ex officio
Prof RM Crewe - - -

Dr AS Van Jaarsveld

 In attendance
- Not an attending member
x Absent with apology

Procurement Committee

The Board sub-Committee was formed mainly in order to facilitate 

the urgent procurement requirements of the Square Kilometre 

Array (SKA) project. The approved terms of reference allows the 

Committee to consider and approve procurement requests above 

R10 million and considers and recommends procurement requests 

in excess of R20 million to the NRF Board in line with the delegation 

of authority framework. The Committee has regularly scheduled 

meetings, but can also convene at short notice should urgent matters 

require approval. The committee held three (3) meetings during the 

2013/14 financial year. Refer to Table 9 for more information on the 

Procurement Committee meetings held during 2013/14.

Table 9:  Procurement Committee Meetings: 1 April 2013 to 

31 March 2014

Board members 04 September 2013

Chairman

Prof RM Crewe  

Mr AJ Fourie* -

Dr NT Magau  

Dr PG Clayton X

Ex officio
Mr B Singh  

Dr AS Van Jaarsveld  

 In attendance
- Not an attending member
x Absent with apology
* Resigned from NRF Board 30 September 2013

8.5.9 Meetings of the Board and its Committees

The NRF Board met five (5) times during the 2013/14 financial year. 

The Board met once during the reporting period for their annual 

strategic planning meeting. The dates and the attendance of 

members to those meetings are indicated in Table 6.

Table 6:  Attendance of Board meetings: 01 April 2013 to 31 March 2014

Board members 25–26 July 
2013

18  
November 

2013

27 January 
2014

05 March 
2014

26 March 
2014 

[Special 
meeting]

Chairman Prof RM Crewe

Dr PG Clayton

Prof B Cousins X

Mr AJ Fourie* - - - -

Prof MV 
Leibbrandt

Prof PP Lolwana

Dr NT Magau X

Prof SD Maharaj

Ms MMT 
Ramano** X - - - -

Prof R Singh X X

Prof EM Tyobeka X

Prof SG Burton*** - X

Ex officio Dr AS Van 
Jaarsveld

 In attendance
- Not an attending member
x Absent with apology
* Resigned from NRF Board 30 September 2013
** Resigned from NRF Board 31 October 2013
*** Appointed to NRF Board as of 01 August 2013
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8.5.10 Remuneration of the Board

The remuneration of the NRF Board is determined in line with the 

National Treasury guidelines. The NRF Board was categorised as a 

level A1 for the financial year in review. Table 10 below is a summary 

of the remuneration of the Board for the financial reporting period.

Table 10: Payments to Board Members (2013/14)

Name Remuneration Other  
allowance

Other 
reimbursements Total

Prof RM Crewe R 82 440,00 Nil R 1 914.52 R 84 354.52

Dr PG Clayton R 61 760,00 Nil Nil R 61 760.00

Prof B Cousins R 48 896,00 Nil Nil R 48 896.00

Mr AJ Fourie* R 18 656,00 Nil Nil R 18 656.00

Prof MV 
Leibbrandt R 48 896,00 Nil Nil R 48 896.00

Prof PP Lolwana R 48 896,00 Nil Nil R 48 896.00

Dr NT Magau R 67 430,00 Nil Nil R 67 430.00

Prof SD Maharaj R 48 896,00 Nil R 6 331.00 R 55 227.00

Ms MMT 
Ramano** Nil Nil Nil Nil

Prof R Singh R 30 560,00 Nil Nil R 30 560.00

Prof EM Tyobeka R 48 896,00 Nil Nil R 48 896.00

Prof SG Burton*** R 15 280,00 Nil Nil R 15 280.00

* Resigned from NRF Board 30 September 2013
** Resigned from NRF Board 31 October 2013
*** Appointed to NRF Board as of 01 August 2013

It should be noted that Board members are not paid a daily allowance 

when travelling for NRF purposes. However, all travel costs (e.g. airfares, 

car hire, etc.) are covered by the NRF. “Other reimbursements” include 

actual costs incurred by Board members for incidental expenses such 

as airport parking costs, toll fees, Gautrain fares, and use of personal 

vehicles (reimbursed per kilometre as per NRF travel policies).

8.6 The Organisational Structure

The CEO together with the Corporate Executive Committee, 

supported by Programme 1, provide an enabling governance 

and compliance structure that ensures the organisation meets its 

mandate, while operating within an established control environment. 

This structure provides combined assurance to the NRF Board.

8.6.1 NRF Corporate Executive Committee

The Board of the NRF delegates to the CEO, who performs the 

function of the Accounting Officer of the NRF in line with the Act. The 

CEO is also the Chairman of the Corporate Executive Committee. 

This Committee is the formal internal NRF decision-making structure 

and is constituted as shown in Figure 19. The Corporate Secretary 

also provides the secretariat function to the Corporate Executive 

meetings. To ensure cascading of key business and strategic 

information and engagement with all business units, the NRF has 

created a consultative forum, namely the NRF Directors’ Forum 

which meets twice annually.

8.6.2 Corporate Secretary

The Corporate Secretary function is mandatory in terms of 

the NRF Act and plays a pivotal role in the governance of the 

Figure 19: Corporate Executive Management

Dr Albert van Jaarsveld
Chief Executive Officer

Dr Gansen Pillay
Deputy CEO: 

Research and Innovation Support 
and Advancement

Dr Beverley Damonse
Group Executive: 

Science Engagement and 
Corporate Relations

Mr Bishen Singh
Group Executive: 

Finance and Business Systems

Mr Patrick Thompson
Group Executive: 

Human Resources and 
Legal Services

Professor Nithaya Chetty
Group Executive: 

Astronomy 
(Secondment)

vacant
Deputy CEO: 

Strategy and National Research 
Facilities

vacant
Deputy CEO: 
Astronomy
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organisation. The Corporate Secretary provides a central source 

of guidance and advice to the Board in terms of governance 

principles and legislative compliance, and in this way supports 

the Board and all the sub-Committees of the Board. The 

Corporate Secretary of the NRF is also the formal point of contact 

between the organisation, its Board, the Ministry, and the relevant 

parliamentary Committees.

8.6.3 Programme 1 – Corporate

The Corporate Programme is a cross-cutting support function 

that is responsible for the provision of enabling systems, activities, 

and structures that support the organisation. The key objective of 

Programme 1 as a support function is to set the policy and the 

tone for good governance, statutory compliance and the transfer of 

business best practice across the organisation, thereby contributing 

to the achievement of organisational objectives.

8.6.4 Programme 2 – Science Engagement

To fully realise the social, economic and environmental benefits of the 

significant investment in science, research and innovation, we as a 

country must communicate and engage the wider community more 

fully in science and in an understanding of the knowledge economy 

to which we aspire. A common vision seen to encapsulate global 

ambitions is of “a society that is excited about science, values its 

importance to our social and economic well-being, feels confident 

in its use and supports a representative, well qualified scientific 

workforce” (Australian Department of Innovation, Universities and 

Skills, 2008).

Figure 21 illustrates the cross cutting function of the division across 

the NRF.

Figure 21: Programme 2

RISA Science Engagement

National Facilities Science Engagement 

SAASTA

Science Engagement

NRF CEO

Programme 2

8.6.5  Programme 3 – Research and Innovation 
Support and Advancement (RISA)

Reporting to the Deputy CEO, the Research and Innovation Support 

and Advancement division promotes and supports research and 

research capacity in all fields of research, innovation and technology 

development. Figure 22 is a brief summary of the mandate of each 

of the directorates within RISA.

8.6.6 Programmes 4 and 5 – National Research Facilities

The National Research Facilities provide innovative research 

platforms that exploit the national geographic advantages in the 

fields of Astronomy, Biodiversity, Environmental and Conservation,   

and Nuclear Sciences.

Figure 22: Programme 3

Figure 20: Programme 1

Corporate Relations

Legal Services

Human Resources

Supply Chain 
Management

Corporate Finance

Knowledge 
Management 

Corporate

Governance

Corporate RelationsHuman Resources and 
Legal Services

Finance and Business 
Systems

NRF CEO

Programme 1

Definitions 
or acronyms 
are available 
on page 140

Definitions for acronyms are 
available on page 140

Programme 3

Deputy CEO: RISA

NRF CEO

HICD KFD IRC IEPD ARIC GMSA RE
Special 
Projects

RIMS

DST/NRF 
Internship
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ICSU ROA
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Figure 23:  Programmes 4 and 5 – National Research Facilities and 

the SKA SA Project

Nuclear, Biodiversity 
Environmental and 

Conservation

NRF CEO

National Research Facilities

Programme 4 Programme 5

Astro Geoscience

iThemba LABS SAAO

NZG HartRAO

SAIAB SKA SA

SAEON

8.7 Risk Management

The NRF’s Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) principles are 

dependent on taking calculated risks in the pursuit of opportunities 

for the achievement of strategic goals, while not jeopardising the 

direct interests of the NRF and its stakeholders. The NRF risk 

management framework provides a common “risk language” and 

describes the roles and responsibilities of key players in the process 

of enterprise risk management.

The implementation of the Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) 

framework contributes to:

 � The proactive identification, management and monitoring of 

enterprise risks so as to minimise losses and disruption to the 

NRF;

 � Promoting and embedding a risk-conscious culture and 

behaviour throughout the NRF;

 � Compliance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements; and

 � The integration of risk into the internal audit methodology such 

that internal audit becomes risk based.

Risk management and the tabling of the strategic risk register of 

the organisation is a standing item on the agenda of the Corporate 

Executive Committee and the Audit and Risk C+ommittee of the NRF 

Board. During the financial year, the Corporate Executive Committee 

reviewed the strategic risk register of the organisation. Operational risks 

are managed on an on-going basis and critical operational risks are 

reported as part of the quarterly reporting cycle, by all business units.

Business Continuity Management (BCM) has been a risk identified 

by the Corporate Executive Committee. During the reporting period, 

the NRF appointed a service provider (on open tender), to assist the 

organisation with the finalisation of a business continuity strategy 

and implementation plan, including the training of staff members at 

the various units, to update and test the plans. At the end of the 

financial year, the project was on track with all the business units 

having undergone the risk assessments at that point. The next 

phase will see the finalisation of the BCM strategy and the business 

unit level implementation plans.

The organisation has adopted a risk-based audit methodology 

aligned to the principles of the King Report on Corporate 

Governance for South Africa (King III) and the legislative 

requirements of the PFMA (Act No. 1 of 1999 as amended by Act 

No. 29 of 1999).

8.8 Internal Control 

While the NRF does not have a centralised internal control unit, 

the organisational philosophy is to functionalise internal control 

in a decentralised yet integrated manner across the organisation. 

Internal controls are developed, reviewed and implemented in, inter 

alia, the following processes: risk management, policy development, 

system design, corporate governance, audits, standard operating 

procedures, legislative compliance and sustain ability initiatives.

8.9 Internal Audit

The internal audit function derives its mandate from the Audit and 

Risk Committee terms of reference, whereby the Audit and Risk 

Committee is pivotal in ensuring that the internal audit function is 

independent and has the necessary standing and authority to 

discharge its functions. For a summary of meetings of the Audit and 

Risk Committee, refer to Table 7 on Page 22.

As crucial assurance providers, both internal and external audits are 

encouraged to cooperate and ensure that there is an optimal level 

of overlap between these assurance providers. The Audit and Risk 

Committee tasks the in-house Internal Audit function with compiling 

a three-year rolling annual audit plan that is approved on an annual 

basis.

The three-year plan must:

 � Test the key internal controls across the business;

 � Audit specific areas based on the outcome of a risk assessment;

 � Provide advisory service to the organisation as necessary; and

 � Provide ad hoc audit and investigative services as necessary.

The NRF internal audit unit has adopted a co-sourced model, 

whereby the organisation makes use of an internal audit service 

provider as well as an in-house audit to meet the mandate and 

responsibilities of the unit. The key activities of the unit are to provide 

assurance, and to provide an advisory service in some instance. 

The contract with the co-sourced partner for the three years to  

31 March 2014 ended. The organisation, through the Audit and Risk 

Committee, expressed their sincere gratitude to the outgoing audit 

partner, Deloitte. During the financial year, the NRF appointed Ernst 

& Young as the co-sourced partner for the next three-year cycle. 

The new co-sourced partner was appointed on an open tender. For 

Definitions of acronyms are 
available on page 140

Programme 5
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the year ending 31 March 2014, the Internal Audit Unit carried out 

reviews as set out in Table 11.

8.10 Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The organisation utilises a Priority Compliance Listing that identifies 

applicable pieces of priority legislation, regulations and codes of best 

practice. This list is continuously monitored and updated. The King 

Report on Corporate Governance for South Africa (King III) urges the 

organisation’s leadership to not only drive compliance with laws but 

to also focus on non-binding rules, codes and standards. Table 12 

and Table 13 contain some key (but not all-inclusive) laws and best 

practice codes applicable to the NRF’s operations and mandate.

8.11 Supply Chain Management

In accordance with the statutory regulations stipulated under 

regulation 16 A of the PFMA (No. 1 of 1999 as amended by No. 29 

of 1999) on Supply Chain Management, the NRF has implemented 

an effective and efficient supply chain management system for the 

acquisition of goods and services, and the disposal and letting of 

state assets, including the disposal of goods.

The corporate supply chain management role is to ensure that 

supply chain management processes adhere to international best 

practices, legislation, and internal control in the areas of demand 

management, logistics management, disposal management, SCM 

risk management, and assessment of SCM performance. This is 

Table 11:  Internal Audit Reviews for the Year Ending 31 March 2014

Nr
Business  

Unit/ 
Facilities

Area Type of 
review

Responsibility 
(In house/ 

Outsourced/ 
Co-sourced)

Quarter

1 Corporate Audit of Performance 
Information Assurance In house Q3

2 Corporate Human Resources & Payroll 
Management Assurance Outsourced Q4

3 Corporate IT Application Controls Assurance Outsourced Q4

4 Corporate IT Governance  
(King lll Maturity Assessment) Assurance In house Q4

5 Corporate Transformation & BBBEE Advisory Outsourced Q4

6 RISA Procurement & Accounts 
Payable Assurance In house Q2

7 RISA Financial Management Assurance In house Q2

8 RISA Grant Management and 
Systems Administration Assurance In house Q2

9 SKA Procurement & Accounts 
Payable Assurance Outsourced Q3

10 SKA Financial Management Assurance Outsourced Q3

11 SKA Human Resources & Payroll 
Management Assurance Outsourced Q3

12 SKA Grant Management and 
Systems Administration Assurance Outsourced Q3

13 iThemba 
LABS

Procurement & Accounts 
Payable Assurance Outsourced Q2

14 iThemba 
LABS Financial Management Assurance Outsourced Q2

15 iThemba 
LABS

Human Resources & Payroll 
Management Assurance Outsourced Q2

16 SAIAB Financial Management Assurance In house Q3
17 SAEON Financial Management Assurance In house Q3
18 Hart ROA Financial Management Assurance In house Q4
19 SAAO Financial Management Assurance In house Q4

20 SAASTA Procurement & Accounts 
Payable Assurance In house Q4

21 SAASTA Financial Management Assurance In house Q4

Table 12: Priority Compliance Listing of Applicable Legislation and Best Practice

Legislation RISA NZG SAEON SAASTA SAIAB HartRAO SAAO iThemba 
LABS SKA

1 National Research Foundation Act 23 of 1998

2 Occupational Health and Safety Act 85 of 1993

3 National Water Act 36 of 1998

4 NEMA National Environment Management Act 107 of 1998

5 Public Finance Management (PFMA) Act 1 of 1999

6 New Companies Act 71 of 2008

7 Intellectual Property Rights from Publicly Financed Research and Development Act 51 
of 2008

8 Skills Development Act 97 of 1998

9 Employment Equity Act 55 of 1998

10 Labour Relations Act 66 of 1995

11 Basic Conditions of Employment Act 75 of 1997

12 National Environment Management Biodiversity Act 10 of 2004

13 National Environment Management Biodiversity Act, 2004 (Act 10 of 2004) Threatened 
of Protected Species Regulations 

14 Astronomy Geographic Advantage Act 21 of 2007

15 Minc Health and Society Act 20 of 1996 

16 Mineral and Petroleum Resources Development Act 28 of 2002

17 Marine Living Resources Act 18 of 1998

18 National Environmental Management: Air Quality Act (NEM: AQA), 39 of 2004

19 National Environmental Management: Waste Act 59 of 2008

20 Promotion of Access to Information Act 2 of 2000

21 Occupational Health and Safety Act 85 of 1993 – Diving Regulations 

22 Occupational Health and Safety Act 85 of 1993 – Construction Regulations

23 National Radioactive Waste Disposal Institute Act 53 of 2008

24 National Health Act 61 of 2003

25 South African National Space Agency Bill (B20 of 2008) 

26 Animal Health Act 7 of 2002

27 Compensation of Occupational Injuries and Diseases Act 130 of 1993

28 Animals Protection Act 71 of 1962
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achieved through the design and implementation of appropriate 

processes, including workflow, and support in the form of training, 

policies, systems, templates, advisories, advice, directives, forums 

and quality assurance for tenders, as well as contributing to 

the bid adjudication processes. The unit also ensures the use of 

transversal agreements and negotiates bulk rates where feasible. 

The NRF Board has approved the formal Terms of Reference of the 

Bid Adjudication Committee. The committee members have been 

appointed on a three-year term and have been functioning well.

8.12 Fraud and Corruption

The NRF has an all-encompassing policy entitled, “The Prevention, 

Detection and Resolution of Fraud and Corruption” which includes a 

Fraud Prevention Plan. The policy was reviewed during the reporting 

period. The organisation subscribes to the National Anti-Corruption 

Hotline (NACH). This ensures that all allegations of fraud and 

corruption cases are appropriately investigated in line with policy 

and NACH turnaround times. Depending on the outcome of the 

investigation and based on the recommendations of the oversight 

committee, issues raised are reported to the NRF Board in terms of 

the Act for consideration.

8.13 Minimising Conflict of Interest

A conflict of interest occurs when an individual or an organisation is 

involved in multiple interests, and where there is potential to possibly 

corrupt the motivation to act in one or another’s interests. While it 

is understood that conflict of interest can be voluntarily identified 

and defused before corruption occurs, the NRF, given its strategic 

role in the national landscape, minimises the risk of such conflicts 

by ensuring that the proper segregation of duties exist at all levels 

of the organisation. In the area of grant management, the business 

adopts the process of independent external review and evaluation 

as opposed to taking those decisions internally.

All the organisation’s processes and operating procedures are 

open to audit, evaluation and review and the NRF engages in an 

organisation-wide review once every five years as set out in the 

White Paper on Science and Technology. Specific programmes and 

sub-programmes are also open to external review as necessary or 

as part of the governance of the programme or sub-programme.

From a finance and SCM perspective, all members of the various 

committees through the process from the drafting of specifications 

to the award of the bid are requested to sign a disclosure statement 

with respect to conflict of interest. The organisation takes the non-

disclosure of interest very seriously and punitive action is set out as 

part of the NRF disciplinary code if any members of staff breach the 

policy with regard to disclosure.

8.14 Code of Conduct

The NRF adopted a Code of Ethics, Values and Business Conduct 

(“the Code”) in March 2011 as part of its suite of Consolidated Human 

Resources Policies and Procedures. The Code is complementary to 

the conditions of service of the NRF and is a statement of the values 

that the NRF pursues in its dealings with people and organisations 

internally and externally. The spirit of the Code is to support ethical 

conduct by all individuals covered by it. To assist employees in 

complying with both the letter and spirit of the Code, the NRF has 

developed a set of guidelines that are published with the Code. A 

breach of the Code attracts censure and is dealt with in terms of the 

NRF’s Disciplinary Code.

8.15 Health Safety and Environmental Issues

The Occupational Health and Safety (OHS) Act prescribe specific 

compliance requirements for specific environments. Given the 

diverse nature of the NRF, there are health and safety requirements 

that vary and therefore require specific interventions to meet the 

needs. It is the function of the Risk unit to ensure that the specific 

needs are met through customisation of the compliance solutions 

across the NRF.

8.16 Social and Ethics

The NRF as an organisation has conducted, and will continue to 

conduct, business in a manner that meets existing needs without 

compromising the possibilities for future generations. The NRF takes 

cognisance of the impact that the business has on its stakeholder 

community. To this end, the NRF Board enhanced the Board’s Terms 

of Reference to include the implementation of legal requirements 

and prevailing codes of best practice and standards with regard to 

social and ethics matters including:

Table 13: Applicable Sustainability Best Practice Codes and Standards

Best Practices Codes and Standards RISA NZG SAEON SAASTA SAIAB HartRAO SAAO iThemba 
LABS SKA

1 King lll Code of Corporate Governance for SA

2 International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) to Financial Reporting 

3 PAAZAB Code of Ethics

4 African Preservation Programme (APP) Resources Manual 

5 SANS 103862008 South African National Standards for the care and use of 
animals for scientific purposes

6 World Association of Zoos and Aquariums WAZA Code of Ethics and Animal Welfare

7 Occupational Health and Safety Management Systems 16001:2007

8 ISO 14001:2004 Environmental Management Systems 

9 ISO 9001:2008 Quality Management Systems

10 Current Good Manufacturing Practices (cGMP)

11 International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA) standards
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Good corporate citizenship through:

i. The promotion of equality, prevention of unfair discrimination, 

and reduction of corruption;

 � The contribution to the development of communities in 

which its activities are predominantly conducted or within 

which its products or services are predominantly delivered;

 � The environment, sustainability and public health and safety 

including the impact of all activities, products and services 

of the entity in terms of the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI); 

and

 � The establishment and maintenance of proper stakeholder 

relations.

ii. Labour and employment, including the:

 � International Labour Organization Protocol;

 � Employment Equity Act; and the

 � Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment Act.

iii. Social and economic development, including the entity’s 

standing in terms of: 

 � The 10 principles set out in the United Nations Global 

Compact; and

 � The OECD recommendations regarding corruption.

iv. The social and ethics agenda is addressed at various levels of 

the organisation.

8.17 Corporate Social Investment

Corporate Relations prepared and presented a CSR Strategy 

Framework. The framework provides a guide on the NRF CSR 

activities, focus and investments. It introduces the idea of the 

NRF Flagship CSR initiative, which gives a sense of purpose, 

co-ordination, and coherence to the activities that the NRF can 

invest in.

To date, the identification of the flagship CSR initiative, Adopt-

a-School, presents an opportunity to implement all the current 

activities under a broader umbrella initiative for a period of three 

to five years. This will enable the NRF to measure and report on 

impact over time. This initiative is underpinned by the Whole School 

Development approach, which focuses on long-term solutions such 

as science laboratories, libraries, computer laboratories and other 

education infrastructure, as well as teacher and learner intervention 

for all the aspects of schooling, rather than quick fixes.

The following CSR activities took place during the reporting period: 

i. Take-a-Girl-Child-to-Work and Men-in-the-Making

The unit participated in the two campaigns to introduce girls 

and boys respectively to the working environment, and inspire 

them to further their education. The Take-a-Girl-Child-to-

Work campaign took place in partnership with the NZG and 

SAEON. Subsequently an informal agreement has developed 

with NECSA to assist with Mathematics and Science tutoring 

on Saturdays at the Letlotlo and Hlanganani High schools, from 

where the boys hail.

ii. Mandela Day

The unit coordinated the participation of NRF employees in 

Mandela Day contributions and activities. 
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A detailed statement of the NRF’s financial position is provided in the 

annual financial statements for 2013/14. The section below provides a 

brief analytical overview of the organisation’s income and expenditure.

9.1 Income Trend

The NRF ended the year with a total increase in income from  

R2 312m in 2012/13 to R3 160m in 2013/14, according to financial 

reports prepared in line with Generally Recognised Accounting 

Practice (GRAP). The increase of 37% in total income is directly 

attributable to a significant increase in designated projects as well 

as the parliamentary grant as is evident in Figure 24.

A 37% increase in income due to increased tempo on the 

SKA capitalisation roll-out and development programmes.

The NRF has three primary income streams:

 � The parliamentary grant;

 � Ring-fenced funding which is received as part of the parliamentary 

grant;

 � Designated income; and

 � Other income (including interest and trading).

Designated projects/income represents income from specific 

contract funding. These contracts provide the NRF with funding 

to manage specific projects and are done according to objectives 

laid down by the respective sponsors through formal contractual 

agreements. The primary source of significant amounts of contract 

funding for the NRF during the year is the DST, the Department 

of Higher Education and Training and the Department of Trade 

and Industry. The NRF has included in its Statement of Financial 

Performance an amount of R1 243m (2013: R943m) received from 

the DST for designated projects/programmes.

The ring-fenced parliamentary grant increased as a result of the 

SKA project (R242m) and the inclusion of historical designated 

income in the MTEF allocation by the DST. This includes the 

National Equipment Programme (R159m), the Global Change 

Research Programme (R61m) and the National Facilities Strategic 

Infrastructure Programme (R92m). Designated income increased 

mainly as a result of the Research Equipment Programme (R81m), 

the Human Research Development Programme (R231m) and the 

South African Research Chairs Initiative (R43m), all of which are 

funded by the DST. The income trend is shown in Figure 24.

9.1.1 Income Ratios

Figure 25: Income Ratios 2009/10 to 2013/14

9.1.2 Income per Business Unit

The total income per business unit (including THRIP) is shown in 

Table 14.

Table 14: Income per Business Unit including THRIP

Programme Business Unit 2012/13 
R’000

2013/14 
R’000

1 Corporate Support 66 408 70 321

2 South African Agency for Science and Technology 
Advancement 59 565 80 392

3 Research and Innovation Support and 
Advancement and THRIP 1 415 156 1 957 125

4 iThemba Laboratory for Accelerator Based 
Sciences 174 579 192 276

5 South African Institute for Aquatic Biodiversity 20 127 23 095

6 South African Environmental Observation Network 22 016 26 858

7 National Zoological Gardens of South Africa 106 081 108 117

8 South African Astronomical Observatory 67 359 73 996

9 Hartebeesthoek Radio Astronomy Observatory 22 937 23 724

10 Square Kilometre Array project 357 828 546 718

Total expenditure 2 312 056 3 160 535

Parliamentary
grant core to
total income

Parliamentary 
grant R/F to 
total income

Designated 
income 

to total income

Other income (incl 
interest and 

trading income) to 
total income

2010 35% 8% 49% 8%
2011 29% 6% 58% 7%
2012 31% 11% 52% 6%
2013 28% 11% 55% 5%
2014 22% 23% 50% 5%

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%

9  Financial Overview

Figure 24: NRF Income Trend
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9.2 Expenditure

9.2.1 Expenditure Trend (including THRIP)

The increase of 36% in total expenditure from R2 313m in 2012/13 

to R3 138m in 2013/14 is due to the 90% increase in net capital 

expenditure. This is attributed to the completion of the MeerKAT 

development for the SKA project. The increase in net capital 

expenditure is also attributable to grant funding expenditure, 

especially in the following programmes: 

a. The Innovation Honours, Master’s & Doctoral Programme  

(R156m); 

b. The SA Research Chairs Initiative (R118m); 

c. The Incentive Programmes for Rated Researchers (R52m);

d. Thuthuka (R42m), 

e. The Global Infrastructure Support Initiative (R40m); and 

f. The Research Equipment Programme (R30m). 

The major expenditure trends per category of expense are shown 

in Figure 26.

Figure 26: Expenditure Trends: 2009/10 – 2013/14

9.2.2 Expenditure per Business Unit

The expenditure (including capital expenditure) per NRF business 

division (including THRIP) is presented in Table 15.

The NRF investment in MeerKAT increased by 81%

The overhead expenditure has remained constant due to 

efficiency measures put in place and remained below 10%

Table 15: Expenditure per Business Unit

Programme Business Unit 2012/13 
R’000

2013/14 
R’000

1 Corporate Support 53 489 69 866

2 South African Agency for Science and Technology 
Advancement 60 695 80 285

3 Research and Innovation Support and 
Advancement, and THRIP 1 378 640 1 929 899

4 iThemba Laboratory for Accelerator Based 
Sciences 189 042 206 299

5 South African Institute for Aquatic Biodiversity 26 449 29 289

6 National Zoological Gardens of South Africa 112 544 123 397

7 South African Environmental Observation Network 26 232 29 473

8 South African Astronomical Observatory 86 532 97 819

9 Hartebeesthoek Radio Astronomy Observatory 25 223 42 081

10 Square Kilometre Array project 353 927 529 271

Total expenditure 2 312 773 3 137 679

The major variance in total expenditure from 2012/13 to 2013/14 is 

related to the increased spend in the SKA project for the MeerKAT 

radio telescope development, as well as increased spend in the RISA 

division on grants in relation to increased designated funding received.

9.2.3 Overhead Expenditure

The NRF has leveraged economies of scale by managing con-

siderably more throughput at relatively lower overall costs by 

maximising existing resources. A 45% throughput increase has 

resulted in a relative overhead increase of 0.2% (from 9.2% to 9.4%). 

This figure, on a multi-year basis, remains well within innovative 

system-type international benchmarks for organisations at a similar 

level of development. NRF’s overhead ratio is reflected in Figure 27.

Figure 27: Overhead Ratios

**Included in the above distribution is the corporate overhead which has been maintained 
below 2%.

9.2.4 Remuneration Expenditure

The NRF supports labour-intensive infrastructure programmes and 

acts as a catalyst within the National System of Innovation. The 

numerous initiatives aimed at enhancing development necessitate 

a baseline specialist human resource capacity. 

The ratio of remuneration to total expenditure of the NRF remains 

below 20%. The ratio of each programme is in line with the level 
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of operational activity performed by each programme. The National 

Research Facilities has the highest ratio of remuneration expenditure 

due to its largely labour intensive and insourced procurement 

modality, to develop and maintain world-class infrastructure 

platforms. The ratio of remuneration to total expenditure per 

programmatic entity is disclosed in Figure 28.

Figure 28:  Remuneration Ratios as a Percentage of Expenditure 

2009/10 – 2013/14 

9.2.5 Grant Expenditure

Approximately 95% of grant expenditure of the NRF is managed by 

RISA. Within RISA (including THRIP), there was an increase of 45% 

in grant expenditure in 2013/14, compared to 2012/13. The relative 

decrease in salary expenditure is minimal, mainly due to relative 

throughput efficiencies, and is all the more remarkable as salaries 

have been increasing incrementally on a medium-term basis to 

move closer to the appropriate benchmark. The relative increase in 

programme and operating expenditure of RISA is attributed mainly 

to inflationary increases in cost. The increase in grant expenditure is 

attributed to the roll-out of the matrix structure in RISA and efficiency 

improvements in achieving reduced turnaround times in the grant 

awarding process as well as scalable systems.

Figure 29: RISA Expenditure

9.3 NRF Five-Year Financial Trend

The five-year financial review as at 31 March 2014 gives a summary 

of financial trends for the period between 2009/10 and 2013/14 (see 

Table 16).

9.3.1  Square Kilometre Array South 
Africa Project Trial Balance

The SKA-SA project is managed as a special project of the NRF 

on behalf of the DST and is of international strategic scientific 

importance. The South African SKA pathfinder project includes 

the construction of the KAT-7 prototype telescope array (seven 

antennas) and the MeerKAT radio telescope (64 antennas) in the 

Karoo. Once operating, MeerKAT will be the largest radio telescope 

in the world for many years. 

The abridged financial information extracted from the SKA project 

trial balance, as requested by National Treasury, is shown in 

Table 17.

Corporate RISA SAASTA
National
Facilities 
(incl.SKA)

Total NRF

2010 1.0% 4.6% 0.6% 13.5% 19.7%
2011 1.2% 3.8% 0.6% 12.5% 18.0%
2012 1.5% 3.3% 0.6% 13.3% 18.7%
2013 1.4% 3.6% 0.6% 13.6% 19.2%
2014 1.2% 2.6% 0.6% 11.0% 15.4%
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Table 16: NRF five-year financial review as at 31 March 2014

Financial Indicators 2010  
R’000

2011  
R’000

2012  
R’000

2013  
R’000

2014  
R’000

Income & Expenditure

Total Income 1 701 090 2 185 460 2 131 741 2 312 056 3 160 535

Total Expenditure 1 711 315 2 174 884 2 188 713 2 312 773 3 137 679

Statement of Financial Position 

Current Assets 1 643 146 1 384 620 1 134 521 1 302 336 1 283 446

Total Assets 2 112 721 1 930 206 1 726 974 2 237 371 2 575 321

Ratio Analysis

Current Ratio (Current assets divided by current liabilities) 1.11 1.14 1.01 0.90 0.92

Employees and Interns

Number of permanent employees 1 222 1 220 1 248 1 236 1 301

Number of interns 167 424 84 406 686
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Table 17: SKA Project Trial Balance

Account Description 2012 
R’000

2013  
R’000

2014  
R’000

Income 251 940 357 747 546

Designated income/parliamentary grant 228 605 346 106 535 231

Sales of goods and services 1 300 1 269 862

Interest received 21 617 10 372 9 446

Gains on disposal of assets 8 - -

Other income 410 0 1 180

Expenditure 213 822 170 940 199 083

Employees’ remuneration 48 523 50 567 57 576

Accommodation 5 571 7 673 9 015

Audit fees - 87 -

Books and journals 22 221 65

Computer requisites 911 1 922 2 160

Conferences 1 280 808 1 152

Depreciations 3 779 8 080 20 565

Fees for services 59 764 30 026 34 113

Grant bursaries 65 413 30 958 47 548

Insurance and licenses 667 372 648

Loss on disposal of assets - 203 1 125

Marketing 1 880 975 813

Printing and stationery 397 485 526

Purchases 2 697 2 751 2 984

Recruitment 912 606 1 079

Training 364 474 955

Refreshments (Conferences and 
workshops) 368 390 362

Repairs and maintenance 1 163 18 074 2 409

Security 1 295 2 064 1 935

Travel (staff and non-staff) 9 355 8 264 11 592

Telephone and postage 1 859 1 276 1 859

Other expenses 7 602 4 683 601

Assets 506 335 682 541 1 162 697

Inventory 4 - -

Advances for capitalisation process 2 776 155 339 152 250

Account Description 2012 
R’000

2013  
R’000

2014  
R’000

Cash and cash equivalents 277 255 117 913 270 970

Property and equipment 226 301 409 289 739 477

Cost 239 862 433 319 783 959

Building - 17 394 68 520

Land 18659 16 518 15 518

IT equipment 7215 7 684 7 853

Infrastructure - 919 164 666

Office furniture 1 477 1 935 1 970

Office equipment 4 706 4 994 4 274

Machinery and equipment - 976 10 941

Motor vehicles 12 626 16 245 10 495

Research equipment 14 742 101 606 90 277

Capital work in progress 180 437 265 046 408 414

Accumulated depreciation (13 581) (24 030) (44 782)

 Buildings - (2 272) (3 663)

 IT equipment (4 123) (4 593) (5 200)

 Infrastructure - (34) (134)

 Office furniture (354) (486) (645)

 Office equipment (877) (1 408) (2 083)

 Machinery and equipment - (40) (3 005)

 Motor Vehicles (2 534) (4 439) (4 034)

 Research equipment (5 673) (10 757) (25 719)

Capital 

Capital funds (assets) 226 301 409 289 739 477

Liabilities 280 034 273 252 423 220

Trade and other liabilities 14 845 8 835 43 730

Designated income received in advance 259 031 251 884 367 694

Department of Science and Technology 259 031 137 469 260 277

African VLBI Network (AVN) - 114 395 107 417

Accrued grant 2 766 7 396 5 517

Provision leave and savings scheme 3 238 4 788 6 009

Finance lease 154 370 269
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10.1 Introduction

The Human Resources and Legal Services (HR&SR) function plays 

a key role in facilitating and enabling the execution of the NRF’s 

strategy, Vision 2015. Its contribution is to ensure that the NRF has 

the right number of quality staff aligned to the overall vision and 

mission of the organisation. This is achieved through a number of 

processes, tools and interventions in the HR value chain:

 � Ensuring that the organisation’s recruitment processes are such 

that the organisation is able to attract staff who are qualified, 

motivated and competent for the jobs they are expected to 

perform;

 � Inculcating commitment to organisational goals, fostering 

a positive client-centric organisational culture and building 

competencies on an on-going basis in staff and management 

in line with the strategic goals and needs of the NRF;

 � Ensuring the retention of key staff, managing the risks and planning 

for long-term succession in strategic and key management and 

leadership positions;

 � Building relationships and maintaining harmony among staff, 

management and stakeholder labour organisations; and

 � Fundamental to the NRF’s current and future success is our 

continued endeavour to improve the execution and effective 

management of a set of basic processes and tools.

10.2  Staff Recruitment, Turnover and  
Succession Planning

Recruitment in the organisation has increased, with a year-on-year 

increase of 83.9%. Some 206 staff members (112 in 2012/2013) 

joined the organisation. The reason for the increase is mainly due to 

the ramp-up of positions within the SKA -SA environment associated 

with the MeerKAT building phase.

Overall turnover increased from 9.63% to 11.29% year-on-year 

against an average national turnover of 12%. As the economic 

situation in our country stabilises, we will continue our effort to retain 

staff and find innovative ways of engaging and incentivising staff to 

reduce the risk of losing key personnel.

As part of the process of ensuring the sustainability of the organi-

sation, the NRF reviews its succession plans at senior and top 

management levels on an annual basis. This review is undertaken 

and discussed with the HR committee of the NRF Board.

Table 18 provides an analysis of the recruitment activity and the 

turn over movements by reason, race and gender for the period 

under review.

10.2.1  Set HR Priorities for the Year under Review 
and the Impact of these Priorities

Improve Staff and Succession Planning

As part of the process of ensuring the sustainability of the 

organisation, the NRF reviewed its staffing and succession plans 

in key positions including senior and top management levels. This 

review was undertaken, discussed and approved by the NRF 

Board. The effect of this systematic process ensures that:

 � the risks to the organisation are managed;

 � the resources are optimally used; and 

 � the sustainability of the organisation is assured.

Areas of improvement were identified and action to be taken fed into 

the short- to medium-term implementation plans.

10  Human Resources and Legal Services

Table 18:  Staff Movement by Race and Gender as at 31 March 2014

 

Designated Non Designated

Total Non 
Designated 

Group

Grand  
TotalMale Female Male Foreign  

Nationals

Afr Clrd Ind Total Afr Clrd Ind White Total White Male Female

Absconded 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 1

Contracts Expiring 12 0 0 12 5 4 2 3 14 5 3 1 9 35

Death 2 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

Dismissals 3 1 0 4 1 0 0 0 1 2 0 0 2 7

Ill Health / Disability 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Resignations 24 3 1 28 26 6 3 11 46 15 1 0 16 90

Retirements 3 0 0 3 1 0 0 2 3 2 0 0 2 8

Retrenchment 1 0 0 1 3 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 4

Total 45 4 1 50 36 10 5 16 67 25 4 1 30 147
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Improve the Competency Levels of Staff 
through Training and Development

Corporate training and development is a priority in the NRF, to 

implement competency driven training and development. A work- 

place skills plan (WSP) that addresses both functional (core) and 

support (behavioural) skills needs across business divisions is in 

place and is maintained in line with performance plans, requirements 

and legislature.

A corporate Employment Equity & Skills Development committee 

is established to address EE & SD development progression and 

compliance in the NRF.  A number of training opportunities are utilised 

across all business divisions and employment levels focussing on 

areas such as business writing, recruitment and selection, financial 

management, labour relations management, office administration, 

performance management, employment equity and project 

management. Quarterly corporate induction workshops, as well as 

NRF Values workshops, are included in the programme.

A customised one-year Management Development Programme 

(MDP) designed together with the University of Stellenbosch Business 

School Executive Development (USB-ED) has been implemented 

and is in it’s second year of roll-out. This comprehensive programme 

ensures transformational leadership training and development 

underpins high levels of performance in middle and new management.

Improve and Maintain Harmony between 
Staff, Management and Labour

The labour relations climate in the organisation is generally stable. 

However, challenges exist in some business divisions where greater 

investment in relationship-building is still required.

Union membership in the organisation is showing a slight reduction 

with overall union representation having decreased from 50.81% 

(2012/13) to 48.15% (2013/14). Table 19 shows union membership. 

It can be seen that union membership is relatively stable with 

negligible changes year on year.

Table 19: Membership by Union 2009/10 – 2013/14

Union
Membership

2009/2010 2010/2011 2011/2012 2012/2013 2013/2014

No. of staff qualifying 
for membership 1 073 1 135 1 195 1 179 1 244

National Education, 
Health and Allied Union 
(NEHAWU)

466 363 432 429 429

South African Municipal 
Workers Union (SAMWU) 60 23 12 134 134

Public Servants 
Association of South 
Africa (PSA)

33 197 136 28 28

Solidarity 33 32 27 8 8

Total Union 
Membership 592 615 607 599 599

Total % 55.17% 54.19% 50.79% 50.81% 48.15%

Provide the Organisation with the Necessary 
Legal Input and Advice

The unit drafted or reviewed 181 contracts and facilitated and 

resolved 29 labour related matters in the form of disciplinary 

hearings and grievances. Seventy four legal opinions were provided, 

and three court cases were attended to in the period under review. 

All this was achieved cost effectively using internal staff and minimal 

external inputs and cost.

10.2.2 Human Resource Oversight Statistics

Table 20: Personnel Cost by Salary Band as at 31 March 2014

Pe
rs

on
ne

l C
os

t b
y 

Sa
la

ry
 B

an
d

Occupational level
Personnel 

Expenditure 
(R’000)

Personnel 
Expenditure 

as a % 
of total 

expenditure 
(R’000)

No  
Employees

Average 
Personnel 
cost per 

employee 
(R’000)

Top Management 10 538 2% 6 1756

Senior Management 27 268 6% 24 1136

Professionally 
qualified and 
experienced 
specialists and mid 
management

172 634 37% 287 602

Skilled technical 
and academically 
qualified workers 
junior management 
supervisors, 
foremen and 
superintendents

227 589 48% 697 327

Semi-skilled and 
discretionary 
decision making

24 360 5% 187 130

Unskilled and 
defined decision 
making

9 111 2% 100 91

Total 471 499 100% 1301 4042

Table 21: Performance Rewards as at 31 March 2014

Pe
rf

or
m

an
ce

 R
ew

ar
ds

Occupational level
Performance 

Rewards 
(R’000)

Personnel 
Expenditure 

(R’000)

No 
Employees

% of 
 performance 

rewards to 
total  

personnel 
cost

Top Management 166 10 538 2 0.035%

Senior Management 132 27 268 3 0.028%

Professionally qualified 
and experienced 
specialists and mid 
management

1495 172 634 74 0.317%

Skilled technical 
and academically 
qualified workers 
junior management 
supervisors, foremen 
and superintendents

1172 227 589 104 0.249%

Semi-skilled and  
discretionary decision 
making

136 24 360 29 0.029%

Unskilled and defined 
decision making 17 9111 5 0.004%

Total 3 118 471 499 217 0.661%



     |  NRF Annual Report 2013/201435

Table 22: Employment Changes as at 31 March 2014
Em

pl
oy

m
en

t C
ha

ng
es

Salary Band
Employment 
at Beginning 
of the period

Appointments Terminations
Employment 
at end of the 

period

Top Management 6   6

Senior Management 23 1 1 23

Professionally qualified 
and experienced 
specialists and mid- 
management

249 56 26 279

Skilled technical 
and academically 
qualified workers 
junior management 
supervisors, foremen 
and superintendents

677 102 75 704

Semi-skilled and 
discretionary decision 
making

185 20 19 186

Unskilled and defined 
decision making 96 27 26 97

Total 1 236 206 147 1 295

Table 23: Reasons for Staff Leaving as at 31 March 2014

Re
as

on
s 

fo
r L

ea
vi

ng

Reason No of Employees % of total no of staff 
leaving

Absconded 1 0.68%

Deceased 2 1.36%

Dismissal 7 4.76%

Expiry of Contract 35 23.82%

Resignation 90 61.22%

Retirement 8 5.44%

Retrenchment 4 2.72%

Total 147 100.00%

Table 24:  Labour Relations: Misconduct and Disciplinary Action as 

at 31 March 2014

La
bo

ur
 R

el
at

io
ns

: M
is

co
nd

uc
t 

an
d 

Di
sc

ip
lin

ar
y 

Ac
tio

n

Nature of Disciplinary Action Number

Verbal Warning 3

Written Warning 16

Final Written Warning 22

Dismissal 6

Total 47

10.2.3 General

Remuneration

The NRF executive management and general staff are remune rated 

in accordance with the total cost to company approach.

To attract and retain high-calibre staff, the NRF positions its 

average salaries for good performers at the median of the general 

market. General salary adjustments in respect of prevailing eco-

nomic con ditions are negotiated with representative unions on an 

annual basis. Differentiation among individual salaries is based on 

performance as measured through the NRF Integrated Per formance 

Management System, and rewarded through perfor  mance 

bonuses and notch salary movement for deserving individuals. 

The Board conducts an annual performance assessment of the 

organisation and of the CEO. The Board’s Remuneration and 

Human Resources committee takes these results into consideration 

when recommending remuneration levels for executives and senior 

management. The Board also make recommendations regarding 

the organisation’s remuneration levels in general.

In line with principles of transparency, Table 27 below indicates the 

remuneration packages of the Corporate Executive Committee of 

the NRF.

10.2.4  Employment Equity and Organisational  
Transformation

Gender per Level of Employment

There has been a steady increase in the overall employment of 

women, especially at the level of professional and academically 

qualified staff. In driving the employment equality targets, the NRF 

anticipates that this trend will continue in the coming few financial 

years. 

Race per Level of Employment

There has been a steady increase in the employment of designated 

groups especially at the level of professional and academically 

qualified staff. 

Table 25:  Equity Target and Employment Equity Status as at 31 March 2014

Eq
ui

ty
 T

ar
ge

t a
nd

 E
m

pl
oy

m
en

t E
qu

ity
 S

ta
tu

s

Occupational Level

Male

African Coloured Indian White

Current Target 
2016 Current Target 

2016 Current Target 
2016 Current Target 

2016

Top Management 1 1 0 0 3 3 1 1

Senior Management 4 5 2 2 1 1 11 10

Professionally qualified and experienced specialists and mid management 40 36 14 15 9 8 116 127

Skilled technical and academically qualified workers, junior management 
supervisors, foremen and superintendents 152 160 83 86 1 4 89 80

Semi-skilled and discretionary decision making 97 106 14 13 0 0 4 5

Unskilled and defined decision making 20 23 10 18 0 0 2 1

Total 314 331 123 134 14 16 223 224
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Table 26: Equity Target and Employment Equity Status
Eq

ui
ty

 T
ar

ge
t a

nd
 E

m
pl

oy
m

en
t E

qu
ity

 S
ta

tu
s Occupational Level

Female
African Coloured Indian White

Current Target 2016 Current Target 2016 Current Target 2016 Current Target 2016

Top Management 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0

Senior Management 3 2 0 0 2 2 0 1

Professionally qualified and experienced specialists and mid-management 14 14 7 6 3 4 35 31

Skilled technical and academically qualified workers, junior management 
supervisors, foremen and superintendents 173 182 63 67 14 17 85 95

Semi-skilled and discretionary decision making 53 46 16 17 1 2 1 2

Unskilled and defined decision making 16 22 19 20 0 0 0 1

Total 259 266 106 111 20 25 121 130

Table 27:  Remuneration Packages of the Corporate Executive Management as at 31 March 2014

Corporate Executive Management 2009/10 (R’000) 2010/11 (R’000) 2011/12 (R’000) 2012/13 (R’000) 2013/14 (R’000)

AS Van Jaarsveld 1 956 2135 2 300 2 468 2 630

D Pillay (From February 2010) 1 400 1 511 1 697 1 819 1 934

G Mazithulela (From February 2009) 1450 1 581 422 0  0

B Singh 1 200 1 310 1 623 1 741 1 852

PB Thompson 1214 1 325 1 623 1 741 1 852

BA Damonse 1 400 1 503 1 604

Total remuneration 7 220 7 862 9 065 9 272 9 872

Table 28: The Employment Level of NRF Staff in terms of Race and Gender as at 31 March 2014

Em
pl

oy
m

en
t E

qu
ity

Occupational Level

Designated Non-Designated

TOTALMale Female Male Foreign Nationals

A C I A C I W W Male Female

Top Management 1 0 3 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 6

Senior Management 4 2 1 3 0 2 0 11 1 0 24

Professionally qualified and experienced specialists and mid- 
management 40 14 9 14 7 3 35 116 29 5 272

Skilled technical and academically qualified workers, junior 
management supervisors, foremen and superintendents 152 83 1 173 63 14 85 89 11 3 674

Semi-skilled and discretionary decision making 97 14 0 53 16 1 1 4 0 0 186

Unskilled and defined decision making 20 10 0 16 19 0 0 2 0 0 67

Total Permanent 314 123 14 259 106 20 121 223 41 8 1 229

Non – Permanent Employees 22 14 0 15 4 0 3 10 2 2 72

Grand Total 336 137 14 274 110 20 124 233 43 10 1 301

Table 29: NRF Staff Gender Representation by Level of Employment between 2009/10 and 2013/14

NRF Top & Senior 
Management

Professional & 
Academically qualified Semi-skilled Unskilled Non-permanent Total

Total Staff 
excluding 
Foreign 

StaffGender Male Female Male Female Male Female Male Female Male Female Male Female

2009/10 26 4 389 323 190 84 19 31 25 12 649 454 1 103

2010/11 22 4 448 354 178 77 19 34 26 15 693 484 1 177

2011/12 20 5 451 363 134 69 33 35 33 33 671 505 1 176

2012/13 22 5 449 371 67 30 36 40 20 20 658 499 1 157

2013/14 23 6 504 394 115 71 32 35 46 22 720 528 1 248
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Staff Profile by Age

Overall, the NRF is a relatively young organisation with 74.71% of its staff 

younger than 50 years of age. It should also be noted that the normal 

retirement age was increased from 60 to 65 years of age with effect 

from 1 January 2008, in order to protect the organisation from a pre-

mature exit of staff with scarce skills and experience. The distribution of 

staff age gravitates towards the age group between 30 and 49, with a 

noticeable increase from 2008-2012 in the 40-49 age groups. 

10.2.5 Staff Qualifications

Research Staff

The competitiveness of any organisation is largely determined by 

the profile and availability of suitably qualified staff. The number of 

researchers to total staff gives an indication of staff competencies 

and effectiveness, particularly in science councils. It should be 

noted, however, that the work at RISA and SAASTA is not research-

intensive and therefore requires skill sets that are different from 

those required by research-performing science councils or National 

Research Facilities within the NRF. 

At the National Research Facilities, some 15% (149 of the total of 1003 

staff members) are employed in research-performing positions. The 

percentages range from 6% to 28% across all NRF facilities.

Table 32 provides information on the proportion of research staff to 

total staff per business unit.

Table 30: NRF Staff Representation in terms of Designated and Non-Designated Groups by Level of Employment between 2009/10 to 2013/14

NRF

Top & Senior 
Management

Professional & 
Academically qualified Semi-skilled Unskilled Non-permanent Total Total Staff 

excluding 
Foreign 

StaffDesignated Non 
Designated Designated Non 

Designated Designated Non 
Designated Designated Non 

Designated Designated Non 
Designated Designated Non 

Designated

2009/10 18 11 446 258 267 7 46 4 34 12 811 292 1 103

2010/11 18 8 487 315 246 9 50 3 31 10 832 345 1 177

2011/12 16 9 628 186 198 5 67 1 55 11 964 212 1 176

2012/13 17 10 643 177 180 4 65 1 51 9 956 201 1 157

2012/14 17 12 693 205 182 4 65 2 58 10 1 015 233 1 248

Table 31:  Staff Profile in terms of Age for the Period from  

2009/10 –2013/14

Age Group 20–29 30–39 40–49 50–59 60–78 Total

2009/10
No. of staff 148 421 275 231 65 1140

% of staff 12.98% 36.93% 24.12% 20.26% 5.70% 100.00%

2010/11
No. of staff 150 444 313 245 68 1 220

% of staff 12.30% 36.39% 25.66% 20.08% 5.57% 100.00%

2011/12
No. of staff 141 461 312 244 70 1 228

% of staff 11.48% 37.54% 25.41% 19.87% 5.70% 100.00%

2012/13
No. of staff 136 462 320 252 66 1 236

% of staff 11.00% 37.38% 25.89% 20.39% 5.34% 100.00%

2013/14
No. of staff 134 484 354 249 80 1 301

% of staff 10.30% 37.20% 27.21% 19.14% 6.15% 100.00%

Table 32:  Proportion of Research Staff to Total Staff – Trend  

per Business Unit from 2009/10 – 2013/14

 Number of 
Researchers Total staff % Researchers 

to Total Staff

RISA

2009/2010 0 226 0%

2010/2011 0 231 0%

2011/2012 0 251 0%

2012/2013 0 250 0%

2013/2014 0 248 0%

SAASTA

2009/2010 0 38 0%

2010/2011 0 41 0%

2011/2012 0 46 0%

2012/2013 0 50 0%

2013/2014 0 50 0%

SAAO

2009/2010 23 111 21%

2010/2011 16 116 14%

2011/2012 24 125 19%

2012/2013 24 133 18%

2013/2014 24 133 18%

HartRAO

2009/2010 11 43 26%

2010/2011 3 44 7%

2011/2012 9 44 20%

2012/2013 7 46 15%

2013/2014 8 46 17%

SAIAB

2009/2010 8 47 17%

2010/2011 13 40 33%

2011/2012 9 44 20%

2012/2013 10 43 23%

2013/2014 12 43 28%

SAEON

2009/2010 0 9 0%

2010/2011 6 32 19%

2011/2012 7 41 17%

2012/2013 12 54 22%

2013/2014 15 54 28%

iThemba LABS

2009/2010 33 276 12%

2010/2011 32 272 12%

2011/2012 47 282 17%

2012/2013 60 285 21%

2013/2014 59 285 21%

NZG

2009/2010 5 315 2%

2010/2011 6 317 2%

2011/2012 4 302 1%

2012/2013 9 282 3%

2013/2014 16 282 6%
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Staff Qualifications

In the reporting period 2013/14, the NRF employed 148 staff 

members with doctoral qualifications and 121 with Master’s degrees. 

Forty-two staff members enrolled for PhD studies and 33 for their 

Master’s qualification during the period under review. Table 33 
reflects the historic trend.

Table 33: Staff Profile in Terms of Qualifications 2009/10 – 2012/13

Facilities PhD % Enrolled PhD % Masters % Enrolled Masters %

2006/07 92 1 141 8.06% 17 1 141 1.49% 38 1 141 3.33% 12 1 141 1.05%

2007/08 92 1 167 7.88% 12 1 167 1.03% 35 1 167 3.00% 12 1 167 1.03%

2008/09 102 1 207 8.45% 11 1 207 0.91% 50 1 207 4.14% 9 1 207 0.75%

2009/10 98 1 140 8.60% 17 1 140 1.49% 53 1 140 4.65% 23 1 140 2.02%

2010/11 115 1 220 9.43% 15 1 220 1.23% 82 1 220 6.72% 23 1 220 1.89%

2011/12 112 1 248 8.97% 26 1 248 2.08% 80 1 248 6.41% 31 1 248 2.48%

2012/13 120 1 236 9.71% 5 1236 0.40% 96 1 236 7.77% 16 1 236 1.29%

2013/14 125 1 301 9.61% 38 1 301 2.92% 90 1 301 6.92% 27 1 301 2.08%

RISA & 
SAASTA PhD % Enrolled PhD % Master’s % Enrolled Master’s %

2006/07 17 1 141 1.49% 7 1 141 0.61% 37 1 141 3.24% 6 1 141 0.53%

2007/08 17 1 167 1.46% 7 1 167 0.60% 44 1 167 3.77% 18 1 167 1.54%

2008/09 23 1 207 1.91% 4 1 207 0.33% 59 1 207 4.89% 18 1 207 1.49%

2009/10 25 1 140 2.19% 4 1 140 0.35% 45 1 140 3.95% 19 1 140 1.67%

2010/11 24 1 220 1.97% 13 1 220 1.07% 57 1 220 4.67% 19 1 220 1.56%

2011/12 21 1 248 1.68% 12 1248 0.96% 36 1 248 2.88% 25 1 248 2.00%

2012/13 23 1 236 1.86% 7 1 236 0.57% 40 1 236 3.24% 15 1 236 1.21%

2013/14 23 1 301 1.77% 4 1 301 0.31% 31 1 301 2.38% 6 1 301 0.46%
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11  Performance Information

11.1 Auditor’s Report: Predetermined Objectives

The AGSA / external auditor currently performs the necessary audit procedures on the performance information to provide reasonable 

assurance in the form of an audit conclusion. The audit conclusion on the performance against predetermined objectives is included in 

the report to management.

Refer to page 97 of the Auditor’s Report.
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The Corporate Programme is a cross-cutting support function 

that is responsible for the provision of enabling systems, activities 

and structures that support the organisation. The key objective of 

Programme 1 as a support function is to set the policy and the 

tone for good governance, statutory compliance and the transfer of 

business best practice across the organisation, thereby contributing 

to the achievement of organisational objectives.

12.1 Performance against Planned Targets

Table 34: Corporate Key Performance Indicators

Performance Indicator Actual 
2012/13

Target 
2013/14

Actual 
2013/14

%  
Variance

Comment on 
 deviations

Unqualified 
external 
audit report 
with no 
significant 
issues

Yes Yes Yes Yes na

No

Proportion 
of South 
Africans 
from 
designated 
groups in the 
four highest 
employment 
levels

Black 59% 60% 60% 0

Women 42% 43% 41% 2%

There is a severe 
shortage of South 
African women who 
have the required 
qualifications and 
skills, and who operate 
at the levels and core 
areas required by the 
NRF. The organisation 
has put programmes 
and internal 
interventions in place 
for the development 
of the skills required, 
in addition to 
retention endeavours. 
The shortage of 
professionally qualified 
females is a pervasive 
systemic challenge.

Total NRF Overheads: 
calculated as a 
percentage of total 
expenditure

8.7% <10% 9.4%

Corporate Overhead: 
calculated as a 
percentage of total 
expenditure

1.5% <3% 1.9%

12.2 Finance and Business Systems

The objective of the Finance and Business Systems unit is to ensure 

that the NRF has the appropriate business systems and supporting 

infrastructure to enable the organisation to meet its mandate in an 

efficient and effective manner. The unit champions compliance and 

provides relevant systems and support to the organisation, as can 

be seen in Figure 30.

Figure 30:  Structure of Finance and Business Systems  

Sub-Business Unit

Governance
Information 

Communication  
Technology

Finance and 
Supply Chain 
Management

Knowledge 
Management 

Corporate

12.2.1 Governance

The Governance directorate is responsible for the establishment and 

support of internal structures and processes within a controlled environ-

ment to enable the officers and directors of the organisation to discharge 

their duties effectively. The business unit provides the Corporate 

Executive Committee with an overarching view of the organisational 

performance and reporting, compliance and assurance services with 

regard to legislation, regulatory frameworks and best practice.

The key focus of the Governance directorate is to support the CEO 

and the Corporate Executive Committee in meeting the organisational 

objectives through the adoption of leading governance principles 

and practice.

Alignment to Best Practices / Standards

Combinations of applicable laws and non-binding rules drive 

the Governance environment. The most significant influence on 

12  Programme 1

Table 35:  Applicable Sustainability Best Practice Codes and Standards

Best Practices Codes and Standards RISA NZG SAEON SAASTA SAIAB HartRAO SAAO iThemba 
LABS SKA

1 King lll Code of Corporate Governance for SA

2 International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) to Financial Reporting 

3 PAAZAB Code of Ethics

4 African Preservation Programme (APP) Resources Manual 

5 SANS 103862008 South African National Standards for the care and use of animals for 
scientific purposes

6 World Association of Zoos and Aquariums (WAZA) Code of Ethics and Animal Welfare

7 Occupational Health and Safety Management Systems 16001:2007

8 ISO 14001:2004 Environmental Management Systems 

9 ISO 9001:2008 Quality Management Systems

10 Current Good Manufacturing Practices (cGMP)

11 International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA) standards
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the governance environment is derived from the King Report on 

Corporate Governance for South Africa (King III), which is endorsed 

by the NRF Board and Executive, not only to drive compliance with 

laws, regulations and best practice, but also to focus on non-binding 

rules on codes and standards that determine best practice.

Table 35 is a summary of the key best practice codes applicable to 

the NRF’s operations and mandate.

Operational Objectives

The Governance directorate consists of a number of functional 

units that create an enabling structure against which the business 

measures its compliance in terms of regulation and best practice. 

Figure 31 is a summary of the functional units within the Governance 

directorate.

Figure 31: Governance Objectives in 2013/14
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Performance

During the period under review, the Business Intelligence (BI) unit 

has finalised the first phase of the QlickView System which mainly 

focuses on the development of NRF KPI reporting. During the phase, 

the unit focussed on developing the automated transfer of data from 

source systems to the BI staging area, as well as the development 

of the QlickView software to import data from the staging area, 

and report on NRF KPI performance. Phase one testing and data 

validation is underway.

The BI unit also collaborated with the Research Information 

Management System (RIMS) BI team in the fine-tuning and 

expansion of the RIMS BI Warehouse capability to import and 

analyse aggregated data from the Department of Higher Education 

and Training (DHET) through their Higher Education Management 

Information System (HEMIS) database.

The Performance Planning and Reporting unit, responsible for 

statutory reporting, completed the following key deliverables over 

the reporting period:

 � The AR for the year 2012/13 (presented to the Parliamentary 

Portfolio Committee in September 2013); and

 � The APP for the year 2014/15 (presented to the Minister of 

Science and Technology in February 2014).

The co-sourced Internal Audit function finalised the 2013-14 audit 

reports as per the internal audit coverage plan. The NRF Audit and 

Risk Committee approved the appointment of a new co-sourced 

Internal Audit partner (Ernst & Young), effective 01 April 2014. The 

Executive Director facilitated an induction session that was attended 

by the engagement team members. Planning for the 2014-15 internal 

audit cycle is underway.

From a risk management perspective, the consulting firm Deloitte 

was appointed as part of a national tender to provide Business 

Continuity Management (BCM) support services. The scope of 

work requires that the service provider conduct detailed business 

impact analysis of the NRF key functions in order to finalise the NRF 

BCM strategy and implementation plans. The Corporate Executive 

Committee has provided strong support for the BCM project and 

progress is well on track.

12.2.2 Information Communication Technology

The primary goal of the ICT business unit is to provide world-class 

IT services and support to all NRF divisions across the country, 

including RISA, SAASTA, National Research Facilities, and the 

International Council for Science (ICSU) Regional Office for Africa 

based in Pretoria.

Alignment to Best Practices / Standards

The NRF actively participates in the national ICT standardisation 

programmes through the membership of the relevant committees of 

the South African Bureau of Standards (SABS). Long-term strategies 

include the implementation of a robust governance framework and 

regular assessments in line with the King III report. The details of 

proposed initiatives are highlighted below. RISA and Corporate 

ICT are fully aligned to world best practice and standards, taking 

advantage of active participation in their developments at both 

national and international levels.

Operational Objectives

Figure 32: ICT Objectives 2013/14
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The ICT directorate consists of a number of key functions that 

contribute to the overall efficiency and sustainability of the ICT 

systems that support the business while complying with best 

practice. Figure 32 provides an overview of the ICT activities per 

functional area.

Performance

Overall Corporate ICT made significant strides in improving both 

internal and external services and infrastructure. The business unit has 

completed phase 2 of the integrated tele-presence (videoconferencing) 

platform, which will reduce the cost of doing business.

Targets regarding platforms availability were exceeded in the 

reporting period, with no significant down-time reported. The unit 

met the internal target of reduced audit findings. The ICT governance 

review produced two minor findings. Systems uptime from April 

2013 to March 2014 was maintained at 99.97%, well above the 99% 

target.

 � NRF Online System

As one of the largest platforms supported by IT, the NRF 

online submission system processed 18 606 applications 

in 2013/14. The system is continuously improved, taking into 

consideration inputs from the research community in close 

internal collaboration with Grants Management and Systems 

Administration (GMSA).

During the third quarter, use of the Phoenix system was extended 

to the South African Agency for Science and Technology 

Advancement (SAASTA). The system implementation has been 

completed in the fourth quarter, although capturing of existing 

data is required before the system can be used as a reporting 

tool. Once the system is fully operational, it will be followed with 

the adoption of a scaled-down NRF online submission system 

to automate SAASTA pre-award processes.

 � Development

In an attempt to continuously improve the level of skills within the 

unit, the team engages in various workshops and conferences.

 � As part of the preparation for the launch of the cloud-

computing concept within the NRF, ICT arranged for two 

of its staff members to attend the Huawei World Cloud 

Congress in Shanghai, China for a study tour from 2 to 6 

September 2013.

 � The unit participates in the national IT standardisation work, 

within the Standards Act framework administered by the 

South African Bureau of Standards (SABS), and engages 

in the following forums: SABS TC 001 ‘IT standards’ 

committee, as well as TC 73 ‘Electromagnetic compatibility’, 

TC 74 ‘Communications technology’, TC 80 ‘Regulatory 

communications standards’ and SC71F ‘IT security’.

 � The ICT executive director attended the annual Gartner 

Symposium in Cape Town from 16 to 17 September 2013, 

for the purpose of reviewing ICT metrics and financial 

benchmarking.

In summary, Corporate ICT made further progress in improving 

both internal and external ICT services and infrastructure. Another 

improvement is the acquisition of integrated email and VOIP 

platforms for Corporate and RISA, which fulfils the ‘world class’ 

objective of the NRF. The NRF IT systems and platforms are stable 

and there have been no major operational challenges.

12.2.3 Knowledge Management Corporate

The Knowledge Management Corporate (KMC) business unit 

facilitates and drives the organisation’s knowledge management 

processes by creating and maintaining an environment (internally 

and externally), that promotes and supports quality knowledge and 

science intelligence, through identified information systems. It is a 

shared corporate cross-cutting service that is aimed at developing 

and maintaining the NRF as a knowledge-based organisation by 

facilitating knowledge generation, access to and utilisation of data 

and information by NRF stakeholders. The business unit is also 

actively responsible for the management of intellectual assets.

This is achieved through:

 � Implementation and custodianship of knowledge management 

processes and principles, primarily within the NRF and in the 

wider NSI context;

 � Implementation and maintenance of records and document 

management principles and practices;

 � Provision and guidance on data management, digitisation and 

associated repositories;

 � Provision of information management, services and advice;

 � Facilitation of the application of relevant databases and enabling 

systems and tools;

 � Provision of appropriate research performance measurement 

and business intelligence services through the use of electronic 

resources, e-databases and related e-tools; and

 � Research support for business on policy development, analysis, 

strategic support and positioning of the NRF within the NSI.

Alignment to Best Practices / Standards

The Knowledge Management portfolio is governed by international 

standards and the code of ethics of the National Library and 

Information Professional Services. The Knowledge Management 

processes are aligned and subscribe to: the International Federation 

of Library Associations (IFLA); The Library of Congress Subject 

Headings (LCSH); Anglo American Cataloguing Rules (AACR); 

Dewey Decimal Classification (DDC); Resource Description and 

Access (RDA); Dublin Core Metadata Guidelines; Open Archives 

Initiative Protocol for Metadata Harvesting (OAI-PMH); Digital 

Curation Centre (DCC); Open Access (OA) initiatives; European 

Current Research Information Systems (CRIS); International 

Federation of Data Organizations (IFDO); International Association 

for Social Science Information Services and Technology (IASSIST); 
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Interuniversity Consortium for Political and Social Research (ICPSR); 

the Committee on Data for Science and Technology (CODATA); the 

World Data System; and the South African National Library and 

Information Consortium (SANLiC).

The statutory framework for sound records and documents 

management for governmental bodies complies with the principles 

of good governance as laid down by: Section 195 of the Constitution, 

the National Archives and Records Service of South Africa Act, 1996 

(NARSSA); the Promotion of Access to Information Act (Act No. 2 

of 2000); the Promotion of Administrative Justice Act (Act No. 3 of 

2000); the Public Finance Management Act (Act No. 1 of 1999); and 

the Electronic Communications and Transactions Act (Act No. 25 

of 2002).

Operational Objectives

The activities of the directorate are set out in Figure 33 below.

Figure 33: KMC Objectives 2013/14
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Performance

The unit provided access to information through various database 

subscriptions such as the Nexus Database System, on which  

8 798 new records were created and 1 838 records updated for the 

2013/14 reporting period. Access to the database is free for external 

use in the research community.

The NRF hosts the NETD repositories of the University of Fort Hare 

(UFH) and the University of Limpopo (UL) through the Knowledge 

Management business unit. KMC is in the process of empowering 

the universities to take over hosting at the end of 2015.

The unit also provides a quality control function for the NRF Online 

System’s Fields of Specialisation list. In addition, access to SADA is 

facilitated by the unit. Due to the metadata being published in the 

open access repository of Thomson Reuters Data Citation Index, a 

marked increase was noted for the reporting period.

The NRF is represented in Africa and National Data Management 

initiatives such as the World Data Centre for Biodiversity and Human 

Health (WDCBHH), Development of a Network Data Centre for 

Socio-Economic Data in Africa, the Network of Data and Information 

Curation Communities (NeDICC), and the Carnegie Project: 

Digitisation and Preservation Centre through the KMC business unit.

One of the main functions is Records and Document Management, 

to ensure that NRF information is managed in accordance with the 

records and document management principles and standards as 

set out by the National Archives and Records Services (NARSSA). 

The unit is responsible for ensuring the successful implementation 

of the organisation’s file plan system by providing support through 

file plan training, file plan inspections and visits to business units 

to determine the level of implementation and compliance. During 

the period, 29 staff members were trained and 30 file plan 

inspections were conducted. Through this, it is evident that the 

identified records management champions are taking ownership 

of implementing and rolling out sound records management 

practices within their units.

The Electronic Records and Document Management System 

(eRDMS) has been successfully configured, with the testing of the 

system completed by a selected group of end-users. The purpose 

of the system is to ensure that records and documents are not 

only managed electronically for quick and easy access to records 

and documents, but also to manage the retention and disposal 

processes electronically. The system also ensures the safekeeping 

and management of valuable corporate memory. A total of 118 users 

have attended training on the system. As from January 2014, the 

RISA Executive is using the system as the primary hosting site for 

their executive meeting documentation. The Centres of Excellence, 

SARChI and Thuthuka Project teams were introduced to eRDMS to 

host their project documentation.

The implementation of RDM will be rolled out to all National Research 

Facilities. The following facilities have started with the implementation 

of the file plan and manual RDM activities:

 � South African Institute for Aquatic Biodiversity (SAIAB);

 � South African Environmental Observation Network (SAEON); 

and

 � National Zoological Gardens (NZG).

Bibliometric and Scientometric Services (BSS)

Bibliometric and Scientometric Services focus on the evaluation 

of research performance. Research performance evaluation is 

achieved through research analysis, using specialised and high 

quality citation databases and e-tools. Indicators are used to 

measure: aspects of productivity (output count); publication analysis 

(ranking and comparison); time series (trend analysis); and citation 

impact (citations per paper). The analysis is performed on various 

levels, such as: National S&T system level / NSI (Country level); 
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scientific fields and disciplines level; corporate level (universities); 

divisional level (departments/institutes/centres); research pro-

grammes and projects, funding programmes and instruments; 

individual researcher level; and journal evaluations.

Recently the service has been used to create profiles for institutions 

to assist the IEPD directorate in RISA to identify the specific areas 

of strengths and research outputs. The institutions can use this 

information to guide their proposals for flagship interventions.

12.2.4 Corporate Finance and Supply Chain Management

This finance function supports the Chief Financial Officer (CFO) by 

ensuring that there is adequate accountability and transparency in 

the form of annual financial statements, management, and statutory 

financial reporting. The section ensures that processing infrastructure 

is available through an accounting software platform and reporting 

system, as well as providing a support service to all units on accounting 

and financial systems and supply chain management activities. The 

unit enhances financial control through the design and provision of 

policies and appropriate financial and SCM training.

Alignment to Best Practices / Standards

Financial Accounting and Supply Chain Management are highly 

regulated with regulatory bodies seeking to apply best practises 

through regulatory means, for example, the PFMA, Generally 

Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP), and the National Treasury 

prescripts. The NRF seeks to comply with required legislation and 

is currently designing a workflow system that ensures that best 

practises are systematised. The finance environment in the public 

sector is highly regulated.

Operational Objectives

The activities of the directorate are set out in Figure 34 below.

Figure 34: Corporate Finance and SCM Objectives 2013/14
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Performance – Corporate Finance

The corporate finance directorate is responsible for the preparation 

of the Annual Financial Statements of the NRF. The unit also co-

ordinates the external audit process, provides assistance in dealing 

with audit issues, conducts management reporting, and is engaged 

with the development and maintenance of accounting systems.

In addition to the on-going daily operational support provided by the 

directorate to the business units, the following was achieved for the 

period under review:

 � Statutory Reporting: The NRF received a clean audit award 

on finalisation and approval of annual financial statements for 

the year ending 31 March 2013. The Auditor General provided 

the NRF with an unqualified audit report. A successful IT internal 

& external audit of Great Plains for 2013/14 reported no issues. 

NRF Corporate Finance was the only public entity that complied 

timeously with all the requirements of National Treasury, according 

to a report issued by National Treasury. Estimates of a National 

Expenditure (ENE) reprioritisation exercise were completed and 

submitted timeously to National Treasury with no comebacks – 

this included performance and financial information. The ENE 

was finalised for the 2014/15 budget.

 � Internal Reporting: The cost of compliance analysis has 

reflected an increase from R5m in 2008/09 to R36m in 2013/14. 

The report was presented at the NRF Board meeting held on  

18 November, and subsequently to the DST/NRF bilateral 

meeting held on 27 February 2014. The Director-General (DG) 

of the DST undertook to take up the matter with the economic 

cluster DG meeting. Enterprise-wide APP financial figures 

were aligned to the prescribed format incorporating reporting 

objectives per programme. Compilation and finalisation of 

First and Second Round Projections for 2013/14, and budget 

reports for 2015 to 2017 in light of the Medium Term Expenditure 

Framework (MTEF) allocation letter were completed.

 � Financial Management: The unit engaged with SAASTA, 

RISA and the National Research Facilities regarding designated 

fund reporting, the level of designated funds and cash holdings. 

The discussions initiated a process of monthly reporting of 

designated funds, and of ensuring that estimates performed 

of anticipated designated funds carried forward at the end of 

this financial year. The target of less than 25% cash on hand 

was achieved through a process of lobbying. The projected 

expenditure was set at R1b. The actual amount was calculated 

at R1.3b (unaudited figure – subject to change) which was 

largely due to infrastructure delivery delays in the Square 

Kilometre Array (SKA) Project. The National Zoological Gardens 

(NZG) due diligence was successfully completed and endorsed 

by the NRF Board. In response to the cost reduction initiatives, 

all credit cards were rationalised into one card, and travel cards 

into one lodge card.

 � Systems Development:

 � Workflow: The first module (migration of approximately 

1500 suppliers) of the Accredited Supplier database was 

successfully rolled out by going live on 31 March 2014. 

The second module (Financial Supplier database) is in the 

process of development. A local travel module is in the 

process of factory acceptance testing.
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 � Policies: Six policies were approved by the NRF Board, 

namely: National and International Travel Policy; Prevention, 

Detection and Resolution of Fraud and Corruption Policy; 

Irregular Expenditure and Revenue, Fruitless and Wasteful 

Expenditure Policy; Delegation of Powers of Authority Policy 

(including Human Resources (HR), Financial and Supply 

Chain Management (SCM) delegation tables); Computer 

Equipment Disposal / Resale Policy and Transformation 

(including Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment) 

Policy. In addition, the following policies were amended as 

a result of legislative changes emanating from the National 

Treasury Cost Containment Instructions issued in December 

2013: National and International Travel Policy; Delegation 

of Powers of Authority Policy (including HR, Financial and 

SCM delegation tables); Supply Chain Policy and Corporate 

Credit Card Policy.

Performance – Supply Chain Management (SCM)

Corporate SCM provides a coordination and leadership role in terms 

of the provision of policies, procedures, directives, communiqués, 

advisories, training, and support to the NRF Bid Award Committee 

(BAC) by providing a Secretariat, and Quality Assurance function in 

respect of bids submitted.

Bid Adjudication Committee (BAC) Support and Membership:

 � The BAC reviewed 118 documents, totalling R336,7m. The 

documents reviewed consisted of 51 bids submitted for 

recommendation, four bid cancellation requests, and 63 

specifications for advisory purposes. The details of these bids 

are contained in Annexure A. B-BBEE certification: The B-BBEE 

audit was completed. The draft certificate for the 2013 financial 

year represents a new level 4, a major improvement on the last 

certificate level of 6. Directives were implemented in respect of 

property leases, a ban on personal alcohol usage from public 

funds, catering restrictions, credit card restrictions, and cost 

containment. The Consultancy Reduction Plan – 2014/15 was 

approved by the Chief Executive Officer.

12.3 Human Resources and Legal Services

The Human Resources and Legal Services functions provide the 

NRF with comprehensive human resource and legal services and 

give policy direction and strategy execution guidelines in these 

areas. Furthermore, the division leads, promotes and coordinates 

organisation-wide activities aimed at enhancing the NRF’s 

productivity and interactions with internal and relevant external 

stakeholders.

12.3.1 Operational Objectives

The corporate Human Resources and Legal Services (HR and 

Legal) function responds to the needs expressed in the strategic 

and annual performance plans of NRF divisions and business units 

for 2013/14, by providing the suite of services set out in Figure 35.

Figure 35: Human Resources and Legal Services Objectives 2013/14
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Alignment to Best Practice / Standards

The HR and Legal Services directorate complies with and ensures 

adherence to a range of codes, standards and legislation. These are 

listed in Table 36 below.

Table 36: Applicable Codes, Standards and Legislation

Code of Good Practice on Dismissals The Compensation for Occupational Injuries 
and Diseases Act (Act No. 130 of 1993)

Employment Equity Code of Good Practice The Pension Fund Act (Act No. 24 of 1956)

The National Research Foundation Act (Act 
No. 23 of 1998)

The Medical Schemes Act (Act No. 131 of 
1998)

The Constitution of the Republic of South 
Africa (Act No. 108 of 1996) The Income Tax Act (Act No. 58 of 1962)

The Basic Conditions of Employment Act (Act 
No. 75 of 1997)

The Skills Development Act (Act No. 97 of 
1998)

The Occupational Health and Safety Act (Act 
No. 85 of 1993)

The Skills Development Levies Act (Act No. 
9 of 1999)

The Labour Relations Act (Act No. 66 of 
1995)

The South African Qualifications Authority Act 
(Act No. 58 of 1995)

The Employment Equity Act (Act No. 55 of 
1998)

The Promotion of Equality and Prevention of 
Unfair Discrimination Act (Act No. 4 of 2000)

The Broad Based Black Economic 
Empowerment Act (Act No. 53 of 2003) as 
amended (Act No 46 of 2013)

The Promotion of Access to Information Act 
2000 (Act No. 2 of 2000)

The Protection of Personal Information Act 
(Act No.4 of 2013)

The Promotion of Administrative Justice Act 
(Act No. 3 of 2000

The Unemployment Insurance Act (Act No. 
63 of 2001)
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Performance

Table 37:  Performance against Broad Key Activities and Targets – 

Progress as at 31 March 2014

Supporting 
objectives

Performance 
measures/outputs

Short-term target 
2012/13

Progress for the 
year ending  

31 March 2014

Staff 
acquisition, 
deployment, 
retention and 
succession 
planning and 
management

Turnover analysis Turnover not to exceed 
national average 5.30%

Right quantity and 
quality of staff 

available in right jobs 
within acceptable lead 

times

60 days placement 
lead-time >90 days

Staff retention
Effective Succession 

Planning system 
functioning

Succession Planning 
Policy and Plan in 

place. Implementation 
on-going

Improved 
staff 
productivity, 
performance 
and 
effectiveness

Effective functioning. 
Performance 

Management System 
in place

Poor ratings not to 
exceed 5% of staff

Performance 
Management Policy 
and System in place. 

Revised model in 
the process of being 
conceptualised with 

Implementation 
expected to commence 

in 2014

Training and skills 
development plan and 
interventions in place

Impact and 
effectiveness of plans 

and interventions 
implemented and 

acknowledged

Broad plan and key 
identified interventional 

in place and revised 
on an on-going 

basis informed by 
reprioritisation of 
business needs

Organisation 
development

Culture change and 
values programme 

approved

Effective culture 
change interventions 

implemented
On-going

Compliance Compliance with 
legislation

Representation per 
business unit plan by 

level and gender
On-going

Care and 
concern for 

well-being of 
staff

Strategic review of 
needs

HIV/AIDS programme 
implementation

HIV/ Aids Committees 
in place. Education 

on-going

Wellness programme 
designed

Integrate Wellness 
programme into HIV/
AIDS programme 

Programme design 
commenced

2013/14 saw the commencement of an in-depth review of the NRF 

remuneration system, specifically around incentive rewards design 

and the alignment of NRF salary scales within its desired market. 

The organisation is working with 21st Century Pay Solutions Group 

in this regard.

The planning, design and consultation on the roll-out of the 

new improved Integrated Performance Management System 

continued at a steady pace at all levels across the organisation. 

The implementation and roll-out will be supported by focussed 

management discussions, training workshops, group / team 

meetings, and one-on-one consultations as and when required; 

these will commence in the middle of 2014.

Progress towards achieving our long-term employment equity targets 

continues at a steady pace. In the period under review, the overall 

representation of black staff stands at 68% against our target of 

73%. Female representation is on 40% for this financial year against 

a target of 41%. Key challenges remain gender representation at 

executive and senior management levels, and that of blacks in the 

three highest employment categories.

Union membership in the organisation remains steady with overall 

union representation showing a slight decrease from 48.42% to 

47.20%.

12.3.2 Legal Services

The Corporate Legal Services and Industrial Relations (CLS & IR) 

business unit provide the NRF with a range of legal and employee 

relations services, which include contract negotiation, vetting and 

drafting, the rendering of legal opinions and advice, and maintaining 

labour peace and good relations in the workplace. The business 

unit consists of six pillars that tackle legal matters on behalf of the 

NRF and its staff. These are summarised in Figure 36.

Figure 36:  Corporate Legal Services and Industrial Relations 

(CLS&IR) 
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Table 38 sets out the estimated number on key activities of the unit 

for the period 1 April 2013 to 31 March 2014.

Table 38: Summary Activities of the Unit

Numerical Presentation of Key Activities of CLS & IR business 
unit for the period 1 April 2013 to 31 March 2014

Contracts 
Drafted / Vetted
(MoAs, MoUs, 

SLAs, etc.)

Courts (High & 
Magistrates’ 

Courts)

Labour (Labour 
Court, CCMA 
and Internal 
Disciplinary 

and Grievance 
Cases)

Legal Advice 
/ Opinions 

(Written and 
Oral)

Q1 62 3 9 21

Q2 45 3 15 18

Q3 49 3 6 9

Q4 25 3 5 26

Total 181 3 29 74

12.4 Corporate Relations

The NRF has set itself the vision of being an excellent agency 

supporting world-class research in a transformed society and 

a sustainable environment. The achievement of the NRF vision 

and the execution of its mandate as per the NRF Act are partly 

predicated on the ability of the organisation to gain understanding, 

appreciation, and support for its strategy and work across all sectors 

of society. The Corporate Relations unit supports the NRF strategy 

through all internal and external communications, and provides 

support, through its current capacity, products and services, to all 

business units to enable them to achieve their objectives. Corporate 

Relations services NRF business divisions in terms of marketing, 

communications and stakeholder engagements. To this end, the 

unit has been undergoing an internal re-organisation to ensure that 

it is properly positioned to support the organisation, especially in the 

context of the RISA Renewal campaign. The key focus areas of the 

department are shown in Figure 37.

Figure 37: Key Focus Areas of Corporate Relations
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Stakeholder engagement involves identification and management 

of relations with key stakeholders and the design and creation of 

content in its various forms (i.e. electronic, paper-based, etc.), but 

also to ensure that content conforms to standard NRF corporate 

language and style. In addition, Corporate Relations is tasked with 

the management of events, selection and branding of corporate 

gifts, the development of effective media strategies, press liaison 

and Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR), amongst others.

Corporate Relations also plays a consultative role for NRF business 

units and National Research Facilities in the use of the NRF brand, 

providing inputs and guidelines on the usage of logos and the 

overall brand essence. Corporate Relations’ role is to ensure the 

smooth and efficient flow of information to all NRF stakeholders, 

a role that is constantly evolving as new skills and technology are 

acquired.

In terms of its outputs, Corporate Relations provides design and 

content creation services for a variety of areas, including traditional 

paper-based methods such as brochures, advertisements, 

leaflets, posters etc., as well as electronic methods such as 

e-mail and web-based communications. These outputs are 

initiated according to specific needs and projects of the various 

stakeholders. Ultimately, Corporate Relations seeks to ensure 

that the brand message, purpose and corporate image of the 

NRF are presented positively and in an informative way to its 

stakeholders.

12.4.1 Operational Objectives

Figure 38: Corporate Relations
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The Corporate Relations function will also respond to the needs 

expressed in the strategic and annual performance plans of NRF 

divisions and the business for 2013/14 by providing the suite of 

services set out in Figure 38.
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12.4.2 Performance

Marketing and Product Development

 � Building the NRF Brand – earned and purchased media

The aim of brand building is to communicate and promote 

the value proposition of the organisation in support of the 

NRF mandate. In undertaking this task, the unit profiles the 

organisation through earned media (free coverage) and 

purchased media (advertisements).

During the reporting period, a total of 66 media publications 

were procured across the spectrum of print, web, radio and 

television to promote NRF business and events with an average 

exposure of 60 000 per post. Television and radio broadcasts 

reached beyond a million viewers and listeners.

 � NSI Marketing Campaign

The NSI Marketing Campaign is an initiative of the NRF that will 

be implemented jointly with the DST and other entities reporting 

to the DST. The aim of the campaign is to encourage South 

Africans to conceive of a future South Africa that is underpinned 

by scientific excellence and performance, and to communicate 

the importance of science and technology in building and 

maintaining a successful future for South Africa. NRF presented 

the campaign to DST executive management and it was 

endorsed by the DST. The DST has committed an amount of 

R2m and another R2m was committed by the NRF, bringing 

the total funds available to R4m. Further endorsement and 

funding support was received from SANSA for R400 000. The 

Corporate Executive Committee approved the re-prioritisation 

of R3m of SARChI funding to include Mzansi funding support. 

Due to the collective support received, the full roll-out of Phase 

2 will commence in May 2014.

 � Interior Revamp of the Corporate / RISA building

The interior revamp of the building is aimed at creating a 

workspace that reflects the branding and work of the NRF. 

Nuclei Design was appointed through a three-quote process 

to implement the internal refurbishment and rebranding. Over 

the reporting period, the service provider completed the 

design proposal, which had been approved by the Corporate 

Executive. Implementation will commence in the new financial 

year, once costing has been approved.

 � NRF Corporate Exhibitions

The NRF hosted the Minister’s Budget Vote Exhibition. The 

NRF team consisted of Corporate Communication, Human and 

Infrastructure Capacity Development (HICD), Research Chairs 

and Centre of Excellence (RCCE), SAASTA and THRIP.

The BHP Billition Skills Summit was held in August 2013 and 

Corporate Relations coordinated the NRF and SAASTA’s 

participation. SAASTA, as the key sponsor, ensured that NRF 

derived branding value from the initiative.

Corporate Relations facilitated participation of the NRF in the 

‘Tomorrow’s Leader Convention’ held at Emperors Palace on 

28 March 2014. The purpose of participating in the event was 

to engage with and position the NRF among key stakeholders 

in the private sector. The NRF exhibition profiled the DST/

NRF Internship Programme, SAASTA HICD Programmes and 

THRIP. The total sponsorship package was R171 000, which 

included the breakaway under the theme: Human Capacity 

Development for the Knowledge Economy.

THRIP was responsible for the presentation by Prof Pieter 

Blignaut and Mr Daniel Wium demonstrating the prototype Eye 

Tracking Project from the University of the Free State (UFS); 

95 delegates attended the breakaway session and it was 

considered the most successful Breakaway session of the 

‘Tomorrow’s Leader Convention’, by the organisers.

 � Website and Social Networking Tools

A service provider (Think Tank) was appointed to provide design 

and development services for the NRF corporate website. The 

initial phase of design and front-end development has been 

completed, and the website is currently undergoing testing. 

The service provider will update the website based on feedback 

received. The site will go live once Corporate Executive approval 

has been obtained.

12.5 Science Communication

 � Stakeholder Engagements

The unit facilitated an opportunity for the NRF CEO,  

Dr Albert van Jaarsveld, to participate in the Black Business 

Quarterly Awards (BBQ) as an adjudicator. Dr van Jaarsveld 

participated in the adjudication of two Awards categories i.e. 

Best New Business and Best Corporate Social Responsibility 

programme. The awards were held on 25 October 2013. This 

initiative presented an opportunity for strategic positioning of 

the NRF in the private sector.

 � NRF Science for Society Lecture Series and NRF Science 

and Innovation Lectures

Corporate Relations is responsible for the ‘Science for Society’ 

Lecture Series, in collaboration with SAfm. The lectures revolve 

around a series of themes in climate change, inequality, education, 

land access, health, reconciliation, primary mathematics edu-

cation as well as the SKA project and palaeosciences. SARChI 

chair holders and directors of the Centres of Excellence present 

the lecture series. More than 362 people attended the lectures 

across the country, with a wider audience reached through the 

live broadcast on SAfm.

12.5.1 Strategic Partnerships

 � Glencore, Anglo-American and Impala Platinum

The group has collectively approved and transferred the funding 

for a research grant worth R950 000 to study the socio-economic 
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factors leading to the Marikana mine violence. The Human 

Sciences Research Council (HSRC) will implement the project. A 

research report was scheduled to be completed and handed over 

to the NRF by the HSRC in November 2013, which was not met due 

to recent strikes in the mining industry. The NRF communicated 

amendments in the timelines to the mining houses. 

 � NRF / JSE Business Lunch with Professor Phil Diamond, 
Director-General of SKA

Corporate Relations concluded a partnership with the 

Johannesburg Stock Exchange (JSE) to host the SKA 

Director-General, Dr Phil Diamond, for a business lunch on 

28 November 2013 at the JSE lounge. Attending the event 

were 20 business leaders and two NRF representatives. The 

JSE is positioned strategically to lead on issues that involve 

business, provide leadership and more importantly facilitate 

partnerships that will enhance business contribution to 

society. Through this event, the NRF provided the business 

leaders with the platform for interacting and understanding 

business opportunities and insights that were not obvious in 

the SKA, as well as highlight the human capacity development 

needs of the country in general.

 � GIBS Business School

To accommodate the broader public, Corporate Relations, in 

partnership with GIBS Business School hosted a public lecture 

open to all interested members of the public on the same date to 

enable the public to engage with Dr Phil Diamond directly on all 

matters related to the SKA. Media coverage in the Engineering 

News, and on SAfm and TUKS FM provided further exposure 

and coverage of the lecture.

NRF Science for Society Lecture Series 
Advancing Knowledge. Transforming Society.

Since its inception in 2011, the NRF Science for Society Lecture 

Series has established itself as an important touchpoint between 

the research funded by the NRF and the members of 

society as a whole.

The aim is to bring the work of NRF funded 

researchers closer to society through a 

series of lectures held at higher education 

institutions throughout the country. 

Engaging discussions have already been 

held with Rhodes University, the University 

of Johannesburg, the University of the Free 

State, the University of the Witwatersrand and 

the University of the Western Cape. Accessible to 

the public, the lectures highlight important issues raised through 

research into areas ranging from poverty, education and health to 

astronomy, palaeoscience and climate change.

The format of the lectures includes presentations from one 

or more scientists who are experts in a particular field. This is 

followed by a Q&A session where the public are able to phone in 

or message in questions and spark debate. To date, 10 lectures 

have been held across the country and, since 2012, the national 

radio station, SAfm, has acted as the Lecture Series’ broadcast 

partner, enabling the NRF to increase the audience of each 

lecture to around 400 000. Broadcasts are usually performed 

live at the university lecture venue but a number of studio-only 

lectures have also been planned. In addition to its ability 

to reach a larger audience, the partnership with 

SAfm enables the station’s listeners to call in 

and ask questions of or debate with the 

presenters. 

Other benefits of the broadcast 

partnership include a stronger branding 

of the Lecture Series as well as of the NRF 

itself than would normally be achieved. The 

broadcast partner provides an excellent 

vehicle for ensuring extensive media coverage 

of the lectures. A number of high profile individuals have also 

attended lectures, lending credibility to the series as an excellent 

vehicle for science communication and outreach.

The NRF Science for Society Lecture Series has proved to be 

a valuable tool for engaging with NRF stakeholders and the 

broader public, and it is expected that it will extend its reach even 

further well into the future.
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South Africa’s innovation revolution must assist in solving our 

society’s deep and pressing socio-economic challenges. 

Global competitiveness, shrinking resource availability, and the 

requirements of a skilled labour force mean that, increasingly, an 

awareness and understanding of why science and research are 

critical to our lives is essential for developing an innovation culture. 

To fully realise the social, economic and environmental benefits of 

the significant investment in science, research and innovation, we as 

a country must engage the wider community more fully in science 

and in an understanding of the knowledge economy to which we 

aspire. The programme also aims to increase the number of skilled 

professionals in science and technology in order to create a larger 

and more competent pool of people who may opt for science-based 

careers – the foundation of a thriving knowledge economy.

The South African Agency for Science and Technology Advancement 

(SAASTA) is a business unit of the NRF tasked with facilitating the 

communication and advancement of science. The National Research 

Facilities are cutting-edge research platforms that significantly 

contribute to the science engagement mandate of the NRF.

13.1 Science Engagement Structure

Science engagement is a major component of country strategies 

for building and sustaining strong wealth generating science and 

technology sectors. The NRF acknowledges the role of science 

engagement in the achievement of the NRF strategic goals. An 

important aspect is to ensure that the knowledge that is produced 

through NRF funding is widely disseminated, shared, understood, 

and used widely for the common good. For this reason, a new 

corporate division was created in the 2011/12 financial year.

The NRF’s Science Engagement programme has a cross-cutting 

mandate that aims to strategically align all science engagement 

activities across the organisation. Therefore, the programme also 

accounts for the decentralised science engagement activities at 

the National Research Facilities and SKA SA, and a developing 

focus through the new RISA renewal process. The RISA division 

of the National Research Foundation invests, on a competitive 

basis, in research, people and scientific infrastructure. RISA is thus 

optimally positioned to contribute towards coordinated, consistent 

and effective science communication and engagement policy and 

implementation that will make a meaningful contribution to bridging 

the gap between science and society.

All science promotion, awareness, appreciation, education, and 

engagement programmes within the NRF reside under one of three 

key strategic areas that form an integrated and seamless approach: 

Science Education, Science Communication and Science 

Awareness. Science engagement is an organisational priority and 

as such, science engagement programmes are at the heart of the 

National Research Facilities and SAASTA.

SAASTA and the National Research Facilities interact closely with a 

network of science centres, higher education institutions, science 

councils, professional science associations and a host of other 

science-based entities at national and international levels to engage 

the public in science, engineering and technology. They have 

adopted a matrix, ensuring that the SAASTA cross-cutting science 

engagement strategy is implemented without encroaching on the 

operational activities of the National Research Facilities.

13.2 Performance against Planned Targets

Table 39: Science Engagement Key Performance Indicators 2013/14

Performance  
Indicator

Actual 
2012/13

Actual 
2013/14

Target
2013/14

% 
Variance

Comment on  
deviations

Science 
Engagement

Number of 
educator 
resources 
produced

6 9 5 80%

The science 
engagement targets 
are set in line with 
the PFMA where only 
funding confirmed 
through existing 
contracts and the 
MTEF commitments is 
considered. However, 
the business units and 
in particular SAASTA, 
receive contract funds 
on an ad hoc basis 
through the year 
from various sources 
and this accounts 
for the above target 
performance.

Number 
of learner 
resources 
produced

7 29 5 480%

Number of 
technical 
manuals 
and fact 
sheets 
produced

14 18 15 20%

Growing a representative science and technology workforce in South Africa 
(externally)

Number of learners 
reached through science 
engagement activities

524 789 715 030 641 777 111%

Additional funding 
received from 
provinces

Aggressive marketing

Increase in 
participating districts

Number of educators 
reached through science 
engagement activities

41 722 36 427 18 185 200%

SAASTA has 
entered into various 
collaborative 
agreements which has 
resulted in an increase 
in the number of 
educators reached.

13.3  South African Agency for Science and 
Technology Advancement (SAASTA)

The mandate of SAASTA is to interact with the public on issues of 

science, engineering and technology, to communicate the advances 

in these fields to the public, and to influence young minds to consider 

careers in science, engineering and technology (SET). The primary 

audience categories include mainly educators and learners, tertiary 

students and the general public. These goals are pursued through 

a large number of science engagement programmes that fall under 

three key strategic areas are set out in Figure 39.

13  Programme 2
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Figure 39: Strategic Approach

Science Education

Identifying & 
Numbering  
SET Talent Maths, 
Science and 
Technology Educator 
and Learner Support 
Increasing exposure to 
SET Careers.

Science 
Communication

Increased Science 
Reporting in 
Mainstream 
Media Develop 
Science Population 
Resources Building 
Capacity in Science 
Communication.

Science Awareness

Stimulating Public 
Engagement with SET 
through: Exhibitions 
Festivals Science 
Awareness Capacity 
Building.

13.3.1 Science Education

This strategic area aims to build the supply of tomorrow’s scientists 

and innovators. The main activities focus on:

 � Improving learner and educator performance

Projects include: Science Camps, STEMI Olympiads and 

Competitions, Techno Youth Programmes, Educator Develop-

ment Programmes, Primary School Science Intervention, and 

programmes in association with the DST Dinaledi Adopted 

Schools. 

 � Increasing learner and student exposure to SET-based 
careers

Projects include: Role Modelling Campaigns, Undergraduate 

Support, and the National Youth Volunteer Service.

This area also manages the National Science Week, a country-wide 

celebration of science, on behalf of DST.

13.3.2 Science Communication

SAASTA shares science and technology achievements with the 

public, and thereby builds up their appreciation of the benefits of 

science, through this strategic area. The main activities focus on:

 � Increasing the quality and quantity of science reporting 
in mainstream media

Activities include: Media monitoring and analysis and providing 

access for journalists to science facilities and to researchers.

 � Developing resources to popularise science 

These resources could include development of online media 

resources, science fact sheets, educator resources, learners 

resources, science newsletters, etc. 

 � Profiling the work of researchers and scientists

Projects include: Southern African Science Lens Competition, 

Young Science Communicators Competition, awards recognising 

excellence in science communication, FameLab and the National 

Schools Debates, and RISA collaborations on projects such as 

High-resolution Transmission Electron Microscopy (HRTEM).

 � Building capacity in the science communication sector

This strategic area runs workshops for researchers on: How 

to engage with media, influence policy by understanding 

policy landscape, understanding the importance of science 

communication, how to develop science communication 

strategies, responsible science communication management 

for the outreach and awareness sector and science writing. 

13.3.3 Science Awareness

This strategic area grows awareness of science through creating 

opportunities for the public to engage with science exhibitions and 

experience actual science activities. The main activities focus on:

 � Creating awareness of SET with public audiences

Projects include: Participation in and support of science 

festivals, visits to the Johannesburg Observatory and its set 

of exhibitions and laboratories, managing DST Programmatic 

Support Grants for Science Centres, and a DST Science Centre 

Capacity Building Programme. 

 � Provision of public access to relevant scientific and 

technological information through exhibits

Projects include: Exhibit building and travelling of exhibits to 

reach target audiences, especially in rural areas.

13.3.4 Science Engagement Activities at SAASTA

Promoting Internationally Competitive Research 
as the basis for a Knowledge Economy

 � SAASTA exhibited and presented a paper titled “Nanotechnology 

Public Engagement Programme Achievements in Promoting 

Public Awareness of and Engagement with Nanoscience and 

Nanotechnology in South Africa” at the 5th South African 

Conference on Photonics Materials in the Eastern Cape during 

May 2013. 

 � The South African Nanoscience and Nanotechnology Summer 

School took place in November 2013 at the University of 

the Wes tern Cape. The vision for the school is to create a pool 

of nanoscientists sufficiently trained to conduct nanoscience 

research. SAASTA contributed by facilitating interaction between 

grant holders and the nanotechnology scientific community in order 

to establish networks. A total of 14 NRF grant holders participated.

 � SAASTA organised a visit to the CSIR National Centre for 

Nanostructured Materials for 12 journalism students from the 

University of Pretoria.

 � SAASTA conducted a media-training workshop for all the NSTF 

awards finalists on 6 May 2013.

 � SAASTA jointly signed a Memorandum of Understanding in 

Beijing on “Understanding Science Festivals from the Vision 

of Globalisation” with the following organisations: European 

Science Events Association (EUSEA); European Network of 



     |  NRF Annual Report 2013/201452

Science Centres and Museums (ECSITE); Beijing Association 

for Science and Technology Festivals; German Science Day; 

Geniale Science Festivals; The World Science Festival; Bay 

Area Science Festival; The NC Science Festival; and Science 

Communication and Science Learning of Australian Museums.

Growing a Representative Science 
and Technology Workforce in South Africa

Learner activities and educator development projects with a focus on 

improving participation and performance in Mathematics, Physical 

Science, Life Science and Natural Science are implemented through this 

area. Activities include, amongst others, curriculum-aligned workshops, 

science camps, provision of educational resource materials, interaction 

with role models, and participation in SET Olympiads and competitions.

 � The National Youth Volunteer Services is an initiative of the DST 

that targets two groups: 

 � Volunteers/unemployed SET graduates who have the 

opportunity to be placed at SET-related organisations for a 

period of 12 months to gain experience and improve their 

skills sets; and

 � Mentors who are professionals who work in science, 

engineering and technology. They are required to provide 

career guidance in their fields of specialisation.

A total of 433 volunteers and 127 mentors have been appointed 

against an annual target of 200 each. The volunteers are being 

hosted in 54 institutions in all nine provinces.

Figure 40:  Volunteer Appointments per Province (new and carried 

forward appointments)

Figure 41:  Racial Comparison (new and carried forward appointments)

 � The SAASTA career profiling initiative reached 139 educators 

and 10 996 learners over the reporting period. The annual targets 

were 100 and 10 180 respectively. This was made possible 

through the various collaborations with different institutions that 

played a recognisable role in the roll-out of the initiative to the 

nine provinces. SAASTA produced a book, GET SET GO: Career 

Options in Science, Engineering and Technology, and printed 

over 18 000 copies which are being distributed at SAASTA’s 

implementation with high school educators and learners.

 � During the period under review, SAASTA coordinated 11 

Science Olympiads and competitions targeting primary 

schools, high schools and tertiary students. A total of 78 497 

participants were reached with these competitions.

 � The sponsorship by Harmony Gold Mining Company Ltd 

of the National Science Olympiad for Grades 10–12 was 

renewed for another year. During the period under review, the 

programme exceeded its annual target of 25 000, reaching 

30 542 learners. This was due to an increase in participation 

of DST-funded Dinaledi schools and the cooperation of the 

Gauteng Department of Basic Education. An additional budget 

allocated for the implementation of workshops to contribute 

toward educator development resulted in 436 educators being 

reached, exceeding the target of 100.

 � The number of learners and schools reached through the 

Natural Science Olympiad for Grade 6 – 9 exceeded the targets 

significantly, reaching 43 489 learners against the annual target 

of 25 000, and 722 schools against the annual target of 475. 

This variance is due to an aggressive marketing strategy through 

Mathematics, Science and Technology provincial coordinators 

as well as professional associations such as the South African 

Association for Science and Technology Educators (SAASTE).

 � Due to additional funding received from the provinces, aggressive 

marketing, and an increase in participating districts, the target of 

2 500 learners reached through the AstroQuiz Competition for 

Grade 7 was exceeded, reaching 3 300 learners.

 � Of the 500 Dinaledi schools across the country, the DST 

adopted 18 (two per province), as part of a three-year initiative in 

collaboration with the Department of Basic Education (DBE). The 

programme targets grades 8–12 learners and their educators, 

focusing on development in the critical areas of Mathematics 

and Science. Through career profiling programmes at these 

schools, SAASTA reached 2 097 learners, 76 educators and 

17 schools.

Contributing to a Vibrant National Innovation System

Programmes in this area generally cover science communication 

interventions and science engagement initiatives that reach broad 

public audiences in order to bring science closer to society and 

make it part of the daily public discourse.

 � National Science Week (NSW) is an annual countrywide 

celebration of science, led and funded by the DST. The theme 

of NSW2013 was “Celebrating Scientific Areas in which South 
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Africa has a Competitive Edge”, with the sub-theme “The 

International Year of Water Cooperation”. Through the NSW 

initiative, 246 322 learners, 7 795 educators and 307 886 

members of the public were reached. The DST and SAASTA 

signed a new five-year contract for the continuation of the 

management of the NSW to 2017.

 � Science festivals are public events aimed at informing 

and exciting people about SET. A total of 178 628 people 

attended science festivals during the reporting period 

against an annual target of 125 000.

 � Critical to the work of SAASTA is regular science communication 

to the public through different media platforms, i.e. live and 

recorded radio and television broadcasts, print media and 

online media. During the period under review, a total of 624 

science-related items were placed in the mainstream media.

 � The theme for the 2013 SAASTA School Debates was “The 

International Year of Water Cooperation” and the provincial 

topic was “Can responsible application of nanotechnology 

for water purification be a viable and sustainable alternative 

for addressing water needs?”. The National Finals were 

held on 03 August 2013 at the Pretoria National Botanical 

Gardens. Winners from the provincial tournaments, which 

included five learners and one educator per province, 

participated in the final phase of the competition. The 

Northern Academy from Limpopo Province, the winners of 

the 2013 SAASTA School Debates, was awarded a visit to 

the American Museum of Natural History (AMNH) in New 

York from 28 April to 01 May 2014.

13.4  Science Engagement at National 
Research Facilities

The National Research Facilities perform a critical role in 

the science engagement agenda through providing science 

awareness platforms that are used to:

 � Improve the scientific and technological (S&T) literacy and 

awareness of South Africans;

 � Encourage the inclusion of S&T content in educational 

programmes and curricular activities;

 � Host regular science-related activities and participate in 

national events such as National Science Week and national 

quiz activities;

 � Run educator workshops for improving the understanding 

and delivery of science concepts; and

 � Conduct summer and winter schools for prospective 

postgraduate students.

13.4.1 Nuclear Science

 � Phase two of the So Phumelela project, aimed at impacting 

the learning and teaching of grade 7 natural sciences in ten 

schools in the Western Cape, were rolled out.

Identifying and Nurturing STEM 
Talent in Deep Rural Areas

SAASTA’s Nurturing Science, Engineering and Technology 

(NSET) programme was a three year intervention, which started 

with 450 Grade 10 learners from four clusters (Malamulele, 

Nkowankowa, Malelane and Bushbuckridge) in the deep 

rural areas of Mpumalanga and Limpopo provinces. The aim 

of the programme was to improve learner performance in 

Mathematics, Life Science and Physical Science through 

science camps, provision of curriculum-aligned activities, 

extra tuition, and educator development focusing on content 

knowledge and methodology, and thus contribute towards the 

human capital in STEM. The 450 learners in the group were also 

exposed to career choices in science, engineering, mathematics 

and technology through interacting with role models and being 

provided with educational resources. Educator development 

workshops for Mathematics and Physical Science educators 

were conducted by the Nelson Mandela Metropolitan University.

The project started with a pool of 450 grade 10 learners (2010) 

who took Physical Science, Mathematics and/or Life Science. 

Of these students, 385 passed grade 12 (Senior Certificate) in 

2012. SAASTA successfully tracked 198 of these learners. 

A follow-up study in February/March 2014 showed that 172 of 

them were furthering their studies in Science, Engineering, and/

or Technology at South African Higher Education Institutions 

(universities, universities of technology and FET colleges), while 

26 were studying at these institutions in fields other than STEM.
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 � A Saturday school for grade 12 learners from three schools 

was piloted. Postgraduate students volunteered their time and 

expertise to assist the learners with Physics, Chemistry and 

Mathematics.

 � Through partnering with stakeholders such as Stellenbosch 

University, Northlink College, False Bay College, College of 

Cape Town, Kids Development Academy (KDA), and Heart 

104.9 FM, more than 5 500 learners were reached through 

various interventions.

 � An Open Day was held at the end of August 2013 and 

presented iThemba LABS’ staff with an opportunity to interact 

with members of the public. The programme included guided 

tours, fun activities for children, and a public lecture.

 � The facility also participated in the National Science Week by 

offering interactive science shows and workshops at various 

schools in the Eastern Cape.

13.4.2 Biodiversity/ Conservation/ Environmental Science

 � The SAEON Arid Lands Node contributed to the facilitation of a 

vegetation monitoring project during the SANParks annual Kids 

in Parks education outreach event, and received a certificate 

from SANParks in acknowledgement.

 � SAEON organised and coordinated the participation of 350 

learners in the National Marine week events held in Cape Town, 

as well as the participation of a similar number of learners in 

other Marine Week events co-hosted by NMMU and DEA in 

Port Elizabeth.

 � Thomas Mthontsi of SAEON served as a facilitator at the 

National Environmental Education teachers’ workshop that was 

attended by 85 teachers, held in Durban.

 � NZG, together with the Department of Environmental Affairs, 

participated in the National Marine Week by offering programmes 

to schools visiting the zoo. Three high schools and 159 learners 

were involved. A themed school programme on the National 

Symbols for grades 0 – 4 was attended by 2 580 learners.

 � The NZG participated in the International Rhino Day, supported 

by, amongst others, DEA, SANBI and SANParks. The event 

included a street parade from Church Square to NZG, and 

Minister Molewa addressed the participants.

 � SAIAB National Science Week activities were held in Port 

Elizabeth, East London and Grahamstown, in collaboration 

with the East London Museum, the South African Marine 

Rehabilitation Centre (SAMREC), the Swartkops Trust in Port 

Elizabeth and SAEON Elwandle Node in Grahamstown. The 

focus areas were the coelacanth, marine biodiversity research 

in Algoa Bay, and careers in Marine Science.

 � SAIAB and NZG attended the Beijing Science Festival under 

the auspices of SAASTA. A joint exhibition that highlighted 

the coelacanth and the rhino as icons of conservation and 

biodiversity research in South Africa, was presented.

13.4.3 Astronomy

 � SKA SA is now collaborating with Teach SA to recruit young 

Science, Engineering and English graduates to teach at 

Carnarvon High School.

 � A National Library Week programme was held in Sutherland, 

and attracted 2 296 participants. This was jointly hosted by the 

SAAO Library unit and the Education and Outreach team.

 � A week-long training workshop for teachers on co-curricular 

activities such as science clubs, the Astronomy Quiz and 

Olympiads was held at East London, Queenstown, Port 

Elizabeth and Umtata. This was done jointly with the Eastern 

Cape Education Department’s Mathematics, Science and 

Technology Unit, and 434 teachers participated in these 

workshops.

 � HartRAO, in collaboration with the SKA SA team, went on a 

Northern Cape roadshow that reached 1 677 learners and 

educators at the schools visited. Learners were also engaged 

on science and maths studies in Soweto.

 � During February 2014, HartRAO participated in a rural area 

science road-trip to Limpopo where there was collaboration 

with the CSIR, SAASTA and the Venda Science Centre. There 

was also science outreach in the De Aar township communities 

in the Northern Cape and a road-trip to Bloemfontein, which 

also entailed school visits in the week leading up to the official 

Space Week Launch.

 � The World Space Week was celebrated in October, and SAAO 

participated with grade 10 learners from five high schools. The 

activities and talks presented were based on the exploration of 

Mars, and 310 Mathematics and Science learners participated.

 � SAAO joined UCT at its Science Day which was held at the 

Claremont High School. Workshops were presented and an 

astronomy exhibition was staged.

 � A workshop was held at the Community Centre in Sutherland to 

introduce the community to internet banking.

13.5 RISA Science Engagement Activities

The RISA Renewal process in 2012/13 has seen an emphasis 

placed on the communication of research, and broader engagement 

with public audiences. This required a more integrated approach 

to science communication and engagement across the NRF. 

SAASTA and Corporate Relations personnel are included in all 

RISA instruments, with the aim to advance the focus on science 

engagement through individual research projects.

 � The Centre of Excellence in Strong Materials (CoE-SM) invited 

grade 10 learners to participate in the Materials Science 

Poster Competition based on strong materials. This newly 

established competition was formulated to attract more 

learners to the field of Material Sciences, thereby developing 

knowledge of properties of materials, and the applications of 

strong materials.
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 � The CBTBR sponsored a Won Life lunch on 04 October 2013, 

as part of an outreach to Fisantekraal in the Western Cape. 

The CBTBR, in partnership with Won Life and Chef Olivier Vati, 

organised a cooking/catering course for 30 participants. The idea 

behind the course was to develop valuable skills to empower 10 

underprivileged individuals from Fisantekraal. The course was a 

great success and Won Life hopes to duplicate this programme in 

the future. Won Life is a registered non-profit organisation (NPO) 

working in the community of Fisantekraal, just outside Durbanville.

 � The Siyakhula Living Lab is a project based in Dwesa, a remote 

rural village in the Eastern Cape. The project connects 17 

schools from the surrounding villages to internet, via satellite, 

effectively placing the learners and surrounding communities 

a mouse-click away from all the knowledge offered on the 

internet. Siyakhula Living Lab is a product of one of the Telkom 

Centres of Excellence, a partnership engagement with THRIP 

in collaboration with Rhodes and Fort Hare Universities, WiMax 

and Saab Grintek Technologies.

 � The Human and Infrastructure Capacity Development sub-

programme hosted two research presentation days for exiting 

interns enrolled during the 2013/14 financial year. The first event 

was held at the Midrand Conference Centre in mid February 

2014 and accommodated interns based at host institutions 

situated in the Gauteng, North West, Mpumalanga, and Free 

State provinces. The second event was held at the end of 

February 2014 at the Cape Peninsula University of Technology 

for interns based at host institutions situated in KwaZulu-Natal, 

Eastern Cape, and Western Cape provinces. 

In total, 493 interns participated in the two regional Research Days. 

A total of 300 people i.e. 70 mentors and 230 interns attended the 

Midrand Research Day. The number of attendees at the Research 

Day hosted by Cape Peninsula University of Technology included 

45 mentors and 148 interns. The programme created a platform 

for interns to display their achievements through oral and poster 

presentations and interns received certificates of completion.
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RISA is the grant-making programme within the NRF, and translates 

the science and technology strategies and policies of government 

into initiatives that support research, researchers, and the provision 

of world-class research infrastructure. The key function of RISA is to 

ensure that the country has appropriately qualified human resources 

and the necessary high-level infrastructure to produce knowledge 

that is globally competitive and can transform the socio-economic 

landscape of South Africa.

The RISA mandate is addressed through the creation of enabling 

systems in order to:

 � Promote internationally competitive research as the basis for a 

knowledge economy; 

 � Grow a representative science and technology workforce 

through support to grantholders and students;

 � Provide cutting-edge research, technology and innovation 

platforms; and

 � Operate a world-class grant-making and evaluation system.

Ultimately, RISA contributes to the creation of a vibrant National 

System of Innovation that is sustainable and globally relevant.

14.1 Sources of Funding

RISA receives the following funding:

 � Discretionary funds allocated to the NRF through the DST 

Parliamentary grant (core funds); 

 � Designated funds from the DST for supporting programmes 

such as the CoE and SARChI;

 � Contract funds received from various government departments, 

for example from the: 

 � Department of Higher Education and Training (DHET) for the 

National Skills Development Fund; and

 � Department of Trade and Industry (the dti ) for THRIP.

Designated and contract funds are managed according to 

objectives laid down by the respective sponsors.

Figure 42 provides an indication of the income trends. The 

discretionary funds are made up of the MTEF core allocation and 

other income. Designated funding has grown by 8% year-on-year 

between 2011/12 and 2012/13.

RISA funding has grown by 41% year-on-year (6%: 2012/13). 

Discretionary income has grown at 5% year-on-year. This growth 

was due to other income received mainly from interest. The rapid 

growth in designated income is attributed to the investment in 

ARChI, Centres of Excellence, and improving the infrastructure 

baseline within the NSI.

14.2 RISA Performance Against Set Targets

14.2.1 Publications

Figure 43:  RISA Supported Research Outputs for the period 

(2009/10 – 2013/14)

As can be seen from Figure 43 and Figure 44, the NRF continued 

to make a significant contribution to the knowledge economy. NRF- 

funded research outputs continued to increase significantly with a 

total of 5 641 peer-reviewed journal articles being published during 

2013–14. This exceeded the target of 5 500 publications by 3% 
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Figure 42:  Growth Rate for RISA Funding Streams (R’000) 

(2010/11 – 2013/14)
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continuing the productivity trend of NRF-supported grant-holders 

and students in the NSI.

Figure 44:  RISA Supported Research Outputs for the period 

(2009/10 to 2013/14)

For the 2013/14 financial year, a total of 135 books were published 

against a target of 80 and 691 chapters in books emanated from 

NRF-funded researchers, indicating a substantial variance of 176%. 

The performance with respect to research outputs is an indicator of 

the increasing productivity of the system.

14.2.2 Transformation

The goal of growing a representative science and technology 

workforce remains a priority within the NRF and a number of 

instruments within RISA are structured to address transformation. 

An analysis performed using data supplied by the Higher Education 

Management Information System (HEMIS) shows an interesting 

trend with regard to the race and gender of Honours, Masters 

and PhD graduates. Figure 45 below is a representation of all 

Honours, Master’s and PhD graduates for the academic year 2012 

with a consistent pattern of lower percentages of female and black 

students at the higher postgraduate levels.

Figure 45:  Honours, Master’s and Doctoral Graduate split by Gender 

for the Academic Year 2012*
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*Audited 2013 graduation statistics only become available in the latter part of 2014. 

It is evident that female graduates are the majority at Honours level 

(63%). This position reverses for master’s where the percentage of 

females drops to 48% and a further drop is noted within the PhD 

group, where females make up 42% of the total. This trend is evident 

between 2008 and 2012 with a deviation of roughly 1%.

A similar trend is noted with regard to race, where designated race 

groups constitute the majority at Honours level i.e. 67% on aggregate 

(54.5% Black, 6.24% Coloured and 6.21% Indian). However, these 

figures drop to 57% and 55% at Master’s and PhD level respectively. 

Figure 46 is evidence of this trend.

Figure 46:  Honours, Masters and PhD Graduate Cohort split by Race 

for the Academic Year 2012
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In the area of student support at the Honours, Masters and PhD 

level, the NRF has been funding in line with or above the system 

demographics with regard to race and gender. For the 2012 

academic year, 54% of the Master’s students funded were from 

designated race groups and 49% were female against a system split 

of 57% and 48.22% respectively.

From this snap shot, it can be inferred that:

 � The NRF is funding in line with the demographics of the system;

 � Progress is being made with regard to transformation; and

 � Considering that the NRF places emphasis on excellence 

implies that the students receiving funding from designated 

race groups are meeting the global standards of research 

excellence.

14.2.3 Student Support

The organisation experienced challenges with regard to student 

support as is evident in the Table 40 below where the student 

support targets were not met. The following became evident during 

the reporting period: 

 � The Universities of Technology are in the process of phasing 

out some B.Tech qualifications, which may have impacted on 

the numbers NRF will engage with the institutions to address 

reprioritisation where necessary. 

 � The ‘take-up’ of SARChI bursaries was lower than anticipated. It 

was identified that the level of support was insufficient. In March 
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2014, an increase in bursary values was approved; however, this 

was too late for the first semester intake. It is expected that the 

numbers will normalise in Quarter 2 of the new financial year.

 � Of quite significant concern is the large percentage (24%) of 

awarded NRF bursaries that is not accepted by the applicants. 

The NRF is investigating the reasons for this, which may be 

contributed to: inadequate bursary values; conditions of 

grant that preclude co-funding with companies that have 

binding agreements with students; and changing student 

circumstances beyond the control of the NRF. Once the causes 

have been confirmed, mitigating measure will be incorporated. 

 � The commencements of certain Research Chairs have proved 

to be out of sync with institutional timelines, and often a 

Chair becomes operational after the University semester has 

commenced. This can be attributed to the long lead times 

in awarding and/or filling the Chair position by the institution. 

RISA will review the process and look at measures to expedite 

the approval process – for example, making an award after 

the Phase 2 review process when the competing universities 

submit a nominated candidate. In addition, a more fluid SARChI 

Phase 2 Review timeline will expedite the review and awarding 

process.

Table 40: RISA Key Performance Indicators

Indicator description Actual 
2008/9

Actual 
2009/10

Actual 
2010/11

Actual 
2011/12

Actual 
2012/13

Actual 
2013/14

Target 
2013/14 Variance %  

Variance

Promoting internationally competitive research as basis for a knowledge economy

No. of research grants with reported expenditure  3 570  3 648  4 468  4 349  4 337  4 855  5 400  -545 -10%

Total value of grants expensed (R’000)  929 199  821 926  1 026 601  985 331  918 438  1 054 065  1 155 000  -100 935 -9%

Research outputs by RISA 
grantholders – To be reported 
annually only

Peer-reviewed journal 
articles (ISI and others)  3 239  2 753  3 935  4 777  4 273  5 641  5 500  141 3%

Books  146  43  61  134  141  135  80  55 69%

Chapters in books  568  216  221  524  535  691  250  441 176%

Presentations and 
keynote/plenary 
addresses 

 1 405  1 298  184  155  1 368  729  500  229 46%

Articles in non-
refereed/non-peer 
reviewed journals

 42  52  123  125  162  140  22 16%

Technical and policy 
reports  149  159  285  194  259  180  79 44%

Patents  45  12  47  28  27  20  22  -2 -9%

Products, prototypes 
and artefacts  168  125  105  103  65  111  150  -39 -26%

Growing a representative science and technology workforce in South Africa (Externally)

RISA funding programme for grant holders

Number of grant holders supported  2 422  2 442  2 927  2 890  3 079  3 569  3 822  -253 -7%

Proportion of grantholders from 
designated groups supported

Black 27% 26% 29% 26% 0% 28% 31% -3% -9%

Women 37% 35% 34% 33% 0% 36% 41% -5% -12%

Number of NRF rated researchers  1 914  2 142  2 285  2 471  2 638  2 959  2 714  245 9%

Proportion of NRF rated 
researchers from designated 
groups to total rated researchers 

Black 16% 17% 19% 20% 0% 23% 20% 3% 13%

Women 26% 27% 28% 29% 0% 30% 29% 1% 4%

Support for students

3rd year/4th year students supported  195  286  425  451  470  456  470  -14 -3%

Proportion of 3rd year/4th year 
students from designated groups 
supported

Black 37% 76% 54% 62% 63% 69% 70% -1% -2%

Women 49% 56% 45% 41% 41% 46% 50% -4% -8%

BTech/Honours students supported  1 215  1 696  2 718  1 723  2 951  3 146  3 196  -50 -2%

Proportion of BTech/Honours 
students from designated groups 
supported

Black 66% 73% 75% 79% 78% 77% 80% -3% -4%

Women 55% 59% 54% 54% 56% 58% 55% 3% 6%

Master’s students supported  2 475  2 373  3 566  3 564  3 397  3 699  4 677  -978 -21%

Proportion of Master’s students 
from designated groups supported

Black 36% 53% 54% 54% 57% 58% 55% 3% 6%

Women 51% 52% 50% 49% 50% 52% 50% 3% 6%

Doctoral students supported  1 370  1 384  1 937  1 979  2 031  2 260  2 645  -385 -15%

Proportion of Doctoral students 
from designated groups supported

Black 36% 52% 55% 56% 54% 55% 56% -1% -2%

Women 50% 51% 48% 48% 48% 50% 50% 0% 1%

Post-doctoral students supported  222  304  405  402  460  645  690  -45 -7%

Proportion of Post-doctoral 
students from designated groups 
supported

Black 26% 40% 40% 42% 46% 49% 44% 6% 13%

Women 41% 48% 42% 40% 45% 44% 44% 0% 0%
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14.3 The RISA Service Offering

RISA develops institutional research capabilities and infrastructure 

in parallel with developing the appropriate skills required for a 

knowledge-based economy to drive the research and development 

strategies within the NSI. All these activities are underpinned by a 

world-class grant-making system supported by a robust review and 

evaluation system that embodies best practice. The dynamic service 

orientated structure of RISA aligns directly to the legislative mandate 

of the NRF and provides a Funding Agency function to the NSI by:

 � Implementing government policies such as the National Research 

Development Strategy (NRDS) and managing appropriate 

initiatives;

 � Coordinating and managing peer-review and evaluation 

systems to enable independent and objective research funding 

decisions;

 � Managing a grant-making and administration service; 

 � Establishing high-end instruments such as the Centres of 

Excellence (CoEs) and the South African Research Chairs 

Initiative (SARChI) to drive human capacity development; 

 � Establishing and servicing international and inter-agency research 

collaboration agreements; and

 � Facilitating collaboration between various stakeholders within 

the NSI.

The changes in the South African higher education sector have 

led to the emergence of new institutional identities, necessitating a 

different approach in research capacity development and support 

mechanisms. The RISA embarked on a critical review of its service 

offerings and efficiencies in the 2012/13 financial year. Areas of 

improvement and realignment were identified in line with internal as 

well as sectoral needs and, for the last two years, the RISA division 

of the NRF has undergone a rigorous renewal exercise, which has 

focussed on the need to transform the perceived bureaucracy 

within RISA into a responsive client-centric division. RISA is now 

operating in a matrix structure in order to best support the delivery 

environment while optimally leveraging off existing domain skills and 

thereby minimising overheads.

As part of the renewal, RISA has created a new directorate to deal 

with Institutional Engagement and Partnership Development (IEPD). 

This directorate is tasked with strengthening institutional research 

capabilities in key institutional competency areas. IEPD will use 

individualised institutional engagement, strategic investments, and 

customised interventions supported by sound business intelligence 

processes. IEPD is a platform for the NRF to be responsive 

to systemic needs and changes, to encourage collaboration 

between institutions, to accelerate capacity building and improve 

research productivity. The approach is client-centric, involving the 

customisation of NRF funding instruments to better respond to 

institutional and researcher needs.

The RISA contribution to the NSI can best be described through 

the Human Capacity Development Excellence Pipeline shown 

in Figure 47. The Pipeline is indicative of the NRF’s investment 

strategy and the organisation has invested a total of R1.3bn during 

2013/14. Over the past five years from 2009/10, a total of R5.2bn 

was invested and the organisation has committed to continue the 

investments over the three-year MTEF period to the value of R4.4bn. 

Table 41: RISA Key Performance Indicators (cont.)

Indicator description Actual 
2008/9

Actual 
2009/10

Actual 
2010/11

Actual 
2011/12

Actual 
2012/13

Actual 
2013/14

Target 
2013/14 Variance % Variance

Providing cutting-edge research, technology and innovation platforms

Equipment support 

Proportion of RISA grant investment in research equipment 
at Research Institutions and National Research Facilities 
(R'000)

8% 12% 18% 18% 0% 15% 13% 2% 12%

RISA research information services and platforms

Proportion of RISA expenses invested in RISA information 
services & platforms (R'000) 2% 1% 1.9% 3.5% 0% 1% 5% -4% -74%

Requests received for the datasets of the South African Data 
Archive  531  466  429  315  237  388  255  133 52%

Requests received to Nexus Database System  183 256  188 868  191 610  187 478  188 747  221 318  163 200  58 118 36%

 Operating world-class evaluation and grant-making systems 

 Evaluation systems

Standard turnaround time (months) 8 8.24 8.3 8  8.3  8.3  8.5 

Completion rate of applications for NRF rating per annum 95% 99% 99.8% 99.9% 99.8% 99.8% 95%

 Grant-making systems 

Standard turnaround time (months) – grant & scholarship 
applications 3.25 3.52 3 5  5  5  5 0 0%

Proportion of available grant funding expensed (R'000) 64% 84% 81% 77% 0% 78% 85% -7% -8%

Contributing to a vibrant national innovation system

Proportion of designated to total income (R'000) 33% 67% 56% 0% 51% 61% -10% -17%

Proportion of operating expenditure to total expenditure 
(R'000) 12% 14% 7% 7% 0% 18% 3% -15% -447%

Proportion of remuneration to total expenditure (R'000) 7% 8% 6% 6% 0% 4% 4% 0% 5%

Proportion of RISA grant investment in international initiatives 
to total RISA grant expenditure (2012 grant year) (R'000) 8% 9% 7% 6% 0% 5% 11% -6% -53%
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The success of the Human Capacity Development Excellence 

Pipeline lies in the fact that the pipeline caters for researchers 

from an undergraduate level and continues to provide support, 

stimulate competitiveness and the pursuit of excellence as the 

career of a researcher unfolds. The pipeline considers the systemic 

need for supervisory capacity, which is the determining factor 

in the productivity of a system. Therefore, the pipeline includes 

the support of established researchers as well as strategic 

investments that include SARChI, where the objective is to attract 

and retain leading supervisory capacity. The need for innovative 

infrastructure to support globally competitive research outputs 

was recognised and again through strategic investment such as 

SARChI and the CoEs, the NRF is able to create multidisciplinary 

research platforms that support the exploration of innovative 

solutions to nationally and globally relevant questions. 

The various instruments encompassed in the Human Capacity 

Development Excellence Pipeline ensure that the NRF, and 

specifically RISA, meet the mandate as set out in this document.

14.4 Human Capacity Development

The NRF Vision 2015 strategy focussed on the development of a  

highly skilled science and technology workforce through training in 

basic research, as well as through multidisciplinary and strategic 

research projects. RISA is specifically mandated to develop 

intellectual capital within the NSI in line with the NRF’s transformation 

agenda. RISA adopts the following focused instruments to 

achieve this objective. Through the objective of Human Capacity 

Development (HCD), the organisation attempts to:

 � Transform the science, engineering and technology (SET) 

workforce in terms of gender, race and persons with disa-

bilities;

 � Recognise designated groups such as women, black and 

disabled researchers, particularly emerging researchers, as 

independent researchers; and

 � Attract and retain excellence in research and innovation at 

South African universities.

Figure 48:  RISA investment in the Human Capacity Development 

Excellence Pipeline (2009/10 – 2013/14)

Figure 48 above indicates the NRF funding levels per investment area 

in the Human Capacity Development Excellence Pipeline (2009/10 – 

2013/14). It should be noted that the strategic investments contribute 

to a number of outcomes, including Human Capacity Development 

and Research Infrastructure. 
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Figure 47:  Research and Innovation Support and Advancement through the Human Capacity Development Excellence Pipeline
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Transformation in Action

Dr Tshoanelo Miya (nee Moloi) received her PhD in April 2014, 

becoming the first Black South African Woman to obtain her 

doctorate with the Department of Ichthyology and Fisheries, 

Rhodes University. Ichthyology, the branch of biology devoted 

to the study of fishes, is a hereto relatively unchartered field for 

black South African students, and more specifically black female 

South Africans. In 2013, Dr Miya presented on Transformation 

in marine science with regard to black women at the SANCOR 

Forum, to promote the field to fellow woman scientists and 

explore the reasons for the low representation of black women. 

The eldest of two sisters, born in Qwaqwa in the small village 

Thabana Tsoana, Tshoanelo never doubted that she would 

grow up to become a doctor, though at the time she meant 

to become a medical doctor. After school she applied to Wits 

University to enrol in medicine, but was unsuccessful due to 

a late application. She then applied for a BSc, again without 

success. Little did she know that these rejections would place 

her on a path to make history. She applied at the nearest 

university to home, the then University of the North (now UFS 

Qwaqwa Campus) and chose Zoology simply because she 

liked biology in high school. She was planning on applying for 

medicine again in her second year, but ended up enjoying the 

field and continued with her studies. 

In 2004, as a third year student in Zoology at the University 

of the Free State, she was one of the students selected for a 

supervisor/grantholder-linked NRF bursary and assisted to 

manage the research animal house. She went on to obtain her 

Honours and MSc degrees in Veterinary Parasitology through 

the same instrument. The bursary afforded Dr Miya exposure 

to attend and present at an international conference in Namibia 

in 2006: the 35th annual congress for Parasitological Society of 

Southern Africa (PARSA).

She was then selected as an intern as part of the DST-NRF 

internship programme in 2008, and was based at the South 

African Institute for Aquatic Biodiversity (SAIAB), a National 

Facility of the NRF, under the mentorship of Dr Monica Mwale. 

During her tenure as an intern, she was introduced to the 

field of ichthyology through her mentor and also by working 

and interacting with other SAIAB scientists such as Dr Gavin 

Gouws, Dr Phil Heemstra, Ms Elaine Heemstra, Mr Ofer Gon 

and Mr Roger Bills. She also attended the SAIAB winter school 

to enhance her ichthyology education and the Antarctic winter 

school at Hermanus Magnetic Observatory (currently called 

South African National Space Agency) to be introduced to 

Antarctic environments since she was working on Antarctic 

fishes as her internship main project. This exposure fostered 

a keen interest in the field and she proceeded to enrol for 

her PhD in 2010 at Rhodes University with an NRF/SANAP 

supervisor/grant-holder linked bursary under the supervision of 

Dr Monica Mwale and Mr Ofer Gon on Molecular systematics 

and antifreeze biology of the sub-Antarctic notothenioid fishes.

A Thuthuka KIC grant enabled her to visit (2010-2011) the 

Laboratory in Antifreeze Proteins of Polar Fishes initiated by the 

pioneer on the topic, Professor Arthur DeVries at the University 

of Illinois, Urbana-Champaign, USA. She worked closely with 

Prof DeVries and Prof Christina Cheng. The results of the work 

conducted during this trip are published in the Polar Biology 

journal and more results will be published during the course of 

the year (2014).

Dr Miya’s success is the culmination of the dream she 

inherited from her late mother to become a doctor, and her 

dedication and purposeful pursuing of all opportunities, 

even if they were not part of the original plan. The NRF is 

proud to have been part of her journey through each step 

of the Human Capacity Excellence Pipeline: from being a 

next-generation scientist to the established scientist she 

is destined to become, as she now embarks on her post-

doctoral journey, and is imparting her experience and 

knowledge on the new generation of interns and students, 

bringing the support cycle full circle.
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14.4.1 Investment in Next Generation Researcher Support

Figure 49: Investments in Next Generation Support

The investment in next generation support as shown in Figure 49 is 

made through the award of bursaries, scholarships and grants on a 

competitive basis, to students undertaking full-time studies. For the 

five years from 2009/10 to 2013/14 there has been a total investment 

of R1.6bn in this area. In the area of freestanding scholarships, 

the NRF investment has increased by 27% between 2012/13 and 

2013/14. 

Honours, Masters, and Doctoral students are classified as the 

“Next Generation” and are therefore eligible for grants, bursaries 

or scholarships that emanate from the various funding instruments. 

The funding instruments are developed to address specific needs 

or to drive certain outcomes within the NSI. Some of the funding 

instruments offered to the next generation are the following:

 � The Innovation Bursary Scheme aims to increase support 

in the areas of the DST Grand Challenges such as the bio 

economy. A total number of 1680 Innovation Honours bursaries 

have been awarded as block grants. A total of 1532 students 

took up the awards. Black students comprised 79% of the 1532 

Honours students. A total number of 912 Innovation Masters 

bursaries have been awarded. Of these, 185 were continuing 

students in their second year of Masters study. There were 

727 new students funded and 875 students have taken up the 

awards so far.

 � The Innovation postdoctoral research fellowships 

provide funding to postdoctoral research fellows to create 

exposure to world-class applied research. This instrument 

supports transformation through equity and career growth 

opportunities and attracts young scientists and professionals 

of the highest calibre to stimulate innovation through research. 

A total of 486 doctoral scholarships were awarded and 

there has been 100% uptake of the awarded scholarships. 

In addition, new students have brought the total number of 

students funded to 532. 

 � The Professional Development Programme (PDP) 
encourages science councils and the National Research 

Facilities to undertake science- and technology-related skills 

development by attracting and retaining young scientists and 

professionals to the system of innovation. 

 � The French–South African Institute of Technology 
(F’SATI) initiative provides financial and human capacity 

development support at the Tshwane University of Technology 

(TUT). F’SATI aims to advance research in electrical engineering 

and information and communication technology.

 � The African Institute of Mathematical Sciences (AIMS) 
builds capacity in specific research areas, such as mathematical 

modelling and computation, in a multidisciplinary context. 

Mathematics has been identified as a vulnerable discipline and 

through initiatives such as AIMS the NRF attempts to stimulate 

growth in the area.

 � The Scarce Skills Development Fund Programme (SSDF) 
supports full-time South African citizens pursuing postgraduate 

studies at the local HEIs. The DHET entered into a partnership 

with the NRF for the management of the SSDF. The objectives 

of the SSDF Programme are to:

 � increase the number and quality of South African 

postgraduate students in specific scarce skills areas; 

 � build a pipeline of the next generation of scientists and 

researchers in scarce skills areas; and

 � improve the demographic representation in the South 

African National System of Innovation (NSI).

For the year under review, a total of R81.3m was invested in this area, 

with R180k awarded to Department of Labour Scholarships; R1.3m 

awarded to Doctoral and Master’s Students with disabilities; R11.7m 

awarded to Doctoral scholarships; R36.8m awarded to Honours 

block grants; R17.4m awarded to Master’s Scholarships; and R13.7m 

awarded to Postdoctoral Fellowships. A total of 1034 students were 

supported, of which 70.9% were black and 50.5% female.

14.4.2 Investment in Emerging Researcher Support

The aim of the emerging researchers support instruments are to 

assist up and coming researchers with enhancing their experience 

and qualifications. In so doing, emerging researchers are afforded 

the opportunity to progress to the ranks of established researchers. 

Figure 50 indicates the various funding instruments that are 

aimed at supporting emerging researchers. For the year ending 

31 March 2014, the NRF invested R112m in this area excluding the 

cross-cutting instruments. This was a 36% increase in the level of 

investment. The overall investment in this area, including the cross- 

cutting instruments, was in the region of R313m. This included the 

Technology and Human Resources for Industry Programme (THRIP), 

which contributed R147m. THRIP was created in collaboration with 

the Department of Trade and Industry (the dti) that has contributed 

to an overall investment of R730m over the five years from 2009/10. 

The programme is designed to enhance the competitiveness 
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and production capacity of Science, Engineering and Technology 

graduates. The programme also facilitates the collaboration between 

research institutions and industry partners in recognition of the fact that 

technology is embedded in people.

Another programme that cuts across both next generation and 

emerging research support is the Thuthuka programme. “Thuthuka” 

is a Zulu verb, meaning “to develop”. The White Paper on Science and 

Technology (1996) identified that historically disadvantaged higher 

education institutions (HDIs) had very limited research capacity due 

to their focus on teaching as opposed to research and development. 

As part of its Research Capacity Development Strategy, government 

committed itself to address this backlog through targeted 

interventions. The objectives of these interventions are to: 

 � Stimulate research and development at all universities with 

an emphasis on doctoral and postdoctoral training of full-time 

academic staff members; 

 � Target women and blacks for research support; and 

 � Pursue this in partnership with institutions. 

The NRF developed a set of objectives and supporting funding 

instruments as an embodiment of this imperative. Operating 

within the constantly evolving higher education landscape the 

programme aims to develop high-end skills, nurture academic 

scholarships and to improve the research capacity of researchers 

from designated groups, thus ultimately redressing historical 

imbalances. Figure 51 below indicates the investment per 

category over the past six years. 

Through Thuthuka, the NRF has invested R181m since 2008. The 

most significant investment has been in the area of female emerging 

researchers where an investment of R62m has been made to date. 

Looking at Figure 51 it is significant to note that the Thuthuka 

investment strategy has shifted over the reporting period and 

45% (R18.3m) of the funding available was allocated to Thuthuka 

grantholders in the post-PhD track. By quarter 4 of 2013/14, total 

research support for the Thuthuka grant (R45m), consisted of 

443 grants awarded to 238 black and 120 female grantees. Males 

constitute 37% of the grantees compared to females 63%. Through 

these grants, 389 postgraduate students benefitted by participating 

in various research projects with approximately 22% (R10m) of the 

budget awarded to student support. Of this, 251 were black and 

145 female, with the number of black students outnumbering whites 

(53% vs. 47%), and the female students (64%) outnumbering their 

male counterparts (36%). Of the students funded, 44 are working 

towards a doctoral degree. The doctoral cohort (11%) constituted 

16% of the total student funding.

Figure 51:  Investment through the Thuthuka Funding Instruments 

(2008/9 – 2012/14)

14.4.3 Investment in Established Researcher Support

Established researchers are an integral component of the excellence 

pipeline and the system of innovation as a whole, in that they provide the 

supervisory capacity to the system, produce internationally competitive 

research outputs and attract research grants to drive research and 

innovation. One of the principle bottlenecks of any researcher-driven 

system is supervisory capacity. In South Africa specifically this is a 

challenge as the greater proportion of established researchers are white 

and male. While there is a drive to transform the NSI, it is imperative that 
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the intellectual capital of the system continue to be stimulated and in so 

doing, future generations can benefit from the expertise.

Through instruments such as the grantholder-linked bursaries 

that require researchers to take on both the next generation and 

emerging researchers as a condition of the grant contract, the NRF 

has ensured that skills transfer is actively supported. However, the 

reality is that funding for established researchers is limited, as can 

be seen in Figure 52. A total of R153m was invested in the areas of 

established researcher support for the 2013/14 financial year. The 

average investment in this area over the last five years has been 

in the region of R144m. This is relatively low in the context of the 

investment in next generation researchers, especially if there is a 

need to ensure that established researchers remain productive and 

contributing members of the NSI.

Figure 52: Established Researcher Support

The NRF has adopted specific funding instruments to create 

incentives for and support established researchers so that they can 

remain in the system and continue to be productive and produce 

research outputs that are internationally competitive. These 

initiatives include: Incentive Funding for Rated Researchers (IFRR); 

Blue Skies Research; Competitive Support for Unrated Researchers 

(CSUR); Competitive Programme for Rated Researchers (CPRR); 

and Community Engagement and Education Research. 

Following the 2007 Higher Education South Africa (HESA)-NRF 

review of the rating system recommendations, the NRF created the 

Incentive Funding for Rated Researchers (IFRR) instrument that is 

awarded annually to researchers who hold a valid NRF rating. The 

aim is to encourage researchers to participate in the rating process 

and to maintain their ratings once they are rated, and possibly 

achieve higher ratings through their career progression.

The Competitive Programme for Rated Researchers (CPRR) 
is a discipline-based funding instrument, which supports principally 

basic research as the foundation of knowledge production in the 

disciplines of the Humanities, Social and Natural sciences. The 

funding instrument ostensibly has a broad and non-directed theme 

and structure. 

14.4.4 Strategic Investments

Figure 53: Strategic Investments

The instruments classified as strategic investments contribute 

to primarily knowledge production and the development of the 

related human capacit,y as well as to the provision of research 

infrastructure. Figure 53 is an indication of the growth in 

investment in the strategic investment areas. A total of R1.4bn 

has been invested in this area since 2009/10. The investment in 

SARChI has grown by 38% from 2012/13 to 2013/14. A total of 

R371m has been invested in the Centres of Excellence over the five 

years from 2009/10 to date.

The student support component of the NRF strategic investments 

is proving to be an effective driver of transformation. A total of 1841 

students were supported over the 2013/14 financial year; 56% of the 

students supported were black, and 51 % were female. Figure 54 
below is an indication of the race and gender distribution of the 

1 841 students supported:

Figure 54:  Race and Gender Distribution of Students Supported 

through the NRF Strategic Investments 
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14.4.5 South African Research Chairs Initiative (SARChI) 

The South African Research Chairs Initiative (SARChI) is a 

strategic intervention of the South African government aimed at 

increasing scientific research capacity through the development 

of postgraduate students and emerging researchers, and by 

stimulating the generation of new knowledge and innovations. 

The funding instrument seeks to strengthen research capacity 

and leadership at South African public universities by attracting 

established researchers from abroad and from industry into 

Higher Education Institutions, and by retaining those already in the 

system. The funding instrument also focuses on transforming the 

group of next generation and emerging researchers to address the 

current racial and gender imbalances in the system to ensure a 

well representative workforce. SARChI has five objectives, namely:

 � Expand the scientific research and innovation capacity of South 

Africa;

 � Improve South Africa’s international research and innovation 

competitiveness while responding to the social and economic 

challenges of the country;

 � Attract and retain excellent researchers and scientists; 

 � Increase the production of Master’s and Doctoral graduates; and

 � Create research career pathways for young and mid-career 

researchers with a strong research, innovation and human 

capacity development output trajectory.

Of the 62 Research Chairs that were awarded in February 2012, 

54 Research Chair positions have been filled, with the remaining 

eight Research Chairs that were not filled by December 2013 

rescinded in line with agreement with the host institutions. Similarly, 

one Research Chair from the 92 Chairs that were awarded before 

2012 was rescinded due to the host university’s inability to identify 

a suitable replacement candidate after five years of the Chair been 

vacated. Due to the rescinded Chairs and various other cost-saving 

measures, a total saving of R45m will be invested in an envisioned 

20 more Research Chairs. This brings the total number of awarded 

SARChI Chairs to 150.

Figure 55 is evidence of the steady growth in investment with 

respect to SARChI. For the five years to March 2014, the NRF 

invested R813m. A further R1,14bn is committed over the three-year 

MTEF period to 2017.

The NRF is pleased to announce that Professor Viness Pillay, 

a SARChI Chair holder at the University of the Witwatersrand, 

was awarded the Africa Academy of Sciences’ Olusegun 

Obasanjo Prize for his innovative work designing 

commerciable drug delivery technologies in April 2014 in 

Brazzaville, Congo. This award recognises his pioneering 

work in the development of the RapiDiss Water Technology 

as an innovative way to provide effective anti-retroviral (ARV) 

drug therapy to children afflicted with HIV/AIDS.

Figure 55: NRF Investment in SARChI (2009/10 – 2013/14)

By 31 March 2014, SARChI had 150 Chairs awarded, with 142 of the 

Chairs being operational. A total of 73% of the Chairs were recruited 

nationally with 24% of the total incumbents being female and 30% 

black. Table 42 below gives a demographic breakdown of all the 

filled Research Chairs. 

Table 42:  Demographic Breakdown of SARChI Chairs as at March 2014

Number
Percentage of 
filled Chairs 

(%)

Total number of awarded Research Chair positions 150 100

Total number of filled Research Chair positions 142 94

Total number of operating Research Chairs 142 94

Chairs recruited from South African universities 103 73

Chairs recruited from industry and abroad 39 27

Tier 1 Chairs 109 77

Tier 2 Chairs 33 23

Rated Chair holders 100 70

Non-Rated Chair holders 42 30

Female Chair holders 34 24

Male Chair holders 108 76

Black (African, Indian, Coloured) Chair holders 42 30

White Chair holders 100 70

1  Operating Chairs refers to Research Chairs with expensed research grants on the NRF 
Phoenix Financial Management System

At the end of the 2013/14 financial year, 35 of the new Chair holders 

were actively claiming against their SARChI grants, and a further 

12 Chair holders submitted claims against their SARChI grants in 

April 2014. The remaining Chair holders will commence with Chair 

activities between April and July 2014.

Swiss – SA partnership

Two of the 62 new Research Chairs were earmarked to establish 

Swiss–SA Bilateral Research Chairs in Diversity and in Migration 
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Studies. These two Research Chairs have been awarded to the 

University of the Witwatersrand as SARChI Chairs and each of these 

two SARChI Chairs will have a Visiting Research Fellow supported 

by Switzerland, attached to the Chair in South Africa. The first 

Swiss–SA Bilateral Research Chair will be established in Global 

Environmental Health. Five universities viz. UKZN, UWC, SU, UP, 

and UCT are competing to host this Research Chair in the SARChI 

Phase 2 review process.

Science Communication Research Chair

Five universities viz. UFH, UP, UCT, RU and SU passed the SARChI 

Phase 1 review in December 2013 and are competing in the SARChI 

Phase 2 review phase to host the first Research Chair in Science 

Communication. 

Migration of Energy Research Chairs from the DST to the NRF 

In 2012, the DST approved the migration of three energy research 

chairs that were previously managed by the DST to be included 

as part of SARChI. All three Chairs underwent their first five-year 

term-review in 2013/14 and have been fully integrated into SARChI 

as continuing Research Chairs now in the second five year funding 

cycle.

Renewed contract for continued support of R&D Chairs

The five-year funding contract of two of the six Research and 

Development Chairs co-funded by the DST with the FirstRand 

Foundation, Anglo American Chairman’s Fund, and Rand Merchant 

Bank ends in December 2014. The private funders and the DST 

have committed to extend the contract for further five years. 

14.4.6 Professional Development Programme (PDP)

The DST-NRF Research Professional Development Programme 

(PDP) aims to accelerate the development of scientists and 

research professionals in key research areas. The programme 

focuses on young researchers conducting research in Science 

Councils and National Facilities. It is tailored to accelerate the 

development of scientists and researchers who are poised to 

contribute to South Africa’s innovation platforms through the 

following objectives:

 � To leverage innovation and research in Science Councils and 

National Facilities and to implement science and technology-

related skills development;

 � To enable Doctoral candidates and recently qualified Doctoral 

graduates to increase their experience in a research facility, in 

order to improve their prospects of employment in the science 

and technology system;

 � To attract and retain young scientists and professionals of 

the highest calibre to complement the influence that senior 

researchers exert on the current science and technology 

system; and

 � To support young scientists and professionals in basic and 

applied research, and to promote innovation.

14.4.7 The SA PhD Project

The SA PhD Project promotes collaborative partnerships for 

international research through various partnerships. Currently three 

main partnerships are in operation: the Commonwealth Split-Site 

Doctoral Scholarship Programme, the Fulbright-NRF partnership 

and the Desmond Tutu Vrije University Amsterdam-NRF Doctoral 

Scholarship programme. In addition, an extension of the VU 

partnership has been concluded and the two parties at a ceremony 

held on 07 October 2013 signed the formal extension agreement. 

This “signing ceremony” coincided with the Desmond Tutu Peace 

Lecture, which was delivered by Dr Kofi Annan at the University of 

the Western Cape (UWC). 

The SA PhD Project hosted three regional conferences in East 

London, Venda and the Free State. The conferences attracted 

approximately 250 doctoral candidates per region and were 

followed by a PhD Fair attracting 30 exhibitors from universities, 

science councils, national facilities, and industry. The conference 

provided a valuable avenue for networking, information on doctoral 

opportunities, and guidance on completing doctoral studies. 

The tracking of PhD students and assessing the impact of the 

Annual South African PhD Project has been a challenge as current 

benchmarking initiatives in the country have been fragmented. The 

SA PhD Project is exploring the use of the following systems as a 

means to track students and thus measure impact:

 � HEMIS which is a DHET initiative; and

 � RIMS, which is an NRF and DST initiative.

The South African PhD Project provided support to the African 

Doctoral Management Forum towards the formation of a South 

African Management Doctoral Forum. Other initiatives towards 

doctoral associations will be incorporated in the online South African 

PhD Project portal through virtual forums.

14.5 Research Infrastructure

The extent to which progress can be made in the areas of human 

capacity development and knowledge generation hinges on the 

level of investment in quality infrastructure. For this reason, the NRF 

sees the provision of cutting-edge research and innovation platforms 

as a strategic goal. RISA invests in the placement of equipment 

and infrastructure development at the universities, and provides 

mobility grants that enable researchers to access equipment both 

nationally and internationally. Although South Africa boasts pockets 

of world-class research facilities at selected institutions, significant 

investments are required to create and maintain a research 

environment within which world-class research can be realised. 

A total of R4.6bn was invested in infrastructure over the period 

2009/10 to 2013/14 as shown in Figure 56.



     |  NRF Annual Report 2013/201467

Figure 56: Investment in Infrastructure
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The SKA-SA project contributed to a total of 30% of the total 

investment and the investment in the National Research Facilities 

constituted 54% of the total. R718m has been invested in the 

provision of cutting-edge research equipment. The NRF utilises 

specific instruments to invest in the provision of cutting-edge 

research equipment at the HEIs and the National Research Facilities. 

These initiatives focus on establishing enabling infrastructure, 

including state-of-the-art research equipment by:

 � Providing access to research equipment and facilities through 

mobility and research grants;

 � Promoting collaboration among researchers working at 

universities and those at National Research Facilities through 

collaborative research grants;

 � Supporting flagship research projects in strategic areas, such 

as nanotechnology; and

 � Developing specialised technical expertise within existing and 

developing strategic platforms.

The investment in high-end research equipment through the National 

Equipment Programme (NEP) and National Nanotechnology 

Equipment Programme (NNEP) has supported the acquisition, 

upgrade, and development of state-of-the-art equipment across 

public higher education and research institutions, and thereby 

contributed to the enhancement of new knowledge production and 

technology innovation in the country.

In 2013/14 an amount of R250.9m was allocated to the 

infrastructure budget. Of that an amount of R91.5m was an 

allocation to the National Facilities and R159.4m was allocated 

to the support of the National Equipment Programme (NEP) and 

National Nanotechnology Equipment Programme (NNEP). R150m 

of the allocation to the NEP and NNEP was reprioritised to SKA 

equipment requirements. 

The remaining funds (R9.42m) were allocated as follows: 

 � R5m towards the sustainability of the HRThem centre;

 � R4m towards museums’ infrastructure funding; and

 � R420 000 towards maintenance of the national equipment 

database.

14.5.1 Museums’ Infrastructure Funding

Natural science collections are accepted globally as critical research 

assets. A total of 71 zoological collections in South Africa, consisting of 

over 15 million specimens housed at 22 institutions, were assessed to 

determine their current status and to make recommendations for their 

future security. The state of the national history collections in South 

Africa is rapidly deteriorating due to the retirement of highly skilled 

personnel and dwindling operational funds. As such, it is imperative 

that a mechanism is established to ensure the preservation of natural 

history collections countrywide. Five institutions were identified to act 

as regional hubs for the assimilation of any natural history collections 

that may collapse in the immediate future. 

A sum of R1 million per annum for a duration of three years has been 

made available to: 

 � Iziko Museums of South Africa in Cape Town, Western Cape;

 � One joint proposal from the National Science Museum in 

Durban and the KwaZulu-Natal Museum in Pietermaritzburg, 

KwaZulu-Natal;

 � Ditsong Museum in Pretoria, Gauteng; and

 � One joint proposal from the small institutions, which comprise 

of the National Museum in Bloemfontein, Free State region, and 

the McGregor Museum in Kimberley, Northern Cape.

14.6 Knowledge Generation

The NRF supports and promotes knowledge production and 

the development of knowledge fields through funding, and in the 

process, facilitates human capacity development primarily within 

the basic and, to a limited extent, applied research stages of the 

research and innovation value chain. The specific goals in the area 

of knowledge generation are to:

 � Facilitate the advancement beyond the frontiers of existing 

knowledge;

 � Facilitate the creation of new knowledge and knowledge fields;

 � Facilitate the development of related human capacity; 

 � Promote interaction between researchers within and across 

disciplines and knowledge fields;

 � Strengthen scientific and professional fora and organisations in 

the South African research community; and

 � Investigate, map and analyse research interests and trends 

within and across disciplines and knowledge fields.
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In order to facilitate the advancement of existing knowledge and 

develop new fields of knowledge, RISA must constantly survey 

the research landscape within the NSI, perform a transdisciplinary 

analysis of existing research areas, track and analyse research 

trends globally and review the needs within the NSI in order to 

facilitate the generation of knowledge. Figure 57 is a representation 

of the dynamic process followed by RISA in order to positively effect 

change, ensuring that the knowledge generated is valuable and 

relevant, both nationally and globally.

Figure 57: The Knowledge Generation Process
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14.6.1 Centres of Excellence (CoE)

The CoEs are physical or virtual centres of research that concentrate 

existing capacity and resources to enable researchers to collaborate 

across disciplines and institutions on long-term projects. The CoEs 

deal with locally relevant and internationally competitive themes 

in response to the National Research and Development Strategy 

(NRDS) of 2002 that identifies the need to create “centres and 

networks of excellence” in science and technology, including in 

the social sciences, as a key component of the human capacity 

and transformation dimensions of government policy. This is re-

emphasised in the Ten Year Innovation Plan (2008). It is envisaged 

that such centres will stimulate sustained distinction in research while 

simultaneously generating highly qualified human resource capacity 

in order to impact meaningfully on key national and global areas of 

knowledge. As a strategic instrument for knowledge generation and 

human capacity development, it aims to:

 � Promote knowledge and human capacity in areas of strategic 

importance to South Africa;

 � Promote collaborative research;

 � Promote and develop interdisciplinary research;

 � Systematically develop a creative research training environment 

that is internationally competitive;

 � Strive for the highest standards of quality, international com-

petitiveness and esteem of their science;

 � Diffuse knowledge to where it is needed. 

Through the implementation of their strategies, the CoEs aim to 

achieve the following objectives:

 � Ensure the integration of several smaller and related research 

initiatives into large science programmes;

 � Exploit the competitive advantage vested in outstanding researchers;

 � Raise the quality, international competitiveness, visibility and 

esteem of South African science, e.g. by an increase in global 

share of research outputs;

 � Achieve economies of scale through the optimisation of resources 

and effort by sharing personnel, equipment, data, ideas, etc.;

 � Ensure secure and stable funding for research and dissemination; 

and

 � Allow for planned, strategic, long-term research. 

Figure 58:  Investment in the Centres of Excellence from 2009/10 – 

2013/14

Over the reporting period, the NRF invested an additional R83m in the 

CoEs, bringing the total investment to R371m for the period 2009/10 to 

2013/14. The investments into the CoEs are summarised in Figure 58. 

In view of the establishment of five new CoEs, a commitment of 

R447m has been made over the three-year MTEF period.

Figure 59 below is a summary of the existing CoEs. The five new 

CoEs were established in 2013/14. Three were in pre-determined 

themes or disciplines. The two remaining CoEs were open to any 

discipline or field with at least one CoE to be established in the 

social sciences and/or humanities area. Following a rigorous review 

process and Ministerial approval, the awarding of five new CoEs 

were announced through a joint DST-NRF Media Release on 17 

February 2014 as follows: 
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 � CoE – Mathematics and Statistics: University of the Witwatersrand 

(Wits); 

 � CoE – Scientometrics and Science Technology and Innovation 

(STI) Policy: Hosted by Stellenbosch University (SU) and co-

hosted by Tshwane University of Technology (TUT); 

 � CoE – Food Security: hosted by the University of the Western 

Cape (UWC) and co-hosted by University of Pretoria (UP); 

 � CoE – Integrated Mineral and Energy Resource Analyses: hosted 

by the University of Johannesburg (UJ) and co-hosted by Wits; and 

 � CoE – Human Development: hosted by Wits and co-hosted by 

the University of KwaZulu-Natal (UKZN).

Figure 59: Centres of Excellence Established prior to 2014

The National Institute for Theoretical Physics (NITheP) is a national 

facility that leads research and capacity development in theoretical 

physics. NITheP is managed as a centre of excellence by the NRF 

and is structured on the Hub and Spokes model.

Highlights from the Centres include: 

 � CoE in Biomedical TB Biomedical Research: The CBTBR 

have made significant advances in the detailed characterisation 

of DNA repair enzymes in mycobacteria and have identified an 

anti-mutator that is responsible for controlling mutation rates.

 � CoE in Invasion Biology: The Director for the CoE in Invasion 

Biology at SU, Professor David Richardson, had the Havenga 

prize conferred on him by the SA Akademie vir Wetenskap 

en Kuns, and moved into the top 250 most-cited researchers 

globally. In December 2013, the University of Venda (Univen) 

node celebrated the appointment of Professor Peter Taylor to 

the Research Chair in Biodiversity Value and Change in the 

Vhembe Biosphere Reserve. Professor Taylor has been a long 

standing member of the CoE research team at Univen,

 � Applied Centre on Climate and Earth Systems Sciences: 
The Applied Centre on Climate and Earth Systems Sciences 

(ACCESS), due for its mid-term review in 2014/15, held a 

Strategic Planning Meeting in September 2013. The main 

outcome directed the ACCESS principal stakeholders i.e. the 

DST, NRF, CSIR host institution and the ACCESS Board to 

further develop the operational model, science and capacity 

building plans in accordance with the objectives, model and 

outputs of a CoE. The meeting acknowledged that ACCESS 

has a broader scope and shows much potential for contributing 

to earth science systems and climate immensely. However, the 

current way of operation of the ACCESS is not fully aligned with 

that of a CoE. This will be reflected upon by the International 

Review Panel that will be undertaking the first comprehensive 

term review of ACCESS in August 2014.

In support of the development of scarce skills, the NRF supports:

 � Nursing Sciences through various initiatives in order to 

develop health sciences research in South Africa. The possibility 

of merging a more formal collaboration between the Forum 

of Nursing Deans in South Africa (FUNDISA) initiative with 

the SANTRUST initiative to further support nursing capacity 

development is currently under investigation. KFD participated 

in the SANTRUST review of grant applications. A new annexure 

to facilitate the support of a third cohort of SANTRUST pre-

doctoral students was drafted and approved, signalling an 

additional R2 million in support, while the balance of R500 000 

two-year grant for the development and strengthening of 

research leadership nursing faculties was disbursed to 

FUNDISA.

 � The South African Statistical Association (SASA), with the 

aim of strengthening statistics as an academic discipline. The NRF 

supported the hosting of the 55th SASA Conference that primarily 

supported the attendance of over sixty Masters and Doctoral 

students from around the country and continued to engage the 

Centre of Excellence for Invasion Biology (hosted by 
Stellenbosch University)

Strong Materials (hosted by the University of the 
Witwatersrand)

Birds as a key to Biodiversity Conservation at the 
Percy FitzPatrick Institute (hosted by the University 
of Cape Town) 

Catalysis (hosted by the University of Cape Town)

Biomedical Tuberculosis (TB) Research (co-hosted by the 
University of Cape Town, University of Stellenbosch and 
University of the Witwatersrand)

Tree Health Biotechnology at the Forestry and 
Agricultural Biotechnology Institute (FABI) (hosted 
by the University of Pretoria)

Applied Centre for Climate and Earth Systems Science 
(ACCESS) (hosted by the Council for Scientific and 
Industrial Research)

Epidemiology Modelling and Analysis (hosted 
by the South African Centre for Epidemiological 
Modelling and Analysis (SACEMA) at the University of 
Stellenbosch)

National Institute for Theoretical Physics (NITheP) 
(co-hosted by Stellenbosch University, the University of 
KwaZulu-Natal and the University of the Witwatersrand) 
Appointed in 2012/13, is in the process of being 
established into a full CoE  
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committee of heads of Statistics Departments at universities in 

developing a proposal for the support of academic statistics.

The NRF contributes to knowledge generation in strategic areas 

such as the following:

 � The Implementation of the Palaeoscience Strategy by 

funding research and human capacity development pulling 

together what was traditionally known as the African Origins 

Platform (AOP). The initiative aims to provide funding for 

research in the fields of palaeontology, palaeo-anthropology, 

archaeology and other related disciplines. A CoE has been 

established that will be instrumental in driving the research and 

building human capacity in this geographic advantage area. 

An investment of R57m has been made in this area for the five 

years since 2009/10.

From Figure 60 below it can be seen that the productivity with 

respect to research outputs in the palaeosciences field have 

increased dramatically.

Figure 60: Palaeosciences Research Outputs

 � Global Change is an international priority. The NRF has been 

mandated to provide funding to support knowledge generation 

and technological innovation that will enable South Africa and 

the rest of the world to respond to global environmental change, 

including climate change, in an informed and innovative way. The 

climate change phenomenon is complicated and covers many 

disciplines. As an implementation guide, the DST further developed 

a Ten–Year Global Change Research Plan (GCRP) for enhancing 

scientific understanding of global change. The research plan 

mainly comprises four knowledge streams: (a) Understanding a 

changing planet; (b) Reducing the human footprint; (c) Adapting 

the way we live; and (d) Innovation for sustainability. 

 � Southern African Science Service Centre for Climate 
Change and Adaptive Land Management (SASSCAL) is 

a Regional Science Service Centre (RSSC) for the Southern 

African region. The project is a joint venture between Angola, 

Botswana, Namibia, South Africa, Zambia and Germany, with 

the aim of responding to the challenges of global change.

 � Marine Research Plan and the Southern Oceans and 
Antarctica Research Plan are two documents that the 

NRF facilitated. They will form the basis of the new Marine, 
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FUTURE EARTH: 
The little planet 
that could

The beauty of the “blue marble” or “Earth” as we call it is fading. 

Her countenance is pocked with deep scars of excavation and 

innovation and she heaves under the thick blanket of polluted air. 

Resources are drying up, and the once-fertile ground yields less 

nutritional produce – sometimes none at all. Forests are retreating 

for infrastructure and housing. Oceans are drowning in plastic.

Human influence on the planet has become undeniable, so 

much so, that we have entered a new geological time phase: 

the Anthropocene. Proposed by Nobel Prize winning scientist 

Paul Crutzen in 2000, the term loosely translates to the era of 

the human. For all (wo)man’s magnificence and achievement, 

it has become clear that we are putting a severe strain on the 

sustainability of our existence. 

Scientists and science councils the world over have been 

investing in the great minds in their countries to find solutions to 

the problems facing the world, and much has been achieved. 

Unfortunately the rate of deterioration far outpaces that of 

scientific interventions. Research is often a lone quest in secluded 

laboratories or remote villages, and research findings and 

publications are precious commodities to benchmark personal 

achievement. To change the world though, individual efforts 

alone are proving to be insufficient. In addition, interventions and 

solutions have been found to be rejected by the wider populace, 

making their potential for change theoretical or limited at best. 

Enter the Future Earth ten-year international research 

programme: launched in 2012, this initiative is bringing funders 

of environmental change research, science councils and 

scientists together from across the globe to collectively search 

for the answers to how the planet is changing, how to address 

the most pressing needs of humanity, and how to transform our 

way of living towards a sustainable future. The transdisciplinary 

approach to an age old problem combines infrastructure, funding 

and human capacity to provide new platforms for progression, 

excellence and, most importantly, sustainability. What makes this 

effort truly unique is the partnering of science and sustainability 

research with the study of social dynamics. Solutions can only 

be successful if humans can be influenced to implement them. 

Ours is a small planet, but a tough one. Its life-sustaining complex 

biological, chemical and physical systems and processes are 

unparalleled in the known universe. It adapts and finds new 

ways, always, inevitably towards life. 

Initiatives such as Future Earth are important steps to change 

our role as consumers to that of asset and ally; to distinguish the 

Anthropocene as the era when human beings stepped up to 

preserve a sustainable habitat for future generations.
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Southern Oceans and Antarctica Research Strategy that 

will expand the scope of the current South African National 

Antarctic Programme (SANAP). The purpose of this strategy 

and research plans are to drive the development of individual 

strategies for marine, southern oceans and other islands 

research and research in the Antarctica. The NRF has invested 

R73m in Antarctic Research, over the reporting period.

 � Vulnerable disciplines: The NRF also recognises numerous 

vulnerable disciplines and endeavours to provide support for 

areas like nursing sciences, statistics and optometry. The NRF 

has co-funded an intervention with SANTRUST and Irish Aid 

to enable women to enter PhD studies in the nursing sciences 

through a focused pre-doctoral programme. It is intended as 

a catalyst for the development of high level academics and 

supervisors of sufficient number and quality to ensure a critical 

mass of high level nurses and the enhancement of research 

output in the field.

Between October 2013 and February 2014, the first robotics 

based seasonal cycle experiment in the Southern Ocean was 

completed with almost 100% data coverage. This is the first 

time an integrated robotics fleet has been deployed in a sub-

polar region, 1 500km south west of Cape Town. Dr Pedro 

Monteiro and his team at the CSIR believe that by detailing 

the high resolution spatial and temporal characteristics of the 

drivers and biogeochemical responses, this continuous data 

set may help advance understanding of how the carbon cycle 

and climate will evolve under climate change.

14.6.2  Knowledge Generation through Fostering 
Research and Industry Collaboration

In support of high-end knowledge generation, RISA also supports 

innovation for commercialisation and is often instrumental in informing 

policy and legislation around innovation. By complementing the 

innovation support interventions and programmes initiated by the 

Technology Innovation Agency (TIA) and the Support Programme 

for Industrial Innovation (SPII), the NRF ensures that the benefits of 

knowledge generated through its focused funding instruments are 

channelled back into benefitting the community, the NSI and the 

South African society. At least two projects that have been funded 

by THRIP were at incubation stage at technology stations during 

2013/14. 

In this area, the organisation focuses on societal well-being in 

areas of sustainability, poverty alleviation, food security, community 

security, housing, governance, and health with a particular emphasis 

on HCD. 

14.6.3 Energy and Oil Capacity Development 

According to the Department of Energy’s Policy-Adjusted 

Integrated Resources Plan on Electricity 2010 (IRP-2010), 42% of 

all the new electricity generating capacity in the country will come 

from renewable sources (including wind, solar and hydro) over 

the next 20 years. South Africa can leverage off its geographic 

advantages with respect to renewable energy resources such as 

direct solar radiation, ocean wave power, wind energy and, to a 

lesser extent, arable land for the cultivation of bio-energy feedstock. 

Apart from the socio-economic benefits of a vibrant renewable and 

sustainable energy industry for South Africa, the diversification of 

the nation’s energy supply through a stake in renewable energy 

technology development and implementation in the post fossil-fuel 

21st century is urgently required. This effort will be of value to not 

only South Africa, but also the rest of the continent and the world.

RISA supports, in collaboration with industry partners, this pivotal 

area of sustainability through: 

 � The Energy Human Capacity Development and 

Knowledge Generation (EHCD&KG) Programme, which 

is a cross-cutting programme that has been formed as a 

consequence of consolidating the South African Nuclear, 

Human Asset and Research Programme (SANHARP); the 

Renewable and Sustainable Energy Scholarships (RSES); the 

Masters in Accelerator and Nuclear Science (MANUS); the 

Masters in Material Science (MatSci); and the Doctoral Studies 

in Energy Efficiency (DSEE). A highlight event for EHCDKG 

during 2013/14 was the Energy Postgraduate Conference 

(EPC 2013) which primarily showcased the research work of 

the EHCDKG-sponsored Master’s and Doctoral students. 

More than 360 delegates from a cross-section of energy sector 

organisations attended the conference, including 140 students 

and more than 85 researchers.

 � The Energy Research Programme (ERP), with a focus 

on renewable and sustainable energy, has as its core support 

modality, a Hub and Spokes model. For the period under 

review, the ERP continued to fund its maiden Hub and Spokes 

comprising the Centre for Renewable and Sustainable Energy 

Studies at the University of Stellenbosch (US) as the hub, with 

the following three spokes:

 � Wind Energy Spoke hosted by the US and the University of 

Cape Town (UCT);

 � Solar Thermal Spoke hosted by the US and University of 

Pretoria (UP); and

 � Solar Photovoltaic Spoke hosted by the University of Fort 

Hare (UFH) and Nelson Mandela Metropolitan University 

(NMMU).

14.6.4 Expanding Partnership with Industry 

 � The Bioinformatics and Functional Genomics (BFG) 

Programme is funded by the DST with the aim of supporting 

the bioinformatics applications in biotechnology projects 

in line with national priorities as set out in the South African 

Biotechnology Strategy and the DST Ten Year Innovation Plan. 

The programme’s strategic objectives include: 
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 � Creating a pool of postgraduate students equipped to 

support the South African biotechnology sector;

 � Generating bioinformatics solutions and knowledge relevant 

to the South African biotechnology industry;

 � Supporting projects funded through the various 

biotechnology initiatives (BRICS, CoEs, Research Chairs, 

etc.); and

 � Promoting collaboration between academic institutions as 

well as between academia and industry.

 � The Technology and Human Resources for Industry 
Programme (THRIP), funded by the dti, brings together, in a 

mutually beneficial manner, industry and researchers in public-

funded research institutions. Research is done in science, 

engineering and technology in order to provide technology 

solutions for industry, and in the process produce targeted highly 

skilled human capacity for industry. The following are revisions 

to THRIP, which were adopted to address some key challenges:

 � THRIP will for the first time offer bursaries as part of its 

grants, to try to increase the number of students supported 

by the programme.

 � Funding ratios have been revised to strengthen incentives 

for large industry to participate in the programme.

 � A system of “first-come-first-serve” for claiming funds 

has been introduced to speed up claiming of funds and 

effectively cash-flow.

 � The Research and Technology Fund (RTF) is funded by the 

Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries (DAFF). The 

investment fund will be guided by the Integrated Growth and 

Development Plan (IGDP). In this regard, projects to be funded 

would need to demonstrate contributions to the following:

 � Research and innovation systems that support a growing 

commercial sector and a needy smallholder sector; 

 � Maximising the benefits flowing from R&D through well-

coordinated R&D projects that are aligned to government 

and industry priorities; 

 � Addressing capacity constraints in the sector and dealing 

with difficulties to acquire and retain scientists; 

 � Security/improved production systems to address needs 

of smallholder farmers; 

 � Competitiveness/innovation to address needs of small-

holder farmers/product development; 

 � Technology transfer and rural development; 

 � Market access and profitability; 

 � Commercialisation, value addition and agro processing; and

 � Protection and enhancement of natural resources.

The RTF had its maiden call for proposals. The interest by 

the research community was better than anticipated, with 66 

applications being submitted. Primarily as a result of this strong 

response, DAFF increased the RTF allocation for 2014/15 from 

R8m to R15m.

 � The 2ENRICH initiative is a cooperative programme developed 

between the NRF and its counterpart in the Netherlands, the 

Netherlands Organisation for Scientific Research (NWO). 

This initiative is focused on improving the quality of life of the 

approximately four billion people globally who live below the 

poverty line. Sub-Saharan Africa holds the majority of this 

group. The programme intends to create products that are 

really needed and can improve the quality of life of the people 

from these regions. The instrument’s thematic design is based 

First joint scholarship degree awarded 
at the VU University of Amsterdam 

The Vrije University Amsterdam-NRF Desmond Tutu Doctoral 

Scholarship Programme is open to candidates seeking to 

undertake PhD studies in areas that appear non-traditional: 

development economy, theology, sports sciences and the 

social sciences. Currently eighteen students from eight 

South African institutions are participating in this exciting 

partnership. 

History was made on 9 April 2014 when the first joint degree 

of the partnership was conferred by both VU and UP at VU in 

Amsterdam. South African Dr Jacob Meiring, supervised by 

Professor Eddy van der Borght of the Netherlands, graduated 

in the presence of a proud Archbishop Emeritus Desmond 

Tutu. Dr Gansen Pillay, Deputy CEO of the NRF, and Dr 

Thandi Mgwebi, Executive Director of the specialist unit on 

partnership and development, Institutional Engagement and 

Partnership Development (IEPD), represented the NRF and 

South Africa at the prestigious event.

Meiring described his growth during the experience: “The 

liaison with international scholars was stimulating. Being 

exposed to an alternative way of life and doing research has 

sharpened my ideas and focus.”
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on the Millennium Development Goals. Recommended sectors 

for focus include agriculture and water. The instrument is to be 

co-managed by the NRF (ARIC) and NWO with the objective 

of transferring and exchanging of technological knowledge 

from and between Dutch and African universities, knowledge 

institutions, private or semi-private enterprises and African 

partners in sub-Saharan Africa.

14.7 Internationalisation

In a globalised world, it is imperative that nations remain competitive 

in order to be considered as viable global partners in research, 

development and innovation. Through the creation of inter-

governmental agreements, programmes and strategic partnerships, 

the DST and NRF were able to support internationalisation to 

improve the global competitiveness and relevance of all research 

sectors. 

The main purpose of collaborative research is to support projects 

of scientific excellence by promoting the exchange of researchers 

and stimulating interaction among scientific communities. The 

agreements and research activities encouraged the inclusion 

of postgraduate students, especially PhDs and the exchange 

of postdoctoral fellows within approved projects. Cooperation 

agreements with counterpart organisations independent of 

the overarching intergovernmental agreements were forged. 

Membership of international science bodies, managed by the 

NRF on behalf of DST, provided South African scientists access to 

knowledge, data and networking opportunities. 

The NRF participated as a member of a number of international 

science councils and bodies, including: 

 � International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis (IIASA) – 

Deputy CEO, Dr Gansen Pillay is a Council member;

 � International Council for Science (ICSU) – the NRF is the 

adhering body for South Africa;

 � Belmont Forum – NRF CEO Dr Albert van Jaarsveld is co-Chair;

 � International Social Science Council – participant;

 � Global Research Council – The NRF is represented as an ex 

officio member of the Governing Board as co-host of the 2015 

GRC meeting; and

 � Future Earth – Deputy CEO Dr Gansen Pillay is on the Selection 

Committee.

The NRF engaged through the International Relations and 

Cooperation Directorate (IRC) to:

 � facilitate the generation and transfer of knowledge and technology 

to achieve international competitiveness for South Africa;

 � contribute to an enabling process of accessing international 

(research support) opportunities throughout the NRF, in 

particular the National Research Facilities; and

 � contribute to the imperatives of redress and equity within the 

national science system. 

Figure 61:  NRF International Agreements (Bi- and Multilateral, Agency-to-Agency, and Special Projects)

Bi- and Mutilateral agreements

Agency-to-agency collaboration or special projects

Both Agency-to-agency collaboration and special projects
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Working closely with the DST, the NRF assumed a proactive 

responsibility to facilitate and enhance international scientific 

collaboration between individual scientists, higher education 

institutions, research bodies, and scientific and professional 

associations (unions) in South Africa and abroad. There are three 

broad focus areas of engagement through IRC: 

 � Overseas Cooperation (OC); 

 � Africa Cooperation (AC); and

 � Multilateral and Strategic Initiatives (MSI).

Prominent initiatives in Africa Collaboration were the SADC En-

gineering Needs and Numbers Study, the revitalisation of strategic 

collaborative frameworks on the African continent, and the expansion 

of strategic agreements with Africa. The newly-established MSI unit 

concluded a range of strategic and special initiatives, the SA Secretariat 

for ICSU and the mobility programme Knowledge Interchange and 

Collaboration (KIC), the largest mobility programme at the NRF. 

14.7.1 Performance Highlights over the Reporting Period

Overseas Cooperation Agreements 

 � The NRF has renewed the memorandum of agreement with 

the Norwegian Ministry of Foreign Affairs (MFA) for the period 

2013–2017. The programme fosters collaboration between 

researchers and research institutions by involving Master’s 

and PhD students from both countries in the areas of climate 

change, the environment and clean energy (SANCOOP). 

Sixteen high quality applications were selected. An International 

Committee (IC) was appointed to guide and oversee the panel 

selection process based on their knowledge and expertise, 

with 16 high quality projects selected for funding support.

 � The Swiss-South Africa Joint Research Programme Phase 

2 was launched, supporting 26 highly competitive and large-

scale projects for funding during 2014-2017.

 � The NRF has focused on revitalising its relationship with Belgium. 

As a result, two agreements were concluded: a renewal of 

the Fonds Wetenschappelijk Onderzoek – Vlaanderen (FWO) 

agreement, and a new inter-agency agreement with the 

Wallonian (French) Fund for Scientific Research (F.R.S-FNRS). 

Both agreements focus on providing additional opportunities 

to exchange ideas, information, skills and researchers, and to 

support cooperative activities in different fields. 

 � The President of the National Council for Scientific and 

Technological Development (CNPq) of Brazil visited the NRF 

in November 2013 in order to discuss the strategic expansion 

and development of collaborative activities between the two 

countries. An agreement with the Brazilian Science Granting 

Council will be concluded, focusing on areas such as high-

level human resource development, competitive research 

linkages and the internationalisation of the research platform. 

The agreement follows within the context of strong bilateral 

engagements between South Africa and Brazil.

Africa Engagements

 � Expanding collaboration in North Africa

The first Joint Committee between South Africa and Tunisia took 

place in January 2014, in conjunction with the joint symposia on 

ICT and Biotechnology. Agreement was reached to launch a 

joint call, focusing on renewable energy, ICT and biotechnology. 

This agreement strengthens South Africa’s engagement with 

the strongly emerging North African countries, building on 

successful joint programmes with Algeria.

 � Joint Researchers Workshops for enhanced efficiency

In an effort to enhance effective joint research programmes, 

proactively support the research community, and strengthen 

joint interventions by African granting councils with the NRF, the 

Africa Cooperation unit has initiated a series of joint researcher 

workshops on the continent. These include workshops in 

Mozambique (October 2013), Angola (February 2014) and 

Tanzania (March 2014). The interventions are important in 

terms of determining the strategic direction of the collaborative 

research programmes, and a more strategic focus with 

emphasis on inter- and intra-disciplinarity. The series of 

workshops will continue in the coming years, and have been 

regarded as highly successful by all stakeholders and ministries. 

 � South Africa / Mozambique Programme of Cooperation

Since the signing of the S&T agreement between South Africa 

and Mozambique in 2005, the number of joint calls for proposals 

posted between the two countries have been growing steadily, 

and the total joint investment has grown from R1.6 million in 

2008 to over R4 million in 2013 (a growth of more than 250% in 

just over five years). An MoU with the National Research Fund, 

a national funding agency in Mozambique, is currently being 

negotiated to enhance agency-to-agency bilateral relations.

Multilateral and Strategic initiatives

 � NRF partnership with the Carnegie Corporation

IRC on behalf of the NRF has forged a strategic partnership 

with the Carnegie Corporation of New York to determine 

how to increase the quantity and quality of PhD production 

on the African continent. Carnegie has demonstrated their 
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commitment to the revitalisation of higher education on the 

continent, and in particular postgraduate education through 

their Excellence in Postgraduate Research, Training and 

Retention Programme. Institutions from across the world, 

including doctoral training networks and selected universities 

from Africa, were engaged, emanating in a strategic report. 

The African Union Commission, through the participation of 

the Chairperson, Dr Nkosazana Dlamini-Zuma, supports the 

initiative. One of the outputs of the joint venture is a partnership 

with NRF, Carnegie and the Regional University Forum for 

Capacity Building in Africa (RUFORUM), investigating PhD 

production in the field of agriculture and life sciences, and a 

special side event will take place during 2014 at the Biennial 

RUFORUM Conference in Maputo. The outflows of the original 

workshop, the side event, and an additional symposium on 

challenges for higher education in Africa, will inform the 

proceedings of the Carnegie-supported continental summit 

on higher education, in partnership with the NRF, to be held in 

March 2015 in Dakar, Senegal. 

 � Expansion of the NRF-IIASA Partnership

South Africa, as a member country to the International Institute 

for Applied Systems Analysis (IIASA) strives to take maximum 

advantage of the opportunities provided by this global and 

influential organisation. Since the inception of its membership, 

the NRF has supported IIASA’s calls for applications from 

young South African scientists to participate in the annual 

Young Scientists Summer Programme (YSSP) held at IIASA. 

In 2011, the NRF and DST initiated a similar programme in 

South Africa, the Southern African Young Scientists Summer 

Programme (SA-YSSP), broadening participation from within 

the SADC and African regions. The SA-YSSP was successfully 

hosted twice by the University of the Free State in December 

2012 to February 2013. The second SA-YSSP was concluded 

successfully in February 2014, with an increase of participation 

to 36 competitively selected participants. The third stream 

of cohorts has been approved by all relevant parties for the 

2014/2015 intake. The aim of the SA-YSSP is to provide an 

opportunity for excellent young doctoral students to advance 

their research under the direct supervision of senior scientists 

from IIASA and South African research institutions, while at the 

same time contributing to IIASA’s on-going scientific agenda 

and to the DST’s strategic research agenda as documented 

under the Grand Challenges. 

Apart from the SA-YSSP programme the NRF, as a way of 

expanding its cooperation with IIASA, organised a policy 

colloquium bringing together policy makers, scientists, 

government officials, academics and heads of institutions to 

discuss cross-cutting issues and to collectively conceptualise 

models to deal with complex socio-economic issues and 

propose possible solutions. A strategic process to expand 

South Africa’s engagement with IIASA includes: 

 � the approval of the third stream of cohorts (2014/2015 

intake) for SA-YSSP;

 � The re-establishment of the SA National Member 

Organisation Committee of eminent scholars from South 

Africa, with the mandate to conceptualise and steer the 

broader engagement of South Africa with IIASA in order to 

add value to the NRF’s role; and

 � the establishment of a five-year large-scale research 

programme with selected universities in NMO countries 

(with proposed funding from IIASA). 

 � SA Agriculture and Life Sciences Dean’s Association 

Established

Prof Albert Modi, Dean and Head of School for Agricultural, 

Earth and Environmental Sciences, UKZN, has been 

elected as Chairperson of the South African Agriculture 

and Life Sciences Dean’s Association (SAALSDA) during 

its inaugural meeting in 2014 at the NRF. The formalisation 

of this association positions South Africa to respond to 

critical developments and proactively advocate for their 

own interests in the dynamic environment of agricultural 

development continentally and globally. These dynamics are 

contextualised by, inter alia, the African Union Commission’s 

(AUC) announcement of 2014 as the Year of Agriculture 

and Food Security, the development of a Science Agenda 

for African Agriculture (SA3), coordinated by the Forum for 

Agricultural Research in Africa (FARA), and the Academy of 

Sciences for South Africa’s (ASSAf) recently commissioned 

consensus study on revitalising agricultural education and 

training (AET) in South Africa. Associations like SAALSDA, 

along with other regional associations, are members of the 

Global Confederation of Higher Education Associations 

for Agricultural and Life Sciences (GCHERA), encouraging 

mutual understanding and global cooperation in supporting 

innovation and providing leadership in education, research 

and outreach in agricultural and life sciences. Current 

members of GCHERA include associations and networks 

from Africa, Australia, Brazil, Canada, Central America, 

Central Asia, China, Europe, India, Mexico, the Middle 

East, Russian-speaking countries, and the United States. 

Initiated by the IRC, and to provide the interim secretariat, 

South Africa through SAALSDA will be able to compete for 

prestigious global recognition, including the GCHERA World 

Agriculture Prize and the World Food Prize. 

 � Knowledge, Interchange and Collaboration (KIC)

KIC aims to facilitate collaboration between researchers by 

providing funds for international travel support for researchers 

and scientists from abroad to conduct research at South 

African institutions to initiate or strengthen current or future 

partnerships. The instrument has been expanded with a second 

annual call. A 60% increase in applications was recorded, with 

759 applications evaluated and 300 funded. The demand 

for this programme far outweighs the available funds, and a 

reinvestment in this large mobility instrument will be negotiated. 

The instrument has also been structured to include a dedicated 

focus on Africa, and PhD student support.
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14.8 Support

In meeting the objectives of the division, the RISA support structure 

ensures that the division is responsive to emerging changes and 

needs in the delivery environment. Internal to the NRF, the grant-

making services must be efficient and effective, and the organisation 

must ensure that reviews and evaluations are in line with global best 

practice.

14.8.1 Reviews and Evaluation

The cross-cutting services provided by the newly formed Reviews 

and Evaluation (RE) directorate focus on:

 � Reviews of: 

 � applications for NRF funding;

 � applications for NRF evaluation and rating of individual 

researchers; 

 � funding instruments and activities, both within the NRF and 

external to the NRF; 

 � Using data sets emanating from the above to provide strategic 

information; and 

 � Advice on developing monitoring frameworks for RISA funding 

instruments and projects. 

To ensure a constant drive for excellence, all funding within RISA 

is competitive and subject to reviews and evaluation through the 

functions outlined in Figure 62.

Figure 62: Reviews and Evaluation Functions

Enhance procedural fairness and 
transparency of the rating system 

as recommended by the HESA 
Review of the Rating System 

(2007): Implementation of the 
revised appeals procedure

Provide appraising, monitoring and 
reviewing services for external and 
internal programmes; review the 
French-South African Institute of 

Technology (F’SATI), Postgraduate 
Programme in Satelite Systems 

Engineering

Provide system tools to rating 
panel members, to improve 

workflow efficiency and support the 
accountability of decision-making: 

(improve to the rating panel member 
facility)

Implement policy-related decisions 
taken at the annual stakeholder 

consultation forum: Considerable 
International Recognition (CIR) 

guideline document

Determine perceptions amongst 
stakeholders of the rating 

categories, as recommended by 
the HESA Review of the rating 
system (2007): Survey of the 

naming of the rating categories

REVIEWS AND 
EVALUATION

During the period under review, the proposals of more than thirty 

funding instruments were successfully peer reviewed and a turn-

around time for communicating funding decisions was substantially 

enhanced. Furthermore, the timeous completion of peer review 

activities positively strengthened the NRF stakeholder relationship. 

The following is a summary of activities for the year ending 31 March 

2014: 

 � Pilot projects under the RISA Renewal Campaign such 

as Thuthuka, SARChI, THRIP, CoEs were successfully 

implemented;

 � RE facilitated reviews and evaluation of proposals of more than 

30 funding instruments that were not designated for a project 

mode approach;

 � Completed all reviews and evaluation appeals;

 � Successfully deployed balanced cohort of reviewers (equity 

and redress) to assess funding instruments;

 � Enhanced procedural fairness and transparency for the review 

and evaluation of funding instruments including the rating 

system through clearly defined policies and procedures;

 � The unit provided system tools (Web interface) that enhanced 

reviews and evaluation by the rating panel to improve workflow 

efficiency and accountability;

 � Facilitated approval of generic indicators for “Considerable 

International Recognition” (CIR) and requested panel conveners to 

draw up discipline specific indicators to guide all users in interpreting 

the B (considerable international recognition) rating category;

 � Facilitated the investigation of the equivalence of Considerable 

International Recognition (CIR) for local/regional high impact 

research of little global interest within the Specialist Committees 

and proposed an amendment to the C1 rating category 

descriptor to integrate this situation;

 � Facilitated the discussion and approval on the definition of the 

Conflict of Interest (CoI) by the EEC;

 � Facilitated EEC/Assessors/Conveners workshops where input 

to proposed changes to rating processes/guidelines such as 

the selection of reviewers, amendment of eligibility criteria and 

the reviewer response template were obtained;

 � Provided strategic information (datasets) for RISA decision-

making endeavours;

 � Facilitated Regional Interactive Workshops with unsuccessful/

potential rating applicants at the Universities of Fort Hare, 

Nelson Mandela Metropolitan, Wits, Free State, Vaal University 

of Technology, TUT, and Central University of Technology;

 � Facilitated the appointment of the Review Reference Group for 

the review of the IKS Programme;

 � Facilitated the appointment of three national and international 

reviewers to conduct the IKS reviews: Prof Bagele Chilisa 

– University of Botswana, Prof Lebo Moletsane – JL Dube 

Chair in Rural Education, University of KwaZulu-Natal, South 

Africa, and Prof Marian Simms – Executive Director, Social, 

Behavioural and Economic Sciences, Australian Research 

Council, Australia;
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 � Facilitated on-going discussions and drafting of the “Terms of 

Reference” for the review of NRF 2015 Vision;

 � Facilitated compilation of the content of the draft Facts and 

Figures 2014 publication.

It has been noted that rated researchers maintain a higher level 

of productivity than unrated researchers do. The steadily growing 

numbers of rated researchers are therefore a positive contributing 

factor to stimulate the ISI output achievements.

In order to address the challenges of a limited pool of reviewers 

and to eliminate reviewer fatigue, lengthy processes and multiple 

panels assessing multiple applications, the unit is investigating the 

possibility of thematic review panels during specific times of the 

year. A similar model is currently being used in Canada with great 

success. If this can be implemented in the NRF, it should streamline 

the review processes and timeframes significantly. 

Table 43:  Numbers of Rated Researchers in all Disciplines 

(2009/10 – 2013/14)

Rating 
level

Actual Performance

2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14

A 85 85 89 93 99

B 474 502 533 569 615

C 1 209 1 308 1 434 1 555 1724

P 17 16 17 14 16

Y 296 324 364 383 483

L 61 50 34 24 22

Total 2 142 2 285 2 471 2638 2959

14.8.2  Grants Management and Systems  
Administration (GMSA)

The Grants Management and Systems Administration (GMSA) 

directorate is a cross-cutting support function that implements the 

strategic funding frameworks, and manages and administers grants 

by utilising electronic and other systems in the RISA environment. 

The centralised grants management unit within RISA ensures that 

the division leverages economies of scale, improves efficiencies, 

and adopts world-class business processes for managing NRF 

grants. GMSA operates leading-edge grant management systems 

that are responsible for ensuring compliance in the management of 

the funding processes and coordinating all grant-making activities 

across RISA. Figure 63 below depicts a typical grant management 

process which includes both the pre- and post-award activities. 

GMSA supports the funding directorates in the development of the 

Calls for Proposals. The Directorate aims to ensure that Calls are 

planned in such a way to support timeous allocation of awards by 

the end of the academic year in as far as the funding instrument 

and available budget allows. A call schedule has been distributed 

to the research community with the planned dates for 2014/2015 

Calls. Due to concerted efforts and streamlining of Call processes 

and electronic systems to improve efficiency, RISA has significantly 

reduced the turnaround time from application to funding decisions 

for grants and scholarships applications from six months to five 

months. This improved efficiency has led to a greater uptake and will 

also assist in mitigating the cash holding risk of funding awarded too 

late, to ensure optimal expensing. In order to improve efficiency and 

controls between the NRF and the Research Institutions, a grant 

deposit was introduced to all qualifying NRF beneficiaries to enable 

online, real-time data transfer and reporting.

Figure 63: Grant Management Process
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NRF Online Submission System

GMSA collaborates closely with the ICT directorate to ensure that 

the NRF Online Submission System remains current, applications 

are well managed, and response times are closely monitored to 

ensure minimal disruption and stakeholder inconvenience as far as 

possible. A total of 18 606 applications were processed through the 

system in 2013/14. The system is continually enhanced to improve 

stability for our stakeholders and efficiency for RISA.

Some highlights and achievements by GMSA 
directorate for 2013/14

 � Overall Grant Expenditure 2013/14

The overall grant expenditure for 2013/14 has reached 99% of 

the funds claimed by institutions. This is a huge success by 

the directorate as compared to past financial years. The overall 

grant expenditure for 2011/12 was 82% and this moved to 93% 
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in 2012/13. The huge change in 2013/14 is due to a number of 

interventions that were introduced within the directorate such 

as introducing a system whereby grants targets were broken 

down to a level of a unit within GMSA led by a Director and 

grants performance data is displayed on the screen all the time 

for every staff member to see the movements and monitor the 

performance of their respective grants awarded. 

 � Internal and External Audit 

The directorate has performed very well when it comes to 

both internal and external audit. As far as the internal audit is 

concerned, GMSA did not have any adverse findings recorded 

for 2013/14, only one moderate finding was made. This is an 

enormous success for the directorate and RISA as a whole, 

when compared to results of the 2012/13 internal audit. The 

trend is also evident within the unqualified audit received by the 

Auditor General for the year 2013/14.

 � Transfer of SKA Bursary Programme 

Apart from the mainstream audits that took place in 2013/14, 

GMSA ensured that the SKA Bursaries Programme, which 

was managed by GMSA since 2010, was audited before being 

transferred to the SKA Office in Rosebank. This programme 

was audited by internal auditors and there were no adverse 

findings recorded for 2013/14, it was handed over to SKA Office 

clean.

 � Active role in RISA Cash Flow Management at year-end 

GMSA played a very critical role in ensuring that cash was 

managed as per guidelines prescribed by the PFMA. 

14.9 RISA Special Projects

The NRF is the custodian of the following special projects through 

Programme 3:

 � The Research Information Management System (RIMS); 

 � DST/NRF Internship Programme; and 

 � International Council for Science Regional Office for Africa 

(ICSU ROA).

14.9.1 RIMS

The RIMS upgrade to version 13 was completed in November 2013. 

The InfoED team and various universities who participated in the 

testing phase of the upgrade over the weekend of 23-24 November, 

supported the upgrade. The upgrade was a success.

Subsequent to the upgrade, the project has finalised the last 

outstanding module. The Environmental Safety (ES) module was 

piloted by the SU and was tested by the community at the end 

of March 2014. There are a few outstanding issues that are being 

addressed by the supplier prior to final sign off of the ES module, 

which is expected to be early in April 2014. 

The RIMS project is in the final stages of its build phase and the 

system is moving into the transition operations phase which will 

be enhancing the timelines and comprehensiveness of monitoring 

information on research capacity and outputs and improving 

research management at implementing institutions. The NRF 

together with the DST put forward a proposal to the Deputy Vice 

Chancellors (DVC) of Research Forum regarding the sustainability 

of the RIMS project as it transitions into the operations phase. The 

proposal deals with the costing of the operations phase of the system 

and proposes an inclusive governance structure to manage RIMS 

going forward. The DST has committed to funding the system at 

the R7 million level for the MTEF period. The DVC Forum confirmed 

that there are definite benefits that accrue from using RIMS and was 

supportive of the proposal.

The DVC Forum supported the creation of a working group to look at 

the governance model and come up with detailed funding scenarios. 

The NRF has also identified potential synergies with RIMS, 

specifically related to the grant-making process within the business. 

By mapping the RIMS process against the NRF grant-making 

process, areas were identified where the RIMS system can support 

the grant-making process. By exploring the potential to synchronise 

information between RIMS and the NRF systems, there is an 

opportunity to:

 � Reduce the reporting burden on the institutions;

 � Increase the fidelity of the post award reports received from 

researchers;

 � Allow the NRF to more efficiently track grant expenditure which 

is a point of contention; and

 � Link research outputs, filings for patents and compliance 

requirements to specific grants. This in itself is a strong motivator 

in pursuing the synergies since it will allow the NRF and DST to 

access the impact of funding instruments over a period of time.

The second component of the synergies discussion is the opportunity 

to create a central CV database that is populated through the RIMS 

system and linked to NRF MkII (CV System) which will allow the 

most current information to be populated in real time (possibly) and 

reduce the burden on researchers to update their data manually.

14.9.2 DST/NRF Internship Programme

The DST and the NRF entered into a contractual agreement for the 

management of a graduate work experience programme, in which 

unemployed science, engineering and technology (SET) graduates 

and postgraduates have the opportunity to improve their skills and 

enhance their workplace competencies through exposure to a 

research environment. The Internship Programme has had seven 

intakes of interns since the start of the initiative in 2005. 

A total of 1 543 interns have been enrolled. After completion of 

the Internship Programme, a total of 695 interns or 45% of the 

participants in the programme, joined the workforce within the NSI, 
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while 356 (23%) interns exited the programme to further their studies 

through studentships and full-time study. This translates to a nominal 

68% success rate for this important programme. The programme 

has also expanded to include graduates from the Humanities and 

Social Sciences in line with the requirements of the DST’ s Ten-Year 

Innovation Plan, particularly the Human and Social Dynamics Grand 

Challenge. Some 105 interns were placed at HEIs throughout the 

country.

14.9.3 ICSU-ROA 

In an endeavour to strengthen international science for the benefit 

of society, the International Council for Science (ICSU) created 

Regional Offices in the developing regions of the world. The 

purpose of these offices is to ensure that developing countries 

influence the international research agenda, and that researchers 

from these countries become fully involved in international 

research projects. The aim of the ICSU Regional Office for 

Africa (ICSU ROA) is to promote and facilitate the engagement 

of African scientists and engineers in applying, strengthening 

and advancing science, technology and innovation for the 

socio-economic development of the continent. ICSU ROA was 

established in September 2005 and, through the guidance of 

the ICSU Regional Committee for Africa, identified four priority 

areas for addressing the challenges of Africa: sustainable energy, 

natural and human induced hazards and disasters, health and 

human well-being, and global environmental change (including 

climate change and adaptation). Science plans for these priority 

areas were produced and widely distributed.
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15.1 Overview

The National Research Facilities (NFs) provide unique and 

cutting-edge research platforms through a network of distributed 

institutions. These facilities support research of strategic importance 

and provide access to “big science” infrastructure for national and 

international researchers and research, and also contribute to the 

NRF strategic goal of growing a representative research workforce 

through focussed HCD initiatives. It is through these NFs that South 

Africa can compete and cooperate effectively with international 

counterparts in the selected strategic research areas.

The education and training mandates of the NFs enrich and 

empower individuals to function as productive knowledge workers.

15.1.1 Definition and Structure

The White Paper on Science and Technology (1996) initiated the 

concept of defining a National Research Facility as an institution that 

has a unique position in South African knowledge production; core 

technologies, research methods or data pools and collections that 

meet international standards; goals that are aligned with the overall 

objectives of the NSI; a critical mass of equipment, skills and users; 

the potential for networking and attracting international collaborators; 

and opportunities for human resource development with special 

efforts to involve researchers from previously disadvantaged 

communities.

In 2010, the NRF reviewed the normal functioning of the NFs by 

assessing their performance, strategic positioning, and purpose. 

The future natural evolution in the NSI was also considered. It was 

proposed that the Facilities’ strategic relevance and intent periodically 

be reviewed to ascertain, amongst others, whether or not they are still 

considered to be of strategic importance to the country. Furthermore, 

a comprehensive recapitalisation strategy for NFs, with the objective 

to ensure that the Facilities each regain their original strategic 

prominence or to establish such prominence where it did not exist 

historically, was also formulated. The initiative focused on competitive 

infrastructure, closely linked with ensuring the required science 

competence is developed or maintained, and resulted in the allocation 

of additional funding towards the upgrading of research infrastructure.

The five declared NFs and one emerging facility (SAEON) are 

aligned with the science missions of the National Research and 

Development Strategy (2002), and fall within three broad clusters 

according to their areas of specialisation, namely: Biodiversity and 

Environmental Sciences, Nuclear Sciences and Astronomy that are 

arranged in two NRF programmes.

The Minister of Science and Technology announced in 2013 that 

all astronomy facilities would form part of, and be managed as, an 

Astronomy sub-Agency within the NRF. This Astronomy sub-Agency 

is anticipated to be fully established during 2014. The astronomy 

desk within the DST has been tasked to develop a Decadal Strategy 

for Astronomy that will embrace the integrated, multi-wavelength 

philosophy envisaged for the Astronomy sub-Agency. The Decadal 

Strategy for Astronomy will be finalised through the newly established 

Astronomy Advisory Council and endorse an appropriate and 

consolidated HCD programme for Astronomy.

15.1.2  General Activities of the National 
Research Facilities (NFs)

Within the constraints of their budgets, the NFs provide the 

critical infrastructure and operational assistance required to 

generate and support internationally competitive research. 

The Facilities are mandated to provide research platforms that 

include state-of-the-art infrastructure, skilled human resources, 

joint training programmes with Higher Education Institutions 

(HEI), and various national and international collaboration 

agreements. The Facilities are also required to develop strong 

technical competencies to produce high-quality instrumentation, 

equipment and scientific techniques in niche areas, and to 

function as science awareness platforms in strategic alignment 

with the objectives of Programme 2.

15.1.3  Performance of National Research 
Facilities (NFs) against Targets

The NFs’ performance in peer-reviewed articles (ISI and others) 

has grown exponentially. This performance is a result of increased 

collaborations by the NFs who are collectively enhancing the 

organisation’s agenda of creating new knowledge for the betterment 

of lives for the people of South Africa. 

Figure 64 below shows a steady growth in peer-reviewed articles 

published by the NFs.

Figure 64:  Growth in number of peer-reviewed journal articles 

produced by the National Research Facilities
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15.1.4  Capital Investment, Maintenance 
and Asset Management Plan

The actual infrastructure expenditure of the NFs, excluding that 

of SKA, during 2013/14 is shown below. The SKA SA Project 

remains focused on the MeerKAT development, with the majority of 

infrastructure projects concluded or in the acceptance test phase.

15.2 PROGRAMME 4: Nuclear Sciences, Biodiversity 
and Environmental Sciences

Programme 4 represents National Facilities in the Nuclear Sciences 

(iThemba LABS) and Biodiversity and Environmental Sciences 

(SAIAB, NZG and SAEON) clusters. The programme contributes to 

the following strategic objectives and focal themes of the NRF:

 � Promoting internationally competitive research as the basis for 

a knowledge economy;

 � Growing a representative science and technology workforce in 

South Africa;

 � Providing cutting-edge research, technology and innovation 

platforms; and

 � Contributing to a vibrant NSI.

The primary activities of Programme 4 are:

 � The iThemba Laboratory for Accelerator Based Sciences 

(iThemba LABS) platforms are used for research and training in 

the fields of nuclear physics, materials science and engineering, 

biological sciences, nanoscience and nanotechnology, particle 

therapy for treating cancer and environmental isotope analysis.

 � The South African Institute for Aquatic Biodiversity 
(SAIAB) has an internationally recognised profile in ichthyological 

research and serves as a hub for national and international 

scientific engagement on African aquatic biodiversity across the 

full spectrum of aquatic environments, from marine offshore to 

continental freshwater catchments. It also houses the DST/NRF 

flagship African Coelacanth Ecosystem Programme (ACEP).

 � The National Zoological Gardens (NZG) is a biodiversity 

conservation and research facility that incorporates a living 

animal collection, the Wildlife Biomaterials Bank and the Centre 

for Conservation Science.

 � The South African Environmental Observation Network 
(SAEON) offers public value through long-term multidisciplinary 

environmental observation programmes and platforms designed 

2013/2014

Infrastructure projects Name of Platform
1st Projections Annual Expenditure (Over) Under Expenditure

R’000 R’000 R’000

Biodiversity/Conservation/Environment

Capital 4 395 5 449 (1 054)

Repair & Maintenance 2 406 3 913 (1 508)

Total 6 800 9 362 (2 562

Nuclear

Capital 10 223 6 312 3 911

Repair & Maintenance 5 075 5 496 (421)

Total 15 298 11 808 3 490

Astro/Geoscience

Capital 231 328 207 843 23 485

Repair & Maintenance 3 068 2 700 368

Total 234 396 210 543 23 853

Total Facilities

Capital 245946 219 604 26 342

Repair & Maintenance 10 548 12 109 (1 561)

Total 256 494 231 713 24 781

Figure 65:  National Research Facilities Web of Science Outputs: 

Impact relative to the World 2013

N
at

io
na

l R
es

ea
rc

h 
Fa

ci
lit

y

0 2 4

Impact Relative To World

Hart HartRAO

iThemba LABS

NZG

SAAO

SAIAB

Table 44:  Investment in Infrastructure Projects



     |  NRF Annual Report 2013/201482

to clarify Earth system dynamics and changes over multiple 

scales.

15.2.1 Performance against Planned Targets

Table 45: Programme 4 Key Performance Indicators

Performance Indicator Actual 
2012/13

Actual 
2013/14

Target
2013/14

% 
Variance

Comment on 
deviations

Expected 
research 
outputs by 
National 
Research 
Facility 
researchers

Peer-
reviewed ISI 
publications

160 187 119 57%

A number of 
publications were 
submitted in the 
previous financial 
year but were only 
published during 
this year.

Some publications 
are from PhD and/or 
MSc theses of new 
members of staff, 
postdoctoral fellows 
and former interns, 
which could not be 
envisaged at time of 
setting the targets.

Peer-
reviewed ISI 
publications 
with 
external 
co-authors 
(subset of 
the above)

151 167 100 67%

As a network 
organisation, SAEON 
in the main works 
and publishes 
with external 
collaborators.

Increase in the 
number of Research 
Associates and post-
doctoral fellows.

Growing a representative science and technology workforce in South Africa 
(externally)

Experiential training: 
number of students 
spending time at and 
participating in the work 
of facilities as part of their 
formal training

773 952 396 140%

Once-off large 
radiotherapy/ 
hospital groups at 
iThemba LABS

NZG has a number 
of programmes that 
support students 
at HEIs

Number of students 
employed to undertake 
temporary research-related 
work

18 14 26 -46%

The facilities 
experienced 
budgetary 
constraints, which 
limited their ability to 
hire students over the 
reporting period. 

Postgraduate students 
making use of facilities for 
training

404 312 322 -6% Difficulty in provision 
of evidence at NZG

Students 
supervised 
by staff of 
facilities

Honours/
BTech 39 31 36 -14% Bolstered by the 

PDP and SA-CERN 
programme
ACEP Phuhlisa 
students were not 
part of targets.
New ACEP 
Research Advisor 
employed in 
January 2013 also 
resulted in the 
increased numbers 
(not targeted)

Master’s 85 105 98 7%

Doctoral 73 100 70 43%

Total 197 236 204 16%

15.2.2 Actual Achievements

The NFs performed exceptionally well against the targets set for 

2013/14. This achievement demonstrates the ability of the Facilities 

to sustain both operational and research activities at high levels, 

despite sub-optimum core resourcing that continues to adversely 

impact on staffing, operations and the research infrastructure. This 

trend has been partially compensated for through the addition of 

substantial increases in non-core funding over the past few years, 

especially for infrastructure upgrades.

15.2.3 Human Capacity Development

Building human and institutional capacity is a high priority for the 

NRF, with the emphasis being on postgraduate training, postdoctoral 

appointments, and technical skills training. In pursuit of its mandate, 

the organisation has established a strong record of accomplishment 

of success despite the challenges it may face.

Key HCD achievements during the past year include:

 � The Facilities are attracting students in various fields to complete 

their experiential work as part of their studies, and the NZG 

has performed exceptionally well in this area due to its diverse 

activities. A total of 952 students spent time at and participated 

in the work of Facilities during 2013/14. This has exceeded the 

target by 140% with the majority being at the NZG. Planning for 

student intake is difficult as the NFs are entirely dependent on 

the student registrations at the universities.

 � A total of 236 students were supervised by Facility staff during 

2013/14, of which 42% were doctoral students.

 � The number of post-graduates, especially at SAIAB, has grown 

considerably. This is mainly attributable to the ACEP Phuhlisa 

programme, a dedicated research redress programme with the 

University of Fort Hare and Walter Sisulu University. The second 

year of this programme has yielded eighteen (ten Honours and 

eight Master’s) students.

 � The pipeline of black students at SAIAB has produced its 

first black South African female Antarctic ichthyologist who 

graduated with a PhD in April 2014.

 � In partnership with SANParks, SAEON has employed six 

environmental monitors from previously disadvantaged back-

grounds, which also includes two disabled individuals, through 

the environmental monitors’ project. The objective of this new 

Expanded Public Works Programme (EPWP) initiative is to 

provide employment to previously disadvantaged and unskilled 

individuals.

 � The NZG has a number of programmes that support student 

training at HEIs, which include the Faculties of Engineering and 

Veterinary Science at the University of Pretoria (UP). A total of 

172 engineering students are involved in 41 projects, where they 

are also required to complete 40 hours of community service. 

The projects completed by the students ranged from building 

environmental enrichment objects to enclosure upgrades.

15.2.4 Research Infrastructure

The research platforms offered within Programme 4 are varied but 

extensive, and provide a solid base for research and HCD purposes. 
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The infusion of new infrastructure allows the facilities to develop 

new collaborations/partnerships, as well as embrace the latest 

technologies to remain relevant within the international research 

space. Key recent platform developments include the following:

 � Nuclear Sciences (iThemba LABS)
 � Installation of the Delta V Mass Spectrometer in the Isotope 

Environmental Laboratory in Gauteng was completed. 

In addition to the commercial revenue generated, it will 

also create opportunities for various research projects 

undertaken by Masters and Doctoral students. The new 

technologically advanced unit will reduce analysis time, 

and ultimately turn-around time for clients’ water sample 

analysis.

 � Biodiversity Research and Conservation (NZG)
 � Conversion of the animal hospital into a Centre for Wildlife 

Health Research. Four new laboratories for parasitology, 

endocrinology, reproduction, and clinical pathology have 

recently been completed. A new digital X-ray machine 

with the capability of X-raying large animals, and a laptop 

ultrasound machine with seven different probes have also 

been installed. The facilities for post-mortem analysis have 

been upgraded to double its output capacity, and the 

animal quarantine facilities of the hospital will be expanded 

extensively to cater for animal confiscations by the Gauteng 

Department of Agriculture and Rural Development (GDARD), 

including normal holding facilities.

 � Aquatic Biodiversity (SAIAB)

Facility Specific KPI:

SAIAB number of data uploads on Acoustic Receiver 

Network exceeded target with 265%

The upgrades of the Marine Platform as well as a new Eco-

Physiology Laboratory have been initiated as part of the 

strategic infrastructural renewal programme of the Facility.

Wits acquires valuable asset from the NRF

The exuberant and charismatic Dr Zeblon Vilakazi has been ap-

pointed Deputy Vice-Chancellor: Research and Postgraduate 

Affairs at the University of the Witwatersrand, after serving 

as Director of iThemba LABS for the past seven years. During 

his tenure at iThemba LABS, he was also appointed as Group 

Executive for Research and Development at the South African 

Nuclear Energy Corporation (NECSA) in 2011. The aim of this joint 

appointment was to create a joint Nuclear Research platform that 

could allow maximum utilisation of both reactor beam-line and 

accelerator technology.

Known for his unique style, this high flyer is dispelling all 

preconceptions about the stereotypical image of physicists. 

Zeblon, the high-energy physicist as he is commonly known, was 

born in Katlehong, Germiston, and obtained his PhD in 1998 from 

the University of the Witwatersrand under the supervision of the 

late Professor Friedel Sellschop. The title of his doctoral thesis was 

“The Investigation of Coherent Correlated Effects due to Incidence 

of Ultra-Relativistic Leptons on Oriented Crystalline Matter”. 

As part of his MSc, he worked in low energy nuclear physics 

undertaken at the Wits EN Tandem van der Graaff, and thereafter 

moved into a field of channelling with the Aarhus group at the 

CERN-NA43 experiment.

His impressive resume includes an academic position at 

the University of Cape Town, where he was instrumental in 

establishing South Africa’s first experimental high-energy 

physics research group focusing on the development of the 

High-level Trigger for the CERN-ALICE experiment at the Large 

Hadron Collider. He also made his mark internationally by 

serving as a visiting scientist at the Atomic Energy Commission 

and Alternative Energy (CEA) in Saclay, France. He holds 

an Extraordinary Professorship of Physics at the University 

of Pretoria, and Honorary Associate Professorship at the 

University of the Witwatersrand.

Nominated as a Young Global Leader by the World Economic 

Forum, Vilakazi was also elected a member of the Academy of 

Sciences of South Africa (ASSAf), received a National Research 

Foundation post-doctoral fellowship to the European Centre for 

Nuclear Research (CERN) in Switzerland, and was awarded NRF 

Y- and C-ratings.

“I look forward with great excitement to this opportunity of playing 

a key role in supporting and nurturing research at this August 

university, my proud alma mater. I am working from a solid basis 

that has been laid by my predecessors at Wits. I am excited to be 

back in this environment after spending eight years in the science 

management system in my capacity as the head of iThemba 

LABS and in my role at the NRF,” says this dynamic father of four. 

His unique understanding of all aspects of the science landscape 

of South Africa should stand him in great stead to drive the vision 

of transformation and science excellence at Wits University. 



     |  NRF Annual Report 2013/201484

 � Environment and Climate Change (SAEON)
 � The Ndlovu Node received a donation of four motion sensor 

cameras from the Florida International University in the USA. 

The cameras were installed at artificial water holes in central 

Kruger National Park to monitor animal water use patterns 

and behaviours under extreme climate conditions. This is 

pioneering work in the use of webcams and still imagery 

as sources of environmental data, and will be of great 

international significance.

15.2.5 Knowledge Generation

Creating an environment that is conducive to research, that encourages 

collaboration across disciplines, and which provides access to 

research resources both locally and internationally is important in 

the pursuit of building a knowledge economy. The research activity 

within Programme 4 embraces scientists and students from both the 

national and international communities with the emphasis on:

 � Research articles published in high impact (ISI accredited) 

journals;

 � Presentations of research results at international conferences 

and meetings; 

 � The use of the research platforms by postgraduate students;

 � Supervision of postgraduate students by staff; and

 � Participation in and expansion of national and international 

collaborations and scientists from other research organisations.

In addition, several of the NFs engage in applied research/

applications, such as Radioisotope Production and Particle Therapy 

at iThemba LABS, and the use of SAEON databases for policy 

formulation, both within the private and public sectors.

Key achievements include:

 � Nuclear Sciences (iThemba LABS):
 � Opportunities for South African collaboration with the 

Flemish universities in radiation medicine projects have been 

strengthened with the inclusion of these projects in the new 

strategic plans for South Africa, formulated by the members 

of the Flemish Interuniversity Council (VLIR). This will benefit 

South Africa with research project funding and aligned 

human capacity development initiatives.

 � As part of the research collaboration with Steve Biko Hospital, 

iThemba LABS produced its first research consignment 

of 103Pd. During the first phase of the study, the hospital 

prepared the 103Pd seeds (used in prostate cancer therapy) 

to perform the requisite dosimetry studies. The initial results 

are encouraging.

 � The first experiment with the Wits-donated Ion Implanter 

was successfully completed. The experiment is part of 

the iThemba LABS, UNISA, CPUT and VUT collaboration 

targeted at defect engineering of silicon material for the 

fabrication of radiation damage resistant detectors.

 � Biodiversity Research and Conservation (NZG):
 � The NZG has produced 22 publications in the year under 

review, 21 of which are published in ISI accredited journals, 

with external co-authors. One of these publications, 

“Freezing African elephant semen as a new population 

management tool”, was published in the international journal 

PLOS ONE with an Impact Factor of 4.1.

 � Aquatic Biodiversity (SAIAB):

Facility Specific KPI:

Number of researchers using the NZG facility excluding staff 

exceeded target by 56%

 � Research outputs far exceeded the targets with 67 peer-

reviewed articles published, 59 publications with external 

authors, one book that was translated into Afrikaans, and 

eight research reports.

 � The African Coelacanth Ecosystem Programme (ACEP) 

successfully completed a 22-day cruise to the southeast 

of Madagascar, to investigate similarities in coastal biology 

between Madagascar and Southern Africa.

 � Seventeen public lectures have been held as part of the 

SAIAB Seminar Series, which is run in conjunction with the 

Rhodes University Departments of Ichthyology and Fisheries 

Sciences, and Zoology. The highlight of the year was the 

annual Smith Memorial Lecture, the first presentation 

by a woman scientist that focused on the coelacanth 

celebrations.

 � To cement the strong ties in marine research that have 

developed over years of collaboration, the Nelson Mandela 

Metropolitan University (NMMU) formalised its working 

relationship with SAIAB and SAEON in a Memorandum 

of Understanding which covers a wide range of initiatives 

to provide key research on the Indian Ocean inlet and 

surrounding coastline.

 � Environment and Climate Change (SAEON):
 � A SAEON researcher sailed the R/V Agulhas II as part of 

a relief voyage team to Marion Island. The SkiMonkey III 

camera was deployed at predetermined stations around the 

Prince Edward Island to acquire video and still images of the 

benthic environment that will be compared with similar ones 

taken in the 1980s, and analysed for potential changes that 

may infer effects of climate change.

Facility Specific KPI:

Number of new registered users of the SAEON Data Portal

517 against target of 180

 � The Ndlovu Node in Phalaborwa hosted a group of 

researchers from Colorado State University (USA), 

who worked on the maintenance and sampling of large 

herbivore enclosures at the Satara Experimental Burn 

Plots in the Kruger National Park. The Elwandle Node in 

Grahamstown hosted a group of researchers from the 
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Department of Palaeoceanography at the University of 

Szczecin, Poland.

15.2.6 Internationalisation and Mobility

The mandate of the NFs calls for strong collaborations with 

international partners, thus formal collaborative agreements are 

entered into with organisations worldwide, where both research and 

postgraduate student training are actively pursued.

Attendance and especially the presentation of papers and posters 

at international conferences are strongly encouraged. Use is made 

of RISA mobility grants to fund international visits to and from South 

Africa.

A total of 48 formal collaborations with institutions abroad currently 

exist within Programme 4. Some of these are:

 � The South African-CERN consortium in the Nuclear Sciences, 

which provides both researchers and students with the 

opportunity of conducting research using the LHC at CERN in 

Switzerland.

 � iThemba LABS and Joint Institute for Nuclear Research 

(JINR), Dubna, Russia on ion source development, the use 

of laser-ionization to produce radioactive beams, and the 

development of injection of radioactive beams into an ESIS 

charge breeder.

 � The Flemish Interuniversity Council (VLIR) grant allows 

postgraduates in the Nuclear Sciences to travel to the University 

of Ghent, Belgium for specialised training in molecular radiation 

biology. This funding is also available to host international 

workshops in Radiation Biology within South Africa.

 � The NZG has a collaborative project with Kenya Wildlife Services 

to undertake eco-toxicology research in order to understand 

the impact of environmental toxins on wildlife in both countries.

 � The University of Botswana and the NZG collaborate in the 

training of students in wildlife forensic science and general wildlife 

conservation research.

 � As part of its Applied Physiology, Nutrition and Metabolism 

research strand, the NZG works with Namibian institutions to 

research metabolomics in cheetahs.

 � A strong collaborative partnership between SAEON’s Elwandle 

Node and the University of Western Australia is being developed, 

and will revolve around the stereo-baited remote underwater 

video project. This collaboration entails scientific advice and 

interaction, as well as provision of research equipment.

 � SAIAB and Dalhousie University in Canada collaborate to maintain 

a network of acoustic receivers to monitor marine animal migration 

under the auspices of the global ocean tracking network project.

 � SAIAB is a key partner in the Fish Barcode of Life Initiative 

(FISH-BOL) and International Barcode of Life (IBOL) projects, 

which are global initiatives.

Facility Specific KPI:

iThemba LABS proportion of international collaboration to 

total collaboration 47% against target of 21%

 � The facilities also host several international conferences and 

workshops each year, some of which are listed below:

 � NZG hosted the first workshop on Conservation Genetic 

Resources for Effective Species Survival (ConGRESS), 

designed to transfer knowledge and tools in conservation 

genetics for biodiversity policy, the conservation of species, 

genetic diversity, identifying distinct populations, predicting 

the genetic outcome of management decisions, and to 

study some examples and applications.

 � NZG hosted the 11th International Conference on Environmental 

Enrichment (ICEE), which was well attended by delegates 

from 15 countries. The theme of the conference was “visitor 

experience through environmental enrichment” and allowed 

the delegates to focus on how environmental enrichment 

contributes to learning among zoo visitors, creates 

connections and thereby enhances the visitor experience.

 � An Energy Postgraduate Conference was hosted by iThemba 

LABS and a total of 280 delegates, mainly postgraduate 

students, participated. A large number of iThemba LABS 

post-graduate students presented their research projects. 

Approximately 300 grade 10 learners attended the event 

every day, and participated in hands-on demonstrations of 

energy related systems.

 � An international workshop on GEANT4 (geometry and 

tracking) simulations was held with foreign experts 

presenting lectures as well as practical sessions, where 

individual attention and expert help was available to each 

delegate. The topics covered are used extensively in 

research and industry e.g. fundamental nuclear research to 

design and optimise detection setups, and in the design of 

efficient radiation shielding for medical and nuclear power 

applications.

 � A bar-coding capacity-building workshop, funded by the 

Nor wegian University of Science and Technology, was held 

at SAIAB. The project was coordinated by the Norwegian 

Museum of Na tural History and Archaeology (NTNU). 

Approximately 30 participants from South Africa attended 

training provided by NTNU.
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The most important zoological find of the century

In December of 1938, in the harbour town of East London in 
the Eastern Cape, a young museum curator, Marjorie Courtenay-
Latimer, made a startling discovery among a local fisherman’s 
catch of the day. A blue lobed fin protruded from beneath a heap 
of rays and sharks on the deck of the trawler, Nerine. She would 
later describe the specimen that emerged from the carcases as 
“the most beautiful fish I had ever seen.” Though she was not 
a marine scientist or specialist, she knew that she had come 
across something of significance and after consulting what few 
books she could access, recognised the similarities to pictures 
of a prehistoric fish. She made a sketch of the fish and mailed it to 
chemistry teacher Prof JLB Smith at Rhodes University.

Prof Smith responded on 3 January 1939: “MOST IMPORTANT 
PRESERVE SKELETON AND GILLS = FISH DESCRIBED”; 
however, Ms Latimer had already had to discard the rotting 
innards of the fish. On personal inspection of the specimen, 
Smith identified it as a coelacanth. A photograph taken by a local 
reporter spread through the global science community, making Ms 
Courtenay-Latimer, Smith and the coelacanth instant celebrities. 
2013 marked the 75th anniversary of this discovery, the find that 
was described by Smith as “the most important zoological find of 
the century”, and which further cemented South Africa’s scientific 
research and academic credentials in the world arena.

The need to search for a second specimen to confirm the results 
of the first discovery resulted in JLB Smith strengthening his 
position as a leading ichthyologist and being given the latitude to 
dedicate his time exclusively to ichthyology. He established the 
Department of Ichthyology at Rhodes University in 1946 and set 
about finding a second coelacanth.

After the Second World War, he carried out a series of epic 
expeditions up the African coast to survey marine fishes and 
search for coelacanths. These expeditions led to unprecedented 
discoveries on the western Indian Ocean and southern African 
marine fishes and the publication of the world famous Sea Fishes 
of Southern Africa and Fishes of the Seychelles books, but no 
coelacanth.

Many questions remained unanswered, especially due to the 
lack of internal organs to be studied from the first find, and Prof 
Smith issued a reward notice along the East African Coast. 
Fourteen years would pass without another glimpse of “old 
four legs”, as Smith had nick-named the fish, but the scientific 

imagination remained captured. A myth perpetuated that the 

coelacanth was a deep ocean fish, and European expeditions 

searched the ocean depths without success. Smith remained 

convinced that its colouring and physical characteristics placed 

it as a lower reef predator. Finally, on 21 December 1952, two 

Comoran fishermen carried a large fish to British Captain Eric 

Hunt who, after attending a lecture by Smith on the subject, had 

distributed the £100-reward posters in the group of islands in the 

Mozambique Channel where his vessel traded. 

Hunt and his crew salted the specimen and sailed to the nearest 

port with the specimen in formalin to ensure that the internal organs 

would remain intact for study. Cables were fired off to Smith, and 

the French government followed suit to their French scientific 

authorities in Madagascar. Smith negotiated with the then Prime 

Minister of South Africa, DF Malan, to commission a plane to the 

Comoros to secure the South African claim to the discovery. 

Since 1938, the coelacanth has been the subject of intense interest 

and great fascination for both scientists and the general public 

worldwide. By 2013, 214 coelacanths had been caught off the 

Comoros. Coelacanths have also been caught off Mozambique, 

Madagascar, Kenya and Tanzania. In 1997,  a second species was 

found off Indonesia. In December 2000, the thrilling discovery of 

coelacanths off the South African coast was made in the Jesser 

Canyon in Sodwana Bay. This discovery stimulated the first study 

of coelacanths in South Africa. No coelacanth colonies anywhere 

in the world were known to live in such shallow, readily accessible 

waters. South Africa seized its opportunity to answer some of the 

fundamental questions regarding coelacanths. The existence of 

a viable South African population of coelacanths in 2000 initiated 

a flagship, multidisciplinary research programme focusing on the 

coelacanth and its habitat: the African Coelacanth Ecosystem 

Programme (ACEP). One of the broad objectives was to build 

a coelacanth genome resource, including blood and tissue 

samples, for providing DNA and RNA of sufficient quality to 

build libraries for genome sequencing. An international team of 

researchers from 40 institutions in 12 countries collaborated on 

the uniquely challenging task of decoding the genome of this 

evolutionary marvel. The hard-won findings, published in 2013 

in the prestigious international journal, Nature, confirm that the 

genes in coelacanths evolve more slowly than in other organisms. 

This great fish, weighing in at around 80kg, provides scientists 

with insight into the history of our world. Fossil findings of the 

coelacanth date back up to 350 million years ago. Before the 

discovery in 1938, it was thought to have been extinct since 

the end of the cretaceous period over 65 million years ago. 

How did it survive at least two of the earth’s five momentous 

mass extinction events? Through growing understanding of this 

phenomenal creature, we may find answers about the future of 

the earth and our own journey of survival.

Building on the South African Coelacanth Legacy, ACEP 2001-

2013 edited by P. Haworth and published by SAIAB.
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15.3 PROGRAMME 5: Astronomy / Geoscience

This cluster continues to provide numerous exciting developments, 

with the SKA (radio astronomy) dominating current activities, 

especially the developments around the MeerKAT array telescope. 

The internationally recognised research activities within the optical 

astronomy community and the rapid growth of Gamma Ray Astronomy 

have ensured that other fields of astronomy do not lag behind in 

terms of international developments. The National Facilities that 

operate within this cluster consist of the South African Astronomical 

Observatory (SAAO), the Hartebeesthoek Radio-Astronomy 

Observatory (HartRAO), and the Square Kilometre Array (SKA SA) 

project. In addition, the South African Gamma Ray Consortium, an 

organisation consisting of several universities including NWU, UFS 

and Wits, was formally established to actively promote research 

collaborations with HESS and lend appropriate support to Namibia’s 

bid to host the CTA. The programme contributes substantially to the 

following strategic objectives of the NRF:

 � Promoting internationally competitive research as the basis for 

a knowledge economy;

 � Growing a representative science and technology workforce in 

South Africa;

 � Providing cutting-edge research, technology and innovation 

platforms; and

 � Contributing to a vibrant National System of Innovation.

These strategic objectives are achieved through development and 

use of research dedicated platforms, HCD programmes, research 

and applied research activities, and the numerous national and 

international collaborations that are managed within the cluster.

The primary activities of Programme 5 include:

 � The South African Astronomical Observatory (SAAO) 
which conducts and supports fundamental research in 

optical, near-infrared astronomy and astrophysics at national 

and international levels through the provision and utilisation 

of a world-class optical astronomical facility. SAAO is the lead 

institution for the Southern African Large Telescope (SALT) and 

also operates several smaller telescopes including the 1m and 

the 1.9m class instruments. The facility hosts the International 

Office of Astronomy for Development (OAD) as well as several 

international telescopes, for example from Japan, USA and 

Korea.

 � The Hartebeesthoek Radio Astronomy Observatory 
(HartRAO) is the only radio astronomy and space geodesy 

observatory in Africa. Amongst other platforms, HartRAO 

operates the NASA MOBLAS-6 Satellite Laser Ranger (SLR) in 

terms of an inter-governmental agreement with the USA.

 � The Square Kilometre Array (SKA) project is an international 

effort to build the world’s largest radio telescope, with a square 

kilometre (one million square metres) of collecting area. The SKA 

telescope will be co-located in Africa and Australia. The scale of 

the SKA represents a huge leap forward in both the engineering 

and research and development of radio telescopes, and will 

deliver a transformational increase in science capability when 

operational. In the interim, SKA SA is building MeerKAT, an array 

of 64 dishes which will be used extensively for large surveys 

by local and international astronomers until it is incorporated 

within the international SKA network around 2021. MeerKAT is 

scheduled for commissioning during the first half of 2017.

Interesting fact:

The telescope was originally known as the Karoo Array 

Telescope (KAT) that would consist of 20 receptors. When 

the South African government increased the budget to 

allow the building of 64 receptors, the team re-named it 

“MeerKAT”, i.e. “more of KAT”. The MeerKAT is also a 

much beloved small mammal that lives in the Karoo region.
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First MeerKAT antenna and high-tech 
data centre launched in the Karoo

The first of 64 antennas that will make up South Africa’s new 

radio telescope, MeerKAT, was delivered at a special launch on 

27 March 2014 where South Africa’s Minister of Science and 

Technology, Mr Derek Hanekom, officially opened the specialised 

MeerKAT Karoo Array Processor Building, an innovative data 

centre for the MeerKAT telescope that has been built in an 

underground bunker at the Karoo observatory site.

Dignitaries from around the world, including the Director General 

of the SKA Organisation, representatives from SKA Organisation 

member countries and Ministers from African SKA partner 

countries, gathered at the Radio Astronomy Reserve in the 

Karoo, about 90 km from Carnarvon, for the event.

“The launch of the first MeerKAT antenna signifies South Africa’s 

ardent commitment to the MeerKAT project and the broader 

SKA project. It further typifies the excellent engineering and 

technical capabilities in South Africa that have enabled us to 

deliver a project of this magnitude within projected timeframes 

and budget allocations,” said Minister Hanekom. He added that 

the launch of the processor building and the associated design 

and development activities undertaken mark South Africa’s 

readiness to embark on a big data programme at both national 

and international level.

Standing 19.5 m tall and weighing 42 tons, the new MeerKAT 

antenna towers above the antennas of the nearby KAT-7 

instrument. KAT-7 was completed in 2010 as a pre-cursor for 

MeerKAT, and is now routinely used for scientific research.

Because of its so-called “Gregorian Offset” design, each 

MeerKAT antenna has two reflectors – a main reflector with a 

13.5 m projected diameter and a smaller sub-reflector with a 

diameter of 3.8 m. “With this design there are no struts in the way 

to block or scatter incoming electromagnetic signals,” MeerKAT 

project manager Willem Esterhuyse explained. “This means that 

the instrument will be more sensitive than a more conventional 

symmetric design, and will thus deliver excellent imaging quality.”

The full MeerKAT array will consist of 64 identical receptors 

(antennas with receivers, digitisers and other electronics 

installed). Connected by 170 km of underground fibre optic 

cable, the 64 receptors will operate as a single, highly sensitive 

astronomical instrument, controlled and monitored remotely from 

the MeerKAT control room in Cape Town.

Data will flow via buried optical fibres from each receptor to 

the Karoo Array Processor Building (KAPB), which will house 

the digital data processing systems and the electrical power 

equipment. “The processed data is then sent to the MeerKAT 

archive in Cape Town, and on to science collaborators in South 

Africa and abroad,” Esterhuyse explained.

“Once up and running, the MeerKAT will generate enough data 

from the antennae to fill about four and a half million standard 

4.7 GB DVDs in a day,” Dr Jasper Horrell, general manager for 

science computing and innovation at SKA SA commented. 

“However, much of these data are processed on-the-fly and the 

archive will initially be sized at the equivalent of about 2 million 

DVDs, retaining some of the larger volume, less processed data 

for shorter periods and only retaining the smaller volume, more 

processed science data products indefinitely.” 

The KAPB is 5m below ground level to protect MeerKAT from 

radio frequency interference (RFI) generated by the electrical 

and electronic equipment housed in the data centre. Being 

underground also enhances the thermal efficiency of the 

building. The racks of data processing systems are housed in 

a huge shielded enclosure within the underground KAPB. This 

‘steel box’ is constructed from special steel panels that ensure 

that no RFI generated by the fast digital electronics ‘leaks out’. 

An extremely precise atomic clock, a hydrogen maser, will be 

located in a separately partitioned room to guarantee thermal 

stability of this precision device. 

The Dutch company COMTEST provided the shielding (steel 

panels and RFI-tight doors), while the installation was done 

by a local company, ITC Services. “This is a good example of 

maximizing local content, while also drawing on international 

expertise,” Esterhuyse said. 
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“We have done many RF shielding projects over the past 30 

years, but taking four sea containers with roughly 48 tons of 

shielding materials deep into the Karoo and have it built like 

this, was a challenge,” said Jan Kappert, who is responsible for 

project support and international sales at Comtest Engineering 

bv. “With the terrific support of the ITC installation team in South 

Africa, we managed this successfully and are happy that we 

were able to support the SKA SA project in this way.” 

All of the on-site infrastructure (buildings, roads, electrical power 

conditioning and reticulation, aircraft landing strip, etc) has 

been constructed by South African companies, and the SKA 

SA infrastructure team based in Johannesburg managed this 

complex project. 

The contracted manufacturing companies, under the guidance 

of SKA SA engineers, will now continue to produce the massive, 

high-precision components of the remaining MeerKAT antennae 

according to a tight timeline. By February 2015, the first four 

receptors will be standing in the Karoo. All 64 receptors will be 

installed by the end of 2016, with final commissioning being 

completed in 2017. 

The manufacturing of MeerKAT’s components

The MeerKAT antennae will comprise of 75% local content with the 

balance being contributed by the SKA partner organisations. The 

global technology collaborations bring cutting-edge know-how 

and many years of antenna experience to the MeerKAT project, 

and are designed to transfer expertise to the South African industry 

partners. For example, the first set of reflector panels, as well as 

the first receiver indexer and sub-reflector were manufactured 

abroad, but the remainder of these will be made locally. 

The National Research Council of Canada (NRC), through 

the Herzberg Programmes in Astronomy and Astrophysics, 

developed the low-noise amplifiers (LNAs) that were chosen 

for MeerKAT’s L-Band receivers (0.9-1.67 GHz). “The LNAs 

are critically important in achieving MeerKAT’s sensitivity and 

the LNAs from NRC Herzberg are at least 5% more sensitive 

than any others we could source from leading suppliers around 

the world,” Esterhuyse commented. The LNAs for the L-Band 

receivers are about to enter production through a sub-contract 

to industry, while NRC Herzberg completes development of the 

LNAs for the Ultra High Frequency (UHF) band (0.58 – 1.015 

GHz). In challenging the orthodoxy of using metal panels for 

large dishes, the NRC has developed world-leading expertise in 

the application of composite structures to radio telescopes and 

will provide the complex 3.8-m sub-reflector for the first of the 

MeerKAT antennas. 

MeerKAT science

Astronomy teams from around the world have signed up to 

start using MeerKAT as soon as 16 of its receptors have been 

commissioned. The full array should be doing routine science 

observations by the end of 2017. 

“MeerKAT’s configuration, the way the antennae are placed on 

the ground, was determined by the science to be performed 

with the instrument,” Dr Horrell explained. “Having dishes close 

together provides sensitivity for imaging large, extended radio 

structures in the sky. It’s also good for searching for pulsars. 

Having dishes further apart provides for high resolution, i.e. 

being able to separate out very closely spaced celestial objects. 

In addition, one wants to create a ‘well-behaved’ imaging beam, 

by carefully designing the overall distribution of antennae to 

reduce imaging artefacts and ensuring sensitivity to a range of 

object sizes of potential interest. Other MeerKAT science, such 

as pulsar timing, does not depend on the configuration.” 

In the core of the MeerKAT array, 48 of the 64 antennae will be 

packed closely together in an area about 1 km in diameter. The 

rest of the dishes will extend up to 4 km from the core, with the 

largest spacing between dishes being about 8 km. 

The MeerKAT science and engineering teams are currently 

focused on the L-Band (0.9 to 1.67 GHz) and UHF-Band 

(0.58 – 1.015 GHz) development and verification plans, since 

these receivers will be deployed first. Until the SKA Phase 1 is 

completed, MeerKAT will be the most sensitive L-Band radio 

interferometer in the world. The importance of the L- and UHF-

Bands lies in being able to image neutral hydrogen throughout 

a large cosmic volume and to great distances in the Universe. 

MeerKAT will also participate in global VLBI (very long baseline 

interferometry) operations with all major VLBI networks around 

the world operating at the MeerKAT frequencies, and add 

considerably to the sensitivity of the global VLBI networks.

The South African Minister for Science and Technology (2013/14) officially launched 
the first MeerKAT Antenna in the Karoo on 27 March 2014
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15.3.1 Performance against Planned Targets

Table 46: Programme 5 Key Performance Indicators

Performance Indicator Actual 
2012/13

Actual 
2013/14

Target
2013/14

% 
Variance

Comment on  
deviations

Expected 
research 
outputs by 
National 
Research 
Facility 
researchers

Peer-
reviewed ISI 
publications

111 118 102 16%

A number of 
publications were 
submitted for peer 
review in the previous 
financial year but were 
only published during 
the current year

Peer-
reviewed ISI 
publications 
with 
external 
co-authors 
(subset of 
the above)

104 127 100 27%

Experiential training: 
number of students 
spending time at and 
participating in the work 
of facilities as part of their 
formal training

25 36 16 125%

Active intervention to 
increase collaboration 
and interaction with 
local universities

Number of students 
employed to undertake 
temporary research-
related work

3 0 4 -100%

These were effectively 
replaced by more 
formal arrangements 
such as undergraduate 
projects

Postgraduate students 
making use of facilities for 
training

87 70 77 -9%

Only 16 NASSP 
students attended 
the radio astronomy 
practical at HartRAO

Students 
supervised 
by staff of 
facilities

Honours/
BTech 16 14 11 27%

Increased efforts to 
collaborate and 
interact with 
universities

Master’s 26 21 18 17%

Doctoral 16 26 12 117%

Total 58 58 41 41%

15.3.2 Specific Achievements

The Facilities performed exceptionally well against the targets set 

for 2013/14, with SAAO providing the majority of the research 

publications. This achievement demonstrates the ability of the 

facilities to sustain both operational and research activities at high 

levels, despite sub-optimum core resourcing that continues to have 

an adverse impact on operational sustainability and the research 

infrastructure. This has partially been compensated for through 

substantial increases in non-core funding over the past few years, 

especially in infrastructure investments.

15.3.3 Human Capacity Development (HCD)

Human Capacity Development is a major focus area with the 

emphasis being on postgraduate training, postdoctoral appointments 

and technical skills training. During 2013/14, 70 postgraduates made 

use of the astronomy facilities to complete their degrees. 

Technical training has enjoyed greater focus due to the planned 

investment in research infrastructure and the requirements of the 

SKA SA project, as well as the current scarcity of such skills in the 

labour market.

Key HCD achievements are:

 � A total of 36 students spent time at and participated in work of 

facilities as part of their formal training, thereby exceeding the 

target by 125%. 

 � The number of students supervised by staff has been steadily 

increasing over the past few years from 39 in 2010/11 to 52 in 

2013/14, while the number of staff providing short term student 

training reached 16 against a target of 9. 

 � Due to the requirements of the SKA SA project, there has been 

some significant growth in personnel, in particular:

 � There are now approximately 150 engineers, scientists, 

technicians and artisans working on the project. More than 

50 students will be completing their PhD or MSc degrees 

within the next two years;

 � In total, the capacity development programme within 

SKA SA has provided nearly 500 grants and bursaries to 

postdoctoral fellows, postgraduate and undergraduate 

students at universities, universities of technology, and to 

FET students training to be artisans; and

 � The project is also supporting five Research Chairs at Higher 

Education Institutions. The Research Chairs have further 

increased the number of researchers and supervisors who 

are able to supervise postgraduate students and manage 

SKA and MeerKAT related research.

 � SKA SA is now collaborating with Teach SA to recruit young 

Science, Engineering and English graduates to teach at Carnarvon 

High School, and two graduates have been appointed.

 � Five students from universities of technology have started their 

in-service training at HartRAO; they will be supervised by the 

engineering and technical staff and are funded by SKA SA.

 � The Mechanical Department at SAAO has partnered with North 

Link Technical College to train tool, jig and die-making apprentices 

for a period of three years. The students are introduced 

to precision machining and specialised opto-mechanical 

design and manufacturing, disciplines that are required at an 

observatory. After the three-year period, the students will be fully 

qualified and ready to enter the workplace.

 � The SKA SA E-Schools initiative includes Class-Mate laptops, 

connectivity and training at five schools near the SKA SA project. 

The laptops are pre-loaded with innovative learning materials, 

lesson plans and tutorials focused on mathematics, physical 

science, life science and astronomy. In February 2014, SKA SA 

met with CSIR e-learning division and forged a partnership in 

which the CSIR will assist SKA SA to implement a programme 

which will integrate the e-schools facilities with the school 

curriculum and teaching.

15.3.4 Research Infrastructure

The research platforms offered within the Astronomy Sub-Agency 

consist mainly of optical and radio telescope systems as well as 

space geodesy infrastructure that provide a solid base for research 
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and HCD. The infusion of new infrastructure in the next three years 

will allow the Facilities to develop new collaborations/partnerships, 

as well as embrace the latest technologies to remain relevant within 

the international research space.

Key research platform developments include:

 � Single Dish Radio Astronomy (HartRAO)
 � An underground vault, to house new geophysical 

instruments such as a seismometer, accelerometer and 

gravimeter has been built at HartRAO. This vault is one of 

ten (a node of an academic geophysical network) to be 

installed in a collaborative project with TUT, SU, NMMU and 

UKZN. The design and supervision of the construction of 

the vault has been part of a 3rd year diploma project work in 

which two students from TUT are participating. This project 

increases HartRAO’s readiness and ability to function as a 

Global Geodetic Observing System (GGOS).

Facility Specific KPI:

HartRAO VLBI success rate with 26m telescope

99% against a target of 95%

 � Optical and Near Infrared Astronomy (SAAO)
 � The SALT High Resolution Spectrograph (HRS), built at 

Durham University (UK), was installed and “First Light” was 

achieved on 28 September 2013. Commissioning is on-going 

with the science verification phase now in progress. SALT 

partners can now obtain early science data, and indications 

are that the HRS is meeting its design specifications and will 

provide a significant new capability, resulting in new science 

programmes for the SALT partners.

 � The prototype of an innovative new design for a spherical 

grating spectrograph is under development. This will 

revolutionise astronomical spectrograph development 

across the world, which will lead to instruments with higher 

performance, smaller size and lower cost.

 � The SALT Virtual Observatory Data Archive System (SALT-

VODAS), developed in collaboration with SA3 and VO-India, is 

now available. SALT-VODAS allows users to search the SALT 

data archive for all publicly available SALT data, including data 

from commissioning proposals, calibration data taken with 

SALT, and data from any proposal past its proprietary period.

Interesting fact:

SALT can detect the light from faint or distant objects in 

the universe, a billion times too faint to be seen with the 

unaided eye – as faint as a candle flame would appear at 

the distance of the moon.

 � SKA SA Project
 � The complete set of MeerKAT infrastructure projects have 

been completed; key projects include:

 � The conversion to the 33 kV power line. Eskom and 

the NRF have signed an Eskom Electrical Service 

Agreement;

 � The roads, civil works, electrical and fibre ducting, 

reticulation and construction camps. The all-weather 

landing strip for light aircraft was used for the first time 

in September 2013 during a visit by the British Minister 

of Science;

 � The newly constructed Klerefontein workshops/stores, 

extensions to the dish assembly shed, and new pedestal 

integration shed;

 � The RFI shielding system for the Karoo Array Processor 

building was installed;

 � The Rotary UPS, MV Switchgear and Transformers for 

the power facility were installed and commissioned;

 � The construction of the first antenna foundation occurred 

mid-August 2013 and all 64 foundations have been 

completed; 

 � Phase I installation of the MeerKAT Local Area Network 

(LAN) has been completed with Phase II currently in 

progress; and

 � The first of 64 antennae that will make up South Africa’s 

new radio telescope, MeerKAT, was launched on 27 

March 2014.

Interesting facts:

  Once all 64 antennae are operational, the instrument will 

be sensitive enough to pick up a cellphone signal from 

Saturn!

  Each MeerKAT antenna will generate approximately the 

amount of data contained on a DVD every second.

  Close to 5 000m3 of concrete and more than 570 tons of 

steel were used to construct the 64 foundations for the 

MeerKAT antennae.

15.3.5 Knowledge Generation

Research activities within the Astronomy Sub-Agency embrace 

scientists and students from both the national and international 

communities, with the emphasis being on:

 � Research articles published in high-impact (ISI accredited) 

journals;

 � Presentations of research results at international conferences 

and meetings;

 � The use of the research platforms by postgraduate students;

 � Supervision of postgraduate students by staff; and

 � Participation in and expansion of national and international 

collaborations.

SAAO has recorded its 3 000th publication in a refereed 

journal
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Key achievements include:

 � There has been a successful start of an observing programme 

aimed at understanding Dark Energy. A South African research 

team (with collaborators from UWC, UCT, AIMS and SAAO) 

confirmed the discovery of two supernovae using SALT. The 

team used candidates supplied by the international Dark Energy 

Survey (DES) which will, together with other large telescopes 

like SALT, put the most precise constraints on the composition 

and expansion of the universe to date.

 � A Target of Opportunity (ToO) observation linked with an 

X-ray monitoring campaign of X-ray binaries was done in 

October 2013. An out-bursting source was identified in an 

INTEGRAL X-ray observation and was immediately followed 

up with further X-ray observations (with XMM-Newton) and 

a SALT ToO proposal to observe the Be/X-ray binary optical 

counterpart was triggered on the first night of the 2013-2 

semester. The observations show the Hα profiles of the out-

bursting source and clear evidence for short term variability in 

the circumstellar disc surrounding a Be star. Current work is 

focused on explaining the transient triple peaked structure of 

the H profile. This joint Monitoring/ToO proposal has proved 

hugely successful. The ability to quickly follow up a transient 

source with a telescope with SALT’s capabilities has shed a 

whole new light on the nature of these sources. These results 

will be included in a paper on this source to be submitted to 

MNRAS.

 � HartRAO is participating in an international VLBI collaboration 

to improve the southern part of the International Celestial 

Reference Frame (ICRF). New initiatives are planned at a low 

frequency (1,6 GHz) as well as a high frequency (22GHZ), with 

the low frequency range being targeted at MeerKAT.

 � The HartRAO 15m telescope has been used extensively in 

various science experiments involving the tracking of spacecraft 

in the solar system.

 � KAT-7 is now fully operational and there is keen interest from 

astronomers for observing time. The first science paper from 

KAT-7 (on radio jets from binary star systems) has been published 

in the science journal “Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomy 

Society”. KAT-7 also serves as a test bed for software (Control 

and Monitoring as well as Science Processing) development 

and evaluation of other technologies before implementation 

on MeerKAT, and assists greatly in establishing relations with 

scientists that will be working on MeerKAT.

 � A scaled tool (BabyKAT) has been designed and developed 

within the AVN project to teach the engineering and technology 

that is needed for the construction and maintenance of a modern 

large radio telescope. The scientific / technical demonstration 

is focused on the study of solar emission as well as the signals 

from geo-stationary satellites.

 � SKA SA has developed a proposal in conjunction with the 

Centre for High Performance Computing (CHPC) for the 

establishment of a Big Data programme known as Big Data 

Africa. The programme seeks to develop South Africa into 

a world leader in Big Data by 2020. The initial objective is 

to create a critical mass of collaborative Big Data research, 

training and spin-off activities through the establishment of 

a number of university-linked, regional, high-performance 

computing centres, operating at a small scale (some core 

staff with modest computing equipment). The funding 

and expertise will be addressed by established staff posts 

(Research Chairs) for each regional centre and access to 

medium scale local computer environments. Research Chair 

funding has not yet been obtained but a pilot programme is 

being established in collaboration with UCT. Funding of the 

pilot programme has been provided by the UCT ICTS and 

Western Cape DEDAT.

15.3.6 Internationalisation and Mobility

The mandate of all the NFs calls for strong collaborations with 

international partners. This is essential in order to maintain 

international competitiveness in the associated research fields. Thus 

formal collaborative agreements are entered into with organisations 

worldwide, where both research and postgraduate student training 

are actively pursued.

Attendance and the presentation of papers and posters at 

international conferences are strongly encouraged. Use is made of 

RISA mobility grants to fund international visits to and from South 

Africa. The research community within the Astronomy Sub-Agency 

are extremely active internationally as the nature of their research 

activities demands extensive interactions that include follow-up of 

large surveys with other astronomy modalities or telescopes.

A total of 87 formal collaborations with institutions abroad currently 

exist within Programme 5. Some of these are listed below:

 � The Sutherland observing station has strategic advantages 

that have to date attracted eleven international facilities for 

astronomy and Earth system science. Principal among these is 

SALT, a 10m class optical telescope developed and funded by 

a consortium of international partners from South Africa, USA, 

Germany, India, Poland, UK and New Zealand. South Africa 

is the largest single shareholder in SALT (33%) and SAAO 

operates SALT on a contractual basis on behalf of the SALT 

Foundation, the entity that owns SALT.

 � HartRAO has been a member of the European VLBI Network 

(EVN) since 2011, having been an associate member for the 

previous ten years, and is formally a part of the Joint Institute 

for VLBI in Europe (JIVE) consortium. The 26m telescope 

also operates as part of the Australia Telescope Long 

Baseline Array (AT-LBA) to provide a southern hemisphere 

astronomical VLBI platform. The Facility further provides 

observing time to the International VLBI Service for Geodesy 

and Astrometry (IVS).

 � SKA SA continued its interactions with the international SKA 

Office with regard to the hosting agreement and contributions, 
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as well as the funding model to be used. On-going discussions 

will also continue on SKA Phase I and the integration of 

MeerKAT within this phase. The African partners are actively 

engaged in the planned AVN and in preliminary discussions 

on SKA. Also, collaborations with partners of C-Band All Sky 

Survey (C-BASS) and PAPER are progressing well, and it is 

anticipated that C-BASS will be fully operational by the end of 

the 2014/15 financial year. SKA SA will provide active support 

to the collaborators of PAPER for the development of HERA, 

which is planned to be a follow-up to PAPER.

 � SKA SA is participating actively in a number of the design 

consortia which have been assembled to progress the SKA 

design to the point of production readiness over the 2013-

2016 period. SKA SA leads the Assembly, Integration and 

Verification Consortium and the SA Infrastructure Consortium 

and participates in the following additional consortia: Science 

Data Processor; Dishes; Signal and Data Transport; Telescope 

Manager (monitor and control); Central Signal Processor; and 

Mid Frequency Aperture Arrays.

 � The South African Gamma Ray Consortium was formally 

established in 2013 to actively promote collaborations with 

HESS and CTA. This is mainly a university-based partnership 

hosted by NWU and it provided assistance to Namibia in that 

country’s bid to host the CTA. Namibia and Chile have been 

selected as possible sites for the CTA and a final decision on 

the location will be made at the end of 2014.

Interesting fact:

The 26m HartRAO telescope is the only VLBI-capable facility in Africa. It has mutual visibility with all the other telescopes except 

Kokee Park in Hawaii, on the opposite side of the Earth.
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Statement of Responsibility by 
the NRF Board of Directors

The Board is required by the Public Finance Management Act 

(Act 1 of 1999) (PFMA), to maintain adequate accounting records 

and is responsible for the content and integrity of the annual 

financial statements and related financial information included 

in this report. It is the responsibility of the Board  to ensure that 

the annual financial statements fairly present the state of affairs 

of the NRF as at the end of the financial year and the results of its 

operations and cash flows for the period then ended. The external 

auditors are engaged to express an independent opinion on the 

annual financial statements and were given unrestricted access to 

all financial records and related data.  The Board believes that all 

the representations made to the independent auditors during their 

audit were valid and appropriate.  The report of the Auditor General 

is presented on page 97.

The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance 

with Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP) 

including any interpretations, guidelines and directives issued by the 

Accounting Standards Board.

The annual financial statements are based upon appropriate 

accounting policies consistently applied and supported by 

reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates.

The NRF’s annual financial statements exclude the financial activities 

and transactions of one key programme, namely the Technology and 

Human Resources for Industry Programme (THRIP), as the control 

over this programme was exercised by the Department of Trade and 

Industry (the dti), while the operational management is undertaken 

by the NRF on a contract basis.  Separate financial statements have 

been prepared for this programme.

The Board acknowledges that it is ultimately responsible for the 

system of internal financial control established by the NRF  and places 

considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environ-

ment. To enable the Board to meet these responsibilities, the Board 

sets standards for internal control aimed at reducing the risk of error 

or deficit in a cost effective manner. The standards include the proper 

delegation of responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, 

effective accounting procedures and adequate segregation of duties 

to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls are monitored 

throughout the NRF and all employees are required to maintain the 

highest ethical standards in ensuring the NRF’s business is conducted 

in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances is above reproach. 

The focus of risk management in the NRF is on identifying, assessing, 

managing and monitoring all known forms of risk across the 

organisation. While operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, the NRF 

endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, 

controls, systems and ethical behaviour are applied and managed 

within predetermined procedures and constraints.

The Board is of the opinion, based on the information and explana tions 

given by management, that the system of internal control provides 

reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied on 

for the preparation of the annual financial statements. However, any 

system of internal financial control can provide only reasonable, and 

not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or deficit.

The Board has reviewed the NRF’s cash flow forecast for the year 

to 31 March 2015 and, in the light of this review and the current 

financial position, it is satisfied that the NRF has, or has access to, 

adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the 

foreseeable future   

31 July 2014 31 July 2014

Dr AS van Jaarsveld
Chief Executive Officer: NRF

Prof RM Crewe 
Chairman: NRF Board 
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Audit Committee Report
We are pleased to present our report for the financial year ended  

31 March 2014.

Audit Committee Responsibility

The Audit Committee reports that it has complied with its responsibilities 

arising from Section 51(a)(ii) of the Public Finance Management Act 

and Treasury Regulation 3.1.13. The Audit Committee also reports 

that it has adopted appropriate formal terms of reference as its Audit 

Committee Charter, has regulated its affairs in compliance with this 

charter, and has discharged all its responsibilities as contained therein.

The Effectiveness of Internal Control

The system of internal control applied by the NRF over financial 

and risk management is effective, efficient and transparent. In line 

with the PFMA, internal audit provides the audit committee and 

management with assurance that the internal controls are appropriate 

and effective. This is achieved by means of the risk management 

process, as well as the identification of corrective actions and 

suggested enhancements to the controls and processes. From the 

various reports of the internal auditors, the audit report on the annual 

financial statements, and the management report of the Auditor 

General South Africa, it was noted that no matters were reported 

that indicate any material deficiencies in the system of internal 

control or any deviations therefrom. Accordingly, we can report that 

the system of internal control over financial reporting for the period 

under review was efficient and effective.

Internal Audit

The Audit Committee concurs and accepts the conclusion of the 

external auditor on the annual financial statements and is of the 

opinion that the audited annual financial statements be accepted 

and read together with the report of the auditor.

We have reviewed the findings of the Internal Audit work which was 

based on the risk assessments conducted at the NRF. The following 

internal audit work was completed during the year under review:

 � review of financial Management;

 � review of procurement and accounts payable;

 � review of grants management and grant systems administration;

 � review of human resources and payroll management;

 � review of performance information;

 � review of Information Technology Governance; and

 � review of Information Technology Applications Controls.

All findings were discussed with management and there are no 

areas of specific concern.

In-Year Management and Monthly / Quarterly Report

The NRF has submitted monthly and quarterly reports to the 

Executive Authority.

Evaluation of Financial Statements

The audit committee has:

 � reviewed and discussed the audited annual financial statements 

to be included in the annual report, with the Auditor General 

and the Accounting Authority;

 � reviewed the Auditor General of South Africa’s management 

report and management’s response thereto;

 � reviewed changes in accounting policies and practices;

 � reviewed the entity’s compliance with legal and regulatory 

provisions; and

 � reviewed and addressed significant adjustments resulting from 

the audit prior to finalisation.

The audit committee concurs with and accepts the Auditor General of 

South Africa’s report on the annual financial statements, and is of the 

opinion that the audited annual financial statements should be accepted 

and read together with the report of the Auditor General of South Africa. 

The Audit and Risk Committee recommends the adoption of the 

annual financial statements by the Board.

External Auditor’s Report

We have reviewed the NRF’s  implementation plan for audit issues 

raised in the prior year and we are satisfied that the matters have 

been adequately resolved.

The audit committee has met with the Auditor General of South Africa 

to ensure that there are no unresolved issues. The Audit Committee 

concurs and accepts the conclusions of the external auditor on the 

annual financial statements and is of the opinion that the audited 

annual financial statements be accepted and read together with the 

report of the auditor.

Dr PG Clayton 

Chairman: NRF Audit and Risk Committee

31 July 2014
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Report of the Auditor-General to Parliament 
on the National Research Foundation
Report on the Financial Statements

Introduction

1.  I have audited the financial statements of the National Research 

Foundation set out on pages 99 to 103, which comprise 

the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2014, the 

statement of financial performance, statement of changes in 

net assets, and cash flow statement, and the statement of 

comparison of budget information with actual information 

for the year then ended, as well as the notes, comprising 

a summary of significant accounting policies and other 

explanatory information. 

Accounting Authority’s responsibility 
for the financial statements

2.  The accounting authority is responsible for the preparation and 

fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance 

with Standards of Generally Accepted Accounting Practice 

(SA Standards of GRAP) and the requirements of the Public 

Finance Management Act of South Africa, 1999 (Act No.1 of 

1999) (PFMA), and for such internal control as the accounting 

authority determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 

financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 

whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor-General’s responsibility

3.  My responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial 

statements based on my audit. I conducted my audit in 

accordance with the Public Audit Act of South Africa, 2004 (Act 

No. 25 of 2004) (PAA), the general notice issued in terms thereof 

and International Standards on Auditing. Those standards 

require that I comply with ethical requirements, and plan and 

perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 

the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

4.  An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 

evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 

statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 

judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 

misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 

considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation 

and fair presentation of the financial statements in order 

to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 

circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 

on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also 

includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 

used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made 

by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 

of the financial statements. 

5.  I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.

Opinion  

6.  In my opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all 

material respects, the financial position of the National Research 

Foundation as at 31 March 2014 and its financial performance 

and cash flows for the year then ended, in accordance with 

Standards of GRAP and the requirements of the PFMA.

Report on other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

7.  In accordance with the PAA and the general notice issued in 

terms thereof, I report the following findings on the reported 

performance information against predetermined objectives 

for selected objectives presented in the annual performance 

report, non-compliance with legislation as well as internal 

control. The objective of my tests was to identify reportable 

findings as described under each subheading but not to 

gather evidence to express assurance on these matters. 

Accordingly, I do not express an opinion or conclusion on 

these matters.

Predetermined objectives

8.  I performed procedures to obtain evidence about the usefulness 

and reliability of the reported performance information for 

the following selected objectives presented in the annual 

performance report of the public entity for the year ended 31 

March 2014:

 � Objective 1: Promoting internationally competitive research 

as a basis for a knowledge economy on page 137

 � Objective 2: Growing a representative science and 

technology workforce in South Africa on page 137

 � Objective 5: Contributing to a vibrant national innovation 

system on page 138

9.  I evaluated the reported performance information against the 

overall criteria of usefulness and reliability. 

10.  I evaluated the usefulness of the reported performance 

information to determine whether it was presented in accordance 

with the National Treasury’s annual reporting principles and 
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whether the reported performance was consistent with the 

planned objectives. I further performed tests to determine 

whether indicators and targets were well defined, verifiable, 

specific, measurable, time bound and relevant, as required by 

the National Treasury’s Framework for managing programme 

performance information (FMPPI).

11.  I assessed the reliability of the reported performance informa-

tion to determine whether it was valid, accurate and complete.

12.  I did not raise any material findings on the usefulness and 

reliability of the reported performance information for the 

selected objectives.

Additional matters

13.  Although I raised no material findings on the usefulness and 

reliability of the reported performance information for the 

selected objectives, I draw attention to the following matters:

Achievement of planned targets

14.  Refer to the annual performance report on page 137 for 

information on the achievement of the planned targets for the 

year. 

Adjustment of material misstatements

15.  I identified material misstatements in the annual report submitted 

for auditing on the reported performance information for Growing 

a representative science and technology workforce in South 

Africa and Contributing to a vibrant national innovation system. 

As management subsequently corrected the misstatements, I 

did not raise any material findings on the usefulness and reliability 

of the reported performance information. 

Compliance with legislation

16.  I performed procedures to obtain evidence that the public entity 

had complied with applicable legislation regarding financial 

matters, financial management and other related matters. I 

did not identify any instances of material non-compliance with 

specific matters in key legislation, as set out in the general 

notice issued in terms of the PAA.

Internal control

17.  I considered internal control relevant to my audit of the financial 

statements, annual performance report and compliance with 

legislation. I did not identify any significant deficiencies in 

internal control.

Other reports

Agreed-upon procedures engagements

18.  As requested by the public entity, an engagement was conducted 

during the year under review on grants received and relataed 

expenditure for various contracts / programmes of the 

Research and Innovation Support and Advancement (RISA). 

The certificates covered the period 01 April 2013 to 31 March  

2014.

Pretoria 

31 July 2014
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Statement of Financial Position 
as at 31 March 2014

Note(s)
2014
R’000

2013
R’000

Assets

Current Assets

Inventory 8 4,800 5,253

Receivables from exchange transactions 10 69,458 144,159

Grants and bursaries paid in advance 11 785,154 510,323

Cash and cash equivalents 12 422,168 605,774

1,281,580 1,265,509

Non Current Assets

Property and equipment 3 1,058,438 694,021

Intangible assets 4 56,973 55,516

Interest in associate 6 29,915 32,650

Prepayments 7 146,549 152,848

1,291,875 935,035

Total Assets 2,573,455 2,200,544

Liabilities

Current Liabilities

Finance lease obligation 15 601 845

Payables from exchange transactions 16 111,294 74,921

Provisions 17 3,000 3,173

Designated income received in advance 18 1,279,668 1,328,473

1,394,563 1,407,412

Non Current Liabilities

Finance lease obligation 15 414 940

Retirement benefit obligation 13 236 2,673

650 3,613

Total Liabilities 1,395,213 1,411,025

Net Assets 1,178,242 789,519

Net Assets

Reserves

SALT fund 19 29,915 32,650

Capital fund 20 1,114,312 748,445

Infrastructure development fund 21 29,652 19,707

Accumulated surplus/(deficit) 4,363 (11,283)

Total Net Assets 1,178,242 789,519
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Statement of Financial Performance

Note(s)
2014
R’000

Restated
2013
R’000

Revenue from non exchange transactions

Parliamentary grant 22 1,412,879 918,290

Designated income 23 1,433,674 1,110,670

Revenue from exchange transactions

Sale of goods and services 24 55,793 48,542

Entrance fees 30,376 29,634

Other income 25 16,918 14,095

Interest income 26 53,499 33,898

Total Revenue 3,003,139 2,155,129

Expenditure

Programme 1: Corporate (64,028) (54,131)

Programme 2: Science Engagement (129,015) (106,666)

Programme 3: Research and Innovation Support and Advancement (1,773,493) (1,210,572)

Programme 4: Nuclear, Biodiversity, Environmental & Conservation Sciences (342,852) (316,128)

Programme 5: National Research Facilities of Astro Geosciences (303,398) (269,349)

Total Expenditure (2,612,786) (1,956,846)

Gain/(loss) on disposal of assets 2,584 (280)

Loss on foreign exchange (1,112) (780)

Share of deficit in associate 6 (2,735) (2,404)

Post retirement medical benefits (236) (2,856)

Finance costs 28 (131) (347)

Surplus for the year before asset acquisitions* 29 388,723 191,616

* R 366m (2013: R 192m) of this figure has been applied to the net acquisition of assets (refer to Statement of Changes in Net Assets)
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Statement of Changes in Net Assets

SALT fund
R’000

Capital fund
R’000

Infrastructure 
development 

fund
R’000

Total 
reserves

R’000

Accumulated 
surplus/
(deficit)
R’000

Total net 
assets
R’000

Opening balance as previously reported 35,054 556,112 9,893 601,059 152 601,211

Adjustments

Correction of errors - - - - (3,308) (3,308)

Balance at 01 April 2012 35,054 556,112 9,893 601,059 (3,156) 597,903

Changes in net assets

Surplus for the year - - - - 191,616 191,616

Transfer to infrastructure development fund - - 9,814 9,814 (9,814) -

Transfer from SALT fund (2,404) - - (2,404) 2,404 -

Transfer to capital fund - 192,333 - 192,333 (192,333) -

Total changes (2,404) 192,333 9,814 199,743 (8,127) 191,616

Balance at 01 April 2013 32,650 748,445 19,707 800,802 (11,283) 789,519

Changes in net assets

Surplus for the year - - - - 388,723 388,723

Transfer to infrastructure development fund - - 9,945 9,945 (9,945) -

Transfer from SALT fund (2,735) - - (2,735) 2,735 -

Transfer to capital fund - 365,867 - 365,867 (365,867) -

Total changes (2,735) 365,867 9,945 373,077 15,646 388,723

Balance at 31 March 2014 29,915 1,114,312 29,652 1,173,879 4,363 1,178,242

Note(s) 19 20 21
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Cash Flow Statement

Note(s)
2014
R’000

2013
R’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts

Parliamentary grant 1,516,330 1,063,869

Interest income 53,499 33,898

Other receipts 137,741 76,759

Designated income 1,321,465 1,280,805

3,029,035 2,455,331

Payments

Employees' remuneration (478,792) (439,791)

Suppliers (320,686) (489,656)

Finance costs (131) (347)

Grants and bursaries (1,990,338) (1,039,657)

(2,789,947) (1,969,451)

Net cash flows from operating activities 31 239,088 485,880

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property and equipment 3 (424,370) (238,172)

Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 3 4,779 610

Purchase of other intangible assets 4 (2,225) (1,428)

Net cash flows from investing activities (421,816) (238,990)

Cash flows from financing activities

Finance lease payments (878) (1,178)

Net cash flows from financing activities (878) (1,178)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (183,606) 245,712

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 605,774 360,062

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 12 422,168 605,774
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Statement of Comparison of 
Budget and Actual Amounts

Budget on Accrual Basis
Final approved 

budget
R’000

Actual amounts on 
comparable basis

R’000

Difference between 
final budget and 

actual
R’000

Note

Statement of Financial Performance

Revenue

Sale of goods and services 51,403 55,793 4,390

Parliamentary grant 1,476,445 1,412,879 (63,566) 42

Other income 9,572 16,918 7,346

Designated income 1,541,499 1,433,674 (107,825) 42

Interest income 23,529 53,499 29,970 42

Entrance fees 32,352 30,376 (1,976)

Total revenue 3,134,800 3,003,139 (131,661)

Expenditure

Employees' remuneration (547,118) (478,618) 68,500 42

Depreciation and amortisation (50,607) (58,634) (8,027)

Grants and bursaries (1,696,313) (1,715,507) (19,194) 42

Programme and operating expenses (545,175) (360,027) 185,148 42

Total expenditure (2,839,213) (2,612,786) 226,427

Operating surplus 295,587 390,353 94,766

Loss on disposal of assets (12) 2,584 2,596

Gain/(loss) on foreign exchange 33 (1,112) (1,145)

Share of deficit in associate - (2,735) (2,735)

Finance costs (54) (131) (77)

Post retirement medical benefits - (236) (236)

(33) (1,630) (1,597)

Actual amount on comparable basis as presented in the budget  
and actual comparative statement 295,554 388,723 93,169
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Accounting Policies

1 Basis of preparation

The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance 

with Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice 

(GRAP), including any interpretations, guidelines and directives 

issued by the Accounting Standards Board as well as the Public 

Finance Management Act (Act 1 of 1999).

Basis of measurement

These annual financial statements have been prepared on an accrual 

basis of accounting and are in accordance with the historical cost 

convention. These annual financial statements are presented in South 

African Rand, which is the entity’s functional currency, and all values 

are rounded to the nearest thousand (R’000), except when otherwise 

indicated. The financial statements have been prepared on a going 

concern basis.

A summary of the significant accounting policies, which have been 

consistently applied, except when stated otherwise, are disclosed 

below.

1.1  Transfer of functions between entities 
 under common control

Accounting by the entity as transferor Derecognition 
of assets transferred and liabilities relinquished 

As of the transfer date, the entity derecognises from its annual 

financial statements all the assets transferred and liabilities 

relinquished in a transfer of functions at their carrying amounts.  The 

carrying amount of an asset or liability is the amount at which an 

asset or liability is recognised in the statement of financial position.

Until the transfer date, the entity continues to measure these assets 

and liabilities in accordance with applicable Standards of GRAP.  

The transfer date is the date on which the acquirer obtains control of 

the function and the transferor loses control of that function.

The consideration received from the acquirer can be in the form 

of cash, cash equivalents or other assets. If the consideration 

received is in the form of other assets, the entity measures such 

assets at their fair value on the transfer date in accordance with the 

applicable Standard of GRAP. The difference between the carrying 

amounts of the assets transferred, the liabilities relinquished and 

the consideration received from the acquirer is recognised in 

accumulated surplus or deficit.

1.2 Property and equipment

Property and equipment are tangible non current assets (including 

infrastructure assets) that are held for use in the production or supply 

of goods or services, rental to others, or for administrative purposes, 

and are expected to be used during more than one period.

Initial recognition and measurement

The cost of an item of property and equipment is recognised as an 

asset when:

 � it is probable that future economic benefits or service potential 

associated with the item will flow to the entity; and

 � the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Property and equipment are initially measured at cost.

The cost of an item of property and equipment is the purchase 

price and other costs attributable to bring the asset to the location 

and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the 

manner intended by management. Trade discounts and rebates are 

deducted in arriving at the cost.

Where an asset is acquired at no cost, or for a nominal cost through 

a non exchange transaction, its cost is its fair value as at the date of 

acquisition.

Where an item of property and equipment is acquired in exchange 

for a non monetary asset or monetary assets, or a combination of 

monetary and non monetary assets, the asset acquired is initially 

measured at fair value (the cost). If the acquired item’s fair value 

was not determinable, its deemed cost is the carrying amount of the 

asset(s) given up.

Major spare parts and standby equipment which are expected to 

be used for more than one period are included in property and 

equipment. In addition, spare parts and standby equipment which 

can only be used in connection with an item of property and 

equipment are accounted for as property and equipment.

When significant components of an item of property and equipment  

have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items 

(major components) of property and equipment and depreciated 

separately. 

Subsequent expenditure

Property and equipment is subsequently carried at cost less 

accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.  

Land is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

Subsequent expenditure of an item of property and equipment is 

recognised as an asset when:

a.  it is probable that future economic benefits or service potential 
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associated with the item will flow to the entity; and

b.  the cost or fair value of the item can be measured reliably.

Costs include costs incurred initially to acquire or construct an item 

of property and equipment and costs incurred subsequently to add 

to or replace part of it. If a replacement cost is recognised in the 

carrying amount of an item of property and equipment, the carrying 

amount of the replaced part is derecognised.

Recognition of costs in the carrying amount of an item of property 

and equipment ceases when the item is in the location and condition 

necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended 

by management.

Major inspection costs which are a condition of continuing use of 

an item of property and equipment and which meet the recognition 

criteria above are included as a replacement in the cost of the item 

of property and equipment. Any remaining inspection costs from the 

previous inspection are derecognised.

Property and equipment are depreciated on the straight line basis 

over their expected useful lives to their estimated residual value.  

Land has an unlimited useful life and therefore is not depreciated.  

Depreciation of an asset begins when it is available for use, i.e. when 

it is in the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of 

operating in the manner intended by management.

The useful lives of items of property and equipment have been 

assessed as follows:

Item Useful life

Buildings 3 – 48 years

Machinery and equipment 2 – 10 years

Office furniture 3 – 30 years

Motor vehicles 5 – 12 years

Office equipment 2 – 25 years

IT equipment 3 – 13 years

Infrastructure 5 – 25 years

Exhibits 10 years

Books and journals 5 years

Research equipment 2 – 25 years

Leased assets The shorter of the lease term and the useful life

The residual value, the useful life and depreciation method of 

each asset are reviewed at the end of each reporting date. If the 

expectations differ from previous estimates, the change is accounted 

for as a change in accounting estimate.

Items of property and equipment are derecognised when the asset 

is disposed of or when there are no further economic benefits or 

service potential expected from the use of the asset.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property 

and equipment is included in surplus or deficit when the item is 

derecognised. The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of 

an item of property and equipment is determined as the difference 

between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount 

of the item.

1.3 Zoological animals

Zoological animals have not been included as an asset on the 

statement of financial position. The reason is that the essential 

recognition criteria of measurement for recognising assets cannot be 

met for the majority of the animals.

The majority of zoological animals are received as donations, transfers 

from other zoos or from births. As a result, they do not have a cost.

In addition, it is considered impracticable to assign a fair value to the 

animals due to a variety of reasons. These reasons include, amongst 

others, considerations such as the lack of a market for the majority 

of the animals because they are not commodities, the lack of an 

active market, as well as restrictions on trade of exotic animals which 

precludes the determination of a fair value. 

The animals for which it may be possible to determine an arbitrary 

value approximates 8% of the total animal collection.  It is the view of 

the NRF that it is unethical and not in the best interest of the National 

Zoological Gardens (NZG) to attach values to these animals. In 

addition, the NZG is not in the business of trading with these animals.  

Therefore, on the basis that many species cannot be valued and 

any attempt to attach values to any species may be unethical, it was 

considered that any assessment of value would be misleading to the 

users of the financial statements.  

1.4 Intangible assets

An asset is identified as an intangible asset when it:

 � is capable of being separated or divided from an entity and sold, 

transferred, licensed, rented or exchanged, either individually or 

together with a related contract, asset or liability; or

 � arises from contractual rights or other legal rights, regardless 

whether those rights are transferable or separate from the entity 

or from other rights and obligations.

An intangible asset is recognised when:

 � it is probable that the expected future economic benefits or 

service potential that are attributable to the asset will flow to 

the entity; and

 � the cost or fair value of the asset can be measured reliably.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. Cost includes the 

cost of materials, direct labour and overhead costs that are directly 

attributable to preparing the asset for its intended use.  Subsequent 

expenditure on capitalised intangible assets is capitalised only when 

it increases the future economic benefit embodied in the specific 

asset to which it relates and the costs can be measured reliably.  All 

other expenditure is expensed as incurred.
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When an intangible asset is acquired through a non exchange 

transaction, the cost shall be its fair value as at the date of acquisition.

Expenditure on research (or on the research phase of an internal 

project) is recognised as an expense when it is incurred.

An intangible asset arising from development (or from the 

development phase of an internal project) is recognised when:

 � it is technically feasible to complete the asset so that it will be 

available for use or sale;

 � there is an intention to complete and use or sell it;

 � there is an ability to use or sell it;

 � it will generate probable future economic benefits or service 

potential,

 � there are available technical, financial and other resources to 

complete the development and to use or sell the asset; and

 � the expenditure attributable to the asset during its development 

can be measured reliably.

Subsequent to initial recognition

Intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amor-

tisation and any impairment losses.

Amortisation on intangible assets is provided on a straight line basis 

over their useful life. Intangible assets are amortised from the day 

they are available for use. During the period of development, the 

asset is tested for impairment annually. Amortisation is provided to 

write down the intangible assets, on a straight line basis, to their 

residual values as follows:

Item Useful life

Computer software 3 – 7 years

The amortisation period and the amortisation method for intan-

gible assets are reviewed at each reporting date. Changes in the 

expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of 

future economic benefits embodied in the asset are accounted for 

by changing the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and 

are treated as changes in accounting estimates.

Internally generated brands, mastheads, publishing titles, customer lists 

and items similar in substance are not recognised as intangible assets.

The amortisation charge for each period is recognised in surplus or 

deficit unless it is included in the carrying amout of another asset.

Intangible assets are derecognised:

 � on disposal; or

 � when no future economic benefits or service potential are 

expected from its use or disposal.

The gain or loss is the difference between the net disposal proceeds, 

if any, and the carrying amount. It is recognised in surplus or deficit 

when the asset is derecognised.

1.5 Interest in associate

An investment in an associate is initially accounted for at cost and 

subsequently using the equity method of accounting. An associate 

is an entity over which the NRF is in a position to exercise significant 

influence, but not control, through participation in the financial and 

operating policy decisions of the investee. Significant influence 

is presumed to exist when the entity holds between 20 and 50 

percent of the voting power of another entity. The NRF’s share of 

the total recognised gains and losses of associates is recognised 

in the financial statements, from the date that significant influence 

commences until the date that significant influence ceases, using 

the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of the 

associate are prepared using uniform accounting policies and the 

associate has the same year-end as the NRF.

When the entity’s share of losses exceeds its interest in the 

associate, the carrying amount of the investment, including any long 

term interests that form part of the investment, is reduced to zero 

and the recognition of future losses is discontinued, except to the 

extent that the entity has an obligation or has made payments on 

behalf of the associate.

1.6 Financial instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial 

asset of one entity and a financial liability or a residual interest of 

another entity.

The amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability is the 

amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured 

at initial recognition minus principal repayments, plus or minus the 

cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any 

difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount, and 

minus any reduction for impairment or uncollectibility.

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will 

cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to discharge an 

obligation.

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of 

a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign 

exchange rates.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised 

cost of a financial asset or a financial liability (or group of financial 

assets or financial liabilities) and of allocating the interest income or 

interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate 

is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or 

receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or, when 

appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the financial 

asset or financial liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, 

the entity estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms of the 

financial instrument (for example, prepayment, call and similar options) 

but does not consider future credit losses. The calculation includes all 

fees and points paid or received between parties to the contract that 

are an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs, and 

all other premiums or discounts. There is a presumption that the cash 
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flows and the expected life of a group of similar financial instruments 

can be estimated reliably. However, in those rare cases when it is not 

possible to reliably estimate the cash flows or the expected life of a 

financial instrument (or group of financial instruments), the entity shall 

use the contractual cash flows over the full contractual term of the 

financial instrument (or group of financial instruments).

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of 

a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 

interest rates.

Liquidity risk is the risk encountered by an entity in the event of 

difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities 

that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.

Loan commitment is a firm commitment to provide credit under pre-

specified terms and conditions.

Loans payable are financial liabilities, other than short term payables 

on normal credit terms.

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a 

financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 

prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: currency risk, 

interest rate risk and other price risk.

Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of 

a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 

prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency 

risk), whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the 

individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all 

similar financial instruments traded in the market.

Classification
The entity has the following types of financial assets (classes and 

category) as reflected on the face of the statement of financial 

position or in the notes thereto:

Class Category

Trade and other receivables Financial asset measured at amortised cost

Cash and cash equivalents Financial asset measured at amortised cost

Grants and bursaries paid in advance Financial asset measured at amortised cost

Trade and other receivables include trade debtors, designated 

income receivable and other receivables.

The entity has the following types of financial liabilities (classes 

and category) as reflected on the face of the statement of financial 

position or in the notes thereto:

Class Category

Trade and other payables Financial liability measured at amortised cost

Finance leases Financial liability measured at amortised cost

Trade and other payables include trade payables and other payables.

Initial recognition

The entity recognises a financial asset or a financial liability in its 

statement of financial position when the entity becomes a party to 

the contractual provisions of the instrument. The entity recognises 

financial assets using trade date accounting.

Initial measurement of financial assets and financial 
liabilities

The entity measures a financial asset or financial liability initially at its 

fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 

acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial liability.

Subsequent measurement of financial assets and  
financial liabilities

The entity measures all financial assets and financial liabilities after 

initial recognition using the following category:

 � Financial instruments at amortised cost.

All financial assets measured at amortised cost are subject to an 

impairment review.

Fair value measurement considerations

The best evidence of fair value is quoted prices in an active market. 

If the market for a financial instrument is not active, the entity 

establishes fair value by using a valuation technique. The objective 

of using a valuation technique is to establish what the transaction 

price would have been on the measurement date in an arm’s length 

exchange motivated by normal operating considerations. Valuation 

techniques include using recent arm’s length market transactions 

between knowledgeable, willing parties (if available) reference to the 

current fair value of another instrument that is substantially the same, 

discounted cash flow analysis and option pricing models. If there 

is a valuation technique commonly used by market participants to 

price the instrument and that technique has been demonstrated 

to provide reliable estimates of prices obtained in actual market 

transactions, the entity uses that technique. The chosen valuation 

technique makes maximum use of market inputs and relies as 

little as possible on entity specific inputs. It incorporates all factors 

that market participants would consider in setting a price and is 

consistent with accepted economic methodologies for pricing 

financial instruments. Periodically, an entity calibrates the valuation 

technique and tests it for validity using prices from any observable 

current market transactions in the same instrument (i.e. without 

modification or repackaging) or based on any available observable 

market data.

The fair value of a financial liability with a demand feature (e.g. a 

demand deposit) is not less than the amount payable on demand, 

discounted from the first date that the amount could be required to 

be paid.

Reclassification

The entity does not reclassify a financial instrument while it is issued 

or held unless it is:

 � a combined instrument that is required to be measured at fair 

value; or



     |  NRF Annual Report 2013/2014108

 � an investment in a residual interest that meets the requirements 

for reclassification.

Gains and losses

For financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised 

cost or cost, a gain or loss is recognised in surplus or deficit when 

the financial asset or financial liability is derecognised or impaired or 

through the amortisation process.

Impairment and uncollectibility of financial assets

The entity assesses at the end of each reporting period whether 

there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or group of 

financial assets is impaired.  Objective evidence includes default or 

delinquency by a debtor, restructuring of an amount due to the entity 

on terms that the entity would not consider otherwise, indications 

that a debtor will enter bankruptcy or economic conditions that 

correlate with defaults.

Financial assets measured at amortised cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial 

assets measured at amortised cost has been incurred, the amount 

of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s 

carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash 

flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) 

discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. 

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an 

allowance account. The amount of the loss is recognised in surplus 

or deficit.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss 

decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event 

occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously 

recognised impairment loss is reversed by adjusting an allowance 

account. The reversal does not result in a carrying amount of the 

financial asset that exceeds what the amortised cost would have 

been had the impairment not been recognised at the date the 

impairment is reversed. The amount of the reversal is recognised in 

surplus or deficit.

Derecognition financial assets

The entity derecognises financial assets using trade date accounting.

The entity derecognises a financial asset only when:

 � the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset 

expire, are settled or are waived;

 � the entity transfers to another party substantially all of the risks 

and rewards of ownership of the financial asset; or

 � the entity, despite having retained some significant risks and 

rewards of ownership of the financial asset, has transferred 

control of the asset to another party and the other party has the 

practical ability to sell the asset in its entirety to an unrelated third 

party, and is able to exercise that ability unilaterally and without 

needing to impose additional restrictions on the transfer. In this 

case, the entity:

 � derecognises the asset; and

 � recognises separately any rights and obligations created or 

retained in the transfer.

Financial liabilities

The entity removes a financial liability (or a part of a financial liability) 

from its statement of financial position when it is extinguished — 

i.e. when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, 

cancelled, waived or when it expires.

An exchange between an existing borrower and lender of debt 

instruments with substantially different terms is accounted for as 

having extinguished the original financial liability and a new financial 

liability is recognised. Similarly, a substantial modification of the 

terms of an existing financial liability, or a part of it, is accounted 

for as having extinguished the original financial liability and having 

recognised a new financial liability.

The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability 

(or part of a financial liability) extinguished or transferred to another 

party and the consideration paid, including any non cash assets 

transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in surplus or deficit. 

Any liabilities that are waived, forgiven or assumed by another 

entity by way of a non exchange transaction are accounted for in 

accordance with the Standard of GRAP on Revenue from Non 

Exchange Transactions (Taxes and Transfers).

Presentation

Interest relating to a financial instrument or a component that is a 

financial liability is recognised as revenue or expense in surplus or 

deficit.

Dividends or similar distributions relating to a financial instrument or 

a component that is a financial liability is recognised as revenue or 

expense in surplus or deficit.

Losses and gains relating to a financial instrument or a component that 

is a financial liability is recognised as revenue or expense in surplus or 

deficit. A financial asset and a financial liability are only offset and the 

net amount presented in the statement of financial position when the 

entity has a current legally enforceable right to set off the recognised 

amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the 

asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

1.7 Inventory

Inventory is initially measured at cost except where inventory is 

acquired through a non exchange transaction, then the cost is the 

fair value as at the date of acquisition.

Subsequently inventory is measured at the lower of cost and net 

realisable value.
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Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary 

course of operations, less the estimated costs of completion and the 

estimated costs necessary to make the sale, exchange or distribution.

Current replacement cost is the cost the entity incurs to acquire the 

asset on the reporting date.

The cost of inventory comprises all costs of purchase, costs of 

conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventory to their 

present location and condition.

The cost of inventory is assigned using the first in, first out (FIFO) 

formula, except restaurant and animal related stock where it is 

valued on the weighted average method. The same cost formula 

is used for all inventory having a similar nature and use to the entity.

When inventory is sold, the carrying amounts of these inventory are 

recognised as an expense in the period in which the related revenue is 

recognised. If there is no related revenue, the expenses are recognised 

when the goods are distributed, or related services are rendered. 

The amount of any write down of inventory to net realisable value or 

current replacement cost and all losses of inventory are recognised as 

an expense in the period the write down or loss occurs. The amount 

of any reversal of any write down of inventory, arising from an increase 

in net realisable value or current replacement cost, is recognised as a 

reduction in the amount of inventory recognised as an expense in the 

period in which the reversal occurs.

1.8  Non current assets held for sale and disposal 
groups

Non current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for 

sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally through a 

sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition 

is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the 

asset (or disposal group) is available for immediate sale in its present 

condition. Management must be committed to the sale, which 

should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale 

within one year from the date of classification.

Non current assets held for sale (or disposal group) are measured 

at the lower of its carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

A non current asset is not depreciated (or amortised) while it is 

classified as held for sale, or while it is part of a disposal group 

classified as held for sale.

Interest and other expenses attributable to the liabilities of a disposal 

group classified as held for sale are recognised in surplus or deficit.  

Income recognised from non current assets held for sale is disclosed 

in a separate line in the Statement of Financial Performance.

1.9 Impairment of cash generating assets

Cash generating assets are those assets held by the entity with the 

primary objective of generating a commercial return. When an asset 

is deployed in a manner consistent with that adopted by a profit 

orientated entity, it generates a commercial return.

Impairment is a loss in the future economic benefits or service 

potential of an asset, over and above the systematic recognition of 

the loss of the asset’s future economic benefits or service potential 

through depreciation (amortisation).

A cash generating unit is the smallest identifiable group of assets 

held with the primary objective of generating a commercial return 

that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely 

independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets.

The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash generating unit is the 

higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use.

Criteria developed by the entity to distinguish cash generating assets 

from non cash generating assets are as follows:

 � All assets generating a commercial return that generates cash 

inflows are classified as cash generating.

 � All other assets are non cash generating.

Identification

The entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is any 

indication that a cash generating asset may be impaired. If any such 

indication exists, the entity estimates the recoverable amount of the 

asset.

Irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment, the 

entity also tests a cash generating intangible asset with an indefinite 

useful life or a cash generating intangible asset not yet available for 

use for impairment annually by comparing its carrying amount with 

its recoverable amount. This impairment test is performed at the 

same time every year. If an intangible asset was initially recognised 

during the current reporting period, that intangible asset will be 

tested for impairment before the end of the current reporting period.

Value in use

Value in use of a cash generating asset is the present value of 

the estimated future cash flows expected to be derived from the 

continuing use of an asset and from its disposal at the end of its 

useful life.

When estimating the value in use of an asset, the entity estimates the 

future cash inflows and outflows to be derived from continuing use 

of the asset and from its ultimate disposal, and the entity applies the 

appropriate discount rate to those future cash flows.

Discount rate

The discount rate is a pre tax rate that reflects current market 

assessments of the time value of money, represented by the current 

risk-free rate of interest and the risks specific to the asset for which 

the future cash flow estimates have not been adjusted.
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Recognition and measurement (individual asset)

If the recoverable amount of a cash generating asset is less than its 

carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its 

recoverable amount. This reduction is an impairment loss.

An impairment loss is recognised immediately in surplus or deficit.

When the amount estimated for an impairment loss is greater 

than the carrying amount of the cash generating asset to which it 

relates, the entity recognises a liability only to the extent that it is a 

requirement in the Standards of GRAP.

After the recognition of an impairment loss, the depreciation 

(amortisation) charge for the cash generating asset is adjusted 

in future periods to allocate the cash generating asset’s revised 

carrying amount, less its residual value (if any), on a systematic basis 

over its remaining useful life.

Cash generating units

If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the 

individual asset, the entity determines the recoverable amount of the 

cash generating unit to which the asset belongs (the asset’s cash 

generating unit).

If an active market exists for the output produced by an asset or 

group of assets, that asset or group of assets is identified as a cash 

generating unit, even if some or all of the output is used internally. If 

the cash inflows generated by any asset or cash generating unit are 

affected by internal transfer pricing, the entity uses management’s 

best estimate of future price(s) that could be achieved in arm’s 

length transactions in estimating:

 � the future cash inflows used to determine the asset’s or cash 

generating unit’s value in use; and

 � the future cash outflows used to determine the value in use of 

any other assets or cash generating units that are affected by 

the internal transfer pricing.

Cash generating units are identified consistently from period to 

period for the same asset or types of assets, unless a change is 

justified.

The carrying amount of a cash generating unit is determined on a 

basis consistent with the way the recoverable amount of the cash 

generating unit is determined.

An impairment loss is recognised for a cash generating unit if the 

recoverable amount of the unit is less than the carrying amount of the 

unit. The impairment is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of the 

cash generating assets of the unit on a pro rata basis, based on the 

carrying amount of each asset in the unit. These reductions in carrying 

amounts are treated as impairment losses on individual assets.

In allocating an impairment loss, the entity does not reduce the 

carrying amount of an asset below the highest of:

 � its fair value less costs to sell (if determinable);

 � its value in use (if determinable); and

 � zero.

The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have 

been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other cash 

generating assets of the unit.

Where a non cash generating asset contributes to a cash generating 

unit, a proportion of the carrying amount of that non cash generating 

asset is allocated to the carrying amount of the cash generating unit 

prior to estimation of the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit.

Reversal of impairment loss

The entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is any 

indication that an impairment loss recognised in prior periods for a 

cash generating asset may no longer exist or may have decreased. 

If any such indication exists, the entity estimates the recoverable 

amount of that asset.

An impairment loss recognised in prior periods for a cash generating 

asset is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to 

determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment 

loss was recognised. The carrying amount of the asset is increased 

to its recoverable amount. The increase is a reversal of an impairment 

loss. The increased carrying amount of an asset attributable to a 

reversal of an impairment loss does not exceed the carrying amount 

that would have been determined (net of depreciation or amortisation) 

had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior periods.

A reversal of an impairment loss for a cash generating asset is 

recognised immediately in surplus or deficit.

After a reversal of an impairment loss is recognised, the depreciation 

(amortisation) charge for the cash generating asset is adjusted in 

future periods to allocate the cash generating asset’s revised 

carrying amount, less its residual value (if any), on a systematic basis 

over its remaining useful life.

A reversal of an impairment loss for a cash generating unit is 

allocated to the cash generating assets of the unit pro rata with 

the carrying amounts of those assets. These increases in carrying 

amounts are treated as reversals of impairment losses for individual 

assets. No part of the amount of such a reversal is allocated to a 

non cash generating asset contributing service potential to a cash 

generating unit.

In allocating a reversal of an impairment loss for a cash generating unit, 

the carrying amount of an asset is not increased above the lower of:

 � its recoverable amount (if determinable); and

 � the carrying amount that would have been determined (net 

of amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss been 

recognised for the asset in prior periods.
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The amount of the reversal of the impairment loss that would 

otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to 

the other assets of the unit.

Redesignation

The redesignation of assets from a cash generating asset to a non 

cash generating asset or from a non cash generating asset to a cash 

generating asset only occur when there is clear evidence that such a 

redesignation is appropriate.

1.10 Impairment of non cash generating assets

Non cash generating assets are assets other than cash generating 

assets.

Impairment is a loss in the future economic benefits or service 

potential of an asset, over and above the systematic recognition of 

the loss of the asset’s future economic benefits or service potential 

through depreciation (amortisation).

Identification

When the carrying amount of a non cash generating asset exceeds 

its recoverable service amount, it is impaired.

The entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is any 

indication that a non cash generating asset may be impaired. If any 

such indication exists, the entity estimates the recoverable service 

amount of the asset.

Irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment, the entity 

also tests a non cash generating intangible asset with an indefinite 

useful life or a non cash generating intangible asset not yet available 

for use for impairment annually by comparing its carrying amount with 

its recoverable service amount. This impairment test is performed at 

the same time every year. If an intangible asset was initially recognised 

during the current reporting period, that intangible asset will be tested 

for impairment before the end of the current reporting period.

Value in use

The value in use of non cash generating assets is the present value 

of the non cash generating asset’s remaining service potential.

The present value of the remaining service potential of a non cash 

generating asset is determined using the following approach:

	Depreciated replacement cost approach

The present value of the remaining service potential of a non cash 

generating asset is determined as the depreciated replacement 

cost of the asset. The replacement cost of an asset is the cost to 

replace the asset’s gross service potential. This cost is depreciated 

to reflect the asset in its used condition. An asset may be replaced 

either through reproduction (replication) of the existing asset or 

through replacement of its gross service potential. The depreciated 

replacement cost is measured as the reproduction or replacement 

cost of the asset, whichever is lower, less accumulated depreciation 

calculated on the basis of such cost, to reflect the already consumed 

or expired service potential of the asset.

The replacement cost and reproduction cost of an asset is determined 

on an “optimised” basis. The rationale is that the entity would not 

replace or reproduce the asset with a like asset if the asset to be 

replaced or reproduced is an overdesigned or overcapacity asset. 

Overdesigned assets contain features which are unnecessary for the 

goods or services the asset provides. Overcapacity assets are assets 

that have a greater capacity than is necessary to meet the demand 

for goods or services the asset provides. The determination of the 

replacement cost or reproduction cost of an asset on an optimised 

basis thus reflects the service potential required of the asset.

	Restoration cost approach

Restoration cost is the cost of restoring the service potential of a 

cash generating asset to its pre impaired level. The present value 

of the remaining service potential of the asset is determined by 

subtracting the estimated restoration cost of the asset from the 

current cost of replacing the remaining service potential of the asset 

before impairment. The latter cost is determined as the depreciated 

reproduction or replacement cost of the asset, whichever is lower.

	Service units approach

The present value of the remaining service potential of the asset is 

determined by reducing the current cost of the remaining service 

potential of the asset before impairment, to conform to the reduced 

number of service units expected from the asset in its impaired 

state. The current cost of replacing the remaining service potential 

of the asset before impairment is determined as the depreciated 

reproduction or replacement cost of the asset before impairment, 

whichever is lower.

Recognition and measurement

If the recoverable service amount of a non cash generating asset 

is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset 

is reduced to its recoverable service amount. This reduction is an 

impairment loss.

An impairment loss is recognised immediately in surplus or deficit.

When the amount estimated for an impairment loss is greater than 

the carrying amount of the non cash generating asset to which it 

relates, the entity recognises a liability only to the extent that it is a 

requirement in the Standards of GRAP.

After the recognition of an impairment loss, the depreciation 

(amortisation) charge for the non cash generating asset is adjusted 

in future periods to allocate the non cash generating asset’s revised 

carrying amount, less its residual value (if any), on a systematic basis 

over its remaining useful life.



     |  NRF Annual Report 2013/2014112

Reversal of an impairment loss

The entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is any 

indication that an impairment loss recognised in prior periods for 

a non cash generating asset may no longer exist or may have 

decreased. If any such indication exists, the entity estimates the 

recoverable service amount of that asset.

An impairment loss recognised in prior periods for a non cash 

generating asset is reversed if there has been a change in the 

estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable service amount 

since the last impairment loss was recognised. The carrying amount 

of the asset is increased to its recoverable service amount. The 

increase is a reversal of an impairment loss. The increased carrying 

amount of an asset attributable to a reversal of an impairment 

loss does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 

determined (net of depreciation or amortisation) had no impairment 

loss been recognised for the asset in prior periods.

A reversal of an impairment loss for a non cash generating asset is 

recognised immediately in surplus or deficit.

After a reversal of an impairment loss is recognised, the depreciation 

(amortisation) charge for the non cash generating asset is adjusted 

in future periods to allocate the non cash generating asset’s revised 

carrying amount, less its residual value (if any), on a systematic basis 

over its remaining useful life.

1.11 Provisions and contingencies

Provisions are recognised when:

 � the entity has a present obligation as a result of a past event;

 � it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying 

economic benefits or service potential will be required to settle 

the obligation; and

 � a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

The amount of a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure 

expected to settle the present obligation at the reporting date.

Where the effect of the time value of money is material, the amount 

of a provision is the present value of the expenditures expected to 

settle the obligation.

The discount rate is a pre tax rate that reflects current market 

assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to 

the liability.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision 

is expected to be reimbursed by another party, the reimbursement 

is recognised when, and only when, it is virtually certain that 

reimbursement will be received if the entity settles the obligation. 

The reimbursement is treated as a separate asset. The amount 

recognised for the reimbursement is limited to the amount of the 

provision.

Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted 

to reflect the current best estimate. Provisions are reversed if it 

is no longer probable that an outflow of resources embodying 

economic benefits or service potential will be required, to settle 

the obligation.

Where discounting is used, the carrying amount of a provision 

increases in each period to reflect the passage of time. This increase 

is recognised as an interest expense.

A provision is used only for expenditures for which the provision was 

originally recognised.

Provisions are not recognised for future operating deficits.

If an entity has a contract that is onerous, the present obligation (net 

of recoveries) under the contract is recognised and measured as a 

provision.

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised. 

1.12 Leases

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all 

the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. A lease is classified 

as an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks 

and rewards incidental to ownership.

The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a 

lease is based on the substance of the arrangement at inception 

date of whether the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on 

the use of a specific asset or assets or the arrangement conveys a 

right to use the asset.

Finance leases – lessee

Finance leases are recognised as assets and liabilities in the 

statement of financial position at amounts equal to the fair value of 

the leased property or, if lower, the present value of the minimum 

lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor is included 

in the statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation.

The discount rate used in calculating the present value of the 

minimum lease payments is the interest rate implicit in the lease.

Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the finance 

charge and reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance charge 

is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce 

a constant periodic rate of reduction on the remaining balance of 

the liability.

Any contingent rentals are expensed in the period in which they are 

incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is accounted for in 

accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that asset.
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Operating leases – lessor

Operating lease income is recognised as revenue on a straight line 

basis over the lease term.

Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging operating 

leases are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and 

recognised as an expense over the lease term on the same basis as 

the lease revenue.

Income for leases is disclosed under revenue in the statement of 

financial performance.

Operating leases – lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a 

straight line basis over the lease term. The difference between the 

amounts recognised as an expense and the contractual payments 

are recognised as an operating lease asset or liability.

Assets under operating leases are not recognised in the Statement 

of Financial Position.

1.13 Revenue from exchange transactions

Revenue is the gross inflow of economic benefits or service potential 

during the reporting period when those inflows result in an increase 

in net assets.

An exchange transaction is one in which the entity receives assets 

or services, or has liabilities extinguished, and directly gives approxi-

mately equal value (primarily in the form of goods, services or use of 

assets) to the other party in exchange.

Measurement

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received 

or receivable, net of trade discounts and volume rebates.

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all the following 

conditions have been satisfied:

 � the entity has transferred to the purchaser significant risks and 

rewards of ownership of the goods;

 � the entity retains neither continuing managerial involvement 

to the degree usually associated with ownership nor effective 

control over the goods sold;

 � the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

 � it is probable that economic benefits or service potential 

associated with the transaction will flow to the entity; and

 � the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction 

can be measured reliably.

Sale of goods includes the sale of food, curios and isotopes.

Rendering of services

When the outcome of a transaction involving the rendering of services 

can be estimated reliably, revenue associated with the transaction is 

recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction 

at the reporting date. The outcome of a transaction can be estimated 

reliably when all the following conditions are satisfied:

 � the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

 � it is probable that the economic benefits or service potential 

associated with the transaction will flow to the entity;

 � the stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting date 

can be measured reliably; and

 � the costs incurred for the transaction and the costs to complete 

the transaction can be measured reliably.

When services are performed by an indeterminate number of 

acts over a specified time frame, revenue is recognised on a 

straight line basis over the specified time frame unless there is 

evidence that some other method better represents the stage of 

completion. When a specific act is much more significant than 

any other acts, the recognition of revenue is postponed until the 

significant act is executed.

Service revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of completion 

of the transaction at the reporting date. Stage of completion is 

determined by services performed to date as a percentage of total 

services to be performed.

Rendering of services includes parking at the National Zoological 

Gardens (NZG) and providing tours to the public.

Interest

Revenue arising from the use by others of the entity’s assets yielding 

interest is recognised when:

 � It is probable that the economic benefits or service potential 

associated with the transaction will flow to the entity, and

 � The amount of the revenue can be measured reliably.

Interest is recognised, in surplus or deficit, using the effective interest 

method.

Entrance fees

The National Zoological Gardens charges patrons an entrance fee.  

This revenue is recognised when the tickets are sold.

1.14 Revenue from non exchange transactions

Conditions on transferred assets are stipulations that specify that 

the future economic benefits or service potential embodied in the 

asset is required to be consumed by the recipient as specified or 

future economic benefits or service potential must be returned to 

the transferor.



     |  NRF Annual Report 2013/2014114

Non exchange transactions are transactions that are not 

exchangable. In a non exchange transaction, an entity either receives 

value from another entity without directly giving approximately equal 

value in exchange, or gives value to another entity without directly 

receiving approximately equal value in exchange.

Recognition

An inflow of resources from a non exchange transaction recognised 

as an asset is recognised as revenue, except to the extent that a 

liability is also recognised in respect of the same inflow.

As the entity satisfies a present obligation recognised as a liability in 

respect of an inflow of resources from a non exchange transaction 

recognised as an asset, it reduces the carrying amount of the liability 

recognised and recognises an amount of revenue equal to that 

reduction.

Measurement

Revenue from a non exchange transaction is measured at the 

amount of the increase in net assets recognised by the entity.

Where a liability is required to be recognised, it will be measured as 

the best estimate of the amount required to settle the obligation at 

the reporting date, and the amount of the increase in net assets, if 

any, recognised as revenue. When a liability is subsequently reduced 

because a condition is satisfied, the amount of the reduction in the 

liability is recognised as revenue.

Gifts and donations, including goods in kind

Gifts and donations, including goods in kind, are recognised as 

assets and revenue when it is probable that the future economic 

benefits or service potential will flow to the entity and the fair value of 

the assets can be measured reliably.

Government grants and designated income

Government grants and designated income are recognised in 

the statement of financial performance in the period to which 

the grant or contract income relates.  The government grant and 

designated income is recognised if there is reasonable assurance 

that the entity will comply with the conditions attached to the 

grant or contract and that the grant or designated income will be 

received.

The portion of government grants and designated income that are 

earmarked for a specific purpose and thus conditional, relating 

to expenditure that will be incurred in future financial years, is 

transferred to income received in advance as it represents an actual 

liability if conditions are not met.  

1.15 Cost of sales

The related cost of providing services recognised as revenue in the 

current period is included in cost of sales.

1.16 Grants and bursaries

Grants and bursaries granted are recognised as expenditure in the 

statement of financial performance in the period in which the grants 

and bursaries are claimed.

1.17 Research and development expenditure

Research costs are charged against operating surplus as incurred. 

Development costs are recognised as an expense in the period in 

which they are incurred unless the following criteria are met:

 � the product or process is clearly defined and the costs 

attributable to the process or product can be separately 

identified and measured reliably;

 � the technical feasibility of the product or process can be 

demonstrated;

 � the existence of a market or, if to be used internally rather than 

sold, its usefulness to the entity can be demonstrated;

 � adequate resources exist, or their availability can be 

demonstrated, to complete the project and then market or use 

the product or process; and

 � the asset must be separately identifiable.

Where development costs are capitalised, they are written off on 

a straight line basis over the life of the process or product.  The 

amortisation begins from the commencement of the commercial 

production of the product or use of the process to which they relate.

1.18 Employee benefits

Employee benefits are all forms of consideration given by an entity in 

exchange for service rendered by employees.

Termination benefits are employee benefits payable as a result of 

either:

 � an entity’s decision to terminate an employee’s employment 

before the normal retirement date; or

 � an employee’s decision to accept voluntary redundancy in 

exchange for those benefits.

Short term employee benefits

Short term employee benefits are employee benefits (other than 

termination benefits) that are due to be settled within twelve months 

after the end of the period in which the employees render the related 

service.

Short term employee benefits include items such as:

 � wages, salaries and retirement fund contributions;

 � short term compensated absences (such as paid annual leave 

and paid sick leave) where the compensation for the absences 

is due to be settled within twelve months after the end of the 
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reporting period in which the employees render the related 

employee service;

 � bonus, incentive and performance related payments payable 

within twelve months after the end of the reporting period in 

which the employees render the related service; and 

 � non monetary benefits (for example, medical care, and free 

or subsidised goods or services such as housing, cars and 

cellphones) for current employees.

When an employee has rendered service to the entity during a 

reporting period, the entity recognises the undiscounted amount of 

short term employee benefits expected to be paid in exchange for 

that service:

 � as a liability (accrued expense), after deducting any amount 

already paid. If the amount already paid exceeds the 

undiscounted amount of the benefits, the entity recognises 

that excess as an asset (prepaid expense) to the extent that 

the prepayment will lead to, for example, a reduction in future 

payments or a cash refund; and

 � as an expense, unless another Standard requires or permits the 

inclusion of the benefits in the cost of an asset.

The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as 

an expense as the employees render services that increase their 

entitlement or, in the case of non accumulating absences, when 

the absence occurs. The entity measures the expected cost of 

accumulating compensated absences as the additional amount that 

the entity expects to pay as a result of the unused entitlement that 

has accumulated at the reporting date.

The entity recognises the expected cost of bonus, incentive and 

performance related payments when the entity has a present legal 

or constructive obligation to make such payments as a result of 

past events and a reliable estimate of the obligation can be made. A 

present obligation exists when the entity has no realistic alternative 

but to make the payments.

Post employment benefits

Post employment benefits are employee benefits (other than 

termination benefits) which are payable after the completion of 

employment.

Post employment benefits: Defined contribution plans

Defined contribution plans are post employment benefit plans under 

which an entity pays fixed contributions into a separate entity (a 

fund) and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further 

contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all 

employee benefits relating to employee service in the current and 

prior periods.

When an employee has rendered service to the entity during a 

reporting period, the entity recognises the contribution payable to a 

defined contribution plan in exchange for that service:

 � as a liability (accrued expense), after deducting any contribution 

already paid. If the contribution already paid exceeds the 

contribution due for service before the reporting date, the entity 

recognises that excess as an asset (prepaid expense) to the 

extent that the prepayment will lead to, for example, a reduction 

in future payments or a cash refund; and

 � as an expense, unless another Standard requires or permits the 

inclusion of the contribution in the cost of an asset.

Post employment benefits: Defined benefit plans

Defined benefit plans are post employment benefit plans other than 

defined contribution plans.

Actuarial gains and losses comprise experience adjustments (the 

effects of differences between the previous actuarial assumptions 

and what has actually occurred) and the effects of changes in 

actuarial assumptions. In measuring its defined benefit liability the 

entity recognises actuarial gains and losses in surplus or deficit in 

the reporting period in which they occur.

The amount recognised as a defined benefit liability is the net total 

of the following amounts: 

 � the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the 

reporting date;

 � minus the fair value at the reporting date of plan assets (if any) 

out of which the obligations are to be settled directly;

 � plus any liability that may arise as a result of a minimum funding 

requirement.

The amount determined as a defined benefit liability may be negative 

(an asset). The entity measures the resulting asset at the lower of:

 � the amount determined above; and

 � the present value of any economic benefits available in the form of 

refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the 

plan. The present value of these economic benefits is determined 

using a discount rate which reflects the time value of money.

Any adjustments arising from the limit above is recognised in surplus 

or deficit.

The entity determines the present value of defined benefit obligations 

and the fair value of any plan assets with sufficient regularity such 

that the amounts recognised in the annual financial statements do 

not differ materially from the amounts that would be determined at 

the reporting date.

The entity recognises the net total of the following amounts in surplus 

or deficit, except to the extent that another Standard requires or 

permits their inclusion in the cost of an asset:

 � current service cost;

 � interest cost;
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 � the expected return on any plan assets 

and on any reimbursement rights;

 � actuarial gains and losses;

 � past service cost;

 � the effect of any curtailments or settlements; and

 � the effect of applying the limit on a defined benefit asset 

(negative defined benefit liability).

The entity uses the Projected Unit Credit Method to determine 

the present value of its defined benefit obligations and the related 

current service cost and, where applicable, past service cost. The 

Projected Unit Credit Method (sometimes known as the accrued 

benefit method pro rated on service or as the benefit/years of service 

method) sees each period of service as giving rise to an additional 

unit of benefit entitlement and measures each unit separately to 

build up the final obligation.

In determining the present value of its defined benefit obligations and 

the related current service cost and, where applicable, past service 

cost, an entity shall attribute benefits to periods of service under 

the plan’s benefit formula. However, if an employee’s service in later 

years will lead to a materially higher level of benefit than in earlier 

years, an entity shall attribute benefit on a straight line basis from:

 � the date when service by the employee first leads to benefits 

under the plan (whether or not the benefits are conditional on 

further service); until

 � the date when further service by the employee will lead to no 

material amount of further benefits under the plan, other than 

from further salary increases.

An actuarial valuation is conducted on an annual basis by an 

independent actuary.  The results of the valuation are updated for any 

material transactions and other material changes in circumstances 

(including changes in market prices and interest rates) up to the 

reporting date.

The entity recognises gains or losses on the curtailment or settlement 

of a defined benefit plan when the curtailment or settlement occurs. 

The gain or loss on a curtailment or settlement comprises:

 � any resulting change in the present value of the defined benefit 

obligation; and

 � any resulting change in the fair value of the plan assets.

Before determining the effect of a curtailment or settlement, the 

entity re-measures the obligation (and the related plan assets, if 

any) using current actuarial assumptions (including current market 

interest rates and other current market prices).

When it is virtually certain that another party will reimburse some or 

all of the expenditure required to settle a defined benefit obligation, 

the right to reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset. The 

asset is measured at fair value. In all other respects, the asset is 

treated in the same way as plan assets. In surplus or deficit, the 

expense relating to a defined benefit plan is presented as the net of 

the amount recognised for a reimbursement.

Actuarial assumptions

Actuarial assumptions are unbiased and mutually compatible. 

Financial assumptions are based on market expectations, at the 

reporting date, for the period over which the obligations are to be 

settled. 

The rate used to discount post employment benefit obligations (both 

funded and unfunded) reflect the time value of money. The currency 

and term of the financial instrument selected to reflect the time value 

of money is consistent with the currency and estimated term of the 

post employment benefit obligations.

Post employment benefit obligations are measured on a basis that 

reflects:

 � the benefits set out in the terms of the plan (or resulting from 

any constructive obligation that goes beyond those terms) at 

the reporting date; and

 � estimated future changes in the level of any state benefits that 

affect the benefits payable under a defined benefit plan, if, and 

only if, either:

 � those changes were enacted before the reporting date; or

 � past history, or other reliable evidence, indicates that those 

stated benefits will change in some predictable manner, for 

example, in line with future changes in general price levels or 

general salary levels.

Assumptions about medical costs take account of estimated future 

changes in the cost of medical services, resulting from both inflation 

and specific changes in medical costs.

Post retirement health care benefits

The entity provides post retirement health care benefits upon 

retirement to some retirees.

The entitlement to post retirement health care benefits is based 

on the employee remaining in service up to retirement age and the 

completion of the minimum service period. The expected costs 

of these benefits are accrued over the period of employment. 

Independent qualified actuaries carry out valuations of these 

obligations at least every three years. 

The amount recognised as a liability for other long term employee 

benefits is the net total of the following amounts:

 � the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the 

reporting date;

 � minus the fair value at the reporting date of plan assets (if any) 

out of which the obligations are to be settled directly.
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The entity shall recognise the net total of the following amounts as 

expense or revenue, except to the extent that another Standard 

requires or permits their inclusion in the cost of an asset:

 � current service cost;

 � interest cost;

 � the expected return on any plan assets and on any reimbursement 

right recognised as an asset;

 � actuarial gains and losses, which shall all be recognised 

immediately;

 � past service cost, which shall all be recognised immediately; and

 � the effect of any curtailments or settlements.

1.19 Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions

A foreign currency transaction is recorded, on initial recognition in 

Rand, by applying to the foreign currency amount the spot exchange 

rate between the functional currency and the foreign currency at the 

date of the transaction.

At each reporting date:

 � foreign currency monetary items are translated using the closing 

rate;

 � non monetary items that are measured in terms of historical 

cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 

rate at the date of the transaction.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items 

or on translating monetary items at rates different from those at 

which they were translated on initial recognition during the period or 

in previous annual financial statements are recognised in surplus or 

deficit in the period in which they arise.

Cash flows arising from transactions in a foreign currency are 

recorded in Rands by applying to the foreign currency amount the 

exchange rate between the Rand and the foreign currency at the 

date of the cash flow.

1.20 Comparative figures

Where necessary, comparative figures have been reclassified to 

conform to changes in presentation in the current year. Refer to note 40.

1.21 Fruitless and wasteful expenditure

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure means expenditure which was 

made in vain and would have been avoided had reasonable care 

been exercised.

All expenditure relating to fruitless and wasteful expenditure is 

recognised as an expense in the statement of financial performance 

in the year that the expenditure was incurred. The expenditure is 

classified in accordance with the nature of the expense, and where 

recovered, it is subsequently accounted for as revenue in the 

statement of financial performance.

1.22 Irregular expenditure

Irregular expenditure as defined in section 1 of the PFMA  (Act no. 

1 of 1999, as amended) is expenditure other than unauthorised 

expenditure, incurred in contravention of, or that is not in accordance 

with, a requirement of any applicable legislation, including this Act.

All expenditure relating to irregular expenditure is recognised as an 

expense in the statement of financial performance in the year that 

the expenditure was incurred.

1.23 Taxation

The NRF is exempt from paying corporate income tax and Value 

Added Tax (VAT).

1.24 Related parties

The NRF operates in an economic environment currently 

denominated by entities directly or indirectly owned by the South 

African government. As a result of the constitutional independence 

of all three spheres of government in South Africa, only parties within 

the national sphere of government will be considered to be related 

parties. Only transactions with such parties which are not at arm’s 

length and not on normal commercial terms are disclosed.

Key management is defined as being individuals with the authority 

and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities 

of the entity.  All individuals from the level of Corporate Executives up 

to the Board of Directors are regarded as key management.

Close family members of key management are considered to be those 

family members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced 

by, key management individuals or other parties related to the entity.

1.25 Heritage assets

Heritage assets are assets that have a cultural, environmental, 

historical, natural, scientific, technological or artistic significance and 

are held indefinitely for the benefit of present and future generations.

An inalienable item is an asset that an entity is required by law or 

otherwise to retain indefinitely and cannot be disposed of without 

consent.

Recognition

The entity recognises a heritage asset as an asset if it is probable 

that future economic benefits or service potential associated with 

the asset will flow to the entity, and the cost or fair value of the asset 

can be measured reliably.
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Initial measurement

Heritage assets are measured at cost.

Where a heritage asset is acquired through a non exchange 

transac tion, its cost is measured at its fair value as at the date of 

acquisition.

Subsequent measurement

After recognition as an asset, a class of heritage assets is carried at 

its cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

Impairment

The entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is an 

indication that it may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the 

entity estimates the recoverable amount or the recoverable service 

amount of the heritage asset.

Transfers

Transfers from heritage assets are only made when the particular 

asset no longer meets the definition of a heritage asset.

Transfers to heritage assets are only made when the asset meets 

the definition of a heritage asset.

Derecognition

The entity derecognises heritage assets on disposal, or when no 

future economic benefits or service potential are expected from its 

use or disposal.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of a heritage asset is 

determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if 

any, and the carrying amount of the heritage asset. Such difference 

is recognised in surplus or deficit when the heritage asset is 

derecognised.

Transitional provision

The entity changed its accounting policy for heritage assets in 

2013. The change in accounting policy was made in accordance 

with the transitional provision per Directive 2 of the GRAP Reporting 

Framework.

According to the transitional provision, the entity is not required to 

measure heritage assets for reporting periods beginning on or after 

a date within three years following the date of initial adoption of the 

Standard of GRAP on Heritage assets. The transitional provision 

expires on 6/30/2015.

The exemption from applying the measurement requirements of the 

Standard of GRAP on Heritage assets implies that any associated 

presentation and disclosure requirements need not be complied 

with for heritage assets not measured in accordance with the 

requirements of the Standard of GRAP on Heritage assets.

1.26 Capital fund

The proportion of income used to acquire property, equipment 

and intangible assets is transferred to the capital fund from the 

accumulated surplus/(deficit) and is allocated back to accumulated 

surplus/(deficit) in the proportions and over the periods in which 

depreciation/amortisation on such property and equipment or 

intangible asset is charged or when the asset is retired.

1.27  Significant judgements and sources of  
estimation uncertainty

In preparing the annual financial statements, management is required 

to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts presented 

in the annual financial statements and related disclosures. Use of 

available information and the application of judgement is inherent in 

the formation of estimates. Estimates and underlying assumptions are 

reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revision of accounting estimates are 

recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in 

any future period affected.  Actual results in the future could differ 

from these estimates which may be material to the annual financial 

statements. Significant judgements include:

Trade receivables and loans and receivables

The entity assesses its trade receivables and loans and receivables 

for impairment at the end of each reporting period. In determining 

whether an impairment loss should be recorded in surplus or deficit, 

the entity makes judgements as to whether there is observable data 

indicating a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows 

from a financial asset.  Each receivable is reviewed individually at 

year end.

Fair value estimation

The carrying value less impairment provision of trade receivables 

and payables are assumed to approximate their fair values. The 

fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated 

by discounting the future contractual cash flows at the current 

market interest rate that is available to the entity for similar financial 

instruments.  The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents, 

trade and other receivables and trade and other payables 

approximate their fair values due to the short term maturities of these 

assets and liabilities.

Impairment testing

The recoverable amounts of cash generating units and individual 

assets have been determined based on the higher of value in use 

calculations and fair values less costs to sell. These calculations 

require the use of estimates and assumptions. 

The entity reviews and tests the carrying value of assets when events 

or changes in circumstances suggest that the carrying amount may 

not be recoverable. Assets are grouped at the lowest level for which 

identifiable cash flows are largely independent of cash flows of other 

assets and liabilities. If there are indications that impairment may 
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have occurred, estimates are prepared of expected future cash 

flows for each group of assets. Expected future cash flows used to 

determine the value in use of tangible assets are inherently uncertain 

and could materially change over time. 

Provisions

Provisions were raised and management determined an estimate 

based on the information available. Additional disclosure of these 

estimates of provisions are included in note 17-Provisions.

Property and equipment and intangible assets

The entity’s management determines the estimated useful lives and 

residual values of property and equipment and intangible assets.  

These assessments are made on an annual basis and use historical 

evidence and current economic factors to estimate the values.

Administrative computer equipment, office furniture and equipment, 

exhibits and motor vehicles are not componentised.  These assets 

do not have significant parts that are considered to have an estimated 

useful life different to the estimated useful life of the asset as a whole.

Post retirement benefits

The present value of the post retirement obligation depends on a 

number of factors that are determined on an actuarial basis using a 

number of assumptions. The assumptions used in determining the 

net cost (income) include the discount rate. Any changes in these 

assumptions will impact on the carrying amount of post retirement 

obligations.

National Zoological Gardens animals

Zoological animals have not been included as an asset in the 

statement of financial position due to the essential recognition 

criteria of measurement that cannot be met for the majority of 

animals.  On the basis that many species cannot be valued and 

any attempt to attach values to any species may be unethical, it 

was considered that any assessment of value would be misleading 

to the users of the financial statements.  However, disclosure of the 

different species is provided.

Development costs

Initial capitalisation of costs is based on management’s judgment 

that technological and economical feasibility is confirmed, usually 

when a product development project has reached a defined 

milestone according to an established project management model. 

1.28 Budget information

The entity is typically subject to budgetary limits in the form of 

appropriations or budget authorisations (or equivalent), which are 

given effect through authorising legislation, appropriation or similar.

General purpose financial reporting by the entity shall provide 

information on whether resources were obtained and used in 

accordance with the legally adopted budget.

The approved budget is prepared on an accrual basis and presented 

by economic classification linked to performance outcome objectives.

The approved budget covers the fiscal period from 4/1/2013 to 

3/31/2014.

The budget for the economic entity includes all the entities’ approved 

budgets under its control.

The annual financial statements and the budget are prepared on a 

comparable basis of accounting and therefore a comparison with 

the budgeted amounts for the reporting period has been included in 

the Statement of comparison of budget and actual amounts.

Comparative information is not required.
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

2. New standards and interpretations

2.1  Standards and interpretations issued, 
but not yet effective

The entity has not applied the following standards and interpretations, 

which have been published and are mandatory for the entity’s 

accounting periods beginning on or after 01 April 2014 or later 

periods:

GRAP 105: Transfers of functions between entities 
under common control

The objective of this standard is to establish accounting principles for 

the acquirer and transferor in a transfer of functions between entities 

under common control. It requires an acquirer and a transferor that 

prepares and presents financial statements under the accrual basis 

of accounting to apply this standard to a transaction or event that 

meets the definition of a transfer of functions. It includes a diagram 

and requires that entities consider the diagram in determining 

whether this standard should be applied in accounting for a 

transaction or event that involves a transfer of functions or merger.

It furthermore covers definitions, identifying the acquirer and transferor, 

determining the transfer date, assets acquired or transferred and 

liabilities assumed or relinquished, accounting by the acquirer and 

transferor, disclosure, transitional provisions and the effective date of 

the standard.

This standard has been approved by the Board but its effective date 

has not yet been determined by the Minister of Finance.

It is unlikely that the standard will have a material impact on the 

entity’s annual financial statements as similar accounting policies 

are already applied.

GRAP 106: Transfers of functions between entities 
not under common control

The objective of this standard is to establish accounting principles 

for the acquirer in a transfer of functions between entities not under 

common control. It requires an entity that prepares and presents 

financial statements under the accrual basis of accounting to apply 

this standard to a transaction or other event that meets the definition 

of a transfer of functions. It includes a diagram and requires that 

entities consider the diagram in determining whether this standard 

should be applied in accounting for a transaction or event that 

involves a transfer of functions or merger.

It furthermore covers definitions, identifying a transfer of functions 

between entities not under common control, the acquisition method, 

recognising and measuring the difference between the assets 

acquired and liabilities assumed and the consideration transferred, 

measurement period, determining what is part of a transfer of 

functions, subsequent measurement and accounting, disclosure, 

transitional provisions and the effective date of the standard.

This standard has been approved by the Board but its effective date 

has not yet been determined by the Minister of Finance.

It is unlikely that the standard will have a material impact on the 

entity’s annual financial statements as similar accounting policies 

are already applied.

GRAP 20: Related parties

This standard requires disclosure of related party relationships, 

transactions and outstanding balances, including commitments, in 

the consolidated and separate financial statements of the reporting 

entity in accordance with the Standard of GRAP on Consolidated 

and Separate Financial Statements. This standard also applies to 

individual annual financial statements.

This standard has been approved by the Board but its effective date 

has not yet been determined by the Minister of Finance.

It is unlikely that the standard will have a material impact on the 

entity’s annual financial statements as similar accounting policies 

are already applied.

GRAP 18: Segment Reporting

Financial statements comprise summarised and aggregated 

information about a wide variety of activities undertaken by an entity.  

The purpose of segment reporting is to present more specific and 

detailed information about the major activities undertaken by an 

entity during a particular period, along with the resources allocated 

to those activities.

A segment is a distinguishable activity or group of activities of 

an entity for which it is appropriate to report financial information 

separately, for evaluating the entity’s past performance in achieving 

its objectives and for making decisions about the future allocation of 

resources.  The major classifications of activities identified in budget 

documentation will usually reflect the segments for which an entity 

reports information to management.

Segment information is either presented based on service 

or geographical segments.  Service segments relate to a 

distinguishable component of an entity that provides specific 

outputs or achieves particular operating objectives that are in line 

with the entity’s overall mission.  Geographical segments relate to 

specific outputs generated, or particular objectives achieved, by 

an entity within a particular region.  An entity will consider various 
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factors in determining whether it should report based on service or 

geographical segments.

The segment information that an entity reports in its financial 

statements, based either on service or geographical segments, will 

include segment revenue, segment expenses, segment assets and 

segment liabilities.

This standard has been approved by the Board but its effective date 

has not yet been determined by the Minister of Finance.

The adoption of this standard is not expected to impact on the 

results of the entity, but may result in more disclosure than is 

currently provided in the annual financial statements.
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3. Property and equipment

2014 2013

Cost

Accumulated 
depreciation 

and 
accumulated 
impairment

Carrying value Cost

Accumulated 
depreciation 

and 
accumulated 
impairment

Carrying value

Land 29,898 – 29,898 29,898 – 29,898

Buildings 164,072 (29,832) 134,240 112,249 (25,464) 86,785

Machinery 24,420 (5,899) 18,521 13,624 (1,637) 11,987

Office furniture 17,657 (9,033) 8,624 16,636 (7,886) 8,750

Motor vehicles 27,302 (14,303) 12,999 33,733 (14,602) 19,131

Office equipment 49,358 (29,067) 20,291 47,081 (24,156) 22,925

IT equipment 66,915 (48,386) 18,529 59,707 (41,883) 17,824

Infrastructure 164,686 (134) 164,552 919 (34) 885

Exhibits 4,322 (1,191) 3,131 3,953 (829) 3,124

Capital work in progress 454,893 – 454,893 287,970 – 287,970

Research equipment 386,227 (193,475) 192,752 365,648 (160,906) 204,742

Books and journals 9 (1) 8 – – –

Total 1,389,759 (331,321) 1,058,438 971,418 (277,397) 694,021

Reconciliation of property and equipment 2014

Opening 
balance

Additions Disposals Transfers Depreciation Total

Land 29,898 - - - - 29,898

Buildings 86,785 579 (249) 51,735 (4,610) 134,240

Machinery 11,987 2,957 - 5,430 (1,853) 18,521

Office furniture 8,750 1,217 (97) 21 (1,267) 8,624

Motor vehicles 19,131 1,931 (417) (4,142) (3,504) 12,999

Office equipment 22,925 3,573 (59) (1,069) (5,079) 20,291

IT equipment 17,824 8,401 (345) 414 (7,765) 18,529

Infrastructure 885 30,092 - 133,675 (100) 164,552

Exhibits 3,124 368 - - (361) 3,131

Capital work in progress 287,970 358,706 - (191,783) - 454,893

Research equipment 204,742 16,642 (1,025) 5,719 (33,326) 192,752

Books and journals - 9 - - (1) 8

694,021 424,475 (2,192) - (57,866) 1,058,438

Depreciation includes R0.79m (2013: R 0.85m) relating to leased assets. Transfers during the year relate to assets capitalised from capital work in progress upon completion of the assets as well as 
assets reclassified.

Reconciliation of property and equipment 2013

Opening 
balance

Additions Disposals Transfers Depreciation Impairment loss Total

Land 32,039 - - (2,141) - - 29,898

Buildings 69,730 2,539 (10) 19,899 (5,373) - 86,785

Machinery 9,523 3,651 - 16 (1,203) - 11,987

Office furniture 8,349 1,423 (72) 309 (1,259) - 8,750

Motor vehicles 17,976 4,999 (244) 32 (3,632) - 19,131

Office equipment 23,675 4,374 (207) (590) (4,327) - 22,925

IT equipment 18,389 7,813 (148) 39 (8,269) - 17,824

Infrastructure - 172 - 747 (34) - 885

Exhibits 2,931 513 - - (320) - 3,124

Capital work in progress 207,916 197,888 - (117,834) - - 287,970

Research equipment 112,135 16,035 (209) 99,520 (18,636) (4,103) 204,742

502,663 239,407 (890) (3) (43,053) (4,103) 694,021
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2014
R’000

2013
R’000

Assets subject to finance lease (Net carrying amount)

Office equipment 889 1,574

Details of properties

Portion 1 of the farm Scientia No 627, Pretoria, with buildings thereon

Land 1,277 1,277

Buildings 24,647 24,547

25,924 25,824

Portion 4 of the farm No 996, Blue Downs, Stellenbosch, with buildings thereon

Land 9,717 9,717

Buildings 23,253 23,541

32,970 33,258

Portion 6 of the farm Kuilenburg No 96, Sutherland, with buildings thereon

Land 346 346

Building 6,901 6,460

7,247 6,806

Erf 26423, Observatory, Cape Town, with buildings thereon

Land 263 263

Buildings 7,633 7,614

7,896 7,877

Stand No 2859, 211 Skinner Street, Pretoria, with buildings thereon

Land 92 92

Buildings 1,557 1,557

1,649 1,649

Portion 1 of Erf 1, Observatory, Johannesburg

Land 1,685 1,685

Buildings 9,410 9,410

11,095 11,095

Portion 1 of the farm Losberg No 73, Fraserburg Regional 
District

Land 7,796 7,796

Buildings 51,752 16,317

59,548 24,113

Mey’s Dam Farm No 68, Fraserburg Regional District

Land 8,722 8,722

Buildings 6,253 1,078

14,975 9,800

Leasehold improvements, HartRAO

– Capitalised expenditure 958 762

Leasehold improvements, SAIAB

– Capitalised expenditure 21,193 20,963

Leasehold improvements, SKA 
(Klerefontein)
Terms and conditions

– Capitalised expenditure 10,515 -

Total cost of land and buildings 193,970 142,147

Land and buildings were valuated by an independent valuator as at 1 April 2013. The market values of land and buildings are:

Portion 1 of the farm Scientia No 627, Pretoria 53,500 53,500

Portion 4 of the farm No 996, Blue Downs, Stellenbosch 43,900 43,900

Portion 6 of the farm Kuilenburg No 96, 
Sutherland 

11,950 11,950

Erf 26423, Observatory, Cape Town 49,700 49,700

Stand No 2859, 211 Skinner Street, Pretoria 17,100 17,100

Portion 1 of Erf 1 Observatory, Johannesburg 13,800 13,800

Portion 1 of the farm Losberg No 73, Fraserburg and the farm Mey’s Dam No 68, Carnarvon * 24,330 24,330

Total market value 214,280 214,280

* This property was valued on 1 April 2010.  R56m has since been spent on infrastructure projects at Losberg and Mey’s Dam.
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The land and buildings situated in Pretoria are subject to a pre emptive right in favour of the CSIR should the NRF decide to sell the property.  It will revert back to the CSIR for no consideration should 
the NRF be disbanded.

Land and buildings of the NZG are situated in Boom Street, Pretoria.  This property is not reflected in the records of the NRF as ownership thereof resides with the Department of Public Works.  The 
NZG occupies the property for no consideration.

NZG animal collection

Refer to note 1.3 for reasons why no financial values are attached to the animal collection.

2014
No. of 

specimens

2013
No. of 

specimens

Mammals 1,211 1,335

Aves 1,211 1,271

Reptiles 290 308

Pisces 2,497 4,955

Amphibia 43 53

Invertebrates 403 647

5,655 8,569

4. Intangible assets

2014 2013

Cost

Accumulated 
amortisation 

and 
accumulated 
impairment

Carrying value Cost

Accumulated 
amortisation 

and 
accumulated 
impairment

Carrying value

Computer software in development, internally generated 54,583 - 54,583 54,096 - 54,096

Computer software 4,276 (1,886) 2,390 2,542 (1,122) 1,420

Total 58,859 (1,886) 56,973 56,638 (1,122) 55,516

Reconciliation of intangible assets 2014

Opening 
balance

Additions Disposals Amortisation Total

Computer software in development, internally generated 54,096 487 - - 54,583

Computer software 1,420 1,738 (2) (766) 2,390

55,516 2,225 (2) (766) 56,973

Reconciliation of intangible assets 2013

Opening 
balance

Additions Transfers Amortisation Total

Computer software in development, internally generated 53,724 372 - - 54,096

Computer software 829 1,056 3 (468) 1,420

54,553 1,428 3 (468) 55,516

5. Heritage assets
Heritage assets for which fair values cannot be reliably measured
 Sellschop collection
The Sellschop collection at iThemba LABS includes scientific artefacts, certificates, pictures, files and a 259 book collection.   

 Biological specimen collection
This is a national collection of museum specimens comprising about 70,000 fish and other aquatic organisms such as amphibians, cephalopods and diatoms held at SAIAB. There is also a molecular 
tissue bank of aquatic samples for genetic analysis and a dry collection of fish skeletons and otoliths.

 Images collection
This collection includes between 5,000 and 6,000 original paintings, drawings, photographs and slides and is held at SAIAB.

 Rare books and museum artefacts
This collection, which is held at SAIAB, includes 206 items built up in the 1950’s by Prof. J.L.B. Smith.  The earliest publication dates back to 1546 but most are from the 18th and 19th centuries.

 Furniture, clocks and other equipment
This collection, which is held at SAAO, includes old furniture, clocks and other miscellaneous museum items.

 Heritage assets for which fair values cannot be reliably measured
A fair value for the collection of heritage assets cannot be reliably estimated at this stage. The NRF is in the process of appointing specialist providers to identify and value all heritage assets of the NRF, 
where a value can be determined.  This exercise will be completed in the 2014/15 financial year.
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6. Investments in associates

Name of entity Listed / Unlisted % holding 2014 % holding 2013
Carrying 

amount 2014
Carrying 

amount 2013

SALT Foundation (Pty) Ltd Unlisted 33.56% 36.78% 29,915 32,650

2014
R’000

2013
R’000

The carrying amounts of associates are shown net of impairment losses

Movements in carrying value

Opening balance 32,650 35,054

Share of deficit (2,735) (2,404)

29,915 32,650

Principal activities, country of incorporation and voting power

Legal name Principal activity
Country of 

incorporation
Proportion of 
voting power

SALT Foundation (Pty) Ltd
Construction & operation of an 11 

metre telescope for optical astronomy 
research

S.A 33.56%

Summary of associate’s financial 
information

SALT Foundation (Pty) Ltd

Current assets 28,711 36,435

Non current assets 171,879 127,720

Current liabilities 4,362 5,137

Revenue 26,492 25,135

Loss for the year after taxation (8,150) (6,737)

7. Prepayments

Prepayments represent a net advance payment made to the contractor awarded the contract for the construction of the MeerKAT antennas for the SKA project.  The estimated contract 
completion date is December 2016.

Prepayments on contracts 146,549 152,848

8. Inventory

Consumable stores and maintenance spares 4,388 3,711

Restaurant stock 412 1,542

4,800 5,253

9. Financial assets by category

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

2014

Financial assets 
at amortised 

cost
Total

Trade and other receivables 41,296 41,296

Cash and cash equivalents 422,168 422,168

Grants and bursaries paid in advance 785,154 785,154

1,248,618 1,248,618

2013

Financial assets 
at amortised 

cost
Total

Trade and other receivables 118,274 118,274

Cash and cash equivalents 605,774 605,774

Grants and bursaries paid in advance 510,323 510,323

1,234,371 1,234,371

The fair value of financial assets is not expected to differ materially from their carrying values due to the short term nature thereof.
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2014
R’000

2013
R’000

10. Receivables from exchange transactions
Trade debtors 17,104 57,231

Employee costs in advance 44 180

Prepayments 26,149 24,047

Deposits 1,969 1,658

Designated income and other receivables 24,192 61,043

69,458 144,159

Credit quality of trade and other receivables
Credit risk with respect to trade and other receivables is limited due to the large number of customers comprising the NRF’s customer base and their dispersion across different industries and 
geographical areas.

Trade and other receivables
None of the financial assets that are fully performing have been renegotiated in the last year.

Trade and other receivables past due but not impaired
Trade and other receivables which are generally less than 3 months past due are not considered to be impaired. At 31 March 2014, R14,695m (2013: R14,455m) was past due but not impaired.
The ageing of amounts past due but not impaired is as follows:

1 month past due 4,060 2,353

2 months past due 457 512

3 months past due 10,178 11,590

Trade and other receivables impaired
As of 31 March 2014, trade and other receivables of R0,985m (2013: R0,95m) were impaired and provided for.
The amount of the allowance was R0,985m as of 31 March 2014 (2013: R0,95m).

Reconciliation of allowance for impairment of trade and other receivables

Opening balance 957 957

Allowance for impairment 319 82

Amounts written off as uncollectable (17) -

Unused amounts reversed (274) (82)

985 957

The creation and release of the allowance for impaired receivables have been included in operating expenses in surplus or deficit (note 29). Amounts charged to the allowance account are generally 
written off when there is no expectation of recovering additional cash.
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of each class of receivable mentioned above. The entity does not hold any collateral as security.

11. Grants and bursaries paid in advance

The NRF advances funding to Higher Education and Research Institutions in the form of grant deposits.  The advances are calculated based on the expected grant awards for the year.  The balance is 
reviewed annually.  The advances are done in order to facilitate adequate cash flow for the grant-making process at these institutions.  Per agreement, the interest earned on the grant deposits by the 
institutions is used to fund staff of the institutions that are dedicated to the NRF grant administration process.  Should the interest earned be more than funding requisites to fund extra human capacity 
for staff supporting NRF projects, the institution has the right to utilise such amounts as it deems appropriate.  The original grant deposits are repayable to the NRF on 30 days’ notice in an event of the 
funding being discontinued.

Grants and bursaries payments in advance to Higher Education and Research Institutions 785,154 510,323

12. Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and balances with banks and investments in fixed deposits.

Cash on hand 673 125

Short term deposits 412,734 524,697

Bank balance 8,761 80,952

422,168 605,774

These monies relate primarily to designated income received in advance.

Credit quality of cash at bank and short term deposits, excluding cash on hand
Cash equivalents and short term deposits are placed with highly rated financial institutions.

13. Employee benefit obligations

Post retirement medical benefits 
The NRF undertook a buy out exercise in the final quarter of the 2012 financial year.  Offers were made to current and future pensioners on a voluntary basis.  The NRF continues to have a subsidy 
obligation for those members who did not accept the offer.  To manage the residual liability that has remained, the NRF has acquired an annuity policy which qualifies as a plan asset.
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2014
R’000

2013
R’000

Carrying value

Present value of the defined benefit obligation (12,363) (13,307)

Fair value of plan assets 12,127 10,634

Net (liability)/asset (236) (2,673)

The fair value of plan assets includes:

Annuity Insurance Policy

Market value of the Growth Account 3,146 357

Value of the Guaranteed Account 8,982 10,277

The annuity portfolio is made up of a growth account and a guaranteed account.  Increases are guaranteed at a minimum of CPI per annum.  Funds are transferred from the growth account to the 
guaranteed account annually to fund any increase in employer contributions in excess of the guaranteed annuities.

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation are as follows:

Opening balance 2,673 (183)

Employer prefunding contributions (2,673) -

Net expense recognised in the statement of financial performance 236 2,856

Closing balance of net liability/(asset) 236 2,673

Net expense recognised in the statement of financial 
performance

Current service cost 20 35

Interest cost 1,024 986

Actuarial losses 2 2,922

Expected return of plan assets (810) (1,087)

Total included in employee related costs 236 2,856

Calculation of actuarial gains and losses

Actuarial (gains)/losses – Obligation (972) 1,533

Actuarial losses – Plan assets 974 1,389

Total 2 2,922

Changes in the fair value of plan assets are as follows:

Opening balance 10,634 11,924

Expected return 810 1,087

Actuarial losses (974) (1,389)

Contributions by employer 2,673 -

Benefits paid (1,016) (988)

Closing balance 12,127 10,634

The entity contributed R 236,000 to its defined benefit plans in the following financial year.

Key assumptions used

Assumptions used at the reporting date:

Discount rates used 9.25% 8.00%

Consumer Price Inflation ('CPI') 6.50% 6.50%

Net discount rate – Next 5 years (0.46)% (1.14)%

Net discount rate – After 5 years 1.39% 0.70%

Expected return on plan assets 9.25% 8.00%

Health care cost inflation – Next 5 years 9.75% 9.25%

Health care cost inflation – After 5 years 7.75% 7.25%

Normal retirement age 65 65

Other assumptions

Assumed healthcare cost trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in surplus or deficit. A one percentage point change in assumed healthcare cost trend rates would have the 
following effects:

1% increase 1% decrease

Employer's accrued liability 13,434 11,424

Employer's service and interest cost 1,217 1,022
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Amounts for the current and previous four years are as follows:

2014
R’000

2013
R’000

2012
R’000

2011
R’000

2010
R’000

Defined benefit obligation (12,363) (13,307) (11,741) (110,200) (106,784)

Plan assets 12,127 10,634 11,924 - -

(Deficit)/surplus (236) (2,673) 183 - -

Defined contribution plan

It is the policy of the entity to provide retirement benefits to all its employees through the National Research Foundation Pension Fund, which are subject to the Pensions Fund Act. The fund is administered by 
Alexander Forbes Consultants and Actuaries.
The entity is under no obligation to cover any unfunded benefits.

The amount recognised as an expense for defined contribution plans is 35,944 39,493

2014
R’000

2013
R’000

14. Financial liabilities by category

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

2014

Financial 
liabilities at 

amortised cost
Total

Trade and other payables 66,831 66,831

Finance leases 1,015 1,015

67,846 67,846

2013

Financial 
liabilities at 

amortised cost
Total

Trade and other payables 36,151 36,151

Finance leases 1,785 1,785

37,936 37,936

15. Finance lease obligation

Minimum lease payments due

– within one year 679 969

– in second to fifth year inclusive 442 1,034

1,121 2,003

less: future finance charges (106) (218)

Present value of minimum lease payments 1,015 1,785

Present value of minimum lease payments due

– within one year 601 845

– in second to fifth year inclusive 414 940

1,015 1,785

Non current liabilities 414 940

Current liabilities 601 845

1,015 1,785

The average lease term is 3 to 5 years and the average effective borrowing rate is 11% (2013: 11%). 
The entity’s obligations under finance leases are secured by the lessor’s charge over the leased assets. Refer to note 3.
Interest costs on finance leases charged to the statement of financial performance for the year amounted to R 0.131m (2013: R 0.347m).

Market risk
The fair value of finance lease liabilities approximates their carrying amounts.

16. Payables from exchange transactions

Trade payables 63,943 30,915

Accrued leave pay 40,253 34,856

Remuneration accrual 4,210 3,914

Other payables 2,888 5,236

111,294 74,921



     |  NRF Annual Report 2013/2014129

17. Provisions

Reconciliation of provisions 2014

Opening 
Balance

Additions Utilised during 
the year Total

Provision for performance bonus 3,173 3,000 (3,173) 3,000

Reconciliation of provisions 2013

Opening 
Balance

Additions Utilised during 
the year Total

Provision for performance bonus 3,308 3,173 (3,308) 3,173

The provision represents an estimated amount to be paid for performance bonuses. The process of finalising performance reviews for the current year will be concluded in the next financial year, when 
the actual payments and the determination thereof will occur.

2014
R’000

2013
R’000

18. Designated income received in advance

Funding that is earmarked for a specific purpose and thus conditional, relating to expenditure that will be incurred in future financial years, is transferred to income received in advance until  the related 
costs are incurred.

Designated income 1,279,668 1,328,473

19. SALT fund

The SALT fund represents income received from the Department of Science and Technology for the purpose of investing the funds in the SALT Foundation (Pty) Ltd. The balance is adjusted with post 
acquisition surpluses/losses of the SALT Foundation (Pty) Ltd.  Refer to note 6.

20. Capital fund

Opening balance 748,445 556,112

Net acquisition of assets 365,867 192,333

Acquisition of property, equipment and intangible assets 3&4 426,700 240,835

Depreciation and disposal of property, equipment and intangible assets 3&4 (60,833) (48,502)

1,114,312 748,445

21. Infrastructure development fund

This fund represents funds set aside to fund future infrastructure projects.

22. Parliamentary grant

Parliamentary grant received 1,516,330 1,063,869

Ring fenced funds carried forward (103,451) (145,579)

1,412,879 918,290

23. Designated income

Department of Science and Technology 1,243,430 943,035

Other government organisations 137,181 117,422

Other 53,063 50,213

1,433,674 1,110,670

The NRF manages a number of projects/programmes for government departments, for local and international organisations, on a contractual basis. These funds are designated for specific projects.
Excluded from this amount are contracts with the Department of Trade and Industry for the THRIP programme, amounting to R161m (2013: R157m).

24. Sale of goods and services

Sale of isotopes 39,244 28,988

Services rendered 3,174 1,739

National Zoological Gardens sales 12,803 17,370

Other sales 572 445

55,793 48,542
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2014
R’000

2013
R’000

25. Other income

Sundry income 11,808 9,122

Rent received 2,348 2,525

Donations received 111 18

Management fees received 2,651 2,430

16,918 14,095

26. Interest income

Bank 53,449 33,865

Interest charged on trade and other receivables 46 30

Interest received (other) 4 3

53,499 33,898

27. Auditors’ remuneration

Current year audit 435 143

Prior year audit 2,883 2,465

Other services 229 163

3,547 2,771

28. Finance costs

Finance leases (131) (347)

29. Operating surplus

Operating surplus for the year is stated after accounting for the following:

Operating lease charges 5,709 7,150

Loss/(gain) on sale of property and equipment (2,584) 280

Impairment on property and equipment - 4,103

Loss on exchange differences 1,112 780

Amortisation on intangible assets 765 468

Depreciation on property and equipment 57,869 43,053

Cost of sales 5,909 5,815

Employee costs 478,618 439,656

Defined contribution plan 35,944 39,493

30. Board and Corporate Executive members’ remuneration

Non Executive Members (Board members)
Short term 

benefits
R’ 000

Total package 
2014

R’ 000

Total package 
2013

R’ 000

Prof RM Crewe (Chairperson from 1 October 2011) 82 82 38

Dr PG Clayton (From 1 October 2011) 62 62 15

Prof B Cousins (From 1 October 2011) 49 49 15

Dr NT Magau (From 1 October 2011) 67 67 26

Mr AJ Fourie (Up to 30 September 2013) 19 19 26

Prof MV Leibbrandt (From 1 October 2011) 49 49 15

Prof PP Lolwana (From 1 October 2011) 49 49 15

Prof R Singh (From 1 October 2011) 31 31 12

Ms MMT Ramano (Up to 31 October 2013) - - 15

Prof SG Burton (From 1 August 2013) 15 15 -

Prof SD Maharaj (From 1 October 2011) 49 49 15

Prof EM Tyobeka (From 1 October 2011) 49 49 15

521 521 207
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Members of the Corporate Executive
Short term 

benefits
R’ 000

Bonuses and 
performance 

related 
payments

R’ 000

Retirement 
Fund 

contributions
R’ 000

Medical 
contributions

R’ 000

Other benefits
R’ 000

Total package 
2014

R’ 000

Total package 
2013

R’ 000

* Dr AS van Jaarsveld (CEO of the NRF) 2,218 100 313 45 44 2,720 2,471

Ms BA Damonse 1,362 33 183 25 31 1,634 1,570

Dr D Pillay 1,658 33 237 - 36 1,964 1,886

Mr B Singh 1,521 65 227 66 35 1,914 1,806

Mr PB Thompson 1,506 33 288 6 42 1,875 1,747

8,265 264 1,248 142 188 10,107 9,480

Total remuneration 8,786 264 1,248 142 188 10,628 9,687

* Denotes ex officio member of the NRF Board.
Corporate Executive members are considered to be key management personnel as they are the delegated key decision makers.

2014
R’000

2013
R’000

31. Cash generated from/(used in) operations

Surplus before asset acquisitions 388,723 191,616

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation 58,634 43,521

Loss/(gain) on sale of assets and liabilities (2,584) 280

Deficit from equity accounted investments 2,735 2,404

Impairment loss - 4,103

Movements in retirement benefit assets and liabilities (2,437) 2,856

Movements in provisions (173) (135)

Changes in working capital:

Inventory 453 (1,869)

Receivables from exchange transactions 74,701 (26,575)

Prepayments 6,299 (152,848)

Grants and bursaries paid in advance (274,831) 92,416

Other loans - 6

Payables from exchange transactions 36,373 3,334

Designated income received in advance (48,805) 326,771

239,088 485,880

32. Commitments

Authorised capital expenditure

Already contracted for but not provided for:

Property and equipment 665,856 618,231

Not yet contracted for and approved:

Property and equipment 15,390 -

The capital expenditure will be financed from Medium Term Estimate Funding (MTEF) and designated funds.

Operating leases - as lessee (expense)

Minimum lease payments due

– within one year 9,331 5,196

– in second to fifth year inclusive 17,423 1,266

26,754 6,462

The total future minimum sublease payment expected to be received under non cancellable sublease 194 1,068

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the entity for certain of its office properties. These non cancellable leases are negotiated for a term of between 1 year and indefinitely and 
rentals escalate between 0% and 10% annually.  No contingent rent is payable.
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2014
R’000

2013
R’000

Operating leases – as lessor (income)

Minimum lease payments due

– within one year 371 1,412

– in second to fifth year inclusive 617 937

988 2,349

The NRF has entered into non cancellable commercial property leases for the duration of the lease period. These leases are negotiated for a term of between 1 year and indefinitely and rentals escalate 
between 8% and 10% annually.  There are no contingent rents receivable.

33. Contingencies

Future grants awarded 3,937,202 2,814,552

The NRF has awarded multi year grants for up to 5 years, with subsequent years’ payments conditional upon receipt of progress reports.

Municipal billing in respect of rates and taxes in dispute 1,297 1,206

The NRF does not consider itself liable for this claim.

34. Related parties

Relationships

Controlling entity Department of Science and Technology

Associates Refer to note 6

Members of key management Refer to note 30

The remuneration of key management is included in employees’ remuneration (refer to note 30 for Corporate Executive members’ remuneration).
By virtue of the fact that the NRF is a national public entity, and controlled by national government, any other controlled entity of the national government is a related party.  All transactions with such 
entities are at arm’s length, and on normal commercial terms.

Related party balances

Amounts included in receivables from exchange transactions regarding related parties

SALT Foundation (Pty) Ltd 2,039 1,644

Prepayment to SALT Foundation (Pty) Ltd 10,500 17,800

The outstanding balance at year end is unsecured, interest-free and settlement occurs in cash. There have been no guarantees received.  No impairment has been recorded of the amount owed.

Related party transactions

The NRF paid SALT Foundation (Pty) Ltd a levy for the use of the telescope 10,109 9,373

SALT Foundation (Pty) Ltd paid the NRF for the recovery of monthly services 22,892 20,878

SALT Foundation (Pty) Ltd paid the NRF for contract work performed by the SAAO 61 -

22,953 20,878

NRF’s contribution to the SALT Foundation (Pty) Ltd’s Equipment Development Fund 5,527 7,000

Government grant received from the Department of Science and Technology 1,516,330 1,063,869

35. Risk management

Financial risk management

The entity’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The entity’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the entity’s financial performance. Risk 
management is carried out by a central treasury department under policies approved by the accounting authority. Entity treasury identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks in close co operation 
with the entity’s business units. The accounting authority provides written principles for overall risk management, as well as written policies covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, 
interest rate risk, credit risk and investment of excess liquidity.

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the availability of funding.  The entity’s risk to liquidity is a result of the funds available to cover future commitments. The entity 
manages liquidity risk through an ongoing review of future commitments, through proper management of working capital, capital expenditure and actual vs. forecasted cash flows and its investment 
policy.  Adequate reserves and liquid resources are also maintained.
The table below analyses the entity’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the statement of financial position to the contractual maturity date. The 
amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not significant.
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At 31 March 2014 Less than 1 year
Between 1 and 

5 years

Trade and other payables 66,831 -

Designated income received in advance 1,279,668 -

Finance leases 679 442

At 31 March 2013 Less than 1 year
Between 1 and 

5 years

Trade and other payables 36,151 -

Designated income received in advance 1,328,473 -

Finance leases 969 1,034

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk results from the cash flow and financial performance uncertainty arising from interest rate fluctuations.  Financial assets and liabilities affected by interest rate fluctuations include bank 
and cash deposits.
Interest rate exposure and investment strategies are evaluated by management on a regular basis.  Interest bearing investments are held with reputable banks in order to minimise exposure.  The entity 
furthermore manages its interest rate risk by obtaining competitive rates from different banks.  No significant risks have been identified with regards to interest rates.

Cash flow interest rate risk

Financial instrument
Current interest 

rate
Due in less than 

a year
Due in one to 

two years

Other receivables -% 24,192 -

Trade receivables-normal credit terms 8.00% 17,104 -

Cash in current banking institutions 4.00% 6,474 -

Short term deposits 5.68% 412,734 -

Trade and other payables -% 66,831 -

Grants and bursaries paid in advance -% 785,154 -

Designated income received in advance -% 1,279,668 -

Finance leases 11.00% 601 414

Credit risk

Credit risk arises from the risk that a counter party may default or not meet its obligations timeously.  The entity is exposed to risk from its operating and financing activities.  Credit risk consists mainly 
of cash deposits, cash equivalents and trade debtors. The entity only deposits cash with major banks with high quality credit standing and limits exposure to any one counter party.
Trade receivables comprise a widespread customer base. Management evaluates credit risk relating to customers on an ongoing basis.  Risk control assesses the credit quality of the customer, taking 
into account its financial position, past experience and other factors.  The entity has no significant concentration of credit risk.  The carrying amounts of the financial assets included in the statement of 
financial position represent the entity’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to these assets.  The entity does not have any significant exposure to any individual customer or counter party.

Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk arises on financial instruments that are denominated in a foreign currency, i.e. in a currency other than the functional currency in which they are measured.  For the purposes of 
GRAP, currency risk does not arise from financial instruments that are non monetary items or from financial instruments denominated in the functional currency.  
There were no foreign currency transactions covered by forward exchange contracts at the end of the year.  The entity transacts with foreign entities on a minimal basis and therefore the balance on 
foreign exchange debtors and creditors are considered immaterial and there is therefore minimal risk involved.
The entity does not use derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.

2014
R’000

2013
R’000

36. Irregular expenditure

Opening balance 7,216 4,792

Procurement partially in accordance with PFMA and PPPFA 11,570 1,500

Procurement partially in accordance with PFMA and PPPFA relating to 2012/13, identified in 2013/14 3,337 -

Finance lease payments on contract in excess of a 36 month contract period 439 767

Income tax not deducted for personal service provider - 157

Less: Amounts condoned or written off (3,983) -

18,579 7,216

In terms of section 66 of the PFMA, Treasury Regulation 32 and Practice Note 5 of 2006/2007, finance leases for office equipment may not exceed a period of 36 months without National Treasury 
approval.  These contracts were entered into in prior financial years. The matter has been reported to National Treasury.  The balance includes R 5,41m awaiting condonement from National Treasury.

Irregular expenditure of various transactions amounting to R 14,07m reported in 2013/14 relates to the procurement of goods and services not in accordance with the PFMA, Treasury Regulations and the 
Preferential Procurement Policy Framework Act No. 5 of 2000. Some of these transactions have subsequently been condoned by the relevant authority after investigation and appropriate disciplinary action 
taken, where appropriate. For the balance of R 13,17m, investigations are underway and condonement thereof will be requested from the relevant authority, after appropriate action has been taken, where 
appropriate and relevant.

The above expenditure was not incurred in vain and the NRF did receive value for money.
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2014
R’000

2013
R’000

37. Prior year error

A provision for performance bonuses were not recorded in the prior financial years.  It was determined in the current financial year that a constructive obligation does exist for the payment of 
performance bonuses and therefore the provision was raised in the current and prior financial years.

The correction of the error(s) results in adjustments as follows:

Statement of financial position

Accumulated deficit increased - 3,308

Provision for performance bonus increased - 3,173

Statement of Financial Performance

Employee costs decreased - 135

38. Adoption of new accounting standards

The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice on a basis consistent with the prior year except for the adoption of the 
following new or revised standard:
 GRAP 25: Employee benefits

GRAP 25

The standard had no impact on the entity's annual financial statements as similar accounting policies were already applied.

39. Change in estimate

Property and equipment

A change in the depreciation estimate due to a change in the residual values and useful lives of certain assets had an impact of R 4,7m increase for the current and future periods.

40. Comparative figures

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified.
The entity disclosed expenditure in the Statement of Financial Performance by function in 2012/13.  Expenditure is now represented per function programme.  The change has no effect on total 
expenditure as per the Statement of Financial Performance and no effect on the Statement of Financial Position.

41. Fruitless and wasteful expenditure

COIDA interest and penalties 289 -

Incorrect information provided to service provider resulting in duplicate expenditure 28 -

Cancellation fees for accommodation and conferences 116 -

No show of delegates at conference 77 -

Other minor expenditure 34 -

Condoned or written off by NRF (451) -

93 -

Each of these have been investigated and disciplinary steps have been taken where applicable. The balance of  R93K is in the process of condonement.

42. Budget differences

Material differences between budget and actual amounts

Income

The decrease in the parliamentary grant is due to lower than anticipated take up and delayed roll out on the ring fenced funding for the South African Research Chairs (SARChI), the National 
Scientific Equipment Programmes, the National Facilities Strategic Infrastructure and the Global Change Research. Designated income is brought to account in terms of GRAP arising from the SKA 
movement addressed in the programme and operating expenses note section below.  Higher interest income is due to timing differences on investments due to delayed roll outs throughout the 
financial year.

Expenditure

The movement in grants and bursaries expenditure is due to the expansion of the internship programme. The reduced programme and operating expenses are largely due to the delayed roll out 
of portions of the SKA project as well as the accounting allocation of capital costs and delayed outsourced activities. The decrease in employees’ remuneration is due to a delayed recruitment of 
SKA SA personnel due to the dearth of skills in the country.
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Supplementary Information

Financial information by segment

For management purposes, the NRF is currently organised into the 

following segments and these segments are the basis on which the 

NRF reports its primary segment information.  All segment revenue and 

expenses are directly attributable to the segments.  Segment assets 

include all operating assets used by a segment and consist principally 

of property and equipment, as well as current assets.  Segment 

liabilities include all operating liabilities and consist principally of trade 

creditors. These assets and liabilities are all directly attributable to the 

segments.  Segment revenue, expenses and results include transfers 

between business segments and between geographical segments.  

Such transfers are accounted for at competitive market prices 

charged to unaffiliated customers for similar goods. These transfers 

are eliminated on consolidation.

Research and Innovation Support and  
Advancement (RISA)

This segment’s main business is to provide for the promotion and 

support of research and research capacity development in all fields 

of knowledge and technology through investing in knowledge, 

people and infrastructure; developing research capacity, and 

advancing equity and equality, to unlock the full creative potential of 

researchers;  assisting with the development of institutional capacity; 

and facilitating strategic national and international partnerships and 

knowledge networks.

Corporate

The corporate office provides general leadership, coordinates new 

initiatives and acts as liaison and reporting centre for the entire NRF.  

The corporate office includes the office of the Deputy CEO National 

Research Facilities.

iThemba Laboratory for Accelerator 
Based Sciences (iThemba LABS)

This National Research Facility provides advanced, viable, multi-

disciplinary facilities for training, research and services in the fields of 

sub atomic nuclear science and applied radiation medicine.

South African Astronomical Observatory (SAAO)

This National Research Facility performs fundamental research in 

astronomy and astrophysics at a national and international level.  

SAAO is the National Research Facility for optical and infra-red 

astronomy in South Africa.  SAAO is also responsible for managing 

the operations of the Southern African Large Telescope (SALT).  The 

NRF’s share of SALT (33.56%) is included in SAAO.

Hartebeesthoek Radio Astronomy 
Observatory (HartRAO)

This national research facility was established for radio astronomy 

research in South Africa.  Its primary function is the support of 

research and training in radio astronomy and space geodesy.

South African Institute for Aquatic Biodiversity (SAIAB)

This National Research Facility serves as a research hub for 

aquatic biodiversity in southern Africa by housing and developing 

the National Fish Collection and associated resource collections 

as research tools and sources of aquatic biodiversity data.  It also 

generates knowledge on aquatic biodiversity through interactive 

and collaborative scientific research, and disseminates scientific 

knowledge at all levels.

South African Agency for Science and 
Technology Advancement (SAASTA)

SAASTA is positioned as a science engagement agency in 

advancing the public awareness, appreciation and understanding of 

science, engineering and technology in South Africa, as well as the 

integration of science awareness activities across the NRF.

National Zoological Gardens of South Africa (NZG)

The NZG is a National Facility and an active participant for research 

in terrestrial biodiversity.  

South African Environmental 
Observatory Network (SAEON)

SAEON is a research unit that establishes and maintains nodes 

(environmental observatories, field stations and sites) linked 

by an information management network to serve as research 

and education platforms for long term studies of ecosystems 

that will provide for incremental advances in our understanding 

of ecosystems and our ability to detect, predict and react to 

environmental change.

South African Square Kilometre Array (SKA) Project

MeerKAT is a project of the Department of Science and Technology, 

executed through the National Research Foundation and the South 

African SKA project office. The South African SKA pathfinder project 

includes the construction of the KAT7 prototype telescope array (7 

antennas) and the MeerKAT radio telescope (64 antennas) in the 

Karoo. Once operating, MeerKAT will be the largest radio telescope 

in the world for many years.



     |  NRF Annual Report 2013/2014136

RISA Corporate iThemba LABS SAAO (+SALT) HartRAO SAEON

2014
R’000

2013
R’000

2014
R’000

2013
R’000

2014
R’000

2013
R’000

2014
R’000

2013
R’000

2014
R’000

2013
R’000

2014
R’000

2013
R’000

Revenue

Parliamentary grant 768,918 580,738 83,629 42,557 138,643 134,605 41,939 39,428 22,037 21,395 22,182 18,592

Designated income 1,022,913 670,752 3,070 39 9,670 7,570 29,524 25,942 1,549 1,255 4,573 3,132

Other revenue 50 29 43,999 23,494 41,071 29,885 503 391 69 70 - -

1,791,881 1,251,519 130,698 66,090 189,384 172,060 71,966 65,761 23,655 22,720 26,755 21,724

Other income 7,848 6,710 460 318 2,892 2,519 2,030 1,598 69 217 103 292

Total income 1,799,729 1,258,229 131,158 66,408 192,276 174,579 73,996 67,359 23,724 22,937 26,858 22,016

Expenses

Employee costs 77,703 79,253 39,926 31,593 115,577 107,703 52,974 46,530 15,028 13,335 18,590 14,703

Grants and bursaries 1,628,441 1,073,255 2,506 460 1,224 1,714 1,678 1,310 758 994 826 407

Other expenses 67,322 67,159 25,072 17,026 83,022 74,711 35,195 36,605 11,317 9,360 10,125 10,142

Total expenses 1,773,466 1,220,064 67,504 49,079 199,823 184,063 89,847 84,369 27,103 23,651 29,541 25,237

Other disclosable items (790) (998) (292) (2,857) 3,570 (97) (2,695) (2,442) (155) 95 22 (36)

Net unspent funds/
(deficit) 37,167 63,362 14,472 (3,977) (9,581) (18,546) (19,452) (3,534) (619) (2,661) (3,257) (3,257)

Net capital expenditure 1,779 (1,219) (2,097) (1,380) (10,047) (4,816) (5,275) 355 (14,826) (1,628) 44 (945)

Net unspent funds/
(deficit) after capital 
expenditure

27,252 35,948 61,265 13,092 (14,024) (14,397) (23,821) (19,097) (18,360) (2,247) (2,617) (4,202)

Total assets 986,079 1,097,304 - - 202,791 169,548 60,643 45,395 50,421 40,706 26,968 15,164

Total liabilities 843,184 982,208 - - 53,771 33,164 20,379 9,268 5,731 8,389 18,633 6,954

No. of employees excl. 
interns

182 202 64 48 285 282 133 124 46 39 54 47

SKA SA SAIAB SAASTA NZG TOTAL

2014
R’000

2013
R’000

2014
R’000

2013
R’000

2014
R’000

2013
R’000

2014
R’000

2013
R’000

2014
R’000

2013
R’000

Revenue

Parliamentary grant 242,000 - 14,810 12,825 19,045 16,345 59,676 51,805 1,412,879 918,290

Designated income 293,231 346,106 7,947 7,222 57,608 42,386 3,589 6,266 1,433,674 1,110,670

Other revenue 9,800 10,436 1 1 6 101 44,169 47,667 139,668 112,074

545,031 356,542 22,758 20,048 76,659 58,832 107,434 105,738 2,986,221 2,141,034

Other income 1,687 1,286 337 79 809 733 683 343 16,918 14,095

Total income 546,718 357,828 23,095 20,127 77,468 59,565 108,117 106,081 3,003,139 2,155,129

Expenses

Employee costs 57,576 50,567 15,186 14,376 18,445 14,280 67,614 67,314 478,618 439,656

Grants and bursaries 47,548 30,958 2,657 2,701 29,869 20,273 - - 1,715,507 1,132,072

Other expenses 92,384 89,306 9,540 9,085 32,378 26,223 52,306 45,502 418,662 385,118

Total expenses 197,508 170,831 27,383 26,017 80,692 60,776 119,920 112,816 2,612,786 1,956,846

Other disclosable items (1,575) (108) (45) (72) (27) (16) 358 (135) (1,630) (6,666)

Net unspent funds/
(deficit) 347,635 186,889 (4,333) (5,962) (3,251) (1,227) (11,445) (6,870) 388,723 191,616

Net capital expenditure (330,188) (182,988) (1,858) (215) 434 96 (3,833) 407 (365,867) (192,333)

Net unspent funds/
(deficit) after capital 
expenditure

17,447 3,901 (6,191) (6,177) (2,817) (1,131) (15,278) (6,463) 22,856 (717)

Total assets 1,094,143 682,542 50,144 36,307 69,935 75,963 32,331 37,615 2,573,455 2,200,544

Total liabilities 354,669 273,251 20,457 9,062 55,244 58,987 23,147 29,741 1,395,213 1,411,025

No. of employees excl. 
interns

160 130 43 40 52 46 282 278 1,301 1,236
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19  Performance Indicator Report
Key Performance Indicator Report

The following section contains tables on the performance targets set 

for 2013/14 and the NRF’s actual performance against this target.

Two approaches have been used in organising the data in the tables: 

 � NRF performance indicators against organisational goals; and

 � NRF performance against the Balanced Scorecard per spectives.

“Growth is never by mere chance; it is the 

result of forces working together.”

– James Cash Penney

Table 47: NRF Performance against its Strategic Goals

HIGH LEVEL CORPORATE INDICATORS 2013/14 Annual Report Performance

Strategic 
Goal Indicators Description

Performance 
R’000 or actual 

number
Total Ratio Annual Target Percentage 

Achieved Explanation

Promoting internationally competitive research as basis for a knowledge economy

Impact Number of South 
African ISI outputs 12 787 12 000 107%

Output

Number of ISI 
Publications 
published by NRF 
funded research

5 641 5 500 103%

Available grant 
funding awarded 1 534 001 1 948 308 79% 90% 87%

The difference of R414m is related to the reporting year 
grant commitments carried forward from the 2013 to the 
2014 academic year. The finalisation of appointments of 
the Research Chairs which are part of SARChI, took longer 
than anticipated, this lead to the support expenditure 
being delayed. This lead time to appoint Chairs is outside 
the control of the NRF and lies with the Higher Education 
Institution that was awarded the Chair.

Growing a representative science and technology workforce in South Africa

Impact

Proportion of NRF 
rated researchers 
from designated 
groups to total 
number of rated 
researchers

Black 668 2 959 23% 20% 113% The organisation is making excellent progress and has 
exceeded these transformation targets by 13% and 4% 
respectively. The above target performance with regard 
to the proportion of black and female rated researchers 
indicates a transforming system. Over the period under 
review, the NRF has made certain targeted efforts to 
successfully attract and retain researchers from designated 
groups in the NSI.

Woman 889 2 959 30% 29% 104%

Input

Proportion of NRF 
funded researchers 
from designated 
groups to total 
number of NRF 
Funded researchers

Black 1 008 3 569 28% 31% 91% The NRF has created certain targeted funding instruments 
that are aimed at driving transformation of the system 
by focusing on funding black and female researchers. 
However, the NRF can only award funding based on a set 
of criteria underpinned by excellence. In the year under 
review, it was noted that some Higher Education Institutions 
had not been proactive in supporting their emerging black 
and female researchers to submit applications for funding. 
The NRF external review panels identified issues with the 
quality of submissions from some HEI’s and therefore a 
number of applications were unsuccessful. The quality 
of the proposals is outside the control of the NRF as the 
grant-making agency.

Woman 1 285 3 569 36% 41% 88%

Input

Proportion of post 
graduate students 
from designated 
groups to total NRF 
funded post graduate 
students

Black 6 110 9 771 63% 62% 101%

Woman 5 186 9 771 53% 51% 104%

Outcome

Proportion of NRF post 
graduate students 
from designated 
groups graduated

Black 2 783 4 380 *64% 61% 104% These numbers are only based on 2012 graduation 
numbers. 2013 HEMIS data to be verified towards end of 
2014.Woman 2 378 4 380 *54% 58% 94%

*Indicator is reliant on the Department of Higher Education and Training (DHET) HEMIS audited data.
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Table 47: NRF Performance against its Strategic Goals (continued)

HIGH LEVEL CORPORATE INDICATORS 2013/14 Annual Report Performance

Strategic 
Goal Indicators Description

Performance 
R’000 or actual 

number
Total Ratio Annual Target Percentage 

Achieved Explanation

Growing a representative science and technology workforce in South Africa: Corporate human resources and transformation

Outcome

Proportion of South 
Africans from 
designated groups 
in four highest 
employment levels

Black 590 976 60% 60% 101%

Woman 400 976 41% 43% 96%

There is a severe limitation with regard to the number of 
South African woman that have the required skills and 
competencies to operate at the levels required by the NRF. 
While the organisation has put internal remedies in place 
regarding skills retention, transfer and the customised 
Professional Development Program, the shortage of 
professional females is a pervasive system challenge.

Outcome Proportion of NRF staff members 
with disabilities to total NRF staff 9 1301 0.7% 1.4% 48%

In the past, the staff with temporary disabilities have 
been included in this category. However, the NRF has 
realigned the KPI definitions to the Act and in doing so 
has discounted staff members with disabilities that are 
classified as temporary. The related targets will be adjusted 
going forward.

Providing cutting-edge research, technology and innovation platforms

Impact Numbers of ISI Publications 
emanating from the Facilities 305 240 127%

A number of articles submitted for publication during the 
prior financial year were only published in the current year. 
This has contributed to the NRF exceeding the target by 
23%. Additional factors were the increase in capacity 
as a result of the appointment of new members of staff 
and postdoctoral fellows. The interns also have a positive 
impact on the performance.

Input Total infrastructure investment 341 563 252 280 135%

The infrastructure spend was 35% higher than expected 
due to projects being carried over from last year. This is 
not uncommon in infrastructure intensive projects where 
delays lead to delivery time changes despite the best 
efforts to project appropriately.

Input Total investment in SKA 568 524 647 971 88%

Globally, weather conditions were unpredictable over the 
last financial year. The SKA SA projects schedule was 
also impacted on by inclement weather conditions which 
delayed infrastructure development projects. The various 
labour strikes in quarter 1 also contributed to the delay. 
These delays culminated in a lower spend rate for the 
projects.

Operating world-class evaluation and grant-making systems

Output
Number of grant and rating 
applications processed through 
NRF Online 

6 178 6 178 100%

Outcome Proportion of rated researchers 
funded by NRF 2 331 2959 79% 75% 105%

Contributing to a vibrant national innovation system

Impact PhD graduations per million of the 
population per year *35.9 32 112%

The PhD graduations per million population is dependent 
on audited data from the Higher Education Management 
Information System (HEMIS). Due to the DHET quality 
assurance and audit process to verify data, there is a lag in 
the availability of the data. It is expected that the data for 
the 2013 academic year will only be available towards the 
end of 2014. 

Outcome Additional funding leveraged 
through NRF investments 393 729 410 000 96%

Output
Number of learners reached 
through science advancement 
activities

694 031 641 777 108%
In response to an external audit recommendation, the NRF 
is in the process of redefining the recording and calculated 
method of this performance indicator.

Output
Number of educators reached 
through science advancement 
activities

36 464 18 185 199%

SAASTA has entered into various collaborative contacts in 
the current financial year which has resulted in increased 
funding and therefore an increase in the number of 
educators reached. The NZG has adopted its ticket system 
to capture the number of teachers reached.

Impact
Proportion of South African 
ISI papers co-authored with 
international collaborators

6 601 12 787 52% 50% 103%

*Indicator is reliant on the Department of Higher Education and Training (DHET) HEMIS audited data.
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Table 48: NRF Balanced Scorecard Framework

HIGH LEVEL CORPORATE INDICATORS 2013/14 Annual Report Performance

Balanced 
Scorecard 

Perspective
Indicator Description

Performance 
R’000 or  
actual 

number

Total Ratio Annual Target Percentage 
Achieved

Stakeholder Perspective

Impact Number of South African ISI outputs 12 787 12 000 107%

Output Number of ISI Publications published by NRF funded researchers 5 641 5 500 103%

Impact Number of ISI Publications emanating from the Facilities 305 240 127%

Impact PhD graduations per million of the population per year *35.9 32 112%

Output Number of learners reached through science advancement activities 694 031 641 777 108%

Output Number of educators reached through science advancement activities 36 264 18 185 199%

Impact Proportion of South African ISI papers co-authored with international collaborators 6 601 12 787 52% 50% 103%

Financial Perspective

Input Total infrastructure investment 341 563 252 280 135%

Input Total investment in SKA 568 524 647 971 88%

Outcome Additional funding leveraged through NRF investment 393 729 410 000 96%

Input Available grant funding awarded 1 534 001 1 948 308 79% 90% 87%

Organisational Perspective

Output Number of grant and rating applications processed through NRF Online 6 178 6 175 100%

Outcome Proportions of rated researchers funded by NRF 2 331 2 959 79% 75% 75%

Human Resources and Transformation perspective (external)

Impact Proportion of NRF rated researchers from designated groups to total number of rated 
researchers

Black 668 2 959 23% 20% 113%

Woman 889 2 959 30% 29% 104%

Input Proportion of NRF funded researchers from designated groups to total number of 
NRF funded researchers

Black 1 008 3 569 28% 31% 91%

Woman 1 285 3 569 36% 41% 88%

Input Proportion of postgraduate students from designated groups to total NRF funded 
postgraduate students

Black 6 110 9 771 63% 62% 101%

Woman 5 186 9 771 53% 51% 104%

Outcome Proportion of NRF postgraduate students from designated groups graduated (2011 
still to be verified against HEMIS data)

Black *2 783 *4 380 64% 61% 104%

Woman *2 378 *4 380 54% 58% 94%

Human Resources and Transformation perspective (internal)

Outcome Proportion of South Africans from designated groups in four highest employment 
levels

Black 590 976 60% 60% 101%

Woman 400 976 41% 43% 96%

Outcome Proportion of NRF staff members with disabilities to total NRF staff 9 1 301 0.7% 1.4% 48%

*Indicator is reliant on the Department of Higher Education and Training (DHET) HEMIS audited data.
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20  Acronyms

ACCESS  Applied Centre for Climate and Earth Systems 

Science

ACEP African Coelacanth Ecosystem Programme

AFREF African Geodetic Reference Frame 

AGA Astronomy Geographic Advantage

AGSA Auditor General South Africa

AISA  African Institute of South Africa

AMC Africa and Multi-lateral Cooperation

AOP African Origins Programme 

ARC  Agricultural Research Council

ARIC Applied Research, Innovation and Collaboration

ARVs Antiretrovirals

ASCLME  Agulhas and Somali Currents Large Marine 

Ecosystems project

ASSAf Academy of Science for South Africa

ATAP Acoustic Tracking Array Platform 

BAST Beijing Association for Science and Technology 

BRICS  Brazil, Russia, India, China, South Africa

C-BASS C-Band All Sky Survey

CEC Central Evaluation Committee 

CERN  European Organisation for Nuclear Research 

(Organisation europeenne pour la recherché 

nucleaire)

CfCS Centre for Conservation Science 

CHE  Council on Higher Education

CIB  CoE for Invasion Biology

CoE  Centre of Excellence

CoEs  Centres of Excellence 

CSIR  Council for Scientific and Industrial Research

DAAD German Academic Exchange Service 

DAFB Day After Full Bloom

DAFF   Department of Agriculture, Forestry and 

Fisheries

DC  Development Corporation

DEA  Department of Environmental Affairs

DHET  Department of Higher Education and Training

DMR  Department of Mineral Resource

DOH  Department of Health

DORIS  Doppler Orbitography and Radiopositioning 

Integrated by Satellite

DPME  Department for Performance Monitoring and 

Evaluation 

DST  Department of Science and Technology

EHCD & KG  Energy Human Capital Development and 

Knowledge Generation 

ETD National Electronic Theses and Dissertations

GADI Grootfontein Agricultural Development Institute

GCRP Global Change Research Programme

GFZ  GeoForschungsZentrum (German Research 

Centre for Geosciences)

GGAO  Goddard Geophysical and Astronomical 

Observatory 

GLONASS Global Navigation Satellite System

GMSA  Grants Management and Systems Administration

GNSS Global Navigation Satellite System

GRAP Generally Recognised Accounting Practice

GRI Global Reporting Initiative 

HartRAO  Hartebeesthoek Radio Astronomy Observatory

HCP  Human Capacity Programme

HEIs  Higher Education Institutio

HEMIS Higher Education Management Information System

HESA Higher Education South Africa

HICD  Human and Infrastructure Capacity Development

HIV Human Immunodeficiency Virus

HMO  Hermanus Magnetic Observatory

HR  Human Resources

HR-SEM High Resolution Scanning Microscope 

HRTEM   High Resolution Transmission Electronic 

Microscope

HSRC  Human Sciences Research Council

ICP  Institutional Capacity Programme

ICSU  International Council for Science 
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ICSU ROA International Council for Science Regional Office  

 for Africa 

ICT Information  and Communication Technology

IEPD  Institutional Engagement and Partnership 

Development

IGS International GNSS Service 

IKS  Indigenous Knowledge Systems

IPMS  Integrated Performance Management System

IR&C  International Relations and Cooperation

IRP Integrated Resource Plan 

ISI  International Science Information

IT  Information Technology

iThemba LABS   iThemba Laboratory for Accelerator Based 

Sciences

KELT Kilodegree Extremely Little Telescope 

KFD  Knowledge Fields Development

KIC Knowledge Interchange and Collaboration

KM Knowledge Management  

KM&E  Knowledge Management and Evaluation

KPI  Key Performance Indicator

LCGOT  Los Cumbres Observatory Global Telescope 

Network

LTER Long Term Ecological Research

MAP Modified Atmosphere Packaging

MCM  Marine and Coastal Management

MDP Management Development Programme

MMV Medicines for Malaria Venture

MONET Monitoring Network of Telescopes 

MPA Marine Protected Areas

MRC  Medical Research Council

MTEF  Medium-Term Expenditure Framework

MWLA  Multi-Wavelength Astronomy

NACH National Anti-Corruption Hotline 

NACI  National Advisory Council on Innovation

NASSP   National Astrophysics and Space Science 

Programme

NDA  National Development Agency

NDOH National Department of Health 

NECSA  Nuclear Energy Corporation of South Africa

NEHAWU   National Education, Health and Allied Workers 

Union

NEMA National Environmental Management Act

NEP National Equipment Programme 

NMDP New Managers Development Programme 

NMMU Nelson Mandela Metropolitan University

NNTP National Nanotechnology Programme

NRDS  National Research and Development Strategy

NRF  National Research Foundation

NSET  Nurturing Talent in Science, Engineering and 

Technology

NSI  National System Innovation

NSO  National Science Olympiad

NSW  National Science Week

NTP Nanotechnology Programme

NWU North West University 

NZG  National Zoological Gardens

OCA Observatoire Cote d’Azur 

OECD   Organisation for Economic Corporation and 

Development

OFO Organising Framework for Occupations 

PAIA Promotion of Access to Information Act

PAST Palaeontological Scientific Trust 

PFMA  Public Finance Management Act

PhD  Doctor of Philosophy

PPC Parliamentary Portfolio Committee 

R&D  Research and Development

RCCE Research Chairs and Centres of Excellence

RE Reviews and Evaluation

RIMS  Research Information Management System

RISA  Research and Innovation Support and   

 Advancement

ROV Remotely Operated Vehicle 

RSES  Renewable and Sustainable Energy 

Scholarships

RTF Research and Technology Fund 

S&T  Science and Technology

SA PhD  South African PhD

SAAO  South African Astronomical Observatory
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SAASTA   South African Agency for Science and 

Technology Advancement

SABS  South African Bureau of Standards

SACEMA   South African Centre in Epidemiological 

Modelling and Analysis

SADC Southern African Development Community 

SAEON   South African Environmental Observation 

Network

SAEOS  South African Earth Observation Strategy

SAIAB  South African Institute for Aquatic Biodiversity

SALT  Southern African Large Telescope

SAMWU  South African Municipal Workers Union

SANBI  South African National Biodiversity Institute

SANERI  South African National Energy Research Institute

SANHARP  South African Nuclear Human Asset and 

Research Programme 

SANPAD  South Africa Netherlands Research Programme 

on Alternatives in Development

SANReN South African National Research Network

SANSA South African National Space Agency 

SARChI  South African Research Chairs Initiative

SARIMA   Southern African Research and Innovation 

Management Association

SAWS  South African Weather Service

SEDA  Small Enterprise Development Agency

SKA-SA  Square Kilometre Array South Africa

SPII Support Programme for Industrial Innovation 

STEMI  Science, Technology, Engineering, Mathematics 

and Innovation

STI Science, Technology and Innovation 

TENET  Tertiary Education and Research Network of 

South Africa

the dti  Department of Trade and Industry

THRIP   Technology and Human Resources for Industry 

Programme

TIA  Technology Innovation Agency

TIPTOP  Technology Innovation Promotion through the 

Transfer Of People

UNESCO  United Nations Educational, Scientific and 

Cultural Organisation 

USB-ED  University of Stellenbosch Business School 

Executive Development 

VLB Very Long Baseline 

VLBI Very Long Baseline Interferometry 

WIO Western Indian Ocean 

WIOMSA  Western Indian Ocean Marine Science 

Association 

WRC  Water Research Commission

XDM eXperimental Development Model 

YoS Year of Science
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